Two-dimensional Discrete Gaussian model at high temperature



Jiwoon Park

Department of Pure Mathematics and Mathematical Statistics University of Cambridge

> This thesis is submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Trinity Hall

July 2023

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my parents and my brother

Declaration

I hereby declare that except where specific reference is made to the work of others, the contents of this dissertation are original and have not been submitted in whole or in part for consideration for any other degree or qualification in this, or any other university. This thesis is my own work and contains nothing which is the outcome of work done in collaboration with others, except as specified here and in the text. The entire thesis is a mixture of [12, 13], which are written in collaboration with Roland Bauerschmidt and Pierre-François Rodriguez with equal contributions, and [81]. Appendix 1.A originates from [13, Appendix A]. While the structure of Chapter 2–7 is based on [12] with some modifications, there are additional inputs from the other two papers. Most of the inputs from [13] have been simplified and integrated with those of [81]. Chapter 8 is due to [81] alone, and Chapter 9 is again a mixture of [12, 13, 81].

Jiwoon Park July 2023

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor Roland Bauerschmidt, for without his continuing encouragement and inspiration, this thesis would not have been possible. I am greatly indebted to him for his endless patience and generosity during the course of this thesis and while he was my subject advisor for Part III.

I would like to thank Sourav Sarkar and Stefan Adams for serving on my thesis committee and Emmanuel Michta for proofreading the introduction. It was a great joy to collaborate with Pierre-François Rodriguez, Gordon Slade and Emmanuel Michta, so I want to express my gratitude toward them. I would like to express my appreciation to Ron Peled, Christophe Garban, Avelio Sepúlveda, Fabio Toninelli and Alessandro Giuliani for kindly lending their ears and sharing their thoughts on my research. I would like to thank the Probability group at the University of Cambridge for providing an inspiring research environment. I would like to give special thanks to Nam-Gyu Kang and Sung-Soo Byun for welcoming me to the Korea Institute for Advanced Studies in my home country. I am also thankful to the University of British Columbia probability group and the Pacific Institute for the Mathematical Sciences in Vancouver for their hospitality during my stay in Vancouver.

This research was made possible by the Cambridge Mathematics of Information (CMI) doctoral training programme, and funding from the EPSRC. I would like to thank the programme directors, administrators and my CMI colleagues.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends for their constant and unwavering care and support.

Abstract

The Discrete Gaussian model is a Gaussian free field on lattice restricted to take integer values. In dimension two, it was proved by the seminal work of Fröhlich-Spencer that the Discrete Gaussian model exhibits localisation-delocalisation phase transition. The phase transition is ubiquitous in two-dimensional statistical physics models, intriguing the need for a unified framework for studying these phenomena.

The goal of this thesis is to apply rigorous renormalisation group method to study the two-dimensional discrete Gaussian model in the delocalised phase, thereby obtaining central limit theorems in long-distance limit—in physics literature, the renormalisation group is a standard apparatus used to study scaling phenomena, in particular computing critical exponents and proving scaling limits and universality.

We study the central limit theorem in three different regimes, first on macroscopic scale, second on mesoscopic scale and the third on microscopic scale. The first two amount to studying the scaling limits of the spin model under different limit regimes, while the final one discusses both pointwise and limit results. The final results have in particular prolific by-products, producing analogues of a number of results proved for different interface models.

The entire thesis is devoted to solving these problems, but the strategy of the proof we develop is expected to have general applicability. Indeed, we develop renormalisation technology in the first half (Chapter 2–4) that only has weak requirements on the model. Then in the rest of the thesis, we develop an analysis specific to our model to prove the main theorems.

Table of contents

1	Intr	oduction	1	
	1.1	Motivation and main results	1	
	1.2	Remarks and related problems	11	
	1.3	Methodology	18	
	App	endix 1.A Existence of infinite-volume limit	26	
2	Finite-range decomposition			
	2.1	Existence of the finite-range decomposition	29	
	2.2	Preliminaries on Fourier transforms	33	
	2.3	Proof of Proposition 2.1.2: finite-range property	36	
	2.4	Proof of Proposition 2.1.2: (i) and (ii)	39	
	2.5	Proof of Proposition 2.1.2: (iii)	42	
	2.6	Proof of Proposition 2.1.4	47	
	App	endix 2.A Fourier transform of the standard bump function	49	
3	Polymer activities			
	3.1	Scales, polymers and polymer activities	51	
	3.2	Polymer activities and their norms	59	
	3.3	Properties of the norms and the regulator	66	
	3.4	Analytic polymer activities	71	
	3.5	Proofs of the technical claims: organisation	75	
	3.6	Continuity of the expectation	76	
	3.7	Properties of the regulator	77	
	3.8	Complex shift of variables	82	
	App	endix 3.A Lattice Sobolev estimates	90	
	App	endix 3.B Completeness of the space of polymer activities	92	

4	Polymer expansions				
	4.1	Polymer operations	96		
	4.2	Reexpansion in the succeeding scale	102		
	4.3	Polymer expansion with external field	106		
	4.4	Estimate on the non-linear part	110		
5	Loc	alisation of periodic polymer activities	125		
	5.1	Periodicity, charge decomposition, and lattice symmetries	125		
	5.2	Localisation operator	127		
	5.3	Symmetries of Loc-proof of Proposition 5.2.2	131		
	5.4	Proof of Proposition 5.2.3	133		
6	Ren	ormalisation group on the Discrete Gaussian model at high temperature	149		
	6.1	Main results	149		
	6.2	Reformulating the Discrete Gaussian model	152		
	6.3	Bulk renormalisation group map	159		
	6.4	Proof of Theorem 6.1.3: bound on the non-linear part	166		
7	Stat	ole manifold	173		
	7.1	Statement of result	173		
	7.2	Infinite-volume RG flow	174		
	7.3	Stable manifold for the infinite volume RG flow	176		
	7.4	Infinite volume RG as a limit of finite volume RG	180		
	7.5	Continuity in <i>s</i> : proof of Lemma 7.2.3	183		
8	Obs	ervable renormalisation group flow	189		
	8.1	Main results	189		
	8.2	Observable renormalisation group map	191		
	8.3	Proof of Theorem 6.1.3: bound on the non-linear part	196		
	8.4	Stability of the observable RG flow	198		
9	Scal	ing limits	201		
	9.1	Torus scaling limit	201		
	9.2	Scaling limit on \mathbb{R}^2	207		
	9.3	Multi-point functions	214		
Re	References 225				

Chapter 1

Introduction

The aim of this chapter is to motivate the study of the two-dimensional Discrete Gaussian model and to give an outline of the forthcoming chapters. In Section 1.1, we give an overview of the two-dimensional Discrete Gaussian model and present the main results of this thesis. In Section 1.2, we discuss some implications of the main results and also introduce related open problems. In Section 1.3, we introduce the method of the proofs and given an outline of how these are implemented in the rest of the thesis.

1.1 Motivation and main results

1.1.1 Motivation

The main player of this thesis is the two-dimensional *Discrete Gaussian* (DG) model. In any dimension, the Discrete Gaussian model is an effective model for discrete interfaces, while if we only focus on the two-dimensional case, then the Discrete Gaussian model can also be thought of as a dual representation of the two-dimensional lattice Coulomb gas model with charge symmetry (see Section 1.3.3). The two-dimensional Coulomb gas model can be used to represent a broad range of two-dimensional field models, thus giving direct and indirect connections with various two-dimensional statistical and quantum physical models. An incomplete list of such models includes the Ising model, three and four-states Potts model (see [60]), Solid-On-Solid model, the sine-Gordon model, the dimer model, the square ice models, the XY model, each of which has been a central object of study in the mathematical physics and probability community, partially because of their interesting physics properties and partially because of their exact solvability (for a subset of models above such as the Ising model, the dimer model, and some specific 6 and 8 vertex models, see [16], for example). The Discrete Gaussian model and height functions associated with some of these models, such as dimer model, the square ice model, Solid-on-Solid model, the sine-Gordon model and the dual of the XY model (as a discrete height function), also exhibit localisation-delocalisation phase transition. The definition and detailed exposition of the phase transition will be discussed in Section 1.1.2. Here, we just mention that, for the case of the Discrete Gaussian model, the localisation-delocalisation transition can be interpreted as a type of Kosterlitz-Thouless phase transition, which was originally observed in the charge-symmetric Coulomb gas model by Berezinskiĭ [18] and Kosterlitz–Thouless [66].

With this motivation, the aim of this thesis is to study the delocalised phase of the twodimensional Discrete Gaussian model in detail, using the renormalisation group, explained in Section 1.3.1.

1.1.2 The localisation-delocalisation phase transition

The model

Given $N \in 2\mathbb{N} + 1$, $N \in \mathbb{N}$, let Λ_N be the $L^N \times L^N$ discrete torus with distinguished $0 \in \Lambda_N$. It can be realised as $\Lambda_N = \left[-\frac{L^N-1}{2}, \frac{L^N-1}{2}\right]^2 \cap \mathbb{Z}^2$ with toroidal graph structure, i.e., we let $\{(x_1, x_2), (y_1, y_2)\} \subset \Lambda_N$ be an edge of Λ_N if $x_1 - y_1 \equiv \pm 1 \pmod{L^N}$ and $x_2 = y_2$ or $x_2 - y_2 \equiv \pm 1 \pmod{L^N}$ and $x_1 = y_1$. We also denote $(x_1, x_2) \sim (y_1, y_2)$ in this case. Then the Discrete Gaussian model on Λ_N with *temperature* β is the random height function $\sigma \sim \mathbb{P}_{\beta, \text{DG}}^{\Lambda_N}$ given by

$$\mathbb{P}^{\Lambda_{N}}_{\beta,\mathrm{DG}}(\sigma) = e^{-\frac{1}{4\beta}\sum_{x\sim y}(\sigma(x) - \sigma(y))^{2}} / Z^{\Lambda_{N}}_{\beta,\mathrm{DG}} = e^{-\frac{1}{2\beta}(\sigma, -\Delta\sigma)} / Z^{\Lambda_{N}}_{\beta,\mathrm{DG}}$$

$$Z^{\Lambda_{N}}_{\beta,\mathrm{DG}} = \sum_{\sigma\in\Omega^{\Lambda_{N}}} e^{-\frac{1}{4\beta}\sum_{x\sim y}(\sigma)x_{-}\sigma(y))^{2}}$$
(1.1)

where $\sum_{x \sim y}$ counts each edge twice, Δ is the Laplacian $\Delta f(x) = \sum_{y:y \sim x} f(y) - f(x)$ and the state space is

$$\Omega^{\Lambda_N} = \{ \boldsymbol{\sigma} \in (2\pi\mathbb{Z})^{\Lambda_N} : \boldsymbol{\sigma}(0) = 0 \}.$$
(1.2)

The expectation with respect to $\mathbb{P}^{\Lambda}_{\beta,\mathrm{DG}}$ is also denoted $\langle \cdot \rangle^{\Lambda_N}_{\beta,\mathrm{DG}}$. Note that, although $\sigma \in \Omega^{\Lambda}$ is pinned to take $\sigma(0) = 0$, we really want to study distribution of the gradient of σ . Thus any function $F : (2\pi\mathbb{Z})^{\Lambda_N} \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying $F(\sigma) = F(\sigma + c)$ for any constant $c \in 2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ can be tested against $\langle \cdot \rangle^{\Lambda_N}_{\beta,\mathrm{DG}}$.

We use $\frac{1}{\beta}$ instead of β in (1.1) (thus β is the temperature, not the inverse temperature) to relate better to the Coulomb gas literature—by duality, β corresponds to an inverse temperature for the dual Coulomb gas.

For comparison, we also state the definition of the Gaussian free field. With the state space $\{\phi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N} : \phi(0) = 0\}$, the real-valued discrete Gaussian free field on Λ_N is the random height function ϕ with measure

$$\mathbb{P}_{\rm GFF}^{\Lambda_N}(d\phi) \propto e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\phi, -\Delta\phi)} \prod_{x \in \Lambda_N \setminus \{0\}} d\phi_x.$$
(1.3)

The moment generating function of the gradient of ϕ can be computed explicitly by

$$\langle e^{(f,\phi)} \rangle_{\text{GFF}}^{\Lambda_N} = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}(f,(-\Delta_{\Lambda_N})^{-1}f)\right),$$
(1.4)

for any $f \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$ such that $\sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} f(x) = 0$.

Phase transition

The phase transition is observed when β is varied. When β is sufficiently small, then the Peierls' argument shows that the variance of the height function is bounded uniformly in the volume, so

$$\sup_{N>0} \sup_{x \in \Lambda_N} \operatorname{Var}_{\beta, \mathrm{DG}}^{\Lambda_N}(\sigma_x - \sigma_0) < \infty.$$
(1.5)

In fact, a sophisticated Peierls' argument [19] even shows the exponential clustering at small β , that is, the correlation function between any two spin sets decays exponentially in their distance. While, if β is sufficiently large, then (1.5) is violated, and it is said the height function is delocalised, or exhibits roughening transition. The existence of the delocalisation phase was first proved by Fröhlich–Spencer [41]. In fact, they prove a stronger statement that the Discrete Gaussian model exhibits approximate Gaussianity when combined with a Gaussian domination inequality [38]: when β is sufficiently large, and f is a function on Λ_N such that $\sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} f(x) = 0$,

$$\langle e^{(1-s_0)(f,\phi)} \rangle_{\text{GFF}}^{\Lambda_N} \leqslant \langle e^{\beta^{-1/2}(f,\sigma)} \rangle_{\beta,\text{DG}}^{\Lambda_N} \leqslant \langle e^{(f,\phi)} \rangle_{\text{GFF}}^{\Lambda_N}$$
 (1.6)

(see also [65] for a detailed review) for some $s_0 \equiv s_0(\beta) \ge 0$ and $\phi \sim \mathbb{P}_{GFF}^{\Lambda_N}$. If we set $f(x) = t(\delta_0(x) - \delta_z(x))$ applying (1.4), then differentiating twice the first inequality of (1.6)

in t proves

$$\operatorname{Var}_{\beta,\mathrm{DG}}^{\Lambda_{N}}(\sigma_{z} - \sigma_{0}) \geq C\beta \operatorname{logdist}_{2}(z, 0)$$
(1.7)

for some C > 0, where dist₂ is the ℓ^2 -distance, thus the first inequality of (1.6) implies delocalisation. Moreover, it is proved that $s_0(\beta) \to 0$ as $\beta \to \infty$, so (1.6) shows that the scaling limit of the Discrete Gaussian model is a Gaussian Free Field in the limit $\beta \to \infty$.

The proof of the lower bound of (1.6) in [41] is based on a multi-scale expansion of spin-waves, whose name originates from the XY model. The spin-wave is also what is responsible for the lack of spontaneous magnetisation in the XY model at all temperature, as proved by Mermin–Wagner [76, 75]. The Mermin-Wagner-type argument has a wide range of application in statistical physics, see [40, 82, 31]. Also, applications of the multi-scale expansion of [41] can be found in [46, 91]. However, the spin-wave expansion is not the only approach to delocalisation. For example, some recent alternative accounts on the delocalistion includes [67, 68, 70, 3, 88], all of them using percolation arguments. The percolation arguments can be generalised to different settings more flexibly, for example to various types of planar graphs (not necessarily square lattice), but relatively lack quantitative control.

The main results of this thesis consists of improving (1.6) in certain limit regimes. In particular, by considering the infrared limit on the torus (Theorem 1.1.1) or on the infinite plane \mathbb{R}^2 (Theorem 1.1.3), we prove that the scaling limit of the Discrete Gaussian model for any sufficiently high, but finite temperature is a multiple of the Gaussian free field. Proving the scaling limits involves testing a (discretised version of) smooth function against the Discrete Gaussian model and taking 0-mesh size limit. Thus the scaling limit does not see the microscopic detail of the model. A complementing result on multi-point functions is also proven (Theorem 1.1.5). The multi-point functions will contain the information about the microscopic structure, but it can be seen that these only contribute as a constant in the large-distance limit, thus we will also be able to prove a type of central limit theorem for the two-point function when scaled appropriately (Corollary 1.2.5) and compute the scaling dimension of the fractional charge correlation (Corollary 1.2.6).

The delocalisation is actually a widely observed phenomenon in two-dimensional height function models, and also had been extensively studied under different settings, see [20, 79, 59, 28, 93], for example. More detailed analysis had been performed for the gradient models with sufficiently smooth uniformly convex potential, with some classical results including [80, 44, 43]. There are also works [27, 1] using the renormalisation group approach. Discrete height functions exhibiting delocalisation transition includes dimer models [71, 63, 54, 53,

32, 83] and six-vertex models [55, 33, 34, 92]. Reviews [90, 43] contain more extensive list of models and problems related to the delocalisation.

1.1.3 Finite-range interaction

We present our result for Discrete Gaussian models with general finite-range interactions. In the rest of the thesis, we only use finite-range step distribution $J \subset \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ that respects lattice rotations and lattice reflection symmetries and contains the nearest neighbour of 0. In this case, define the (normalised) *J*-Laplacian Δ_J by

$$(\Delta_J f)(x) = \frac{1}{|J|} \sum_{y \in J} (f(x+y) - f(x)), \tag{1.8}$$

for $f : \mathbb{Z}^d \to \mathbb{R}$, where |J| is the cardinality of J. The Green's function of Δ_J satisfies asymptotics

$$(-\Delta_J)^{-1}(x,y) \sim -\frac{1}{2\pi v_J^2} \log |x-y|, \quad \text{as } |x-y| \to \infty$$
 (1.9)

where

$$v_J^2 = \frac{1}{2|J|} \sum_{x \in J} |x_1|^2, \qquad x = (x_1, x_2)$$
 (1.10)

see [72, Theorem 4.4.4], for example.

If we let the normalised standard nearest-neighbour Laplacian to be given by $J = J_{nn} = \{(1,0), (0,1), (-1,0), (0,-1)\}$, then the usual Laplacian is related by $\Delta = 4\Delta_{J_{nn}}$. Another particular case is the range- ρ Laplacian, for $\rho \ge 1$, defined by

$$J_{\rho} = \{ x \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0\} : \|x\|_{\infty} \leqslant \rho \}.$$

$$(1.11)$$

We do not treat them as special cases in our main theorems, but it will be convenient to consider them as model examples where J is allowed to vary. One may also see Theorem 1.2.1 to motivate the use of J-DG model—we can study near-critical points by taking J sufficiently long-ranged.

The Discrete Gaussian model with periodic boundary condition will be extended to general *J*-range interactions. Let L, N > 0, $\Lambda = \Lambda_N$ and Ω^{Λ_N} be as in Section 1.1.2 and recall that there was a distinguished point $0 \in \Lambda$. Then for *J* as above, the *J*-Discrete Gaussian (or

just J-DG) model on Λ_N at temperature $\beta > 0$ is the probability measure

$$\mathbb{P}_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_{N}}(\sigma) = \frac{1}{Z_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_{N}}} e^{-\frac{1}{2\beta}(\sigma, -\Delta_{J}\sigma)} = \frac{1}{Z_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_{N}}} e^{-\frac{1}{4\beta|J|}\sum_{x-y\in J}(\sigma_{x}-\sigma_{y})^{2}},$$

$$Z_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_{N}} = \sum_{\sigma\in\Omega^{\Lambda_{N}}} e^{-\frac{1}{4\beta|J|}\sum_{x-y\in J}(\sigma_{x}-\sigma_{y})^{2}}$$
(1.12)

and expectation is written either $\mathbb{E}_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N}$ or $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N}$, where we again use the convention that $\sum_{x-y\in J}$ sums over each pair $\{x, y\}$ twice. Remarks on $\mathbb{P}_{\beta,\text{DG}}^{\Lambda_N}$ in Section 1.1.2 apply the same for $\mathbb{P}_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N}$.

1.1.4 Summary of the main results

The main results of this thesis have three parts, which can be considered as quantitative refinements of (1.6) in three different regimes. In particular, under certain scaling limits, we see that the DG model at high temperature converges to a continuum Gaussian free field.

- The first is on the convergence of the torus scaling limit (Theorem 1.1.1 [12]) on T², the unit square torus, to a Gaussian free field. We study the limit of the canonical ensembles (closed system with fixed temperature) on a sequence of discrete tori, so the limit is also called the ensemble scaling limit. Since the tested observable is smooth on T², the ensemble scaling limit describes the thermal system in the macroscopic scale.
- The second is on the convergence of the ℝ² scaling limit (Theorem 1.1.3 [13]) to a Gaussian free field. We first define the infinite volume *J*-DG measure in Proposition 1.1.2, and then a smooth function on ℝ² is tested against the infinite volume measure with varying mesh sizes. Then the 0-mesh size limit is studied. The macroscopic scale is not visible in the infinite volume measure, thus it is necessary to think of observables that live on multiple scales.

We also mention Theorem 1.1.4, the mesoscopic scaling limit, for comparison. While Theorem 1.1.3 first takes volume to infinite and then manipulates the scales of the observables, Theorem 1.1.4 manipulates these two scales simultaneously.

• The third is on the multipoint functions (Theorem 1.1.5 [81]). We still consider the infinite volume measure, but the observables are more singular under the scalings of Theorem 1.1.3. Thus one has to consider different scalings to obtain meaningful limits. These results are summarised in Section 1.2.3, see Corollaries 1.2.5 and 1.2.6 for example, which matches with Gaussian computations.

The three results all indicate that the DG model is in the *Gaussian universality class* (see Section 1.3.1). The main theorems will be stated in Sections 1.1.5, 1.1.6, and 1.1.7. Results in this chapter without proof are proved in Chapter 9, if not mentioned otherwise. The technical differences of the three regimes will be discussed in Section 1.3.4.

1.1.5 Torus scaling limit

For the first result, let \mathbb{T}^2 be the (continuous) unit square torus, i.e., $\mathbb{T}^2 = (\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z})^2 \simeq ([-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}]/\mathbb{Z})^2$, with geometry inherited from \mathbb{R}^2 . The torus scaling limit considers a sufficiently smooth function $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ (or any sufficiently smooth function) tested against the *J*-DG measure, scaled to fit in \mathbb{T}^2 . More precisely, we take *f* such that $\int_{\mathbb{T}^2} f(x) dx = 0$ and for each N > 0, we let f_N be the discretised version of *f* given by

$$f_N(x) = \frac{1}{|\Lambda_N|} \left(f(L^{-N}x) - \frac{1}{|\Lambda_N|} \sum_{y \in \Lambda_N} f(L^{-N}y) \right), \qquad x \in \Lambda_N, \tag{1.13}$$

so that $\sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} f_N(x) = 0$. Then f_N is tested against *J*-DG measure.

Theorem 1.1.1. [12] Let $J \subset \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ be any finite-range step distribution that is invariant under lattice rotations and reflections and includes the nearest-neighbour vertices of 0. Then there exists $\beta_0(J) > 0$ and an integer L = L(J) such that for the J-DG model on the torus Λ_N of side length L^N at temperature $\beta \ge \beta_0(J)$, there is $\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta) > 0$ such that for any $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ with $\int f dx = 0$, as $N \to \infty$,

$$\log \langle e^{(f_N,\sigma)_{\Lambda_N}} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N} \to \frac{\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta)}{2\nu_J^2} (f, (-\Delta_{\mathbb{T}^2})^{-1} f)_{\mathbb{T}^2}.$$
(1.14)

Moreover, $\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta) = \beta + O_J(e^{-c\beta})$ for some c > 0 (independent of J).

On the left-hand side of (1.14), $(f,g)_{\Lambda_N}$ is $\frac{1}{|\Lambda_N|} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} f(x)g(x)$. On the right-hand side, $(f,g)_{\mathbb{T}^2} = \int_{x \in \mathbb{T}^2} f(x)g(x)dx$, $\Delta_{\mathbb{T}^2}$ is the Laplace-Beltrami operator on \mathbb{T}^2 and the domain of $(-\Delta_{\mathbb{T}^2})^{-1}$ is $\{f : \int f = 0\}$. The constant v_J^2 was defined in (1.9).

It can be shown that (see Lemma 9.1.3 for a related result)

$$(f_N, (-\Delta_J)^{-1} f_N)_{\Lambda_N} \to \frac{1}{v_J^2} (f, (-\Delta_{\mathbb{T}^2})^{-1} f)_{\mathbb{T}^2}$$
 (1.15)

and we may recall that $\frac{1}{2}(f, (-\Delta_{\mathbb{T}^2})^{-1}f)_{\mathbb{T}^2} = \log \langle e^{(f,\phi)} \rangle_{\mathbb{T}^2}^{\text{GFF}}$ when ϕ is the standard Gaussian free field on \mathbb{T}^2 . Then we see that there is a multiplicative correction on the scaling limit of the *J*-DG model compared to the standard Gaussian free field by a factor $\frac{\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta)}{\beta} = 1 + O_J(e^{-c\beta})$.

This was partially predicted by (1.6) (in particular, we need $\beta_{\text{eff}} \leq \beta$). There is also a quantitative estimate in [45] saying $\frac{\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta)}{\beta} - 1 < -c_1\beta e^{-c_2\beta}$ for some $c_1, c_2 > 0$ when $J = J_{\text{nn}}$, the nearest neighbourhood interaction, ruling out the possibility of $\beta_{\text{eff}}(J_{\text{nn}},\beta) = \beta$. This bound is due to the spin-vortex contribution (a terminology again originating from the XY model), which can be taken into account rigorously by using a coupling of the Villain XY model with discrete random variables and map it to the lattice Coulomb gas. Then each charge in the lattice Coulomb gas contributes as a spin-vortex. The exact value of β_{eff}/β can be understood to arise from the competition between the spin-waves (the mechanism used to prove (1.6)) and the spin-vortices.

1.1.6 \mathbb{R}^2 scaling limit

The second result considers the scaling limit when a smooth function is tested against the DG model on the whole plane. For this purpose, we extend the DG measure to \mathbb{Z}^2 . For the case of the nearest-neighbour interaction (when $J = J_{nn}$), it is proved using cluster-swapping argument [86] that there exists a unique (translation) ergodic gradient Gibbs measure $\mathbb{P}_{\beta,J_{nn}}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ with tilt 0. Having tilt 0 means $\mathbb{E}_{\beta,J_{nn}}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}[\sigma_x - \sigma_y] = 0$ for any $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}^2$. However, this is not known for *J*-DG with general finite-range interaction *J*. Instead, we make a specific choice of infinite-volume measure obtained as a limit of DG measures on a specific sequence of tori. For the case of the nearest-neighbourhood interaction DG model, the infinite volume measure corresponds to the infinite volume Gibbs measure.

Proposition 1.1.2. Let $\overline{\Lambda}_N$ be a sequence of tori with side lengths 3^N . Then the limit $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} := \lim_{N \to \infty} \langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\overline{\Lambda}_N}$ exists and has tilt 0. Moreover,

$$\langle e^{(f,\sigma)} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} = \lim_{N \to \infty} \langle e^{(f,\sigma)} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\overline{\Lambda}_N}$$
 (1.16)

for any $f : \mathbb{Z}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\sum_x f(x) = 0$ and when $\overline{\Lambda}_N$ is realised as a subset $\left[-\frac{3^N-1}{2}, \frac{3^N-1}{2}\right] \cap \mathbb{Z}^2$ of \mathbb{Z}^2 .

The proof is given in Appendix 1.A.

We now define the discretisation of given $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ (smooth function with compact support) with $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f(x) dx = 0$. For each $\varepsilon > 0$, let the discretisation of f with mesh size ε be $f_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{Z}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $\sum_{x \in \mathbb{Z}^2} f_{\varepsilon}(x) = 0$ and, with d = 2,

$$\max_{0 \leqslant k \leqslant 2} \max_{x \in \mathbb{Z}^d} |(\varepsilon^{-1}\nabla)^k f_{\varepsilon}(x)| \leqslant C_f \varepsilon^{1+d/2}, \qquad \operatorname{supp} f_{\varepsilon} \subset [-R_f \varepsilon^{-1}, R_f \varepsilon^{-1}]^d, \max_{x \in \mathbb{Z}^d} |\varepsilon^{-1-d/2} f_{\varepsilon}(x) - f(\varepsilon x)| \to 0,$$
(1.17)

for some constants $C_f, R_f > 0$ (that do not depend on ε) and ∇ is the vector of discrete gradients on \mathbb{Z}^2 . For example, if $f = \nabla_i g$ for some $g \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ and $i \in \{1,2\}$ then one can take $f_{\varepsilon}(x) = \varepsilon^{d/2}(g(\varepsilon x + \varepsilon e_i) - g(\varepsilon x))$. In the statements, we take $\varepsilon \to 0$ to obtain the scaling limit.

In the next theorem, we test the discretised field f against *J*-DG model on \mathbb{Z}^2 .

Theorem 1.1.3. [13] Let $J \subset \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ be any finite-range step distribution that is invariant under lattice rotations and reflections and includes the nearest-neighbour vertices of 0. Then there exists $\beta_0(J) > 0$ such that the following holds for $\beta \ge \beta_0(J)$ and $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ with $\int f dx = 0$ such that there exists discretisation f_{ε} as in (1.17). As $\varepsilon \to 0$,

$$\log \left\langle e^{(f_{\varepsilon},\sigma)_{\mathbb{Z}^2}} \right\rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} \to \frac{\beta_{\mathrm{eff}}(J,\beta)}{2\nu_J^2} (f, (-\Delta_{\mathbb{R}^2})^{-1}f)_{\mathbb{R}^2}, \tag{1.18}$$

where β_{eff} is the same as Theorem 1.1.1 and $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ is the infinite volume measure defined by *Proposition 1.1.2.*

The order of taking limit $N \to \infty$ and $\varepsilon \to 0$ does not matter too much, as long as $L^N \varepsilon \to \infty$. This is stated as a separate theorem, which can be understood as the mesoscopic limit of the *J*-DG model.

Theorem 1.1.4. Under the setting of Theorem 1.1.3, there exists $L \equiv L(J)$ such that, whenever $(\varepsilon_N)_{N \ge 0}$ is a sequence such that $\varepsilon_N \to 0$ and $L^N \varepsilon_N \to \infty$,

$$\log \langle e^{(f_{\varepsilon_N},\sigma)_{\Lambda_N}} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N} \to \frac{\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta)}{2v_J^2} (f,(-\Delta_{\mathbb{R}^2})^{-1}f)_{\mathbb{R}^2}$$
(1.19)

as $N \rightarrow \infty$.

1.1.7 Multi-point functions

Before stating our result, we characterise the most general class of multi-point observables in the following assumption, where we also take care of multi-cluster observables \mathfrak{f} , expressed as a linear combination of clusters \mathfrak{f}_{α} . In the following, we think of \mathfrak{n} as the number of clusters (allowed to be 1) and $M\rho^2$ as the L^1 size of each cluster, so $\mathfrak{n}M\rho^2$ is the L^1 size of the observable. For $y \in \mathbb{Z}^2$, T_y is the translation by y, i.e., for any $f : \mathbb{Z}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$, we have $T_y f(x) = f(x - y)$.

(A_f) f is decomposed as $f = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} T_{y_{\alpha}} f_{\alpha}$ where each $f_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ is a function with compact support, $0 \in \text{supp}(f_{\alpha})$ and $\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \sum_{x} f_{\alpha}(x) = 0$. Also,

$$\max_{\alpha=1,\cdots,\mathfrak{n}} \{ \|\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})} \} \leqslant M, \qquad \max_{\alpha=1,\cdots,\mathfrak{n}} \{ \operatorname{diam}(\operatorname{supp}(\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha})) \} \leqslant \rho$$
(1.20)

with $\mathfrak{n}M\rho^2 \leq 1$.

We briefly explain these assumptions. Each y_{α} can be thought of as the centre of each cluster $T_{y_{\alpha}}f_{\alpha}$. For convenience, we denote $\vec{\mathfrak{f}} = (\mathfrak{f}_1, \cdots, \mathfrak{f}_n)$ and $\vec{y} = (y_1, \cdots, y_n)$ when such \mathfrak{f} is given. Also, let

$$d_{\vec{y}} = \min\{\|y_{\alpha_1} - y_{\alpha_2}\|_2 : \alpha_1 \neq \alpha_2\}.$$
 (1.21)

Since $||y_{\alpha_1} - y_{\alpha_2}||_2 \ge d_{\vec{y}}$, each pair of clusters are separated by distance at least $d_{\vec{y}} - 2\rho$, and we will be interested in situations where $d_{\vec{y}} \to \infty$. However, the clusters do not have to be disjoint in principle, so we do not impose any restrictions on y_{α} 's. We are restricting the L^1 size of the observable because we treat the observable as a perturbation to the renormalisation group flow (explained in Section 1.3.1), and the perturbation only has finite radius of convergence. In fact, we have an extra parameter h_{ω} that restricts the observable size in the next theorem, but thanks to $nM\rho^2 \le 1$, we can choose h_{ω} independent of the other parameters.

We test $\omega \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ against $\sigma \sim \mathbb{P}_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ for $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$ in the following theorem, where we use the notation $\mathbb{D}_r = \{\omega \in \mathbb{C} : |\omega| < r\}.$

Theorem 1.1.5. [81] Let $J \subset \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ be any finite-range step distribution that is invariant under lattice rotations and reflections and includes the nearest-neighbour vertices of 0. There exists a translation invariant covariance matrix $\mathfrak{C}_{\beta} \equiv \mathfrak{C}_{J,\beta}$, $\beta_0 \equiv \beta_0(J)$ and $h_{\omega} \equiv h_{\omega}(J)$ such that the following holds. Let $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$ with $h_{\omega} > 0$, $\beta \ge \beta_0$ and $\sigma \sim \mathbb{P}_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$. Then for $\mathfrak{f} = \sum_{i=1}^{\mathfrak{n}} T_{y_i} \mathfrak{f}_i$ satisfying (A_f) ,

$$\log \langle e^{\beta^{-1/2}\omega(\mathfrak{f},\sigma)} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} = \frac{1}{2}\omega^2(\mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{C}_{\beta}\mathfrak{f}) + \sum_{i=1}^n h_{\beta}^{(1)}[\mathfrak{f}_i](\omega) + h_{\beta}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\vec{\mathfrak{f}}](\omega)$$
(1.22)

where $h_{\beta}^{(a)}$ ($a \in \{1,2\}$) are analytic functions in $\mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}} \ni \omega$ satisfying the following.

- $|h_{\beta}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\vec{f}](\boldsymbol{\omega})| = O_{\beta}(d_{\vec{y}}^{-\alpha})$ uniformly in $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}$ and some $\alpha > 0$.
- $h_{\beta}^{(1)}[\mathfrak{f}_1] = h_{\beta}^{(1)}[-\mathfrak{f}_1], h_{\beta}^{(1)}[0] = 0 \text{ and } h_{\beta}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\mathfrak{f}_1,0,\cdots,0] = 0.$

We will see that \mathfrak{C}_{β} roughly behaves like the Green's function for the Laplacian in long distances as in Lemma 1.2.3, for example. Thus in the theorem, $\frac{1}{2}\omega^2(\mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{C}_{\beta}\mathfrak{f})$ consists of the effect of the Gaussian part of the field, while each $h_{\beta}^{(1)}[\mathfrak{f}_i]$ is a y_i -independent correction coming from each cluster. The final term $h_{\beta}^{(2)}$ are corrections due to the interactions between the clusters, decaying polynomially in the distance between the clusters. Some interesting corollaries of this theorem are summarized in Section 1.2.3, where the interpretations will get more clear.

1.2 Remarks and related problems

1.2.1 Novelties of this work

Compared to earlier works on the renormalisation group method, we develop a new finiterange covariance decomposition that admits a 0^{th} scale part covariance with range 0, see Chapter 2. This permits integrating a preliminary renormalisation group which smooths out the discreteness in the model. Once combined with the renormalisation group analysis of [9, 7, 10], we expect this to have applications in the analysis of the Ising model or the spin O(n) model or strictly self-avoiding walks in dimension ≥ 4 , and even near the critical point if we use the spread-out interactions.

In the renormalisation group analysis, we provide a novel systematic way to study the mesoscopic and microscopic observables by investigating how the tilted expectation interacts with the fluctuation integrations of the RG analysis. Complex tilting is allowed, and tracing the complex analyticity along the renormalisation group flow gives the analyticity statements of Theorem 1.1.5.

1.2.2 Near-critical scaling limit

If we consider the nearest-neighbourhood interaction $J = J_{nn}$, our proof requires choosing $\beta_0(J_{nn})$ sufficiently large, well above the expected critical point. However, if we consider interaction J with a sufficiently large range, then $\beta_0(J)$ is allowed to approach the critical temperature as much as desired. At the level of our first-order renormalisation group analysis, we cannot determine the critical temperature constructively, so we instead state the result with reference temperature

$$\beta_{\text{free}}(J) := 8\pi v_J^2$$
, any step distribution J. (1.23)

If we let $\beta_c(J)$ be the conjectured critical point, then it is expected that $\beta_{\text{free}}(J_\rho) \sim \beta_c(J_\rho)$ as $\rho \to \infty$ and $\beta_{\text{free}}(J_\rho) < \beta_c(J_\rho)$, so we are only allowed $\beta_0 \ge (1+\delta)\beta_{\text{free}}(J_\rho)$ for some $\delta > 0$.

Theorem 1.2.1. Consider $\beta_0(J)$ of Theorem 1.1.1. For the standard range- ρ distribution $J = J_{\rho}$, there exists C > 0 such that for any $\delta > 0$, $\rho^2 \ge C |\log \delta|$ and $L = L(J_{\rho}, \delta)$, the conclusion of Theorem 1.1.1 holds with $\beta_0(J_{\rho}) = (1+\delta)\beta_{\text{free}}(J_{\rho})$.

This theorem was the motivation for studying the DG model with interaction J in the first place. This result actually also applies to $\beta_0(J)$'s of Theorem 1.1.3 and Theorem 1.1.5, but we will not mention this explicitly.

In fact, we expect that for sufficiently large ρ , the critical point is also admissible to our analysis. In the following conjecture, we state what we expect could be proved.

Conjecture 1.2.2. Let $J = J_{\rho} = \{x \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus 0 : |x|_{\infty} \leq \rho\}$ be the standard range- ρ step distribution. Then there is $\rho_0 \in [1, \infty)$ such that for $\rho \geq \rho_0$, one can choose $\beta_0(J) = \beta_c(\rho)$ in the above theorem where $\beta_c(\rho)$ is such that, as $\beta \downarrow \beta_c = \beta_c(\rho)$,

$$\beta_{\rm eff}(J_{\rho},\beta_c) = \beta_{\rm free}(J_{\rho}) = 8\pi v_{J_{\rho}}^2, \qquad (1.24)$$

As $\rho \rightarrow \infty$, the critical temperature satisfies

$$\beta_c(\rho) \sim \beta_{\text{free}}(J_\rho) \sim \frac{4\pi}{3}\rho^2.$$
 (1.25)

and the criticality can be detected from logarithmic corrections on pointwise correlation functions.

The final sentence is verified for the 2-component critical lattice Coulomb gas in [36] by computing the fractional charge correlation. Although we also expect the conjecture to be true for any finite-range step distribution, so in particular also for the nearest-neighbourhood interaction $J = J_{nn}$, this proof currently seems to be out of reach.

1.2.3 Corollaries of Theorem 1.1.5

Multi-point functions

Theorem 1.1.5 has a number of interesting applications, for which we first need to present the role of \mathfrak{C}_{β} .

Lemma 1.2.3. With \mathfrak{C}_{β} as in Theorem 1.1.5 and $f_y = \delta_0 - \delta_y$,

$$(f_{y}, \mathfrak{C}_{\beta}f_{y}) = C(\beta) + \frac{\beta_{\text{eff}}(J, \beta)/\beta}{\pi} \log \|y\|_{2} + O(\|y\|_{2}^{-1})$$
(1.26)

for some $C(\beta) \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta)$ as in Theorem 1.1.1.

The lemma says that \mathfrak{C}_{β} only behaves like the usual lattice Green's function in long distances. Whenever $\mathfrak{f}_i = c_i \delta_0$ and $\mathfrak{f} = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \delta_{y_i}$ is a multi-point function such that y_i 's are well-separated, and then we can disentangle $(\mathfrak{f}, \mathfrak{C}_{\beta}\mathfrak{f})$ using the lemma.

Corollary 1.2.4. Consider the setting of Theorem 1.1.5 and suppose $(c_i)_{i=1}^{\mathfrak{n}}$ are such that $\sum_{i=1}^{\mathfrak{n}} |c_i| \leq 1$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{\mathfrak{n}} c_i = 0$. Then for $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}$,

$$\log \left\langle e^{\beta^{-1/2}\omega\sum_{i=1}^{n}c_{i}\sigma_{y_{i}}}\right\rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^{2}} = \frac{\beta_{\text{eff}}/\beta}{2\pi}\omega^{2}\mathfrak{L}(\vec{c},\vec{y}) + f_{J,\beta}[\vec{y},\vec{c}](\omega)$$
(1.27)

where

$$\mathfrak{L}(\vec{c}, \vec{y}) = -\sum_{i < j} c_i c_j \log \|y_i - y_j\|_2$$
(1.28)

and $f_{J,\beta}$ is such that $f_{J,\beta}(0) = \partial_{\omega} f_{J,\beta}(0) = 0$ and

$$\sup_{\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}} \left| f_{J,\beta}[\vec{c},\vec{y}](\omega) - f_{J,\beta}[\vec{c},\infty](\omega) \right| \leqslant O(d_{\vec{y}}^{-\alpha})$$
(1.29)

for some $f_{J,\beta}[\vec{c},\infty]$. Both $f_{J,\beta}[\vec{c},\vec{y}]$ and $f_{J,\beta}[\vec{c},\infty]$ are analytic functions of $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$.

Since $f_{J,\beta}$ is bounded uniformly in the corollary, we see that $\mathfrak{L}(\vec{c}, \vec{y})$ is the dominant term in the limit $d_{\vec{v}} \to \infty$. We have an intuitive interpretation when we scale the variables.

Corollary 1.2.5 (Central limit theorem). Consider the setting of Theorem 1.1.5 and let $(z_i)_{i=1}^n$ be distinct points in \mathbb{Z}^2 , $(w_i)_{i=1}^n$ be such that $\sum w_i = 0$. Then

$$\log\left\langle \exp\left(t(\log k)^{-1/2}\sum_{i=1}^{n}w_{i}\sigma_{kz_{i}}\right)\right\rangle_{\beta,J}^{\mathbb{Z}^{2}} \to \frac{\beta_{\mathrm{eff}}(J,\beta)}{4\pi}\sum_{i=1}^{n}w_{i}^{2}t^{2}$$
(1.30)

as $k \to \infty$, for any $t \in \mathbb{C}$. Thus we have convergence in distribution

$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i \sigma_{kz_i}}{\sqrt{\log k}} \Rightarrow_d \mathcal{N}\left(0, \frac{\beta_{\text{eff}}(J, \beta)}{2\pi} \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i^2\right)$$
(1.31)

Proof. Take $y_i = kz_i$ and $\omega = \beta^{1/2} (\log k)^{-1/4} t$ and $c_i = (\log k)^{-1/4} w_i$ in Corollary 1.2.4. Then ω and c_i satisfy the conditions for sufficiently large k and

$$\mathfrak{L}(\vec{c}, k\vec{z}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i^2 \log k + \mathfrak{L}(\vec{c}, \vec{z})$$
(1.32)

using $-\sum_{i < j} c_i c_j = -\frac{1}{2} (\sum_i c_i)^2 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_i c_i^2$.

The central limit theorem for the multi-point functions is in a similar flavour to that of Theorem 1.1.3, as they both show the Gaussianity of scaled variables in the long-distance limit. However, the multi-point functions are microscopic observables, making the control more delicate.

When the field is allowed to take continuous values and the interaction potential satisfies uniform convexity condition, the same observable as in Corollary 1.2.5 was shown to satisfy the central limit theorem in [28], and recently, the local central limit theorem was also proved in [93]. These results are obtained by applying stochastic homogenisation on the Helffer-Sjöstrand representation of the field. This technique has wide-ranging applications in this context, but it is not directly applicable to integer-valued systems. There are also results on some specific integer-valued models. The height function for the dimer model was studied extensively in [64] and the central limit theorem was proved in [71]. Also, a central limit theorem (with unknown scaling factors) was obtained for the square ice model in [92] using the Russo-Seymour-Welsh estimate on the level lines.

We obtain another application of Corollary 1.2.4 when $\omega = i\eta$ is purely imaginary.

Corollary 1.2.6 (Cosine correlation). Under the setting of Corollary 1.2.4, whenever $\eta \in (-h_{\omega}, h_{\omega})$,

$$\left\langle e^{i\beta^{-1/2}\eta\sum_{i=1}^{n}c_{i}\sigma_{y_{i}}}\right\rangle_{\beta,J}^{\mathbb{Z}^{2}} = C(\beta,\eta)\prod_{i< j}\left\|y_{i}-y_{j}\right\|_{2}^{\frac{\eta^{2}}{2\pi}}(\beta_{\mathrm{eff}}/\beta)c_{i}c_{j}\left(1+O\left(d_{\vec{y}}^{-\alpha}\right)\right)$$
(1.33)

for some $C(\beta, \eta)$ smooth in η .

This is exactly like the Gaussian free field prediction (see [61] for an in-depth study and [32, (2.6)] for a brief introduction). The interpretation is not so clear for the DG model. But using the analogue for the sine-Gordon model, the cosine correlation with n = 2, $c_i = \pm 1$ corresponds to the correlation function of two test charges $\pm \eta$ inserted into the 2D lattice multi-component Coulomb gas system dual to the generalised sine-Gordon model. For this reason, this observable is also called the fractional charge correlation or the electric correlator.

The polynomial decay of the fractional charge correlation also characterises the delocalisation, and the polynomial lower and upper bounds were established in [41, 42]. In the localised phase, the Debye screening (cf. [24, 94] for the lattice sine-Gordon model and [19] for the Discrete Gaussian model) induces exponential decay of the truncated charge correlation. The same type of result was studied for the dimer model in [83, 32]. A similar result was also obtained for the interacting dimer model in [53] but only after properly smoothing the point observables. We mention again that, for the lattice sine-Gordon model at the critical point, the fractional charge correlation was computed by Falco [36].

Falco's method of using observable fields also extends the range of η to $(0, \beta^{1/2})$ when β is near the critical value. (It was seen in [12, 13] that the near-critical values of these models are within the scope.) It does not give the required bounds for the usual Discrete Gaussian model where we can implement the renormalisation group method only for large values of β (well above the critical point), but by Theorem 1.2.1, this extension has a better chance to hold when *J* has sufficiently long range.

Conjecture 1.2.7. When $J = J_{\rho}$ with sufficiently large ρ and β is sufficiently close to $\beta_{\text{free}}(J)$, Corollary 1.2.6 holds for $\eta \in (0, \beta^{1/2}]$ (with α depending on η), but with $C(\beta, \eta)$ discontinuous at $\eta = \frac{1}{2}\beta^{1/2}$.

Note that we have only included $\eta \leq \frac{1}{2}\beta^{1/2}$ because

$$\left\langle e^{i\beta^{-1/2}\eta(\sigma_0-\sigma_y)}\right\rangle_{\beta,J}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} = \left\langle e^{i\beta^{-1/2}(\beta^{1/2}-\eta)(\sigma_0-\sigma_y)}\right\rangle_{\beta,J}^{\mathbb{Z}^2},\tag{1.34}$$

since σ takes $2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ -values, so $\beta^{-1/2}\eta$ -charge correlation for $\eta \in (\frac{1}{2}\beta^{1/2}, \beta^{1/2})$ can also be obtained from the statement. Then (1.33) does not hold anymore, but η on the right-hand side has to be replaced by $\beta^{1/2} - \eta$. Thus one may also expect that $C(\eta, \beta)$ has a point of discontinuity at $\eta = \frac{1}{2}\beta^{1/2}$. This is not weird, because there is actually a subleading term of the fractional charge correlation coming from fractional charge $1 - \beta^{-1/2}\eta$. This conjecture can be compared with [36, Theorem 2.1].

Using the observable fields is more common in this context, for example, as in [8, 87, 58], but we do not use it here.

Gradient correlation of the Villain XY model

Finally, we mention an application of Theorem 1.1.5 to the 2D Villain XY model. For $M \in \mathbb{N}$, let $\Box_M = [-M, M]^2 \cap \mathbb{Z}^2$ and we define the Villain XY model with free boundary condition on \Box_M and inverse temperature β by

$$\mathbb{P}^{M}_{\beta,\mathrm{Vil}}(d\theta) \propto \prod_{\{x,y\}\in E(\Box_{M})} \sum_{m\in 2\pi\mathbb{Z}} e^{-\frac{\beta}{2}(\theta_{x}-\theta_{y}-m)^{2}} \prod_{x\in \Box_{M}} d\theta_{x}$$
(1.35)

for $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)^{\square_M}$, where $d\theta_x$ is the uniform measure on $[0, 2\pi)$ and $E(\square_M)$ is the set of edges. The infinite volume correlation functions are given by

$$\mathbb{E}_{\beta,\mathrm{Vil}}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}\left[\exp(i\sum_{x\in A}n_x\sigma_x)\right] := \lim_{M\to\infty}\mathbb{E}_{\beta,\mathrm{Vil}}^M\left[\exp(i\sum_{x\in A}n_x\sigma_x)\right]$$
(1.36)

for a finite set *A* and $n_x \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $\sum_{x \in A} n_x = 0$. In fact, $\mathbb{E}_{\beta,\text{Vil}}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ is a (translation invariant) Gibbs measure on \mathbb{Z}^2 , whose existence and uniqueness are proved by [21, 77] (their works are on the 2D XY model, but they can be extended to the Villain model using the fact that the Villain model can be represented as a limit of XY model on the cable graph of \mathbb{Z}^2).

In 2D, the Villain XY model and the (nearest-neighbourhood interaction) DG model are dual to each other. The Villain XY model on \mathbb{Z}^2 is mapped to the DG model on the dual of \mathbb{Z}^2 (the faces of \mathbb{Z}^2), denoted $F(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ and isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^2 , according to the following procedure: if $A \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$ is a finite set and $(n_x)_{x \in A}$ sums to 0, then let $\gamma : E(\mathbb{Z}^2) \to \mathbb{Z}$ (the set of 1-forms) be such that $d\gamma = n$ (which is non-unique), where $d : \mathbb{Z}^{E(\mathbb{Z}^2)} \to \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ is the exterior derivative mapping the set of 1-forms to 0-forms. Also letting $d^* : \mathbb{Z}^{E(\mathbb{Z}^2)} \to \mathbb{Z}^{F(\mathbb{Z}^2)}$ be the exterior coderivative, we have

$$\langle e^{i(n,\theta)_{\mathbb{Z}^2}} \rangle_{\beta/4\pi^2,\text{Vil}}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} = \langle e^{\beta^{-1}(d^*\gamma,\sigma)_{F(\mathbb{Z}^2)}} \rangle_{\beta,\text{DG}}^{F(\mathbb{Z}^2)}, \qquad (1.37)$$

where now the DG model is defined on $F(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ instead (cf., [6, Section 5]).

We use this duality to study the gradient correlation of the Villain XY model. Suppose $n_1, n_2 : \mathbb{Z}^2 \to \mathbb{Z}$ have compact support and $\sum_x n_1(x) = \sum_x n_2(x) = 0$. Then by (1.37), there exists $\mathfrak{f}_1, \mathfrak{f}_2$ such that $\sum_x \mathfrak{f}_1(x) = \sum_x \mathfrak{f}_2(x) = 0$ and

$$\langle e^{i\sum_{x}(n_{1}(x)+n_{2}(x-y))\boldsymbol{\theta}_{x}}\rangle_{\boldsymbol{\beta}/4\pi^{2},\mathrm{Vil}}^{\mathbb{Z}^{2}} = \langle e^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{-1}\sum_{x}(\mathfrak{f}_{1}(x)+\mathfrak{f}_{2}(x-y))\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{x}}\rangle_{\boldsymbol{\beta},\mathrm{DG}}^{\mathbb{Z}^{2}}$$
(1.38)

where $(\theta_x)_x \sim \mathbb{P}_{\beta',\text{Vil}}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ is the unique translation invariant infinite volume Gibbs state of the Villain XY model at temperature β and $\langle \cdot \rangle_{\beta',\text{Vil}}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ is the expectation. Thus for sufficiently large β , by Theorem 1.1.5,

$$\log \langle e^{i\sum_{x}(n_{1}(x)+n_{2}(x-y))\theta_{x}} \rangle_{\beta/4\pi^{2},\text{Vil}}^{\mathbb{Z}^{2}}$$

$$= \frac{\beta^{-1}}{2} \left((\mathfrak{f}_{1}+T_{y}\mathfrak{f}_{2}), \mathfrak{C}_{\beta}(\mathfrak{f}_{1}+T_{y}\mathfrak{f}_{2}) \right) + h_{\beta}^{(1)}[\mathfrak{f}_{1}](\beta^{-1/2}) + h_{\beta}^{(1)}[y,\mathfrak{f}_{1},\mathfrak{f}_{2}](\beta^{-1/2}) + O(||y||_{2}^{-\alpha})$$

$$(1.39)$$

while

$$\log \langle e^{i\sum_{x} n_{1}(x)\theta_{x}} \rangle_{\beta/4\pi^{2}, \text{Vil}}^{\mathbb{Z}^{2}} = \frac{\beta^{-1}}{2} \big(\mathfrak{f}_{1}, \mathfrak{C}_{\beta}\mathfrak{f}_{1}\big) + h_{\beta}^{(1)}[\mathfrak{f}_{1}](\beta^{-1/2}) + O(\|y\|_{2}^{-\alpha}), \tag{1.40}$$

$$\log \langle e^{i\sum_{x} n_{2}(x-y)\theta_{x}} \rangle_{\beta/4\pi^{2}, \text{Vil}}^{\mathbb{Z}^{2}} = \frac{\beta^{-1}}{2} \big(\mathfrak{f}_{2}, \mathfrak{C}_{\beta}\mathfrak{f}_{2}\big) + h_{\beta}^{(1)}[\mathfrak{f}_{2}](\beta^{-1/2}) + O(\|y\|_{2}^{-\alpha}).$$
(1.41)

But $(T_y\mathfrak{f}_2,\mathfrak{C}_\beta\mathfrak{f}_1)$ decays polynomially in ||y||.

Lemma 1.2.8. If $J = J_{nn}$ and $\sum_{x} f_1(x) = \sum_{x} f_2(x) = 0$, then

$$(T_{y}\mathfrak{f}_{2},\mathfrak{C}_{\beta}\mathfrak{f}_{1}) = O(\|y\|_{2}^{-2})$$
(1.42)

This lemma is proved in Chapter 9. Thus we have the following.

Corollary 1.2.9. Let $n_1, n_2 : \mathbb{Z}^2 \to \mathbb{Z}$ have compact support and $\sum_x n_1(x) + \sum_x n_2(x) = 0$. Then for sufficiently large $\beta > 0$, there exists $\alpha \equiv \alpha(\beta) > 0$ such that

$$\operatorname{Cov}_{\beta,\operatorname{Vil}}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}\left[\prod_{x} e^{in_1(x)\theta_x}; \prod_{x} e^{in_2(x)\theta_{x+y}}\right] = O(\|y\|_2^{-\alpha}).$$
(1.43)

Proof. The case $\sum_{x} n_1(x) = \sum_{x} n_2(x) = 0$ is covered by the argument above. The case $\sum_{x} n_1(x) = -\sum_{x} n_2(x) \neq 0$ is dealt with by the McBryan–Spencer inequality [73] (which works for any $\beta > 0$).

1.2.4 Potential extensions

As was explained, the Discrete Gaussian model is related to several important problems in two-dimensional statistical physics. We list some interesting problems together with potential extensions or refinements of our method.

1. Due to the exact duality relationship (1.37), refinement of the method is expected to give correlation functions of the Villain XY model at low temperatures. Up to date, unmatching upper and lower bounds polynomially decaying in the distance are known via [41] and [73].

One may also see [89] for more about this duality and it is proven by Lammers [69] that the point of phase transitions exactly coincide in the two models.

2. Currently, our proof strongly relies on the quadratic form of the interaction potential, but there are also models with non-quadratic interaction, such as the Solid-On-Solid model and the dual height function of the XY model [41]. It would be of considerable interest if the renormalisation group method can be extended to those models.

3. Studying the effect of the presence of the boundary on the DG model is also of interest. For example, it is most convenient to study the level line when we impose Dirichlet boundary conditions on the system, cf., [84, 78]. A serious obstacle to applying the renormalisation group analysis to the DG model with Dirichlet boundary condition is that the renormalisation group flow is not stable near the boundary, so we need a new method to control this.

1.3 Methodology

1.3.1 Renormalisation group

The *renormalisation group* (RG) method is a systematic apparatus in statistical and quantum physics that enables the study of limits. In statistical physics, one usually studies the infrared limit, which corresponds to the long-distance limit where macroscopic physics arises from microscopic physics laws.

Suppose we are working on a lattice $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ and a spin system $\phi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda}$ is described by Hamiltonian

$$H_{0}(\phi; A) = \frac{1}{2}(\phi, (-\Delta + m^{2})\phi) + h_{0}(\phi; A)$$

$$h_{0}(\phi; A) = -\sum_{x \in \Lambda} A_{x}\phi(x) + \lambda \sum_{x} V_{0}(\phi(x), \nabla\phi(x))$$
(1.44)

for an external source field $A \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda}$, some potential function V and a probability measure

$$\mathbb{E}_{A}[F(\phi)] = \frac{1}{Z(A)} \int d\phi F(\phi) e^{-H_{0}(\phi;A)}, \qquad Z(A) = \int d\phi e^{-H_{0}(\phi;A)}.$$
(1.45)

The truncated correlation function is given by $\mathbb{E}_{A}^{T}[\phi(x_{1}); \cdots; \phi(x_{n})] = \frac{\partial^{n}}{\partial A_{x_{1}} \cdots \partial A_{x_{n}}} \log Z(A)$, so Z(A) will be the primary object of study.

The renormalisation group can be used to study the limit of Z(A) in the limit $|\Lambda| \to \infty$. For example, let Λ be a *d*-dimensional cube parametrised by a scale parameter N, thus $|\Lambda| = L^{dN}$ for some L > 0, and we study $N \to \infty$. Z(A) can be reformulated in terms of a Gaussian integral

$$Z(A) = N(m^2) \mathbb{E}^{\varphi}[e^{-h_0(\varphi; A)}], \qquad \varphi \sim \mathcal{N}(0, (-\Delta + m^2)^{-1})$$
(1.46)

where $\mathcal{N}(0,C)$ is the Gaussian distribution with covariance matrix *C* and $N(m^2)$ is a normalisation constant. The renormalisation group analysis decomposes the Gaussian integral

into a multiple number of progressive integrals of successive scales, each associated with coarse-graining and rescaling. Each progressive integral can be viewed as a decomposed component of the Gaussian integral. Equivalently, if $(-\Delta + m^2)^{-1} = \sum_j C_j$ where C_j contains the information of $(-\Delta + m^2)^{-1}$ at length scale L^j and $\zeta_j \sim \mathcal{N}(0, C_j)$ are independent Gaussian random variables representing the fluctuation of the field at scale j, then $\varphi =_d \sum_j \zeta_j$ (where $=_d$ means that they have the same distribution). Then progressive integral at scale j means integrating against the variable ζ_j . After scale j progressive integral, we group L^{dj} neighbouring lattice sites into blocks $B \in \mathscr{B}_j(\Lambda)$ and the rescaling reparametrises the field by multiplying $L^{\frac{d-2}{2}}$ so that the size of the field fluctuation stays normalised at each scale j. These steps are called coarse-graining and rescaling, respectively. The resulting function would have a generic form

$$Z_{j+1}(\varphi_{j+1};A) := \exp(-h_j(\varphi_{j+1};A)) := \mathbb{E}^{\zeta_{\leq j}}[e^{-h_0(\varphi;A)}]$$
(1.47)

where $\varphi_{j+1} = \sum_{k>j} \zeta_k$ and $\mathbb{E}^{\zeta_{\leq j}}$ only integrates the variables ζ_1, \dots, ζ_j (note that the rescaling is not reflected in this representation). Then the fundamental postulate of the renormalisation group states that there exists a family of local interaction functions $(V_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}}$ and a family of *coupling constants* $(\lambda_j^{\alpha})_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that

$$h_j(\boldsymbol{\varphi};0) \approx \sum_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in \mathbb{N}} \lambda_j^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{B} \in \mathscr{B}_j} V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}|_{\boldsymbol{B}}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}|_{\boldsymbol{B}}, \cdots).$$
(1.48)

(The notation for V_{α} indicates that it can have higher-derivatives dependence, but not infinitely many, to keep the locality of the interaction.) Then $h_j(\varphi; 0)$ is the effective potential describing the renormalised theory at scale j. When $A \neq 0$, there should also be extra coupling constants associated with the linear potential terms. Putting aside the problem of how to justify the postulate, we focus on the dynamical system of the coupling constants $(\lambda_j^{\alpha})_{j\geq 0}$ constructed from the renormalisation group steps. By our hypothesis (1.48), Z_{j+1} blurs out the microscopic detail of the system, thus the limit $j \to \infty$ will effectively describe the macroscopic limit of the probability measure, and the limit is parametrised in terms of $j \to \infty$ limit of the coordinates $(\lambda_j^{\alpha})_{\alpha}$. The interaction functions can be divided into three classes according to how they evolve: V_{α} is called (i) *irrelevant* if $(\lambda_j^{\alpha})_{j\geq 0}$ is contracting, (ii) *relevant* if $(\lambda_j^{\alpha})_{j\geq 0}$ is blowing up and (iii) *marginal* if it is neither irrelevant nor relevant. Usually (but not always), the cases of interest occur when all but a finite number of the interactions are irrelevant and the dynamical system is stable. In this case, the limiting theory is described in terms of only a finite number of coordinates. Moreover, due to the stability of the dynamical system, it does not respond sensitively to the microscopic detail, leading the

limiting measure of any perturbed system to be effectively described by the same coordinates, giving emergence to the *universality*.

In conclusion, the strength of the renormalisation group analysis is in the presence of a systematic way to study scaling limits and the potential to detect universality. However, in general, a postulate of type (1.48) is not easy to verify, nor is it easy to prove the convergence of the coupling constants $(\lambda_j^{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ as $j \to \infty$. One of the problems making the rigorous implementation difficult is that it is not easy to control the divergence of the series sum of (1.48) when they are exponentiated, and it easily happens that not even the integrability of (1.47) is easily justified. This is the *problem of large fields* (cf. [23, 47]). Thus, instead of using the full expansion of (1.48), it is desirable to find a way to reduce the mode of complexity, for example as in Section 1.3.2 using polymer gas representation, even if it means losing track of detailed information.

We also mention a partial list of incidents where the rigorous renormalisation group method has been applied. The ϕ^4 -model is a fundamental field-theoretic model taking $V_0(\phi) \propto |\phi|^4$ [56]. It had long been a subject of the renormalisation group analysis, especially at the upper critical dimension d = 4 [37, 48, 7, 57, 87, 14]. Also, due to the supersymmetric representation, the weakly self-avoiding walk (WSAW) is a subject of a similar type of analysis obtained in [15, 8, 9]. Some (continuous-valued) interface models had also been studied, when $V_0(\phi; \nabla \phi)$ is only a function of $\nabla \phi$. Classical examples include [47] when $V_0(\nabla \phi) \propto |\nabla \phi|^4$, [27] when $V_0(\nabla \phi) \propto \cos(\alpha \nabla \phi)$, and [2, 1, 58] when $V_0(\nabla \phi)$ is a more general sufficiently smooth function. There are also a number of renormalisation group works on the dimer and the Ising model using fermionic variables-their partition functions have (relatively simple) exact formulae that can be represented using fermionic variables [62], [85] (also see [16, 74]). Based on these observations, the interacting dimer model [53, 52] and non-integrable Ising model [51], also with boundary condition [4], were studied. One may also see [49, 17] for more examples and a pedagogical display of the method. The most related to our analysis are the works by Dimock-Hurd [30, 29] and Falco [35, 36] studying the lattice sine-Gordon model, where $V_0(\phi) = z\cos(\alpha\phi)$ and z is the activity. Their implementation of the renormalisation group method can be traced back to [27] where the two-dimensional dipole gas had been studied, and we would also have to mention [23] where [35] is built. Our implementation also imports important inputs from [23].

1.3.2 Polymer gas representation

The polymer gas representation of the renormalisation group writes the renormalised theory $Z_j(\varphi)$ in terms of normalising constant E_j , finite number of leading terms, combined into U_j , and a remainder term K_j , put together by polymer expansion. The leading terms inside U_j

are chosen so that it reflects the key structure of the model (or its limit), while the remainder K_j is chosen to be irrelevant in the renormalisation group flow. If we recall \mathscr{B}_j is the coarsegraining of the lattice Λ (for example, take $(L^j \mathbb{Z})^d$ -translations of $[-(L^j - 1)/2, (L^j - 1)/2]^d$), we call $X \subset \mathscr{B}_j$ a polymer of Λ . Then we seek for a representation

$$Z_{j}(\varphi) = e^{-E_{j}|\Lambda|} \sum_{X \subset \mathscr{B}_{j}} e^{\sum_{B \in X} \sum_{x \in B} U_{j}(\varphi(x), \nabla \varphi(x))} K_{j}(\Lambda \setminus X, \varphi)$$
(1.49)

by letting $K_j(Y, \varphi)$ to be a function of polymers. The polymer gas representation can be considered as a multiscale version of the cluster expansion, which were proved to be useful in various mathematical physics contexts, see [22, 56] for example. It can also be motivated by the expansion of the effective potentials in the hierarchical models [23, 11].

The restriction on K_j will be specified in Chapter 3 by defining the normed space in which such polymer functions reside. These normed spaces should be large enough to embrace sufficient amount of freedom, but it should also restrict the mode of divergence as the field φ tends to infinity, as we need to take guaranteed the convergence of the progressive integrals (1.47). Also, the space needs to encode the essential symmetries of the system. These properties are used in Chapter 5 to prove crucial contraction inequalities. Compared to this, the choice of U_j is usually relatively straightforward, and is composed of the leading terms in the expansion. The leading terms can be identified by testing the relevance and irrelevance. In the long run, only E_j survives, as we will prove $(U_j, K_j) \rightarrow (0,0)$ as $j \rightarrow \infty$. Thus $E_{\infty} := \lim_{j\to\infty} E_j$ is the negative (infinite volume) free energy per volume. It will not be a subject of interest in this thesis, but free energy also arises from the variational characterisation of the Gibbs measure [50, 86], and plays important role in the abstract formulation of statistical physics. It is also an important tool for studying phase transitions, as the point of phase transition usually coincides with the point of non-analyticity of E_{∞} .

1.3.3 Renormalisation group on the Discrete Gaussian model and mapping to a Coulomb gas

The general theme of this thesis is to develop a method of how to rigorously implement the renormalisation group analysis using the polymer gas expansion. We achieve this goal by considering the Discrete Gaussian model as a multi-component lattice Coulomb gas with

charge symmetry: on the level of partition functions and with extra mass $m^2 > 0$,

$$Z_{\beta,m^{2},\mathrm{DG}}^{\Lambda_{N}} := \sum_{\sigma \in (2\pi\mathbb{Z})^{\Lambda_{N}}} e^{-\frac{1}{2\beta}(\sigma,(-\Delta+m^{2})\sigma)} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_{N}}} d\phi e^{-\frac{1}{2\beta}(\phi,(-\Delta+m^{2})\phi)} \prod_{x \in \Lambda_{N}} \sum_{n \in 2\pi\mathbb{Z}} \delta_{n}(\phi(x))$$

$$\approx \int_{\mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_{N}}} d\phi e^{-\frac{1}{2\beta}(\phi,(-\Delta+m^{2})\phi)} \prod_{x \in \Lambda_{N}} \sum_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{iq\phi(x)}$$

$$= \sum_{\vec{q} \in \mathbb{Z}^{\Lambda_{N}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_{N}}} d\phi e^{-\frac{1}{2\beta}(\phi,(-\Delta+m^{2})\phi)} e^{i(\vec{q},\phi)}$$

$$= \sum_{\vec{q} \in \mathbb{Z}^{\Lambda_{N}}} e^{-\frac{\beta}{2}(\vec{q},(-\Delta+m^{2})^{-1}\vec{q})}$$
(1.50)

with the constant of proportionality only depending on $|\Lambda_N|$. In the limit $m^2 \to 0$, the sum on the right-hand side concentrates on $\{\vec{q} : \sum_x q(x) = 0\}$, thus we see that the (nearestneighbourhood interaction) DG model is mapped to a system of 'charges' \vec{q} that are subject to Coulomb interaction $(-\Delta)^{-1}$ with inverse temperature β and neutral in the sense that $\sum_x q(x) = 0$. Similarly, if we allow \vec{q} to talk only value 0 or ± 1 (so the Coulomb gas has two components) and add *activity* $z \in \mathbb{R}$, then this system is mapped to the lattice sine-Gordon model:

$$\sum_{\vec{q} \in \{\pm 1,0\}^{\Lambda_N}} \frac{(z/2)^{|\vec{q}|}}{|\vec{q}|!} e^{-\frac{\beta}{2}(\vec{q},(-\Delta+m^2)^{-1}\vec{q})} \propto \int_{\mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}} d\phi e^{-\frac{1}{2\beta}(\phi,(-\Delta+m^2)\phi)+z\sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} \cos(\phi(x))}$$
(1.51)

where $|\vec{q}| = \sum_{x} |q(x)|$. For the lattice sine-Gordon model with small activity, the renormalisation group method was used in [35] to study the critical line. The small parameter assumptions are often necessary for renormalisation group arguments because renormalisation group flows are treated as perturbations of the Gaussian free field. However, since the activity of any charge is of order 1 for the Discrete Gaussian model, we need an extra step that puts the activity small prior to the analysis. In this thesis, this is done by trading the 'ultra-local' part of the interaction with the activity. The ultra-local part of the interaction can be as large as desired by taking the temperature high, so the activity can also be suppressed as much as desired. This also has the effect of smoothing the discreteness present in spin values of the Discrete Gaussian, thus making it feasible for the usual analysis. This reformulation to the model will be explained in the first half of Chapter 6. As a result, this will give rise to a new covariance

$$C(s,m^2) = \left(\left(\left(-\Delta_J + m^2 \right)^{-1} - \gamma \right)^{-1} - s\Delta \right)^{-1}$$
(1.52)

studied in Chapter 2 and the leading terms of the expansion (1.49) will be given by

$$U_{j}(\varphi(x), \nabla \varphi(x)) = \frac{1}{2} s_{j} |\nabla \varphi(x)|^{2} + \sum_{q \ge 1} z_{j}^{(q)} \cos(q\beta^{1/2}\varphi(x))$$
(1.53)

The first term of (1.53) reflects the gradient interaction and is marginal. The second term reflects the periodicity of the integer-valued restriction of the Discrete Gaussian model and is irrelevant or marginal depending on the temperature β in the delocalised phase.

1.3.4 Outline of the thesis

We now explain the strategies for proving the different scaling limits and give an overview of the thesis.

Difference between the scalings

To understand the scaling limits, it is essential to understand how observables in different scales affect the renormalised theories Z_j in various scales. Suppose f is the observable of interest. After the change of variable in the Gaussian measure with covariance $C(s,m^2)$, the observable roughly amounts to perturbing the field by $C(s,m^2)f \simeq (-\Delta)^{-1}f$. First, we consider the case of the torus scaling limit, so $\Delta \equiv \Delta_{\Lambda_N}$, the Laplace operator on the discrete torus, and f is smooth on the torus. Then both the discretisation f_N and $(-\Delta)^{-1}f_N$ are smooth in scale N, the scale of the torus. It turns out that both functions U_j and K_j in (1.49) are 'smooth' functions of their field variables, for fields that are smooth in scale j, therefore $Z_N(\varphi + (-\Delta)^{-1}f_N)$ is also a smooth in f. Moreover, since $(U_N, K_N) \to 0$ in appropriate norms, we see that the perturbation made by the external field f_N vanishes as $N \to \infty$, which is an indication that we can compute the scaling limit.

Next, we consider the \mathbb{R}^2 scaling limit, so $\Delta \equiv \Delta_{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ and f_{ε} is smooth in scale ε^{-1} in the sense of (1.17). Then $(-\Delta)^{-1}f_{\varepsilon}$ is not smooth in the macroscopic scale anymore–it is rather very singular. Thus we decompose the perturbations by letting $f_{\varepsilon} = \sum_{j \ge 0} f_{\varepsilon,j}$ and $f_{\varepsilon,j} = C_j f_{\varepsilon}$, where we recall that $(-\Delta)^{-1} = \sum_{j \ge 0} C_j$ (when $m^2 = 0$). We will then see that $f_{\varepsilon,j}$ is smooth in scale max{ ε^{-1}, j }, so each $f_{\varepsilon,j}$ can only contribute to a bounded amount of perturbation on $Z_j(\varphi + f_{\varepsilon,j})$ if $j \ge \varepsilon^{-1}$ (and by a negligible amount if $j < \varepsilon^{-1}$). In fact, the amount of perturbation is also controlled by the norm of (U_j, K_j) , so the total amount of accumulated perturbations is roughly bounded by $\sum_{j \ge \varepsilon^{-1}} ||(U_j, K_j)||$ (again in some norm), which vanishes as $\varepsilon \to 0$, if $||(U_j, K_j)||$ is summable.

Finally, we consider the multipoint functions. We still have $\Delta \equiv \Delta_{\mathbb{Z}^2}$, but *f* is not scaled, so we do not have a parameter that plays the role of ε above. However, as long as L^1 -norm on

f is controlled, we will see that the perturbation generated by $C_j f$ is still an analytic function of *f*. Also, the size of the perturbations decay like $||(U_j, K_j)||$, so if $||(U_j, K_j)||$ is summable, we see that the accumulated perturbation is still an analytic function of *f*.

Structure of the thesis

As explained in Section 1.3.1, the renormalisation group analysis proceeds from a covariance decomposition of a Gaussian field, which is used to approximate the Gaussian free field with renormalised stiffness in the scaling limit. We use a particular form of covariance decomposition where each covariance has finite range, whose existence and regularity are proved in Chapter 2. Expectation in each decomposed covariance is the fluctuation integral.

In Chapter 3, we define polymer activities, which become the building blocks of the polymer expansion. The large field problem is taken care by introducing large field regulators and bounding the polymer activities with them. A large part of the chapter is devoted to studying how the polymer activities or the large field regulators interact with the fluctuation integral. We start discussing about how polymer expansions are handled in Chapter 4. We define various polymer expansion operations that are used to define the renormalisation group map on the polymer expansion. We also obtain estimates on these operations.

Chapter 2–4 are designed to apply to generic type of renormalisation group analysis, but Chapter 5 restricts the type of interactions to those relevant to the discussion of the high-temperature Discrete Gaussian model. The potentials are characterised by periodicity in global constant field addition, and the polymer activities also inherit this periodicity. We collect estimates that are ultimately responsible for the contractiveness of the renormalisation group map for periodic polymer activities.

In Chapter 6, we define the (bulk) renormalisation group map that applies to systems with periodic potentials and reformulate the Discrete Gaussian model that is admissible to this analysis. If the initial condition is tuned correctly, the sequence of (bulk) renormalisation group maps defines a convergent dynamical system of coupling constants (parametrising U_j) and polymer activities. This tuning is equivalent to constructing the stable manifold of the dynamical system, which is done in Chapter 7. The equivalent results for the observable renormalisation group are then proved in Chapter 8, using the bulk renormalisation group as the reference point.

We finally conclude the proof of our main theorems in Chapter 9. These are not of particular surprise once we have the (bulk and observable) renormalisation group flows, but certain technical points have to be verified, such as removing the coarse-grained structure of the polymer expansion for the final result.
25

Last but not least, we mention that there are various constants and parameters used to define the renormalisation group map. We have tried to summarize them in Section 3.2.3 and list of frequently used assumptions also appear in $(A_f), (A'_f), (A'_u), (A_v)$ and (Φ_{IC}) .

Appendix 1.A Existence of infinite-volume limit

We prove Proposition 1.1.2 in this appendix.

We recall the Fröhlich–Park–Ginibre inequalities. Let Λ be finite, let *C* be a positive definite matrix, and let $\langle \cdot \rangle_C$ be the expectation of the associated (generalised) Discrete Gaussian model:

$$\langle F \rangle_C \propto \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}^{\Lambda}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\sigma, C^{-1}\sigma)} F(\sigma).$$
 (1.54)

By taking limits, the definition of $\langle \cdot \rangle_C$ can also be extended to *C* positive semidefinite. Then the finite volume states $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda}$ given by (1.12) correspond to $C = \beta (-\Delta_J)^{-1}$ when σ is identified up to constants (as we do). The results of [39, Section 3] (see also [65, Proposition 1.2]) then imply that for $f : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\Sigma f = 0$:

$$\langle e^{(f,\sigma)} \rangle_{IB}^{\Lambda} \leqslant e^{\frac{1}{2}(f,(-\Delta_J)_{\Lambda}^{-1}f)},\tag{1.55}$$

$$\langle (f, \sigma)^2 \rangle_{J, \beta}^{\Lambda} \leqslant (f, (-\Delta_J)_{\Lambda}^{-1} f).$$
 (1.56)

Moreover, [39, Corollary 3.2 (1)] implies that

$$\langle e^{i(\varphi,f)} \rangle_{C_1} \leqslant \langle e^{i(\varphi,f)} \rangle_{C_2} \quad \text{if } C_2 \leqslant C_1.$$
 (1.57)

Proposition 1.A.1. Let L > 1 be an integer. For any finite-range step distribution J and any sequence of discrete tori Λ_N with side lengths L^N , with $N \in \mathbb{N}$, the measures $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N}$ converge weakly as $N \to \infty$ (when the field is identified up to constants). For any $f : \mathbb{Z}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ with compact support and $\sum f = 0$, one also has $\langle e^{(f,\sigma)} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N} \to \langle e^{(f,\sigma)} \rangle$ where $\langle \cdot \rangle = \lim_{N \to \infty} \langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N}$ is the weak limit.

Proof. We consider the Laplacian $-\Delta^{\Lambda_N}$ as an operator on $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ with domain

$$D(-\Delta^{\Lambda_N}) = \{ f \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d) : f(0) = 0, \ f(x) = f(x + L^N y) \text{ for any } y \in \mathbb{Z}^d \}.$$
(1.58)

Then clearly $D(-\Delta^{\Lambda_N}) \subset D(-\Delta^{\Lambda_{N+1}})$ and $-\Delta^{\Lambda_N} = -\Delta^{\Lambda_{N+1}}$ on $D(-\Delta^{\Lambda_N})$. This implies $-\Delta^{\Lambda_N} \ge -\Delta^{\Lambda_{N+1}}$ and hence $(-\Delta^{\Lambda_N})^{-1} \le (-\Delta^{\Lambda_{N+1}})^{-1}$. From (1.57), it follows that for any $f: \mathbb{Z}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ compactly supported and with $\sum f = 0$, $S_N(f) = \langle e^{i(f,\varphi)} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N}$ is decreasing in N. In particular, since also $S_N(f) \le 1$, the limit $S(f) = \lim_{N\to\infty} S_N(f)$ exists. To show S(f) is the characteristic function of a probability measure on $(2\pi\mathbb{Z})^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ /constants to which $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N}$ converges weakly, we will apply Minlos' theorem. To this end, we consider $(2\pi\mathbb{Z})^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ /constants as a topological vector space with the topology defined by the condition that $\varphi_k \to \varphi$ in $(2\pi\mathbb{Z})^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ /constants if $(\varphi_k, g) \to (\varphi, g)$ for all compactly supported $g: \mathbb{Z}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\sum g = 0$.

In particular, $(2\pi\mathbb{Z})^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ /constants is the dual of a nuclear space. To apply Minlos' theorem we need to check that *S* is continuous in this topology. But this is immediate from the correlation inequality (1.56) which implies that for any $g : \mathbb{Z}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ with compact support and $\Sigma g = 0$,

$$|S(f+g) - S(f)| = \lim_{N \to \infty} |S_N(f+g) - S_N(f)| \leq \lim_{N \to \infty} (g, (-\Delta_J^{\Lambda_N})^{-1}g) = (g, (-\Delta_J)^{-1}g),$$
(1.59)

from which the continuity is clear.

The final statement about the convergence of $\langle e^{(f,\sigma)} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N}$ follows from the weak convergence and (1.55) which implies that the random variables $e^{(f,\sigma)}$ are uniformly integrable. \Box

It is also standard, see [50] and analogous extensions to the gradient Gibbs setting as in [43, 44], that any limit as in the previous proposition is translation invariant and satisfies the gradient Gibbs property. Moreover, the limit satisfies the analogous correlation inequalities.

Proposition 1.A.2. The measure $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ has tilt 0, i.e., for each gradient Gibbs state in the ergodic decomposition of $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ the gradient field has mean 0.

Proof. The proof is analogous to that of [44, Theorem 3.2]. The correlation decay can be replaced by the following application of the Riemann–Lebesgue lemma. For $g : \mathbb{Z}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^d$ with compact support, where now $\nabla \sigma : \mathbb{Z}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ denotes the vector of discrete forward derivatives, (1.56) implies

$$\langle (g, \nabla \sigma)^2 \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} \leqslant C \int_{[-\pi,\pi]^2} \frac{|\hat{g}(p) \cdot p|^2}{|p|^2} dp.$$

$$(1.60)$$

Thus the distributional Fourier transform of $\langle \nabla_{e_i} \sigma(0) \nabla_{e_i} \sigma(x) \rangle$ is integrable in the Fourier variable. From this, the Riemann-Lebesgue lemma implies that

$$\langle \nabla_{e_i} \sigma(x) \nabla_{e_i} \sigma(y) \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} \to 0 \qquad (|x-y| \to \infty).$$
 (1.61)

In particular, for every i = 1, ..., d, with $Q_R = [-R, R]^2 \cap \mathbb{Z}^2$,

$$\left\langle \left(\liminf_{R \to \infty} \frac{1}{|Q_R|} \sum_{x \in Q_R} \nabla_{e_i} \sigma(x) \right)^2 \right\rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} \leqslant \liminf_{R \to \infty} \frac{1}{|Q_R|^2} \sum_{x,y \in Q_R} |\langle \nabla_{e_i} \sigma(x) \nabla_{e_i} \sigma(y) \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}| = 0.$$
(1.62)

This implies that every measure μ in the ergodic decomposition of $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ has mean 0 for $\nabla \sigma$ (see e.g. [44, Theorem 3.2] for a similar argument): indeed, for any such μ , by (1.62) and ergodicity, one deduces that $|Q_R|^{-1} \sum_{x \in Q_R} \nabla_{e_i} \sigma(x)$ converges μ -a.s. and that the limit vanishes, whence $E_{\mu}[\nabla_{e_i}\sigma(x)] = 0$.

Proof of Proposition 1.1.2. We obtain $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ when we take limit $N \to \infty$ in Proposition 1.A.1. The measure has tilt 0 due to Proposition 1.A.2.

Chapter 2

Finite-range decomposition

The starting point for our analysis is a finite-range decomposition for a covariance modified from the lattice Green's function for Laplacian. We expect that this construction will be useful for the analysis of other models where an initial renormalisation step can be carried out. Since it comes at no additional cost, we formulate the decomposition in any dimension $d \ge 2$. The main results of this section are Propositions 2.1.2 and 2.1.4 below, which exhibit the desired decomposition, first on \mathbb{Z}^d and then on $\Lambda_N = (\mathbb{Z}/L^N\mathbb{Z})^d$, respectively.

2.1 Existence of the finite-range decomposition

First, recall our convenient convention that Δ denotes the standard *unnormalised* nearest neighbour lattice Laplacian while Δ_J is the *normalised* Laplacian with step distribution $J \subset \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \{0\}$. As was introduced in Section 1.3.4 (cf. (1.52)), we will be interested in modified versions of the lattice Green's functions. First, we will see that for any small $\gamma > 0$ and any finite-range step distribution J, we can then decompose

$$(-\Delta_J + m^2)^{-1} = \gamma + C(m^2), \qquad (2.1)$$

with $C(m^2) = C_J(m^2)$ a J-dependent positive-definite symmetric matrix. We also let

$$C(s,m^2) := (C(m^2)^{-1} - s\Delta)^{-1} = C(m^2)(1 - s\Delta C(m^2))^{-1},$$
(2.2)

which makes sense and is positive definite for |s| small (depending on *J*; see Proposition 2.1.2 below), as can be seen from the second representation. The main result of this section yields a decomposition of $C(s,m^2)$ into an integral of covariances with a finite-range property. Available results on such decompositions (see Remark 2.1.5 for some reference) apply to

s = 0 or without subtraction of the constant γ , i.e., to $(-\Delta + m^2)^{-1}$ instead of $C(s, m^2)$, but for our purposes it is important to permit both $s \neq 0$ and the subtraction of γ .

Recall that the step distribution $J \subset \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \{0\}$ is assumed to satisfy the conditions above (1.8). The estimates for the resulting decomposition depend on the following parameters specific to *J*:

$$\rho_J = \sup\{|x|_{\infty} : x \in J\} \qquad (\text{range}), \tag{2.3}$$

$$v_J^2 = \frac{1}{2|J|} \sum_{x \in J} |x_1|^2$$
 (variance), (2.4)

$$\theta_J = \inf_{p \neq 0} (\lambda_J(p) / \lambda(p))$$
 (spectral lower bound). (2.5)

In the spectral lower bound, $\lambda_J(p)$ and $\lambda(p)$ are the Fourier multipliers of $-\Delta_J$ and $-\Delta$, defined precisely in Section 2.2 below.

Example 2.1.1. For the standard range- ρ step distribution $J_{\rho} = \{x \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \{0\} : |x|_{\infty} \leq \rho\},\$

$$\rho_{J_{\rho}} = \rho, \qquad v_{J_{\rho}}^2 \sim \frac{1}{6}\rho^2, \qquad \theta_{J_{\rho}} \ge 3^{-d}, \tag{2.6}$$

see Lemma 2.2.2 below.

We now state the main results of this section. We refer to Remark 2.1.5 below regarding a version of these findings for the (simpler) choice $\gamma = 0$ in (2.1), which implies various known results of this type (notably for the usual Green's function in the nearest-neighbour case). In the following proposition, we first consider (2.1) and (2.2) as operators on \mathbb{Z}^d ; the inverses are then well-defined as bounded operators on $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ if $m^2 > 0$. Thus the proposition considers the infinite-volume case of \mathbb{Z}^d rather than the finite torus relevant for our application to the Discrete Gaussian model. The torus case is treated thereafter in Proposition 2.1.4. Proposition 2.1.4 can be obtained in large part as a corollary of Proposition 2.1.2. Indeed the contributions to the torus decomposition comprising ranges smaller than the torus size are directly inherited from the decomposition on \mathbb{Z}^d , cf. (2.7) and (2.15) below. Scales which 'feel' the periodic boundary condition however must be treated separately. In what follows, a multi-index α is a vector $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n)$ with each $\alpha_i \in \hat{e} = \{\pm e_1, \pm e_2\}$, where e_1, e_2 is the standard basis of \mathbb{Z}^2 . Then we denote $|\alpha| = n$ and $\nabla^{\alpha} = \nabla^{\alpha_1} \cdot \nabla^{\alpha_n}$.

Proposition 2.1.2. Let $d \ge 2$. There exist absolute constants $\gamma > 0$ and $\varepsilon_s > 0$ (both purely numerical) such that for any finite-range step distribution $J \subset \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \{0\}$ as specified above (1.8), the following holds. For all $|s| \le \varepsilon_s \theta_J$ and $m^2 \in (0, 1]$, one has a decomposition of the

form

$$C^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(s,m^2) := \left(C^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(m^2)^{-1} - s\Delta \right)_{\mathbb{Z}^d}^{-1} = \int_{\rho_J}^{\infty} D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(s,m^2) \, dt,$$
(2.7)

where the $D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(s,m^2)$ are positive-definite symmetric kernels with range less than t, i.e.,

$$D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(x, y; s, m^2) := (\delta_x, D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(s, m^2)\delta_y) = 0 \text{ whenever } |x - y|_{\infty} \ge t.$$

$$(2.8)$$

The left-hand side depends only on $x - y \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and is invariant under lattice rotations. Moreover,

(i) uniformly in $(s,m^2) \in [-\varepsilon_s \theta_J, \varepsilon_s \theta_J] \times (0,1]$, all multi-indices α (including $|\alpha| = 0$), $t \ge \rho_J$,

$$|\nabla^{\alpha} D_{t}^{\mathbb{Z}^{d}}(0,x;s,m^{2})| \leqslant C_{\alpha} \rho_{J}^{-2} t \left(\frac{\rho_{J}}{v_{J}t}\right)^{d+|\alpha|} + C_{\alpha} \theta_{J}^{-d-|\alpha|} \rho_{J}^{-2} t \left(\frac{\rho_{J}}{t^{2}}\right)^{d+|\alpha|} e^{-c(\theta_{J}^{1/2}t)^{1/4}}$$
(2.9)

(note: if θ_J is bounded from below by a positive value, the second term can be omitted since $v_J \leq \rho_J/2 \leq t/2$);

(ii) for all $|s| \leq \varepsilon_s \theta_J$ and all t, the map $m^2 \mapsto D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(s, m^2)$ is continuous and has a limit

$$D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(s) \equiv D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(s,0) = \lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(s,m^2), \qquad (2.10)$$

and the map $s \mapsto D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(s)$ is analytic in $|s| \leq \varepsilon \theta_J$;

(iii) if d = 2, then for all $|s| \leq \varepsilon_s \theta_J$,

$$D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(0,0;s) = \frac{1}{2\pi t (v_J^2 + s)} \left(1 + O\left(\frac{\rho_J}{t} + \frac{\rho_J^4}{v_J^2 t^2} + \frac{\theta_J^{-2} v_J^2}{t^2}\right) \right),$$

as $\frac{\rho_J}{t} + \frac{\rho_J^4}{v_J^2 t^2} + \frac{\theta_J^{-2} v_J^2}{t^2} \to 0.$ (2.11)

In the above estimates, all constants are independent of J (and s).

In the particular case of the standard range- ρ step distribution the conclusions simplify as follows.

Remark 2.1.3. For $J = J_{\rho}$ (see Example 2.1.1) the uniform lower bound on $\theta_{J_{\rho}}$ in (2.6) implies that the domain of *s* can be chosen independently of ρ . For such *s*, using the bounds

from (2.6), the estimates in items (*i*) and (*iii*) above become (see also the note below (2.9)), for $t \ge \rho$,

$$|\nabla^{\alpha} D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(0,x;s,m^2)| \leqslant C_{\alpha} \rho^{-2} t^{1-d-|\alpha|}, \qquad (2.12)$$

and (in d = 2)

$$D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(0,0;s) = \frac{1}{2\pi t (v_{J_{\rho}}^2 + s)} \left(1 + O\left(\frac{\rho}{t}\right)\right),$$
(2.13)

with all constants independent of ρ , s and m^2 .

Proposition 2.1.2 applies to covariances defined on all of \mathbb{Z}^d . By periodisation, Proposition 2.1.2 and its proof also imply an analogous statement for the discrete torus, which we state next. Since this is the decomposition we will use in the present thesis, we consider the torus Λ_N of side length L^N (even though an analogous statement holds for any side length). For $t < \frac{1}{4}L^N$, the covariances $D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}$ from Proposition 2.1.2 are translation invariant and have range less than half the diameter of the torus. They can thus naturally be identified with covariances on the torus Λ_N by projection. More precisely, with $\pi_N : \mathbb{Z}^d \to \Lambda_N$ denoting the canonical projection and for any $f : \Lambda_N \to \mathbb{R}$, $t < \frac{1}{4}L^N$, one sets $D_t f(\pi_N(x)) := D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d} (f \circ \pi_N)(x)$, for $x \in \mathbb{Z}^d$, and readily verifies that this is well-defined, i.e. the right-hand side does not depend on the choice of representative x in the equivalence class. In the sequel, we normally do not distinguish between D_t and $D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}$ for $t < \frac{1}{4}L^N$ and often omit the superscript. On the other hand, for $t \ge \frac{1}{4}L^N$, the periodisation of the covariance $D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}$ does depend on the torus.

Proposition 2.1.4. Let $d \ge 2$, $L \ge 1$, $N \ge 1$, and $\Lambda_N = (\mathbb{Z}/L^N\mathbb{Z})^d$. With the same constants $\gamma > 0$ and $\varepsilon_s > 0$ as in Proposition 2.1.2, $m^2 \in (0, 1]$, the matrix

$$(-\Delta_J + m^2)^{-1}_{\Lambda_N} - \gamma = C^{\Lambda_N}(m^2)$$
(2.14)

is positive definite and for all $|s| \leq \varepsilon_s \theta_J$,

$$(C^{\Lambda_N}(m^2) - s\Delta)^{-1}_{\Lambda_N} = \int_{\rho_J}^{\frac{1}{4}L^{N-1}} D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(s, m^2) dt + \int_{\frac{1}{4}L^{N-1}}^{\infty} \tilde{D}_t^{\Lambda_N}(s, m^2) dt + t_N(s, m^2) Q_N \quad (2.15)$$

where the $D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(s,m^2)$ are the same as in (2.7) (with the identification discussed above), for all $t > \frac{1}{4}L^{N-1}$, the covariances $\tilde{D}_t^{\Lambda_N}(s,m^2)$ satisfy the same upper bounds as $D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}$ in (2.9), the same analyticity in s, and the same continuity in m^2 (including as $m^2 \downarrow 0$). Finally, Q_N denotes the matrix with all entries equal to $1/|\Lambda_N| = L^{-dN}$ and $t_N(s,m^2) \in (0,m^{-2})$ is a constant satisfying

$$|t_N(s,m^2) - m^{-2}| \leqslant C\rho_J^{-2}L^{2N}.$$
(2.16)

Remark 2.1.5. Analogues of Propositions 2.1.2 and 2.1.4 continue to hold for the choice $\gamma = 0$ in (2.1), yielding for $|s| \leq \varepsilon_s \theta_J$ and $m^2 \in (0, 1]$ the decomposition

$$(-\Delta_J + m^2 - s\Delta)_{\mathbb{Z}^d}^{-1} = \int_0^\infty D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(s, m^2) \, dt, \qquad (2.17)$$

(along with a corresponding analogue on Λ_N); the properties (2.8)–(2.11) remain valid for all $t \ge \rho_J$. Moreover, the range of $D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}$ is 0 for $t \le \rho_J$, i.e., $D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(0,x) = 1_{x=0}D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(0,0)$ and (2.9) is complemented by the fact that $D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(0,0) > 0$ is constant for all $t \le \rho_J$. The decomposition (2.17) is obtained by following the arguments below, which simplify when $\gamma = 0$ (essentially boiling down to [11, Section 3]). In particular, for *J* the usual nearest-neighbour interaction and s = 0, (2.17) recovers a well-known decomposition for the Green's function $(-\Delta + m^2)^{-1}$, see e.g. [5, 11, 25].

The rest of this chapter is devoted to proving Propositions 2.1.2 and 2.1.4.

2.2 Preliminaries on Fourier transforms

Before proving Proposition 2.1.2, we collect some preliminaries and conventions about normalisation of Fourier transforms and of the lattice Laplacian Δ and its generalised version Δ_J with step distribution J. Throughout, Λ is a discrete d-dimensional torus of integer period R with Fourier dual

$$\Lambda^* = \{2\pi R^{-1}k : k \in \{-\lceil (R-2)/2 \rceil, \dots, \lfloor R/2 \rfloor\}^d\} \subset (-\pi, \pi]^d.$$
(2.18)

For an integrable function $\hat{f}: (-\pi, \pi]^d \to \mathbb{R}$, we define

$$f^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(x) = \int_{(-\pi,\pi]^d} \hat{f}(p) e^{ip \cdot x} \frac{dp}{(2\pi)^d},$$
(2.19)

$$f^{\Lambda}(x) = \frac{1}{|\Lambda|} \sum_{p \in \Lambda^*} \hat{f}(p) e^{ip \cdot x}, \qquad (2.20)$$

where $|\Lambda| = R^d$ denotes the number of points in Λ . Then by the Poisson summation formula,

$$f^{\Lambda}(x) = \sum_{y \in \mathbb{Z}^d} f^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(x + yR).$$
(2.21)

This notation also applies for translation invariant covariances, i.e., when a function f(x, y) depends only on x - y we will usually identify it with the function f(0, x).

We write $\lambda = \lambda(p)$ and $\lambda_{J,m^2} = \lambda_{J,m^2}(p) \ge 0$ for the Fourier multipliers of $-\Delta$ and $-\Delta_J + m^2$:

$$\lambda(p) = \sum_{|e|=1} (1 - \cos(p \cdot e)),$$

$$\lambda_J(p) = \frac{1}{|J|} \sum_{x \in J} (1 - \cos(p \cdot x)), \qquad \lambda_{J,m^2}(p) = \lambda_J(p) + m^2$$
(2.22)

(recall our convention regarding normalisation of Δ and Δ_J). The following elementary lemma provides some comparison estimates for $\lambda_J(p)$ and $\lambda(p)$, which will be useful in the sequel.

Lemma 2.2.1. For any step distribution J as above (1.8) (with implicit constants independent of J),

$$\lambda_J(p) = v_J^2 |p|^2 + O(\rho_J^2 v_J^2 |p|^4) \qquad (p \to 0)$$
(2.23)

$$\lambda_J(p) \leq \min\{1, v_J^2 | p |^2\}$$
 $(p \in (-\pi, \pi]^d),$ (2.24)

with ρ_J and v_J defined by (2.3) and (2.4). Moreover, $\lambda(p) = |p|^2 + O(|p|^4)$ as $p \to 0$ and $\lambda(p) \in [\frac{4}{\pi^2} |p|^2, |p|^2]$ for $p \in (-\pi, \pi]^d$, hence in particular $\theta_J \leq \frac{\pi}{4} v_J^2$.

Proof. Let v_J^2 be as defined by (2.4). Then as $p \to 0$, substituting $1 - \cos x = \frac{x^2}{2} + O(x^4)$ in (2.22), one finds that

$$\lambda_{J}(p) = \frac{1}{|J|} \sum_{y \in J} \left(1 - \cos\left(\sum_{i=1}^{d} p_{i} y_{i}\right) \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2|J|} \sum_{y \in J} |p|^{2} y_{1}^{2} + O\left(\frac{1}{|J|} \sum_{y \in J} |y|^{4} |p|^{4}\right) = v_{J}^{2} |p|^{2} + O(\rho_{J}^{2} v_{J}^{2} |p|^{4}).$$
(2.25)

The upper bound in (2.24) follows similarly, using the inequality $1 - \cos x \le x^2/2$ valid for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$ instead.

To see the lower bound for $\lambda(p)$, consider the function $g(q) = 1 - \cos(q) - \frac{2}{\pi^2}q^2$ on $q \in [0, \pi]$. Then $g(0) = g(\pi) = 0$ while $g'(q) = \sin(q) - \frac{4}{\pi^2}q$ has only one non-zero zero, hence g(q) does not attain 0 on $(0, \pi)$, *i.e.*, $g(q) \ge 0$ on $[0, \pi]$. Therefore

$$\lambda(p) = 2\sum_{i=1}^{d} (1 - \cos(p_i)) \ge \frac{4}{\pi^2} |p|^2$$
(2.26)

which is the claimed lower bound.

Lemma 2.2.2. For the step distribution $J = J_{\rho} = \{x \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \{0\} : |x|_{\infty} \leq \rho\},\$

$$\rho_{J_{\rho}} = \rho, \qquad v_{J_{\rho}}^2 \equiv v_{\rho}^2 \sim \frac{1}{6}\rho^2, \quad as \ \rho \to \infty,$$
(2.27)

and with $\lambda_{\rho} \equiv \lambda_{J_{\rho}}$,

$$\lambda(p) \leqslant 3^d \lambda_{\rho}(p), \tag{2.28}$$

i.e., $\theta_{J_{\rho}} \equiv \theta_{\rho} = \inf_{p \neq 0} \lambda_{\rho}(p) / \lambda(p) \ge 3^{-d}$. *Proof.* Using that $\sum_{j=1}^{\rho} j^2 \sim \frac{1}{3} \rho^3$ as $\rho \to \infty$,

$$v_{\rho}^{2} = \frac{(2\rho+1)^{d-1}}{(2\rho+1)^{d}-1} \sum_{j=1}^{\rho} j^{2} \sim \frac{\rho^{2}}{6}.$$
 (2.29)

To show $\lambda \leq 3^d \lambda_{\rho}$, first note that since $\sum_{a=1}^{\rho} \cos(ax) = \frac{\sin((\rho+1/2)x)}{2\sin(x/2)} - \frac{1}{2}$,

$$\lambda_{\rho}(p) = \frac{1}{(2\rho+1)^{d}-1} \sum_{|y|_{\infty} \leq \rho} (1 - \prod_{i=1}^{d} e^{ip_{i}y_{i}})$$

$$= \frac{(2\rho+1)^{d}}{(2\rho+1)^{d}-1} \left(1 - \prod_{i=1}^{d} \sum_{x=-\rho}^{\rho} \frac{e^{ip_{i}x}}{(2\rho+1)}\right) \right)$$

$$= \frac{(2\rho+1)^{d}}{(2\rho+1)^{d}-1} \left(1 - \prod_{i=1}^{d} \frac{2}{2\rho+1} (\frac{1}{2} + \sum_{x=1}^{\rho} \cos(p_{i}x)))\right)$$

$$= \frac{(2\rho+1)^{d}}{(2\rho+1)^{d}-1} \left(1 - \prod_{i=1}^{d} \frac{\sin((2\rho+1)p_{i}/2)}{(2\rho+1)\sin(p_{i}/2)}\right). \quad (2.30)$$

But

$$\sup_{\rho \ge 1} \frac{\sin((2\rho+1)p_1/2)}{(2\rho+1)\sin(p_1/2)} = \frac{\sin(3p_1/2)}{3\sin(p_1/2)}$$
(2.31)

and so $\lambda_{\rho}(p) \ge (1-3^{-d})\lambda_{\rho=1}(p)$. But

$$(3^{d}-1)\lambda_{\rho=1}(p) = \sum_{|y|_{\infty}=1} (1 - \cos(\sum_{i=1}^{d} p_{i}y_{i})) \ge \sum_{|y|_{1}=1} (1 - \cos(\sum_{i=1}^{d} p_{i}y_{i})) = \lambda(p)$$
(2.32)

so the claim holds since $(1 - 3^{-d})/(3^d - 1) = 3^{-d}$.

2.3 **Proof of Proposition 2.1.2: finite-range property**

The starting point for the construction of the finite-range decomposition is the following lemma, from which one can directly obtain the finite-range decomposition when s = 0. The lemma originated in [5], but we obtain here a better decay estimate, which is important for our construction of the finite-range decomposition for $s \neq 0$.

Lemma 2.3.1. For t > 0, there exist polynomials P_t of degree at most t such that for $\lambda \in (0,3]$,

$$\frac{1}{\lambda} = \int_0^\infty t^2 P_t(\lambda) \frac{dt}{t}.$$
(2.33)

For $\lambda \in (0,3]$ and t > 1, the polynomials satisfy $P_t(\lambda) \ge 0$ and there is an entire function f that is non-negative on the real axis and satisfies $\int_0^\infty t^2 f(t) \frac{dt}{t} = 1$ such that

$$P_t(\lambda) \leqslant C e^{-c(\lambda t^2)^{1/4}} \tag{2.34}$$

$$|P_t(\lambda) - f(\sqrt{\lambda}t)| \leq Ct^{-1}e^{-c(\lambda t^2)^{1/4}}.$$
(2.35)

For $t \leq 1$, $P_t(\lambda) = \gamma/t$ for some constant $\gamma > 0$.

Proof. Let $f : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$ be any non-negative function with the following properties: the Fourier transform of f is smooth, symmetric and has support in [-1, 1], and $\int_0^\infty t^2 f(t) \frac{dt}{t} = 1$. Then by [11, Lemma 3.3.3], (2.33) holds for $\lambda \in [0, 4]$ with the function P_t given by

$$P_t(\lambda) = f_t^*(\arccos(1 - \frac{1}{2}\lambda))$$
(2.36)

where

$$f_t^*(x) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} f(xt - 2\pi nt).$$
 (2.37)

By [11, Lemma 3.3.5], (2.36) defines a polynomial $P_t(\cdot)$ on (0,3], of degree bounded by *t*. We will now choose *f* as follows. Let

$$\kappa(s) = e^{-(1-(2s)^2)^{-1}} \mathbf{1}_{|s|<1/2}$$
(2.38)

be the standard bump function with support [-1/2, 1/2]. By Proposition 2.A.1, $|\hat{\kappa}(x)| \leq Ce^{-|x|^{1/2}}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. We set $\hat{f}(s) = c(\kappa * \kappa)(s)$, with c > 0 chosen as to ensure the normalisation $\int_0^\infty tf(t) dt = 1$. Then *f* has all the required properties. In particular, since its Fourier transform has compact support, it extends to an entire function, as easily seen by expanding the exponential in the Fourier integral, yielding an absolutely convergent power

series. Also, $f(x) = c\hat{\kappa}(x)^2 \leq C' e^{-2|x|^{1/2}}$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}$. For $t \ge 1$,

$$f_t^*(x) \leqslant C' e^{-(2t|x|)^{1/2}} \sum_{n \ge 0} e^{-\sqrt{4\pi n}} \leqslant C'' e^{-(2t|x|)^{1/2}}.$$
(2.39)

Since $\arccos(1-\frac{1}{2}\lambda) \ge \sqrt{\lambda}$, the estimate (2.34) follows immediately from (2.36) and (2.39). The bound (2.35) follows similarly using $|f'(x)| \le C''' e^{-|x|^{1/2}}$ (which follows from the explicit form of *f* and that κ has compact support) and using that $\arccos(1-\frac{1}{2}\lambda) - \sqrt{\lambda} = O(\lambda)$; see [5, Proposition 3.1] for a similar argument. The constant γ is given by $\hat{f}(0)/2\pi$, see [11, Lemma 3.3.6].

By applying the previous lemma, we first construct a finite-range decomposition for s = 0. To this end, insert $\lambda_{J,m^2}(p)$ into (2.33) for $m^2 \leq 1$ (so that $\lambda_{J,m^2} \leq 3$ and Lemma 2.3.1 is in force). Since λ_{J,m^2} has range ρ_J , in the sense that it is the Fourier multiplier of an operator with range ρ_J , and since P_t is a polynomial of degree at most t, it follows that $P_t(\lambda_{J,m^2})$ has range $\rho_J t$. We therefore set in Fourier space

$$\hat{D}_t(p;m^2) = \rho_J^{-2} t P_{\rho_J^{-1}t}(\lambda_{J,m^2}(p)), \quad p \in (-\pi,\pi]^d.$$
(2.40)

By (2.33) and the explicit form of P_t for $t \leq 1$, it follows with $\hat{D}_t(m^2) \equiv \hat{D}_t(\cdot;m^2)$ that

$$\frac{1}{\lambda_{J,m^2}(\cdot)} = \int_0^\infty \hat{D}_t(m^2) \, dt = \gamma + \int_{\rho_J}^\infty \hat{D}_t(m^2) \, dt = \gamma + \hat{C}(m^2), \tag{2.41}$$

with the last equality defining $\hat{C}(m^2) = \hat{C}(p;m^2)$, $p \in (-\pi,\pi]^d$, and we used that

$$\int_{0}^{\rho_{J}} \rho_{J}^{-2} t P_{\rho_{J}^{-1}t} dt = \int_{0}^{1} t P_{t} dt = \gamma.$$
(2.42)

By (2.41), the function $\hat{C}(m^2)$ thus defined in terms of $\hat{D}_t(m^2)$ is indeed the Fourier transform of $C(m^2)$ appearing in (2.1). With a view towards our aim (2.7), we expand for $|s| < \theta_J = \inf_{m^2} \inf(\lambda_{I,m^2}/\lambda)$ and $m^2 \in (0,1]$,

$$\hat{C}(s,m^2) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} (\hat{C}(m^2)^{-1} + s\lambda)^{-1} = \hat{C}(m^2)(1 + s\lambda\hat{C}(m^2))^{-1}$$
$$= \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} s^{2l}\lambda^{2l}\hat{C}(m^2)^{2l+1}(1 - s\lambda\hat{C}(m^2)).$$
(2.43)

The expansion is absolutely convergent since $|s|\lambda \hat{C}(m^2) \leq |s|\lambda/\lambda_{J,m^2} \leq |s|/\theta_J < 1$. Moreover, this condition implies that the following integrand is positive:

$$1 - s\lambda \hat{C}(m^2) = \frac{\lambda_{J,m^2}}{\lambda_{J,m^2}} - s\lambda \hat{C}(m^2) = \int_0^\infty (\lambda_{J,m^2} - s\lambda \mathbf{1}_{t>\rho_J}) \hat{D}_t(m^2) dt.$$
(2.44)

This motivates the following definition of the finite-range decomposition for $|s| < \theta_J$. **Definition 2.3.2.** For $m^2 \in (0, 1]$, all $|s| < \theta_J$ and t > 0, let

$$\hat{D}_{t}(s,m^{2}) = \frac{1}{4\lambda} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} s^{2l} \int_{[0,\infty)\times[\rho_{J},\infty)^{2l+1}: \sum t_{i}=(t-\rho_{J})/4} (\lambda_{J,m^{2}} - s\lambda \mathbf{1}_{t_{0}} > \rho_{J}) \hat{D}_{t_{0}}(m^{2}) \prod_{i=1}^{2l+1} \lambda \hat{D}_{t_{i}}(m^{2}) dt_{i} dt_{0}.$$
(2.45)

In this definition, the integral $\int_{\sum t_i=T} \prod_{i=0}^{2l+1} dt_i$ over the simplex is the push-forward of the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^{2l+1} along the map $(t_1, \ldots, t_{2l+1}) \mapsto (T - \sum_{k=1}^{2l+1} t_i, t_1, \ldots, t_{2l+1})$, i.e.,

$$\int_{[0,\infty)\times[\rho_J,\infty)^{2l+1}:\sum t_i=T} f(t_0,\ldots,t_{2l+1}) \prod_{i=0}^{2l+1} dt_i = \int_{[\rho_J,\infty)^{2l+1}:\sum t_i\leqslant T} f(T-\sum t_i,t_1,\ldots,t_{2l+1}) \prod_{i=1}^{2l+1} dt_i = \int_{[\rho_J,\infty)^{2l+1}:\sum t_i\atop\in T} f(T-\sum t_i,t_1,\ldots,t_{2l+1}) \prod_{i=1}^{2l$$

for $T > (2l+1)\rho_J$, and the left-hand side is interpreted as 0 when $T \le (2l+1)\rho_J$. The same remark applies to various similar quantities below. In particular, $\hat{D}_t(s,m^2) = 0$ for $t \le 5\rho_J$, and if $\hat{D}_t(s,m^2)$ is nonzero, then $T = (t-\rho_J)/4$ in (2.45) satisfies $T \in [\frac{1}{5}t, \frac{1}{4}t]$.

Proof of Proposition 2.1.2: finite-range property. We will show that the covariances $D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(s,m^2)$ with Fourier transforms given by (2.45) define the desired decomposition (2.7). First, it is clear from (2.40) and Lemma 2.3.1 that $D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(s,m^2)$ is positive definite. That the decomposition (2.7) holds follows by substituting (2.41) and (2.44) into (2.43) and using the change of variables

$$\int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}} dt_0 \cdots dt_{2l+1} f(t_0, \dots, t_{2l+1}) = \int_0^\infty dT \int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}: \sum t_i = T} dt_0 \cdots dt_{2l+1} f(t_0, \dots, t_{2l+1}),$$
(2.47)

with $T = (t - \rho_J)/4$.

Next we verify the finite-range property. Since λ has range 1 and $D_{t_i}(m^2)$ has range t_i , we see that $\lambda D_{t_i}(m^2)$ has range at most $1 + t_i \leq 2t_i$ for $t_i \geq \rho_J \geq 1$ and $\lambda_{J,m^2} D_{t_0}(m^2)$ has range $\rho_J + t_0 \leq \rho_J + 2t_0$. Since $\sum t_i = \frac{1}{4}(t - \rho_J)$, from the definition (2.45), it follows that the range of $D_t(s,m^2)$ is at most $\rho_J + \frac{1}{2}(t - \rho_J) = \frac{1}{2}(t + \rho_J) \leq t$ for $t > \rho_J$. On the other hand, $D_t(s,m^2) = 0$ for $t \leq \rho_J$.

We now proceed to prove the estimates asserted in items (i)-(iii) of Proposition 2.1.2 for the above finite-range decomposition.

2.4 Proof of Proposition 2.1.2: (i) and (ii)

To prove the estimates (i) and (ii), we begin with the following lemma which we will use repeatedly.

Lemma 2.4.1. Let $g(x) = e^{-c\sqrt{x}}$ and $\tilde{C} = \max\{\|xg\|_{\infty}, \|xg\|_1\} \in (0, \infty)$. Then for all integers $k \ge 1$,

$$\int_{[0,\infty)^k:\sum_{i=1}^k t_i=t} \prod_{i=1}^k \lambda g(\sqrt{\lambda}t_i) t_i dt_i \leqslant \sqrt{\lambda} \min\left\{\tilde{C}^k, \frac{(\sqrt{\lambda}t)^{2k-1}}{(2k-1)!}g(\sqrt{\lambda}t)\right\}.$$
(2.48)

In fact, the same estimate applies to any supermultiplicative $g : [0,\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ *, i.e.,* $g(x)g(y) \leq g(x+y)$ *.*

Proof. We bound the left-hand side in two ways. First, the left-hand side equals

$$\sqrt{\lambda} \int_{[0,\infty)^k: \sum_{i=1}^k u_i = \sqrt{\lambda}t} \prod_{i=1}^k g(u_i) u_i du_i \leqslant \sqrt{\lambda} \|gu\|_{\infty} \|gu\|_1^{k-1} \leqslant \sqrt{\lambda} \tilde{C}^k.$$
(2.49)

On the other hand, since $g(x)g(y) \leq g(x+y)$, we can also bound it by

$$\int_{[0,\infty)^k:\sum_{i=1}^k t_i=t} \prod_{i=1}^k \lambda g(\sqrt{\lambda}t_i) t_i dt_i \leqslant \lambda^k g(\sqrt{\lambda}t) \int_{[0,\infty)^k:\sum_{i=1}^k t_i=t} \prod_{i=1}^k t_i dt_i$$
$$= \sqrt{\lambda} \frac{(\sqrt{\lambda}t)^{2k-1}}{(2k-1)!} g(\sqrt{\lambda}t)$$
(2.50)

where we used

$$h_k(t) := \int_{[0,\infty)^k: \sum_{i=1}^k t_i = t} \prod_{i=1}^k t_i dt_i = t^{2k-1} \int_{[0,\infty)^k: \sum_{i=1}^k u_i = 1} \prod_{i=1}^k u_i du_i = \frac{t^{2k-1}}{(2k-1)!}.$$
 (2.51)

The last equality can be seen by induction: $h_2(1) = 1/6$ and

$$h_k(1) = \int_0^1 s h_{k-1}(1-s) ds = \int_0^1 s(1-s)^{2k-3} h_{k-1}(1) ds = \frac{h_{k-1}(1)}{(2k-2)(2k-1)}$$
(2.52)

advances the induction.

Lemma 2.4.2. Let $g(x) = e^{-c\sqrt{x}}$. Then there is $\varepsilon_s > 0$ and constants \tilde{C}, \tilde{c} such that for $|s| \leq \varepsilon_s$,

$$\frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} s^{2l} \int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}: \sum t_i = t} \prod_{i=0}^{2l+1} \lambda t_i g(\sqrt{\lambda} t_i) dt_i \leqslant \tilde{C} t e^{-\tilde{c}(\sqrt{\lambda} t)^{1/4}}.$$
(2.53)

Proof. By Lemma 2.4.1, the left-hand side is bounded by

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}}\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}s^{2l}\min\left\{\tilde{C}^{2l},\frac{(\sqrt{\lambda}t)^{4l+3}}{(4l+3)!}g(\sqrt{\lambda}t)\right\}$$
(2.54)

where $\tilde{C} = \max\{1, \|xg\|_1, \|xg\|_\infty\}$. We assume $\tilde{C}|s| \leq 1/4$, i.e., set $\varepsilon_s = 1/(4\tilde{C})$. For $\lambda t^2 \leq 2$ by using the second term in the minimum, this immediately gives the desired estimate since

$$t(\sqrt{\lambda}t)^2 g(\sqrt{\lambda}t) \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\lambda t^2 s)^{2l}}{(4l+3)!} \leq t(\sqrt{\lambda}t)^2 g(\sqrt{\lambda}t) \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} 2^{-l} \leq 4tg(\sqrt{\lambda}t).$$
(2.55)

Thus assume $\lambda t^2 \ge 2$. By switching between the two terms in the minimum at $l = l_0$, the left-hand side of the claim is bounded by the sum of the following two contributions:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \sum_{l=l_0+1}^{\infty} (\tilde{C}s)^{2l} \leqslant \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \sum_{l=l_0+1}^{\infty} 16^{-l} \leqslant \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}} 16^{-l_0}$$
(2.56)

and

$$\frac{g(\sqrt{\lambda}t)}{\sqrt{\lambda}}\sum_{l=0}^{l_0}\frac{(\sqrt{s\lambda}t)^{4l}(\sqrt{\lambda}t)^3}{(4l+3)!} \leqslant \lambda t^3 g(\sqrt{\lambda}t)\sum_{l=0}^{l_0}(\sqrt{\lambda}t)^{4l} \leqslant tg(\sqrt{\lambda}t)(\sqrt{\lambda}t)^{4l_0+2}.$$
 (2.57)

Choosing $l_0 = (c/16)(\sqrt{\lambda}t)^{1/2}(\log(\sqrt{\lambda}t))^{-1}$ gives the upper bound

$$t\left(\frac{e^{-\log(16)l_0}}{\sqrt{\lambda t^2}} + g(\sqrt{\lambda}t)e^{8\log(\sqrt{\lambda}t)l_0}\right) \leq t\left(e^{-\log(16)l_0} + e^{-c(\sqrt{\lambda}t)^{1/2}}e^{8\log(\sqrt{\lambda}t)l_0}\right)$$
$$\leq t\left(e^{-\log(16)(c/16)(\sqrt{\lambda}t)^{1/2}(\log(\sqrt{\lambda}t))^{-1}} + e^{-\frac{c}{2}(\sqrt{\lambda}t)^{1/2}}\right)$$
$$\leq 2te^{-\tilde{c}(\sqrt{\lambda}t)^{1/2}(\log(\sqrt{\lambda}t))^{-1}}$$
(2.58)

which is less than the claimed bound.

Proposition 2.4.3. There are constants $\tilde{C}, \tilde{c}, \varepsilon_s > 0$ independent of J, m^2 , s such that for $C|s| \leq \varepsilon_s \theta_J$ and $m^2 \in (0, 1]$,

$$0 \leq \hat{D}_t(p;s,m^2) \leq \tilde{C}\rho_J^{-2}t \exp\left(-\tilde{c}\left(\rho_J^{-1}\sqrt{\lambda_{J,m^2}}t\right)^{1/4}\right).$$
(2.59)

Proof. Let $g(x) = e^{-c\sqrt{x}}$ so that $P_t(\lambda) \leq Cg(\sqrt{\lambda}t)$ by (2.34). By the definition (2.45), then

$$\hat{D}_{t}(s,m^{2}) \leqslant \frac{1}{4\lambda_{J,m^{2}}} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} s^{2l} \sup\left(\frac{\lambda}{\lambda_{J,m^{2}}}\right)^{2l} \int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}:\sum t_{i}=T} \prod_{i=0}^{2l+1} \rho_{J}^{-2} \lambda_{J,m^{2}} t_{i} P_{\rho_{J}^{-1}t_{i}}(\lambda_{J,m^{2}}) dt_{i}$$

$$\leqslant \frac{1}{4\rho_{J}\lambda_{J,m^{2}}} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} s^{2l} \theta_{J}^{-2l} \int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}:\sum t_{i}=\rho_{J}^{-1}T} \prod_{i=0}^{2l+1} \lambda_{J,m^{2}} t_{i} P_{t_{i}}(\lambda_{J,m^{2}}) dt_{i}$$

$$\leqslant \frac{C^{2}}{4\rho_{J}\lambda_{J,m^{2}}} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (Cs/\theta_{J})^{2l} \int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}:\sum t_{i}=\rho_{J}^{-1}T} \prod_{i=0}^{2l+1} \lambda_{J,m^{2}} t_{i} g(\sqrt{\lambda_{J,m^{2}}}t_{i}) dt_{i}, \quad (2.60)$$

where $T = (t - \rho_J)/4 \in [\frac{1}{5}t, \frac{1}{4}t]$. Thus the claim follows from Lemma 2.4.2 with *s* replaced by Cs/θ_J , with *t* replaced by T/ρ_J , and with λ replaced by λ_{J,m^2} .

Proof of Proposition 2.1.2 (i) and (ii). We will show (2.7), i.e.,

$$|\nabla^{\alpha} D_{t}^{\mathbb{Z}^{d}}(0,x;s,m^{2})| \leq C_{\alpha} \rho_{J}^{-2} t \left(\frac{\rho_{J}}{v_{J}t}\right)^{d+|\alpha|} + C_{\alpha} \theta_{J}^{-d-|\alpha|} \rho_{J}^{-2} t \left(\frac{\rho_{J}}{t^{2}}\right)^{d+|\alpha|} e^{-c(\theta_{J}^{1/2}t)^{1/4}}.$$
(2.61)

Clearly, (2.59) implies that $|\nabla^{\alpha}D_t(0,x;s,m^2)|$ is bounded, uniformly in s and m^2 , by

$$\tilde{C} \int_{[-\pi,\pi]^d} \lambda^{|\alpha|/2} \rho_J^{-2} t e^{-\tilde{c}(t\rho_J^{-1}\sqrt{\lambda_J(p)})^{1/4}} \frac{dp}{(2\pi)^d}.$$
(2.62)

To apply the lower bound on λ_{J,m^2} from Lemma 2.2.1, i.e., $\lambda_J = v_J^2 |p|^2 (1 + O(\rho_J^2 |p|^2))$, we will split the above integral into integrals over $|p| \ge 1/\rho_J$ and $|p| \le 1/\rho_J$. The former integral is bounded by (with other constants *C*, *c*)

$$C_{\alpha} \int_{[-\rho_{J}^{-1},\rho_{J}^{-1}]^{d}} |p|^{|\alpha|} \rho_{J}^{-2} t e^{-c(\rho_{J}^{-1} v_{J} t |p|)^{1/4}} dp, \qquad (2.63)$$

which yields the main term in (2.7), as can be seen by substituting $p \to \rho_J v_J^{-1} t^{-1} p$. For the integral over $|p| \ge 1/\rho_J$ we use $\lambda_J \ge \theta_J \lambda \ge \frac{4}{\pi^2} \theta_J |p|^2$ on $[-\pi, \pi]^d$ to obtain the bound (again with possibly different constants)

$$C_{\alpha} \int_{[-\pi,\pi]^d \setminus [-\rho_J^{-1},\rho_J^{-1}]^d} |p|^{|\alpha|} \rho_J^{-2} t e^{-c(\rho_J^{-1}\theta_J^{1/2}t|p|)^{1/4}} dp, \qquad (2.64)$$

which by substituting $p \rightarrow \rho_J p$ is seen to be bounded by

$$C_{\alpha}\rho_{J}^{d-2+|\alpha|}t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}\setminus[-1,1]^{d}} |p|^{|\alpha|} e^{-c(t\theta_{J}^{1/2}|p|)^{1/4}} dp \leqslant C_{\alpha}\theta_{J}^{-(|\alpha|+d)/2}\rho_{J}^{d-2+|\alpha|}t^{1-|\alpha|-d}e^{-c'(\theta_{J}^{1/2}t)^{1/4}}$$
(2.65)

Also using $e^{-c(t\theta_J^{1/2})^{1/4}} \leq C_n(t\theta_J^{1/2})^{-n}e^{-\frac{1}{2}c(t\theta_J^{1/2})^{1/4}}$ with $n = d + |\alpha|$,

$$C_{\alpha}\rho_{J}^{d-2+|\alpha|}t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}\setminus[-1,1]^{d}} |p|^{|\alpha|} e^{-c(t\theta_{J}^{1/2}|p|)^{1/4}} dp \leqslant C_{\alpha}'\theta_{J}^{-(d+|\alpha|)}\rho_{J}^{-2}t \left(\frac{\rho_{J}}{t^{2}}\right)^{d+|\alpha|} e^{-\frac{1}{2}c'(\theta_{J}^{1/2}t)^{1/4}}.$$
(2.66)

Now using this bound and assuming θ_J^{-1} bounded, $t \ge \rho_J$, we directly have the required bound.

Since all estimates above are uniform in m^2 , the continuity claim of Proposition 2.1.2 (ii) is immediate.

2.5 Proof of Proposition 2.1.2: (iii)

Next we collect the last piece of our proof of Proposition 2.1.2, which are the asymptotics of the covariances in two dimensions.

Proposition 2.5.1. Let d = 2. Then for $|s| \leq \varepsilon_s \theta_J$, as $\rho_J/t + (\rho_J^4 v_J^{-2} + \theta_J^{-2} v_J^2)/t^2 \rightarrow 0$,

$$D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^2}(0,0;s) = \int_{[-\pi,\pi]^2} \hat{D}(p;s) \frac{dp}{(2\pi)^2} = \frac{1}{2\pi t (v_J^2 + s)} \Big(1 + O\Big(\frac{\rho_J}{t} + \frac{\rho_J^4 v_J^{-2}}{t^2} + \frac{\theta_J^{-2} v_J^2}{t^2}\Big) \Big).$$
(2.67)

Proof. To estimate the integral over (2.45), we will approximate

$$\frac{1}{4\lambda} \int_{[0,\infty)\times[\rho_J,\infty)^{2l+1}: \sum t_i = (t-\rho_J)/4} (\lambda_J - s\lambda \mathbf{1}_{t_0 > \rho_J}) \hat{D}_{t_0} \prod_{i=1}^{2l+1} \lambda \hat{D}_{t_i} dt_i dt_0$$
(2.68)

as follows: replace $P_t(\lambda)$ by $f(\sqrt{\lambda}t)$ using (2.35); replace λ by $|p|^2$ and λ_J by $v_J^2|p|^2$ using (2.23); remove the constraints $t_i > \rho_J$ from the integration domain and similarly $t_0 \ge \rho_J$ from the integrand; and replace $(t - \rho_J)/4$ by t/4. After these approximations (which we will

justify afterwards, in inverse order), we are left with

$$\frac{1}{4|p|^{2}}(v_{J}^{2}-s)\int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}:\Sigma t_{i}=t/4}^{2l+1}|p|^{2}\rho_{J}^{-2}t_{i}f\left(\rho_{J}^{-1}t_{i}v_{J}|p|\right)dt_{i}
= \frac{1}{4|p|^{2}}(v_{J}^{2}-s)\int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}:\Sigma t_{i}=t/4}^{2l+1}\prod_{i=0}^{2l+1}|p|^{2}\rho_{J}^{-2}t_{i}f\left(\rho_{J}^{-1}t_{i}v_{J}|p|\right)dt_{i}
= \frac{1}{|p|^{2}}(v_{J}^{2}-s)t^{-1}\int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}:\Sigma u_{i}=1}\prod_{i=0}^{2l+1}\frac{1}{4^{2}}\rho_{J}^{-2}t^{2}|p|^{2}u_{i}f\left(\frac{1}{4}u_{i}\rho_{J}^{-1}t\,v_{J}|p|\right)du_{i}
= \frac{1}{|p|^{2}}(v_{J}^{2}-s)v_{J}^{-4l-4}t^{-1}\tilde{f}_{2l}\left(\frac{1}{4}\rho_{J}^{-1}t\,v_{J}|p|\right),$$
(2.69)

with

$$\tilde{f}_{2l}(y) = \int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}: \sum u_i = 1} \prod_{i=0}^{2l+1} f(yu_i) y^2 u_i du_i, \qquad (y \in [0,\infty)).$$
(2.70)

Note that $\tilde{f}_{2l}(0) = 0$, that \tilde{f}_{2l} decays rapidly, and that for all $l \in \mathbb{N}$ and t > 0,

$$\begin{aligned} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \frac{dp}{|p|^2} \tilde{f}_{2l}(t|p|) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \frac{dp}{|p|^2} \tilde{f}_{2l}(|p|) \\ &= 2\pi \int_0^\infty \frac{dy}{y} \tilde{f}_{2l}(y) \\ &= 2\pi \int_0^\infty \frac{dy}{y} \int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}: \sum u_i = 1} \prod_{i=0}^{2l+1} f(yu_i) y^2 u_i du_i \\ &= 2\pi \int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}} \prod_{i=0}^{2l+1} f(u_i) u_i du_i = 2\pi \left(\int_0^\infty f(u) u du \right)^{2l+2} = 2\pi \end{aligned}$$
(2.71)

where the last equality follows from Lemma 2.3.1. By definition, $D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^2}(0,0;s)$ is the integral of (2.45) over $p \in [-\pi,\pi]^2$ with respect to $dp/(2\pi)^2$, and (2.45) is the sum over (2.68) multiplied by s^{2l} . Using the above approximation (2.69) for (2.68) and then replacing the integration domain $[-\pi,\pi]^2$ by \mathbb{R}^2 , we obtain the main contribution to $D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(0,0;s)$ as

$$\frac{1}{2\pi t}(v_J^2 - s)v_J^{-4}\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}(v_J^{-2}s)^{2l} = \frac{1}{2\pi t}(v_J^2 - s)v_J^{-4}(1 - v_J^{-4}s^2)^{-1} = \frac{1}{2\pi t}(v_J^2 + s)^{-1}.$$
 (2.72)

In the remainder of the proof, we show that the approximations we made above are smaller than the claimed error term.

Error from replacing $(t - \rho_J)/4$ by t/4: the same computation with t/4 instead of $(t - \rho_J)/4$ gives

$$\frac{1}{2\pi(t-\rho_J)}(v_J^2+s)^{-1} = \frac{1}{2\pi t}(v_J^2+s)^{-1}(1+\frac{\rho_J}{t-\rho_J}) = \frac{1}{2\pi t}(v_J^2+s)^{-1}\left(\left(1+O(\frac{\rho_J}{t})\right), (2.73)\right)$$

so the error is smaller than claimed.

Error from extending the integral from $p \in [-\pi, \pi]^2$ *to* $p \in \mathbb{R}^2$ *:* By changing to polar coordinates, this error is of order

$$\frac{1}{t}(v_{J}^{2}-s)v_{J}^{-4}\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}(v_{J}^{-2}s)^{2l}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}\setminus[-\pi,\pi]^{2}}\frac{dp}{|p|^{2}}\tilde{f}_{2l}(\frac{1}{4}\rho_{J}^{-1}tv_{J}|p|) \\
\leqslant \frac{2\pi}{t}(v_{J}^{2}-s)v_{J}^{-4}\int_{\rho_{J}^{-1}tv_{J}\pi/4}^{\infty}\frac{dy}{y}\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}(v_{J}^{-2}s)^{2l}\int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}:\Sigma^{2l}u_{i}=1}\prod_{i=0}^{2l+1}r^{2}u_{i}f(ru_{i})du_{i} \qquad (2.74)$$

By Lemma 2.4.2, the right-hand side is bounded, up to some absolute multiplicative factor, by

$$\frac{1}{t}(v_J^2 - s)v_J^{-4} \int_{\rho_J^{-1}tv_J\pi/4}^{\infty} dy \, e^{-cy^{1/4}} = O\left(\frac{e^{-c'(\rho_J^{-1}tv_J)^{1/4}}}{v_J^2 t}\right) = \frac{1}{2\pi t v_J^2} O\left(\frac{\rho_J v_J^{-1}}{t}\right) = \frac{1}{2\pi t v_J^2} O\left(\frac{\rho_J}{t}\right)$$
(2.75)

where we used that $v_J \ge 1/4$ for all *J*.

Error from removing the restriction on $t_0 \ge \rho_J$ *from the integration:* The error is bounded by

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} dp \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} s^{2l+1} \int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}: \sum t_{i}=t/4} \mathbf{1}_{t_{0} \leqslant \rho_{J}} \prod_{i=0}^{2l+1} |p|^{2} \rho_{J}^{-2} t_{i} f(v_{J} \rho_{J}^{-1} |p|t_{i}) dt_{i}
\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} dp \frac{v_{J}^{-2}}{\lambda} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (v_{J}^{-2} s)^{2l+1} \int_{0}^{\rho_{J}} \left(\int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+1}: \sum t_{i}=t/4-t_{0}} \prod_{i=0}^{2l+1} v_{J}^{2} \rho_{J}^{-2} |p|^{2} t_{i} f(v_{J} \rho_{J}^{-1} |p|t_{i}) dt_{i} \right) dt_{0}
\leqslant Cs \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} dp \rho_{J}^{-4} |p|^{2} \int_{0}^{\rho_{J}} t_{0} (t/4-t_{0}) e^{-c'(v_{J} \rho_{J}^{-1} |p|(t/4-t_{0}))^{1/4}} f(v_{J} \rho_{J}^{-1} |p|t_{0}) dt_{0}$$
(2.76)

where the final inequality follows from Lemma 2.4.2 and the fact that $f(x) \leq Ce^{-c|x|^{1/2}}$ which follows from (2.34)–(2.35). But since $e^{-c'(v_J\rho_J^{-1}|p|(t/4-t_0))^{1/4}} f(v_J\rho_J^{-1}|p|t_0) \leq C'e^{-c''(v_J\rho_J|p|t)^{1/4}}$ for some c'', C' > 0 and $t/4 - t_0 \geq t/20$ because $t \geq 5\rho_J \geq 5t_0$, the last integral is bounded by

$$Cs \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \rho_J^{-2} |p|^2 t e^{-c''(v_J \rho_J^{-1} |p|t)^{1/4}} dp \leqslant \frac{C|s|\rho_J^2}{v_J^4 t^3} \leqslant \frac{1}{2\pi v_J^2 t} O\left(\frac{\rho_J^2}{t^2}\right) \leqslant \frac{1}{2\pi v_J^2 t} O\left(\frac{\rho_J}{t}\right), \quad (2.77)$$

where the second inequality holds because $|s| \leq \varepsilon_s \theta_J \leq c \varepsilon_s v_J^2$ and the final inequality because $t \geq 5\rho_J$.

Error from removing the restriction on $t_j \ge \rho_J$ *from the integration:* Similarly as above, the error for removing the restriction on t_j ($j \ge 1$) in the integral $\int_{t_j \ge \rho_J, \sum_i t_i = t/4}$ is bounded by

$$\int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}: \sum t_i = t/4} 1_{t_j \leqslant \rho_J} v_J^2 \rho_J^{-2} |p|^2 t_0 f(v_J \rho_J^{-1} |p| t_0) \prod_{i=1}^{2l+1} |p|^2 \rho_J^{-2} t_i f(v_J \rho_J^{-1} |p| t_i) dt_i dt_0$$

$$\leqslant (C v_J^{-2})^{2l+1} \int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}: \sum t_i = t/4} 1_{t_j \leqslant \rho_J} \prod_{i=0}^{2l+1} v_J^2 |p|^2 \rho_J^{-2} t_i e^{-c(v_J \rho_J^{-1} |p| t_i)^{1/2}} dt_i.$$
(2.78)

But since the last expression is symmetric in *j*, we can just replace $1_{t_j \leq \rho_J}$ by $1_{t_0 \leq \rho_J}$, so summing the errors over $j \in \{1, \dots, 2l+1\}$ and applying $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dp \lambda^{-1} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} s^{2l+1}$ gives the bound

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} dp \, \frac{1}{|p|^{2}} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (2l+1) (Cv_{J}^{-2}s)^{2l+1} \int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}: \sum t_{i}=t/4} \mathbf{1}_{t_{0} \leqslant \rho_{J}} \prod_{i=0}^{2l+1} v_{J}^{2} |p|^{2} \rho_{J}^{-2} t_{i} e^{-c(v_{J}\rho_{J}^{-1}|p|t_{i})^{1/2}} dt_{i}$$

$$\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} dp \, v_{J}^{4} \rho_{J}^{-4} \int_{0}^{\rho_{J}} t_{0}(t/4-t_{0}) e^{-c'(v_{J}\rho_{J}^{-1}|p|(t/4-t_{0}))^{1/4}} f(v_{J}\rho_{J}^{-1}|p|t_{0}) dt_{0}.$$
(2.79)

Comparing this with (2.76), this integral is bounded by $\frac{1}{2\pi v_J^2 t}O(\frac{\rho_J^2}{t^2}) = \frac{1}{2\pi v_J^2 t}O(\frac{\rho_J}{t})$ because $t \ge 5\rho_J$.

Error from replacement of $\lambda_J(p)$ *by* $v_J^2 |p|^2$ *and* $\lambda(p)$ *by* $|p|^2$: As in the argument following (2.62), the contribution from $|p| \ge \rho_J^{-1}$ is bounded by

$$\int_{|p| \ge \rho_J^{-1}} dp \, \hat{D}_t(p; s, m^2) \leqslant C_0 \theta_J^{-2} t^{-3} e^{-c(\theta_J^{1/2} t)^{1/4}} \leqslant \frac{1}{2\pi v_J^2 t} O(\frac{\theta_J^{-2} v_J^2}{t^2}).$$
(2.80)

It remains to consider the contribution coming from $|p| \leq \rho_J^{-1}$. But then by Lemma 2.2.1,

$$0 \le |p|^2 - \lambda(p) \le O(|p|^4) \le O(|p|^2)$$
(2.81)

$$0 \leqslant v_J^2 |p|^2 - \lambda_J(p) \leqslant O(\rho_J^2 v_J^2 |p|^4) \leqslant O(v_J^2 |p|^2).$$
(2.82)

With $\hat{\kappa}$ as in in the proof of Lemma 2.3.1, we have $f = c\hat{\kappa}^2$, so

$$|f(\rho_{J}^{-1}t\sqrt{\lambda_{J}}) - f(v_{J}\rho_{J}^{-1}t|p|)| \leq C\rho_{J}^{-1}t(v_{J}|p| - \sqrt{\lambda_{J}})\max\{\hat{\kappa}(\rho_{J}^{-1}t\lambda_{J}), \hat{\kappa}(v_{J}\rho_{J}^{-1}t|p|)\} \\ \leq C\rho_{J}^{-1}t\min\{1, \frac{\rho_{J}^{2}v_{J}^{2}}{2v_{J}}|p|^{3}\}e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\sqrt{\lambda_{J}}\rho_{J}^{-1}t)^{1/2}} \\ \leq C\rho_{J}^{4}v_{J}^{-2}t^{-2}e^{-c(v_{J}\rho_{J}^{-1}t|p|)^{1/2}}$$
(2.83)

where the first inequality holds because $\|\hat{\kappa}'\|_{\infty} < \infty$ and the second because $\kappa(x)$ is decreasing in |x| and $|\hat{\kappa}(x)| \leq Ce^{-\frac{1}{2}|x|^{1/2}}$. Thus the error from this approximation is, up to an absolute multiplicative factor, bounded by

$$\frac{\rho_J^4 v_J^{-2}}{t^2} \int_{|p| \le \rho_J^{-1}} \frac{dp}{|p|^2} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (2l+2) (C's)^{2l+1} \int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}: \sum t_i = t/4} (v_J^2 + s) \prod_{i=0}^{2l+1} |p|^2 \rho_J^{-2} t_i e^{-c(v_J \rho_J^{-1}|p|t_i)^{1/2}}$$
(2.84)

Since $|s| \leq \varepsilon_s \theta_J \leq O(v_J^2)$, this error is again of order $\frac{1}{2\pi v_J^2 t}O(\frac{\rho_J^4 v_J^{-2}}{t^2})$, comparing this expression with (2.69).

Error from replacement $P_t(x)$ *by* $f(\sqrt{xt})$ *:* We consider the difference between

$$(1-s)\int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}:\Sigma t_i=t/4} \lambda_J \rho_J^{-2} t_0 P_{\rho_J^{-1} t_0}(\lambda_J) \prod_{i=1}^{2l+1} \lambda \rho_J^{-2} t_i P_{\rho_J^{-1} t_i}(\lambda_J) dt_i$$
(2.85)

and

$$(1-s)\int_{[0,\infty)^{2l+2}:\Sigma t_i=t/4} \lambda_J \rho_J^{-2} t_0 f(\sqrt{\lambda_J} \rho_J^{-1} t_0) \prod_{i=1}^{2l+1} \lambda \rho_J^{-2} t_i f(\sqrt{\lambda_J} \rho_J^{-1} t_i) dt_i.$$
(2.86)

By (2.35), one has $P_{\rho_J^{-1}t}(\lambda_J) - f(\sqrt{\lambda_J}\rho_J^{-1}t) = (\rho_J/t)g(\sqrt{\lambda_J}t)$ with $g(x) = Ce^{-c\sqrt{x}}$. This is essentially the same bound as $P_t(\lambda_J)$ or $f(\sqrt{\lambda_J}t)$ except for an additional factor ρ_J/t . Therefore, again using Lemma 2.4.1, the difference between the above two displays is bounded by

$$O\left(\frac{\rho_J}{t}C^l v_J^{-4l+2} \frac{1}{t}\tilde{g}_{2l}(\sqrt{\lambda_J}\rho_J^{-1}t)\right), \qquad (2.87)$$

when \tilde{g}_{2l} is defined analogously to \tilde{f}_{2l} . As in (2.71) the integral of $\tilde{g}_{2l}(t|p|)$ over $dp/|p|^2$ is bounded by $2\pi C^{2l}$ with $C \ge \int_0^\infty g(u)u du$, for all t > 0. Hence possibly decreasing |s| relative to *C* we obtain the claimed relative error $O(\rho_J/t)$.

Summing up the bounds gives the claimed error.

2.6 Proof of Proposition 2.1.4

Having proved the estimates for the full plane covariance decomposition, the torus analogue is not difficult to prove.

Proof of Proposition 2.1.4. By definition,

$$D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(0,x;s,m^2) = \int_{[-\pi,\pi]^d} e^{ip \cdot x} \hat{D}_t(p;s,m^2) \frac{dp}{(2\pi)^d}$$
(2.88)

and we define

$$D_t^{\Lambda_N}(0,x;s,m^2) = \frac{1}{|\Lambda_N|} \sum_{p \in \Lambda_N^*} e^{ip \cdot x} \hat{D}_t(p;s,m^2),$$
(2.89)

where $\Lambda_N^* \subset (-\pi, \pi]^d$ is the dual torus. For $t < L^N$ the finite-range property and Poisson summation (2.21) imply that

$$D_t^{\mathbb{Z}^d}(0,x;s,m^2) = D_t^{\Lambda_N}(0,x;s,m^2).$$
(2.90)

So we are only left to prove (2.16) and the bound on $\tilde{D}_t^{\Lambda_N}$. Let $t_N = \int_{\frac{1}{4}L^{N-1}}^{\infty} \hat{D}_t(0; s, m^2) dt$ and

$$\tilde{D}_{t}^{\Lambda_{N}}(0,x;s,m^{2}) = \frac{1}{|\Lambda_{N}|} \sum_{p \in \Lambda_{N}^{*} \setminus \{0\}} e^{ip \cdot x} \hat{D}_{t}(p;s,m^{2}).$$
(2.91)

To see the bound for t_N , just notice that

$$t_N = \int_0^\infty \hat{D}_t(0; s, m^2) dt - \int_0^{\frac{1}{4}L^{N-1}} \hat{D}_t(0; s, m^2) dt \leqslant m^{-2} - C\rho_J^{-2}L^{2N-2}$$
(2.92)

by (2.41) and Proposition 2.4.3. The proof of the bound on $\tilde{D}_t^{\Lambda_N}$ is analogous to the argument below (2.62) using that all *p* that contribute satisfy $|p| > 2\pi L^{-N}$ and that $t > \frac{1}{2}L^N$. Indeed,

$$\frac{1}{|\Lambda_N|} \sum_{p \neq 0} \lambda^{|\alpha|/2} \hat{D}_t(p; s, m^2) \leqslant \frac{1}{|\Lambda_N|} \sum_{p \neq 0} \lambda^{|\alpha|/2} \rho_J^{-2} t e^{-\tilde{c}(t\rho_J^{-1}\sqrt{\lambda_{J,m^2}}))^{1/4}}.$$
(2.93)

The contribution from $2\pi L^{-N} < |p| \leqslant
ho_J^{-1}$ is

$$\rho_{J}^{-2}t(\rho_{J}^{-1}v_{J}t)^{-|\alpha|}\frac{1}{|\Lambda_{N}|}\sum_{0<|p|\leqslant\rho_{J}^{-1}}(\rho_{J}^{-1}v_{J}t|p|)^{|\alpha|}e^{-c(\rho_{J}^{-1}v_{J}t|p|)^{1/4}}$$

$$\leqslant C_{\alpha}\rho_{J}^{-2}t(\rho_{J}^{-1}v_{J}t)^{-|\alpha|}\frac{1}{|\Lambda_{N}|}\sum_{0<|p|\leqslant\rho_{J}^{-1}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}c(\rho_{J}^{-1}v_{J}t|p|)^{1/4}},$$
(2.94)

but since $r \mapsto e^{-cr^{1/4}}$ is decreasing for $r \ge 0$ and $2\pi L^{-N} < \rho_J^{-1}$, we have the domination

$$\frac{1}{|\Lambda_N|} \sum_{0 < |p| \le \rho_J^{-1}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}c(\rho_J^{-1}v_J t |p|)^{1/4}} \le 2d \int_{|p| \le 2\rho_J^{-1}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}c(\rho_J^{-1}v_J |p| t)^{1/4}} dp.$$
(2.95)

Hence the contribution from $|p| \leq \rho_J^{-1}$ is bounded by $C''_{\alpha} \rho_J^{-2} t(\frac{\rho_J}{v_J t})^{|\alpha|+d}$. Finally, the contribution from $|p| \geq \rho_J^{-1}$ is bounded by

$$\frac{C}{|\Lambda_N|} \sum_{|p| \ge \rho_J^{-1}} |p|^{|\alpha|} \rho_J^{-2} t e^{-c(\rho_J^{-1} \theta_J^{1/2} |p|t)^{1/4}} \leqslant C_\alpha \rho_J^{-2} t (\rho_J^{-1} \theta_J^{-1/2} t)^{-|\alpha|} \sum_{|p| \ge \rho_J^{-1}} e^{-\frac{c}{2}(\rho_J^{-1} \theta_J^{1/2} |p|t)^{1/4}}$$
(2.96)

but again by the same domination, the estimate for $|\nabla^{\alpha} \tilde{D}_{t}^{\Lambda_{N}}|$ is the same as that for $|\nabla^{\alpha} D_{t}|$. The claim that $D_{t}^{\Lambda_{N}}(s,m^{2})$ is continuous in m^{2} and attains a limit as $m^{2} \downarrow 0$ is deduced from the fact that the partial absolute sums $\sum_{|p| \leq R} |\hat{D}_{t}(p;s,m^{2})|$ have a bound uniform in R and m^{2} .

Appendix 2.A Fourier transform of the standard bump function

In the proof of Lemma 2.3.1, the decay rate of the Fourier transform of the standard bump function κ was used. Since we were unable to locate a reference, we include the elementary proof here.

Proposition 2.A.1. Define $\kappa(x) = e^{-\frac{1}{1-4x^2}} \mathbf{1}_{|x|<1/2}$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\hat{\kappa}(p)$ to be its Fourier transform. Then $\hat{\kappa}(p) = O(e^{-|p|^{1/2}})$.

Proof. Letting $\tau(x) = \kappa(x/2) = e^{-1/(1-x^2)} \mathbf{1}_{|x|<1}$, it is sufficient to prove $\hat{\tau}(p) = O(e^{-|2p|^{1/2}})$. One has $\hat{\tau}(p) = \int_{(-1,1)} e^{-ipx - \frac{1}{1-x^2}} dx$. Since τ is analytic and bounded on the rectangle $S = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Re}(z) \in (-1,1), \operatorname{Im}(z) \in (-2,2)\}$, one may write alternatively

$$\hat{\tau}(p) = \int_{\Gamma_{-}\cup\Gamma_{+}} e^{-ipz - \frac{1}{1-z^{2}}} dz = 2\operatorname{Re}\left[\int_{\Gamma_{+}} e^{-ipz - \frac{1}{1-z^{2}}} dz\right]$$
(2.97)

where $\Gamma_{\pm} = \{\pm 1 + (\mp 1 + i)t \in \mathbb{C} : t \in (0, 1]\}$ (with orientations as appropriate). Without loss of generality, take p > 0. Then change of parameter $v = (\frac{1+i}{\sqrt{2}})^{-1}\sqrt{2p}(1-z)$ gives

$$G(p) := \int_{\Gamma_{+}} e^{-ipz - \frac{1}{1-z^{2}}} dz = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2p}} e^{-ip - \frac{1}{4}} \int_{0}^{2\sqrt{p}} e^{-\sqrt{p}\frac{1-i}{\sqrt{2}}(v+v^{-1}) - g(\frac{1+i}{2\sqrt{p}}v)} dv$$
(2.98)

where $g(x) = \frac{x}{4(2-x)}$. Since $g(\frac{1+i}{2\sqrt{p}}v)$ is bounded uniformly on $v \in [0, 2\sqrt{p})$, there is C > 0 such that

$$|G(p)| \leq \frac{C}{2\sqrt{p}} \int_0^{2\sqrt{p}} e^{-\sqrt{\frac{p}{2}}(v+v^{-1})} dv \leq C e^{-\sqrt{2p}}$$
(2.99)

utilising $v + v^{-1} \ge 2$.

г	-	

Chapter 3

Polymer activities

In this chapter, we discuss the polymer activities, and the building blocks of the polymer expansions. The polymer activity depends on a polymer X and a field φ . It is allowed to be any real-analytic function in φ with a restricted growth rate as $\nabla \varphi \rightarrow \infty$ and decay as $|X| \rightarrow \infty$. They deal with the problem of large fields and the large set, respectively. The main results of this chapter are Propositions 3.3.5 and 3.3.7 which discuss how the large field bound is preserved under progressive integrals, i.e., integrating the fluctuation field at scale *j*.

3.1 Scales, polymers and polymer activities

In this chapter, Λ_N always denotes a discrete torus of side length L^N , for integers $L \in 2\mathbb{N} + 3$, $N \ge 1$. Later we will further assume that $L = \ell^{N'}$ for integers $\ell \in 2\mathbb{N} + 3$, $N' \ge 1$. We also let $\pi_N : \mathbb{Z}^d \to \Lambda_N$ be the canonical projection with $0 = \pi_N(0) \in \Lambda_N$.

3.1.1 Blocks and polymers

We follow the setup for the renormalisation group coordinates of [23]. For any scale j = 0, 1, ..., N, we call *j*-block any set $B = x + ([-\frac{L^j-1}{2}, \frac{L^j-1}{2}] \cap \mathbb{Z})^d$ for $x \in L^j \mathbb{Z}^d$. The *j*-blocks in Λ_N are the projections $\pi_N(B)$. The set of *j*-blocks is denoted by $\mathscr{B}_j \equiv \mathscr{B}_j(\Lambda^*)$ for either $\Lambda^* = \mathbb{Z}^2$ or Λ_N . It induces a partition of Λ^* into *j*-blocks. A *j*-polymer is any set *X* which is obtained as a finite union of *j*-blocks, and we then denote by $\mathscr{B}_j(X) \subset \mathscr{B}_j$ the set of *j*-blocks contained in *X*. The set of *j*-polymers is denoted by $\mathscr{P}_j \equiv \mathscr{P}_j(\Lambda^*)$. Note that the family \mathscr{P}_j is decreasing in *j*. For $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$, its closure $\overline{X} \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}$ is the union of all (j+1)-blocks which intersect *X*, i.e., \overline{X} is the 'smallest' $Y \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}$ such that $X \subset Y$.

Next, a *connected polymer* is a polymer $X \neq \emptyset$ which forms a connected set in ℓ^{∞} -sense. Two connected polymers X_1, X_2 are called *connected* if $X_1 \cup X_2$ is a connected polymer; this is denoted by $X_1 \sim X_2$ and we write $X_1 \not\sim X_2$ if X_1 and X_2 are not connected. The set of connected *j*-polymers is denoted by $\mathscr{P}_j^c \equiv \mathscr{P}_j^c(\Lambda^*)$. It is worth highlighting that $\emptyset \notin \mathscr{P}_j^c$ by this definition. For $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$ we write $\operatorname{Comp}_j(X) \subset \mathscr{P}_j^c$ for the set of constituting connected polymers, i.e., each $Y \in \operatorname{Comp}_j(X)$ is a maximal connected polymer in *X* and the union over all such *Y* is *X*. A connected polymer $X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c$ is called a *small set* if $|X|_j \leq 2^d$, where $|X|_j = |\mathscr{B}_j(X)|$ denotes the number of *j*-blocks contained in *X*. We write $\mathscr{S}_j \equiv \mathscr{S}_j(\Lambda^*)$ for the set of small sets (at scale *j*). For any $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$, we define its *small-set neighbourhood* as $X^* = \bigcup S$ where the union ranges over all $S \in \mathscr{S}_j$ such that $S \cap X \neq \emptyset$. Finally, we call *polymer functions* for functions having polymers as their arguments.

For later reference, we note that the combinatorial results of Lemmas 6.15–6.19 from [23, Section 6.4] all hold in the present setup.

3.1.2 Massless finite-range decomposition

As usual, let $J \subset \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ be a finite-range step distribution that is invariant under lattice symmetries, and recall the finite-range decomposition of the associated covariance matrix $C^{\Lambda}(s,m^2)$ from Propositions 2.1.2 and 2.1.4. To simplify the conditions, we will from now on always assume that d = 2 and that there is a constant C > 0 such that the parameters from (2.3)–(2.5) satisfy

$$|s| \leqslant \varepsilon_s \theta_J, \qquad \theta_J \geqslant C^{-1}, \qquad C^{-1} \rho_J \leqslant \nu_J \leqslant \rho_J/2. \tag{3.1}$$

All constants in the sequel are permitted to depend on this constant *C* but will be otherwise independent of *J*. In particular, this assumption holds for any fixed *J* as in the statement of Theorem 1.1.1, and it also holds uniformly in ρ for the standard range- ρ distribution J_{ρ} discussed in Example 2.1.1.

Since D_t is independent of Λ_N for scales $< \frac{1}{4}L^{N-1}$, setting $D_t = 0$ for $t < \rho_J$ (cf. (2.7)), we define for $j \ge 0$,

$$\Gamma_{j+1}(s,m^2) = \int_{\frac{1}{4}L^{j+1}}^{\frac{1}{4}L^{j+1}} D_t(s,m^2) dt,$$

$$\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s,m^2) = \int_{\frac{1}{4}L^{N-1}}^{\infty} \tilde{D}_t^{\Lambda_N}(s,m^2) dt,$$
(3.2)

and set $\Gamma_{j,j'} = \sum_{k=j+1}^{j'} \Gamma_k$ so that, in view of (2.15), we obtain

$$C^{\Lambda_N}(s,m^2) = \Gamma_1(s,m^2) + \dots + \Gamma_{N-1}(s,m^2) + \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s,m^2) + t_N(s,m^2)Q_N$$

= $\Gamma_{0,N-1}(s,m^2) + \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s,m^2) + t_N(s,m^2)Q_N.$ (3.3)

The matrices Γ_j have range $\frac{1}{4}L^j$ by (2.8) and satisfy the following bounds, which are straightforward consequences of Propositions 2.1.2 and 2.1.4.

Corollary 3.1.1. Let d = 2 and assume (3.1). Then Γ_{j+1} is analytic in $|s| < \varepsilon_s \theta_J$,

$$|\nabla^{\alpha}\Gamma_{j+1}(0,x;s)| \leqslant \begin{cases} C_{\alpha}\rho_{J}^{-2}L^{-j|\alpha|} & \text{if } |\alpha| \ge 1\\ C_{0}\rho_{J}^{-2}\log L & \text{if } \alpha = 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

and

$$\Gamma_{j+1}(0,0;s) = \frac{\log L}{2\pi(v_J^2 + s)} + O(\rho_J^{-1}L^{-j}), \tag{3.5}$$

and the estimates (3.4) also hold for $\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}$ and we have $t_N(s,m^2) = m^{-2} + O(\rho_J^{-2}L^{2N})$.

We are ultimately interested in taking $m^2 \downarrow 0$. While the zero mode $t_N(s,m^2)$ diverges as m^{-2} as $m^2 \downarrow 0$ like the torus Green function, the covariances Γ_j and their discrete derivatives are continuous as $m^2 \downarrow 0$, and this allows to directly set $m^2 = 0$ in these. This is made precise by the following lemma. To simplify notation, we let $\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma}^{\zeta}$ be the expectation of a Gaussian field ζ with covariance Γ . We omit Γ or ζ whenever the choices are clear from the context, and we will abbreviate from now on $\Gamma_j = \Gamma_j(s) = \Gamma_j(s,0)$ and $\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N} = \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s) = \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s,0)$, i.e., m^2 is set to 0 and the dependence on *s* is often made implicit.

Lemma 3.1.2. Let *s* be as in (3.1), let $\kappa < \theta_J + s$, and let $F : \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a smooth function satisfying $|F(\varphi)| \leq e^{\kappa(\nabla \varphi, \nabla \varphi)}$. Then as $m^2 \downarrow 0$,

$$\mathbb{E}_{C^{\Lambda_N}(s,m^2)}F \sim \mathbb{E}_{t_N(s,m^2)Q_N}^{\varphi'} \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{0,N-1}(s)+\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s)}^{\zeta} F(\varphi'+\zeta),$$
(3.6)

where on the right-hand side φ' is (centered) Gaussian with covariance $t_N(s,m^2)Q_N$ and ζ is (centered) Gaussian with covariance $\Gamma_{0,N-1}(s) + \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s)$, and $a \sim b$ means $\lim a/b = 1$.

Proof. Provided sufficient integrability holds, by (3.3) and the fact that the sum of independent Gaussian vectors is Gaussian with covariance the sum of the convariances, we have the identity

$$\mathbb{E}_{C^{\Lambda_N}(s,m^2)}F = \mathbb{E}_{t_N(s,m^2)Q_N}^{\varphi'} \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_1(s,m^2)+\dots+\Gamma_{N-1}(s,m^2)+\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s,m^2)}^{\zeta} F(\varphi'+\zeta)$$
(3.7)

and thus

$$1 \sim \frac{\mathbb{E}_{t_{N}(s,m^{2})Q_{N}}^{\varphi'} \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{1}(s,0)+\dots+\Gamma_{N-1}(s,0)+\Gamma_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}(s,0)}^{\zeta} F(\varphi'+\zeta)}{\mathbb{E}_{C^{\Lambda_{N}}(s,m^{2})}F} \qquad (m^{2}\downarrow 0), \qquad (3.8)$$

where we used that $\Gamma_j(s,m^2)$ and $\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s,m^2)$ are continuous as $m^2 \downarrow 0$ which implies that the inner Gaussian expectation in the numerator is continuous as $m^2 \downarrow 0$ if *F* is integrable uniformly in m^2 .

To see the integrability of the function $\varphi \mapsto e^{\kappa(\nabla \varphi, \nabla \varphi)} = e^{\kappa(\varphi, -\Delta \varphi)}$, it is enough to check that $\kappa(-\Delta) < C^{\Lambda_N}(s, m^2)^{-1}$ for each $m^2 > 0$ and sufficiently small κ . But by definition $C^{\Lambda_N}(s, m^2)^{-1} \ge -\Delta_J - s\Delta \ge -(\theta_J + s)\Delta$, so this holds as long as $\kappa < \theta_J + s$.

Now suppose we have a function $Z_0^0(\cdot | \Lambda_N) : \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N} \to \mathbb{R}$ that describes the distribution of the field $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$, i.e., the field theory of φ , whose precise form is given later in (6.40). Then functions $Z_i^0(\cdot | \Lambda_N) : \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N} \to \mathbb{R}$ are defined inductively by

$$Z_{j+1}^{0}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}|\Lambda_{N}) = \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}}[Z_{j}^{0}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}+\boldsymbol{\zeta}|\Lambda_{N})], \qquad (3.9)$$

where the expectation is taken over $\zeta \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Gamma_{j+1})$; here we emphasise again that $\Gamma_{j+1} = \Gamma_{j+1}(s,0)$, and we assume that Z_0 is such that the integrals exist. Then by the previous lemma, and again using that the sum of independent Gaussian vectors is Gaussian with covariance the sum of the covariances,

$$\mathbb{E}_{C^{\Lambda_N}(s,m^2)}^{\zeta} Z_0(\varphi + \zeta | \Lambda_N) \sim \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s) + t_N(s,m^2)Q_N} Z_{N-1}^0(\varphi + \zeta_N + \zeta_{\hat{N}} | \Lambda_N) \quad (m^2 \downarrow 0),$$

=: $\mathbb{E}_{t_N(s,m^2)Q_N} Z_N^0(\varphi + \zeta_{\hat{N}} | \Lambda_N)$ (3.10)

where as usual the expectations are over $\zeta \sim \mathcal{N}(0, C^{\Lambda_N}(s, m^2)), \zeta_N \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s))$ and $\zeta_{\hat{N}} \sim \mathcal{N}(0, t_N(s, m^2)Q_N)$. For the purpose of Theorem 1.1.1, we will see the integral over $\zeta_{\hat{N}} \sim \mathcal{N}(0, t_N(s, m^2)Q_N)$ as $N \to \infty$ only in Section 9.1. Therefore we can and will focus on the massless covariances $\Gamma_j(s)$ and $\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s)$ in Sections 3.2–Chapter 8.

We conclude this short section with the following factorisation property implied by the finite range property of the covariances.

Lemma 3.1.3. Let $X, Y \subset \Lambda_N$ with $\min\{d_{\infty}(x, y) : x \in X, y \in Y\} \ge \frac{1}{4}L^{j+1}$. Then for all functions $F(X) : \mathbb{R}^X \to \mathbb{R}$ and $F(Y) : \mathbb{R}^Y \to \mathbb{R}$ such that the following integrals exist,

$$\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}}^{\zeta} \Big(F(X, \varphi + \zeta) F(Y, \varphi + \zeta) \Big) = \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}}^{\zeta} (F(X, \varphi + \zeta)) \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}}^{\zeta} (F(Y, \varphi + \zeta)).$$
(3.11)

In particular, assuming $L \ge 2^{d+2}$, this applies if X and Y are scale-(j+1) polymers that do not touch, i.e., X and Y are distinct elements of $\operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(X \cup Y)$, and $F(X) : \mathbb{R}^{X^*} \to \mathbb{R}$ and $F(Y) : \mathbb{R}^{Y^*} \to \mathbb{R}$ where X^* and Y^* denote the small set neighbourhoods of X and Y at scale *j*.

Proof. (3.11) is immediate from the finite-range property of the covariance Γ_{j+1} (recall that Γ_{j+1} has range at most $\frac{1}{4}L^{j+1}$, cf. (3.2) and (2.8)) and the fact that two jointly Gaussian random variables are independent if their covariance vanishes.

The claim below (3.11) then follows from the fact that if X and Y are scale-(j + 1) polymers that do not touch, their ℓ^{∞} -distance is at least L^{j+1} and their scale-j small set neighbourhoods X^* and Y^* then still have distance at least $L^{j+1} - 2^{d+1}L^j = L^{j+1}(1 - 2^{d+1}L^{-1}) \ge \frac{1}{2}L^{j+1} \ge \frac{1}{4}L^{j+1}$.

In the rest of the thesis, we write \mathbb{E} for $\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}}$ (respectively, $\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}}$) when we are working at scale *j* (respectively, N-1), where $\Gamma_{j+1} = \Gamma_{j+1}(s,0)$ (respectively, $\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N} = \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s,0)$) is the covariance introduced below in (3.2). Typically, *j* without further specification is allowed to take values j = 1, ..., N-1, where $N \ge 1$ refers to the exponent of the underlying torus size L^N , for some L > 1.

3.1.3 Scale subdecomposition

In some places, it is necessary to subdecompose each Γ_{j+1} further to obtain better integrability and related better contractivity of the renormalisation group map. (For example, in the proof of Proposition 3.3.5 below this subdecomposition allows to choose κ_L of order $1/(\log L)$. Since $1/\kappa_L$ appears in various error terms, this integrability is especially important to get to the critical temperature or close to it). More precisely, we subdecompose each scale *j* further into fractional scales j + s with

$$s \in I_{N'} := \{0, 1/N', \dots, 1 - 1/N'\}$$
(3.12)

where N' is an integer such that $L = \ell^{N'}$ for an integer ℓ . Corresponding to the fractional scales, we define covariances analogously to (3.2), i.e.,

$$\Gamma_{j+s,j+s'} = \int_{\frac{1}{4}L^{j+s'}}^{\frac{1}{4}L^{j+s'}} D_t dt, \qquad s \in I_{N'}, \ s' \in I_{N'} + \frac{1}{N'}$$
(3.13)

for j < N - 1, and for j = N - 1,

$$\Gamma_{j+s,j+s'}^{\Lambda_N} = \begin{cases} \int_{\frac{1}{4}L^{j+s'}}^{\frac{1}{4}L^{j+s'}} \tilde{D}_t^{\Lambda_N} dt & \text{if } s' < 1\\ \int_{\frac{1}{4}L^{j+s}}^{\infty} \tilde{D}_t^{\Lambda_N} dt & \text{if } s' = 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.14)

In particular $\Gamma_{j,j+1} = \Gamma_{j+1}$. These covariances admit estimates that are analogous to those for Γ_{j+1} in Corollary 3.1.1 and they are again corollaries of Proposition 2.1.2 and Proposition 2.1.4.

Lemma 3.1.4. Let d = 2 and assume (3.1). Then for $s \in I_{N'}$ and $s' = s + (N')^{-1}$,

$$|\nabla^{\alpha}\Gamma_{j+s,j+s'}| \leqslant \begin{cases} C_{\alpha}\rho_{J}^{-2}L^{-(j+s)|\alpha|} & \text{if } |\alpha| \ge 1\\ C_{0}\rho_{J}^{-2}\log\ell & \text{if } \alpha = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.15)

and the estimates also hold for $\Gamma_{N-1+s,N-1+s'}^{\Lambda_N}$.

Finally, for each fractional scale j + s, we also introduce the corresponding division of the torus into blocks and polymers, exactly as in Section 3.1.1. Thus \mathscr{P}_{j+s} is the set of polymers composed of blocks in \mathscr{B}_{j+s} of (integer) side lengths $L^{j+s} = L^j \ell^k$ if s = k/N'. Given $X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+s}$, we define $X_{s'}$ ($s \leq s'$) to be the smallest j + s'-polymer that contains X, i.e., $X_{s'}$ consists of all blocks of side length $L^{j+s'}$ that intersect X. In particular, $(X_s)_{s'} = X_{s \vee s'}$ and $\overline{X} = X_1$.

3.1.4 Tilted expectations

When we consider the Gaussian integration with covariance Γ , we also consider tilted expectations $\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}$ given by

$$\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega}),\Gamma}[F(\boldsymbol{\zeta})] = \frac{\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma}[e^{\boldsymbol{\omega}(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},\boldsymbol{\zeta})}F(\boldsymbol{\zeta})]}{\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma}[e^{\boldsymbol{\omega}(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},\boldsymbol{\zeta})}]}, \qquad \tilde{\mathfrak{f}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda}$$
(3.16)

for a (complex) parameter ω in order to facilitate the computation of the moment generating function, and we drop Γ whenever the choice is clear from the context. The tested function \tilde{f} is called the *external field*. We restrict the amount of tilting by restricting $|\omega| < h_{\omega}$ for h_{ω} sufficiently small and imposing the following condition on \tilde{f} for given $M, \rho > 0$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ and confine the support in a range defined by the *observable scale js*.

(A'_f) $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ is decomposed as $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}} = \sum_{i=1}^{\mathfrak{n}} T_{y_i} \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}_i$ where each $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}_i \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ is a function with compact support, $0 \in \operatorname{supp}(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}_i)$. Also, given an observable scale $j_s \ge 0$,

$$\max_{i=1,\cdots,\mathfrak{n}} \{\operatorname{diam}(\operatorname{supp}(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}_i))\} \leqslant \rho \leqslant \frac{1}{12} L^{j_s+1}, \qquad \max_{i=1,\cdots,\mathfrak{n}} \{\|\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}_i\|_{L^{\infty}}\} \leqslant M, \qquad (3.17)$$

with $nM\rho^2 \leq C$ for some absolute constant *C* (that does not depend on any other parameter).

Note that we allow $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{x} \tilde{f}(x) \neq 0$ compared to (A_f) and take $nM\rho^2 \leq C$. In principle, the estimates coming below should be depending on this constant *C*, but as *C* does not depend on any other parameter, we never make this explicit. Thus the condition $nM\rho^2 \leq C$ makes the estimates uniform in the choice of *M* and ρ . \tilde{f} will be defined in terms of f_{ε} or f for Theorem 1.1.3 and Theorem 1.1.5, but we leave freedom of choice for now. We also mention that, since \tilde{f} is a function on \mathbb{Z}^2 with compact support, \tilde{f} can also be considered as a function on Λ_N as long as L^N is sufficiently large compared to $\max_i \{||y_i||_2\}$ and ρ . There are no restrictions on y_i 's other than this (so in particular, $T_{y_i}\tilde{f}_i$'s are allowed to overlap).

In most situations, we will see that the tilted expectation can be treated by complex shift of variables, yielding

$$\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega}),\Gamma_j}[F(\boldsymbol{\zeta})] = \mathbb{E}[F(\boldsymbol{\zeta} + \boldsymbol{\omega}\Gamma_j\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})].$$
(3.18)

Thus it is helpful to define

$$u_{j} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{j,i}, \qquad u_{j,i} = \begin{cases} \Gamma_{j} \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}_{i} & (j > j_{s}) \\ 0 & (j \leq j_{s}) \end{cases}$$
(3.19)

for $i = 1, \dots, n$, where each \tilde{f}_i is as in (A'_f) . Then we may simply note the following, according to the properties of Γ_j .

Lemma 3.1.5. Let \tilde{f} satisfy (A'_f) and $u_{j,\alpha}$ be defined by (3.19). Then $u_{j,\alpha}$ is supported on B_0^j , the unique block in \mathcal{B}_j that contains 0 and

$$\max_{\mu \in \hat{e}^n} \| \nabla^{\mu} u_{j,\alpha} \|_{L^{\infty}} \leqslant \begin{cases} C_0 M \rho^2 \log L & (n=0) \\ C_n M \rho^2 L^{-jn} & (n>0). \end{cases}$$
(3.20)

Proof. Since $u_{j,\alpha} \equiv 0$ for $j \leq j_s$, we only consider $j > j_s$. If $x \notin B_j^0$, then $d_{\infty}(0,x) \ge \frac{L^j}{3}$ so for $y \in \Lambda$ such that $d_{\infty}(0,y) \leq \rho$, we have $d_{\infty}(x,y) \ge \frac{L^j}{3} - \rho \ge \frac{L^j}{4}$. Thus

$$u_{j,\alpha}(x) = \sum_{\|y\|_{\infty} \le \rho} \Gamma_j(x-y)\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}(y) = 0$$
(3.21)

since $\Gamma_j(x-y) = 0$ whenever $d_{\infty}(x,y) \ge L^j/4$. Thus $u_{j,\alpha}$ is supported on B_j^0 .

To see the bound on $u_{j,\alpha}$, we may use the bound $\|\Gamma_j\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C \log L$ (Corollary 3.1.1) to see

$$|u_{j,\alpha}(x)| = \left|\sum_{\|y\|_{\infty} \leqslant \rho} \Gamma_j(x-y)\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}(y)\right| \leqslant CM\rho^2 \log L,$$
(3.22)

while for the derivatives, we have even better bounds because $\|\nabla^n \Gamma_j\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C_n L^{-nj}$, so

$$|\nabla u_{j,\alpha}(x)| = \Big| \sum_{\|y\|_{\infty} \leqslant \rho} \nabla \Gamma_j(x-y) \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}(y) \Big| \leqslant M \rho^2 C_n L^{-nj}.$$
(3.23)

Although $u_{j,\alpha}$ is supported inside B_0^j , its translation $T_{y_{\alpha}}u_{j,\alpha}$ is not necessarily contained in a *j*-block. Thus we let $Q_{y_{\alpha}}^j$ be the *j*-polymer of four blocks that necessarily contains $T_{y_{\alpha}}u_{j,\alpha}$. More precisely, let $y_{\alpha} = (y_{\alpha,1}, y_{\alpha,2}) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ and

$$B_{\alpha,1}^{j} = \text{unique block in } \mathscr{B}_{j} \text{ that contains } (y_{1} - (L^{j} - 1)/2, y_{2} - (L^{j} - 1)/2)$$

$$B_{\alpha,2}^{j} = B_{1}^{j} + L^{j}e_{1}, \quad B_{\alpha,3}^{j} = B_{1}^{j} + L^{j}e_{2}, \quad B_{\alpha,4}^{j} = B_{1}^{j} + L^{1}(e_{1} + e_{2})$$
(3.24)

where $\{e_1, e_2\}$ is the standard basis of \mathbb{Z}^2 and

$$P_{\vec{y}}^{j} = \bigcup_{\alpha=1}^{n} Q_{y_{\alpha}}^{j}, \qquad Q_{y_{\alpha}}^{j} = \begin{cases} \bigcup_{l=1}^{4} B_{\alpha,1}^{j} & (j > j_{s}) \\ Q_{y_{\alpha}}^{j_{s}+1} & (j = j_{s}) \\ \emptyset & (j < j_{s}). \end{cases}$$
(3.25)

We have only seen the case $j > j_s$, but we have also defined $Q_{y_{\alpha}}^j$ for $j \leq j_s$ for later use. We summarise the list of properties of $u_{j,\alpha}$ as the following, where we use

$$\|u\|_{C_j^2} = \max_{n=0,1,2} \sup_{\mu \in \hat{e}^n} L^{nj} \|\nabla^{\mu} u\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$
(3.26)

(A'_u) The sequence $(u_j)_{j \ge 1}$ has decomposition $u_j = \sum_{i=1}^n T_{y_i} u_{j,i}$ such that $||u_{j,i}||_{C_j^2} \le C n^{-1} \log L$ and $u_{j,i}$ is supported on B_0^j for each j, α . Thus $T_{y_i} u_{j,i}$ is supported on $Q_{y_i}^j \in \mathscr{P}_j$. Also, $u_{j,i} \equiv 0$ when $j \le j_s$ for the observable scale j_s .

Again, C will be a constant independent of all the other parameters, so we do not mention the dependence on it.

3.2 Polymer activities and their norms

Our choices of norms are almost the same as that in [35, Section 5.1], which are closely related to those of [23, 30]. Compared to these references, we simplify the construction somewhat and make the estimates explicit to obtain uniform control in the range of the step distribution.

Recall that Λ_N denotes the discrete *d*-dimensional torus of side length L^N , for integers $N, L \ge 1$. Unless explicitly stated otherwise, all results in this section (implicitly) hold for any choice of *N* and *L*. In the sequel, we make frequent use of the notation and setup introduced in Sections 3.1.1-3.1.2. In particular, \mathbb{E} is $\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}}^{\zeta}$ if j + 1 < N and $\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{N}^{\zeta}}^{\zeta}$ if j + 1 = N.

Basic definitions

Following Section 1.3.2, we suppose that a renormalised 'bulk' theories are described by $(Z_i^0)_{i \ge 0}$ inductively defined as

$$Z_{j+1}^{0}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}|\boldsymbol{\Lambda}) = \mathbb{E}[\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}} Z_{j}^{0}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}|\boldsymbol{\Lambda})]$$
(3.27)

where we use notation $\theta_{\zeta} F(\cdot) = F(\cdot + \zeta)$ now, and each Z_j^0 admits expansion

$$Z_{j}^{0}(\varphi|\Lambda) = e^{-E_{j+1}|\Lambda|} \sum_{X \in \mathscr{P}_{j}(\Lambda)} e^{U_{j}(\Lambda \setminus X, \varphi)} K_{j}^{0}(X, \varphi),$$
(3.28)

where we recall the definition of polymers \mathscr{P}_j from Section 3.1.1. Compared to Section 1.3.2, we added superscripts 0 to indicate that the external source field is set to 0, and to distinguish them from the 'observable' theories introduced later. In this representation, E_j is going to be a suitable scalar, and U_j and K_j^0 will be scale *j* polymer functions. U_j will be the leading term and K_j^0 will be a remainder coordinate, which are both functions of both the polymer $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$ and the field φ . Their main features will be characterised by factorisation properties:

$$e^{U_j(X,\varphi)} = (e^{U_j(\cdot,\varphi)})^X, \qquad K_j^0(X,\varphi) = (K_j^0)^{\otimes X}(\varphi)$$
 (3.29)

where we have used polymer powers

$$F^{X}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \prod_{\boldsymbol{B} \in \mathscr{B}_{j}(X)} F(\boldsymbol{B}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}), \qquad F^{\otimes X}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \prod_{\boldsymbol{Y} \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j}(X)} F(\boldsymbol{Y}, \boldsymbol{\varphi})$$
(3.30)

for any $F : \mathscr{P}_j \times \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda} \to \mathbb{C}$, with the convention that the product over the empty set equals 1. In particular, the tuple $(K_j^0(X))_{X \in \mathscr{P}_j}$ is determined by $(K_j^0(X))_{X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c}$. The latter is an example of a *polymer activity*. We formalise the space of polymer activities as follows, and then define norms on polymer activities in the remainder of this section. We also allow the dependence on a complex variable $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < h_{\omega}\}.$

Definition 3.2.1. For $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$ and $h_{\omega} > 0$, we write $\mathscr{N}_j(X)$ for the space $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{X^*})$ and $\mathscr{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(X)$ for $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{X^*} \times \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}})$, analytic in the second component. For $F \in \mathscr{N}_j(X)$ (or $\in \mathscr{N}_{j,h_{\omega}(X)})$ and $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda}$, we make the identification $F(\varphi) = F(\varphi|_{X^*})$. In particular, $F(\varphi)$ only depends on $\varphi|_{X^*}$ and we have the natural inclusions $\mathscr{N}_j(X) \subset \mathscr{N}_j(Y)$ (and $\mathscr{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(X) \subset \mathscr{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(Y)$) if $X \subset Y$.

A scale-*j* polymer activity is a tuple $K = (K(X))_{X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c}$, where for each connected polymer $X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c$, the corresponding component is a function $K(X) \in \mathscr{N}_j(X)$. Any polymer activity K is identified with its extension $(K(X))_{X \in \mathscr{P}_j}$ to all (not necessarily connected) polymers by $K(X) = K^{\otimes X}$. Tuple $(K(X) \in \mathscr{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(X))_{X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c}$ is called ω -polymer activity and the same remark applies.

We denote the space of scale-j polymer activities by \mathcal{N}_j and the scale-j ω -polymer activities by $\mathcal{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}$.

Note that (3.29) implies that $K(\emptyset) = 1$ for any polymer activity *K* according to Definition 3.2.1, and that, with the restriction to connected polymers, the scale-*j* polymer activities form a linear space with 0 element given by $K(X) = 1_{X=\emptyset}$.

3.2.1 Norms

To define norms on polymer activities, we first define norms of lattice functions which will enter the definition of norms on polymer activities. Recall that $\{e_1, e_2\}$ is the standard basis of unit vectors with nonnegative components spanning \mathbb{Z}^2 or the local coordinates of Λ_N , and $\hat{e} = \{\pm e_1, \pm e_2\}$ and for any multi-index $(\mu) \in \hat{e}^n$, $\nabla^{(\mu)} = \nabla^{\mu_1} \cdots \nabla^{\mu_n}$. For functions $f, g: \Lambda_N \to \mathbb{C}$ and $n \ge 0$, we denote $\nabla^n f$ for the collection $(\nabla^{\vec{\mu}} f: |\vec{\mu}| = n)$, define inner
products

$$(f,g)_X = \sum_{x \in X} f(x)g(x),$$

$$(\nabla^n f, \nabla^n g)_X = 2^{-n} \sum_{(\mu)=(\mu_1,\cdots,\mu_n)\in\hat{e}^n} \sum_{x \in X} \nabla^{\vec{\mu}} f(x) \nabla^{\vec{\mu}} g(x)$$
(3.31)

(the factors 2^{-n} in (3.31) are natural because each coordinate direction appears with positive and negative sign in the sum) and

$$|\nabla^n f|_X^2 = (\nabla^n f, \nabla^n f)_X \tag{3.32}$$

so that $(f, -\Delta f)_{\Lambda_N} = |\nabla f|^2_{\Lambda_N}$ by summation by parts.

At scale j, it is further natural to consider the rescaled derivatives

$$\nabla^n_j f = L^{jn} \nabla^n f. \tag{3.33}$$

Definition 3.2.2. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$ and $f : \{x : d_1(x, X) \leq n\} \to \mathbb{C}$ where d_1 is the graph distance on Λ_N . With (μ) ranging over $\{\pm e_1, \pm e_2\}^n$ in the sequel, define

$$\|\nabla_{j}^{n}f\|_{L^{\infty}(X)} = \max_{(\mu)} \max_{x \in X} |\nabla_{j}^{(\mu)}f(x)|$$
(3.34)

$$\|\nabla_{j}^{n}f\|_{L_{j}^{2}(X)}^{2} = L^{-2j}|\nabla_{j}^{n}f|_{X}^{2}$$
(3.35)

$$\|\nabla_j^n f\|_{L^2_j(\partial X)}^p = L^{-j} |\nabla_j^n f|_{\partial X}^2$$
(3.36)

$$\|f\|_{C_j^2(X)} = \max_{n=0,1,2} \|\nabla_j^n f\|_{L^{\infty}(X)}.$$
(3.37)

(In (3.36) and elsewhere, ∂U refers to the inner vertex boundary of $U \subset \Lambda_N$ with respect to the graph distance d_1 .)

These norms on lattice functions provide the basis for the norms on polymer activities that we use and which we introduce next. The norm is scale-dependent and measures smoothness of polymer activities with respect to typical fields at scale *j*, which are lattice functions φ with bounded C_j^2 norm. The norm needs to permit growth when $\nabla \varphi$ is large and give small weight to large sizes of polymers *X*. These two aspects are accounted for by two weights: the (*large-field*) regulator G_j for growth in $\nabla \varphi$ (see Definition 3.2.3 and (3.44)) and the parameter A > 1 (the *large-set regulator*) for decay in the size of the polymer (see (3.45)).

We start by measuring the size of a polymer activity for fixed φ and X. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, given $K(X, \cdot) \in \mathcal{N}_j(X)$, its *n*-th order derivative $D^n K$ along the directions $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in \mathbb{R}^{X^*}$ is

given by

$$D^{n}K(X,\varphi)(f_{1},\cdots,f_{n}) = \sum_{x_{1},\cdots,x_{n}\in X^{*}} \frac{\partial^{n}K(X,\varphi)}{\partial\varphi(x_{1})\cdots\partial\varphi(x_{n})} f(x_{1})\cdots f(x_{n}), \quad (3.38)$$

with the convention $D^0K = K$. For $X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c$, $K(X) \in \mathscr{N}_j(X)$ and $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$, set

$$\|D^{n}K(X,\varphi)\|_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi)} = \sup\left\{|D^{n}K(X,\varphi)(f_{1},\cdots,f_{n})| : \|f_{k}\|_{C_{j}^{2}(X^{*})} \leq 1, k = 1,\dots,n\right\},$$
(3.39)

with the convention $\|D^0K(X, \varphi)\|_{0, T_j(X, \varphi)} = |K(X, \varphi)|$. Then, for a parameter $\mathfrak{h} > 0$, define

$$\|K(X,\varphi)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X,\varphi)} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathfrak{h}^{n}}{n!} \|D^{n}K(X,\varphi)\|_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi)}.$$
(3.40)

In the subscripts, we used labels 'T' to indicate that the (semi-)norms are obtained by summing the absolute values of each term in the Taylor series. On the other hand, n, j, X, φ and \mathfrak{h} are objects that actually appear in the definitions. Note that (3.38) only depends on the f_k in X^* , but that the norms $||f_k||_{C_j^2(X^*)}$ in (3.39) actually depend on f_k in a neighbourhood of X^* . The supremum in (3.39) is thus over all $f_k \in \mathbb{R}^\Lambda$ or equivalently over all extensions of $f_k \in \mathbb{R}^{X^*}$ to a suitable neighbourhood of X^* .

The $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X,\varphi)}$ -norm measures the size of *K* in a manner depending on φ and *X*. The norms on functions of (X,φ) are defined by weighted supremum norms. The large-field regulator which is the φ -dependent weight is defined next.

Definition 3.2.3. Given $c_2, \kappa \equiv \kappa_L > 0$, define the large-field regulator for $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$ and $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$ by

$$G_j(X, \varphi) = \exp\left\{\kappa\left(\|\nabla_j\varphi\|_{L^2_j(X)}^2 + c_2\|\nabla_j\varphi\|_{L^2_j(\partial X)}^2 + W_j(X, \nabla_j^2\varphi)^2\right)\right\}$$
(3.41)

where

$$W_j(X, \nabla_j^2 \varphi)^2 = \sum_{B \in \mathscr{B}_j(X)} \|\nabla_j^2 \varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(B^*)}^2.$$
(3.42)

The particular form of the regulator is motivated by its properties stated in Section 3.3 below. Finally, the definition of the norms on polymer activities is given by the following definition.

Definition 3.2.4. *For a j-scale polymer activity K and* $X \in \mathcal{P}_j$ *, define*

$$\|D^{n}K(X)\|_{n,T_{j}(X)} = \sup_{\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{X^{*}}} (G_{j}(X,\varphi))^{-1} \|D^{n}K(X,\varphi)\|_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi)}$$
(3.43)

$$\|K(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X)} = \sup_{\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{X^{*}}} (G_{j}(X,\varphi))^{-1} \|K(X,\varphi)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X,\varphi)}$$
(3.44)

$$\|K\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j},A} = \sup_{X \in \mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}(\Lambda_{N})} A^{|X|_{j}} \|K(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X)}.$$
(3.45)

We will sometimes abbreviate $||K||_j = ||K||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j} = ||K||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j,A}$ whenever the choice of \mathfrak{h} and A are clear form the context.

Analogues on ω -polymer activities can also be defined. Derivative in variable $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$ will be denoted ∂_{ω} .

Definition 3.2.5. *Given* $h_{\omega} > 0$ *and a complex analytic function* $f : \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}} \to \mathbb{C}$ *, let*

$$||f||_{h_{\omega},T} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{h_{\omega}^{m}}{m!} |\partial_{\omega}^{m} f(0)|.$$
(3.46)

If $\vec{\mathfrak{h}} = (\mathfrak{h}, h_{\omega})$, then for a j scale ω -polymer activity K, let

$$\|K(X,\varphi;\cdot)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X)} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{h_{\omega}^{m}}{m!} \|\partial_{\omega}^{m}K(X,\varphi;\omega)\|_{\omega=0}\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X,\varphi)}$$
(3.47)

$$\|K(X)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X)} = \sup_{\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{X^{*}}} (G_{j}(X,\varphi))^{-1} \|K(X,\varphi)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X,\varphi)}$$
(3.48)

$$\|K\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j},A} = \sup_{X \in \mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}(\Lambda_{N})} A^{|X|_{j}} \|K(X)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X)}.$$
(3.49)

We will sometimes abbreviate $||K||_j = ||K||_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j} = ||K||_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j,A}$ whenever the choice of $\vec{\mathfrak{h}}$ and A are clear form the context.

There is a slight abuse of notation for $||K||_j$ since it could either mean $||K||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j,A}$ or $||K||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j,A}$ depending on the context, but there should be no confusion since we almost always measure $||K||_{\mathfrak{h},T_i,A}$ for *K* that depends on ω .

These norms and the associated spaces (of polymer activities of finite norm) implicitly depend on the choice of Λ_N . However, the definitions are essentially local and it is thus possible to define an infinite-volume analogue of the norm, see Section 7.2. The space of polymer activities in $\mathcal{N}_j(X)$ with finite $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)}$ norm is complete, see Appendix 3.B, and as a consequence the space of polymer activities in \mathcal{N}_j with finite $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)}$ norm is also complete.

3.2.2 Norm on U_i

In the expansion (3.28), we use a specific form of U_j given by

$$U_{j}(X, \varphi) = \frac{1}{2} s_{j} |\nabla \varphi|_{X}^{2} + W_{j}(X, \varphi)$$

$$W_{j}(X, \varphi) = \sum_{x \in X} \sum_{q \ge 1} L^{-2j} z_{j}^{(q)} \cos(q\beta^{1/2}\varphi(x))$$
(3.50)

for some $s_j \in \mathbb{R}$ and $(z_j^{(q)})_{q \ge 1} \subset \mathbb{R}$, where we recall (3.32) for $|\nabla \varphi|^2$. We will see $z_j^{(q)}$ has an exponential decay as $q \to \infty$, so it will be natural to define the following norm on U_j .

Definition 3.2.6. Let γ be as in (2.1), A the large set regulator and $c_f = \frac{1}{4}\gamma$. Then given U_j of form (3.50), let

$$||U_j||_j \equiv ||U_j||_{\Omega_j^U} = A \max\left\{|s_j|, \sup_{q \ge 1} e^{c_f \beta q} |z_j^{(q)}|\right\}.$$
(3.51)

Denote Ω_j^U for the space of U_j with $||U_j||_{\Omega_j} < \infty$.

In particular, note for later purposes that $||W_j||_j \equiv ||W_j||_{\Omega_j^U}$ is also defined by (3.51) and corresponds to $s_j = 0$.

We will see the legitimacy of $c_f = \frac{1}{4}\gamma$ in Chapter 6 once the decay rate of $|z_j^{(q)}|$ is known. We will now partially clarify the relationship between c_f and \mathfrak{h} in Lemma 3.2.8, where we also establish the relation between $\|\cdot\|_{\Omega_j^U}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j}$. For this purpose, we state the following preparatory lemma.

Lemma 3.2.7. For $B \in \mathscr{B}_i$, $\mu, \nu \in \hat{e}$ and $\mathfrak{h} > 0$,

$$\|(\nabla^{\mu}\varphi,\nabla^{\nu}\varphi)_{B}\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(B,\varphi)} \leqslant 4(\mathfrak{h}^{2}+\|\nabla_{j}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(B)}^{2})$$
(3.52)

and

$$\|e^{i\sqrt{\beta}q\varphi(x_0)}\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(B,\varphi)} = e^{\sqrt{\beta}|q|\mathfrak{h}}, \quad x_0 \in B.$$
(3.53)

Proof. One has the following exact derivatives of $\frac{1}{2} |\nabla \varphi|_B^2$:

$$D_{\varphi}((\nabla^{\mu}\varphi,\nabla^{\nu}\varphi)_{B})(f) = \sum_{y \in B} \partial^{\mu}f_{y}\partial^{\nu}\varphi(y) + \partial^{\nu}f_{y}\partial^{\mu}\varphi(y)$$
(3.54)

$$D^{2}_{\varphi}((\nabla^{\mu}\varphi,\nabla^{\nu}\varphi)_{B})(f,g) = \sum_{y\in D} \partial^{\mu}f_{y}\partial^{\nu}g_{y} + \partial^{\mu}g_{y}\partial^{\nu}f_{y}$$
(3.55)

and hence $\|(\nabla^{\mu}\varphi,\nabla^{\nu}\varphi)_{B}\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(B,\varphi)} \leq 2(\mathfrak{h}+\|\nabla_{j}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(B)})^{2}$, from which (3.52) follows.

The identity (3.53) also follows easily from the definition of the norm since

$$D^n_{\varphi}e^{i\sqrt{\beta}q\varphi(x)}(f_1,\cdots,f_n) = (i\sqrt{\beta}q)^n e^{i\sqrt{\beta}q\varphi(x)} \prod_{k=1}^n f_k(x), \qquad (3.56)$$

which gives the claimed bound when substituted in the definition of the norm. It can conceptually be understood from the fact that the right-hand side is the supremum of $|e^{i\sqrt{\beta}q\varphi}|$ for φ in a strip of width \mathfrak{h} around the real axis.

Lemma 3.2.8. Assume
$$\beta \ge 2\mathfrak{h}^2 c_f^{-2}$$
 and $\mathfrak{h} \ge c_f^{1/2}$. Then for any $B \in \mathscr{B}_j$,
 $\|s_j|\nabla \varphi\|_B^2\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} \le C|s_j|(\mathfrak{h}^2 + \|\nabla_j \varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(B)}^2),$
 $\|W_j(B, \varphi)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} \le CA^{-1}\|W_j\|_{\Omega_j^U}.$
(3.57)

Proof. The first line of (3.57) is just (3.52). For the norm on W_j , we use the triangle inequality and the conditions on β , c_f , \mathfrak{h} and (3.53).

$$\|W_{j}(B,\varphi)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(B,\varphi)} \leq \sum_{q \geq 1} \|e^{i\sqrt{\beta}q\varphi(x_{0})}\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(B,\varphi)}|z_{j}^{(q)}|$$
$$\leq A^{-1}\sum_{q \geq 1} e^{-q(c_{f}\beta-\sqrt{\beta}\mathfrak{h})}\|W_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}} \leq CA^{-1}\|W_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}}$$
(3.58)

for any $B \in \mathscr{B}_j$.

3.2.3 Choice of parameters

We now give an overview of how the parameters $\mathfrak{h}, A, c_2, \kappa_L$ will eventually be chosen; see also Definition 6.3.2 and Remark 6.3.3. The constants c_2, κ_L will be fixed below Proposition 3.3.5 (see Remark 3.3.8) as $c_2 > 0$ sufficiently small (independent of *L*), and κ_L of order $(\log L)^{-1}$. The large set weight *A* will be chosen large enough as a function of *L* in Theorem 6.1.3 (essentially in such a way that the conclusions of Proposition 4.1.5 below hold). This leaves \mathfrak{h} , which we allow its dependency on *j* by letting $\mathfrak{h} = h_j$ where

$$h_j = \begin{cases} 2h & (j \le j_s) \\ h & (j > j_s) \end{cases}$$
(3.59)

where *h* will be picked large enough so that the conclusions of Lemma 5.4.7 hold. To be specific, if we are given $\beta \ge 2 \max\{c_f^{-1}, c_f^{-2}\}$ and some parameter r > 0, we let

$$h = \max\{c_f^{1/2}, rc_h \rho_J^{-2} \sqrt{\beta}, \rho_J^{-1}\}.$$
(3.60)

 c_h is a constant specified by Lemma 5.4.5 later (but is an absolute constant that only depends on the finite range decomposition of Chapter 2). If we further choose *r* sufficiently small so that $\rho_J^2 \ge \sqrt{2}rc_hc_f^{-1}$, then β and $\mathfrak{h} = h_j$ satisfy the assumptions of Lemma 3.2.8. But since only the order of magnitude of \mathfrak{h} matters in most of the inequalities, we will persist with using \mathfrak{h} instead of making the dependence on *j* explicit. We also try to make these choice of parameters explicit whenever it seems appropriate.

3.3 Properties of the norms and the regulator

We start by remarking that $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X,\varphi)}$ can be considered as $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X,\varphi)}$ with $h_{\omega} = 0$. Thus, unless otherwise stated, all the properties on the $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X,\varphi)}$ would also apply to $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X,\varphi)}$. Conversely, since $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X,\varphi)}$ can be thought of as $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X,\varphi)}$ with an external block with field value ω , some results we cite from [23] should hold the same for $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X,\varphi)}$.

3.3.1 Key inequalities

The most fundamental properties of the seminorm $\|\cdot\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(X,\varphi)}$ is its submultiplicativity property, and its monotonicity in the base polymer *X* and in the scale *j*. These properties will be used heavily, but not always explicitly.

Lemma 3.3.1. Suppose $X, Y \in \mathscr{P}_j$ with $Y \subset X$, and let $F(Y) \in \mathscr{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(Y)$ (here recall the inclusion $\mathscr{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(Y) \subset \mathscr{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(X)$ from Definition 3.2.1). Then for each $n \ge 0$,

(*i*)
$$\|D^n F(Y, \varphi)\|_{n, T_{j+1}(Y, \varphi)} \leq \|D^n F(Y, \varphi)\|_{n, T_j(Y, \varphi)}, \quad and$$
 (3.61)

(*ii*)
$$\|D^n F(Y, \varphi)\|_{n, T_i(Y, \varphi)} \leq \|D^n F(Y, \varphi)\|_{n, T_i(X, \varphi)}.$$
 (3.62)

Hence,

$$\|F(Y,\varphi)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(Y,\varphi)} \leqslant \|F(Y,\varphi)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(Y,\varphi)}, \quad \|F(Y,\varphi)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(Y,\varphi)} \leqslant \|F(Y,\varphi)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X,\varphi)}.$$
(3.63)

Moreover, for $Y_1, Y_2, X \in \mathscr{P}_j$ *with* $Y_1, Y_2 \subset X$ *(with* Y_1 *and* Y_2 *not necessarily disjoint), and* $F(Y_i) \in \mathscr{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(Y_i)$, the following submultiplicativity property holds:

$$\|F_{1}(Y_{1},\boldsymbol{\varphi})F_{2}(Y_{2},\boldsymbol{\varphi})\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi})} \leqslant \|F_{1}(Y_{1},\boldsymbol{\varphi})\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(Y_{1},\boldsymbol{\varphi})}\|F_{2}(Y_{2},\boldsymbol{\varphi})\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(Y_{2},\boldsymbol{\varphi})}.$$
(3.64)

Proof. To see (i), notice that for any $f \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda}$, we have $||f||_{C_{j}^{2}(Y^{*})} \leq ||f||_{C_{j+1}^{2}(Y^{*})}$. Hence $\{f \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda} : ||f||_{C_{j+1}^{2}(Y^{*})} \leq 1\} \subset \{f \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda} : ||f||_{C_{j}^{2}(Y^{*})} \leq 1\}$ and (i) follows readily in view of (3.39). For (ii), we have for any $f : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}$ that $||f||_{C_{j}^{2}(Y^{*})} \leq ||f||_{C_{j}^{2}(X^{*})}$, and the result follows similarly. On account of (3.40), the inequalities in (3.63) are immediate consequences of (i) and (ii), respectively. For the submultiplicativity property, see [23, Lemma 6.7].

Corollary 3.3.2. *For each* $k \ge -1$ *,*

$$\left\| e^{F_1(X,\varphi;\omega)} - \sum_{m=0}^k \frac{1}{m!} (F_1(X,\varphi;\omega))^m \right\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(X,\varphi)} \leqslant \sum_{m=k+1}^\infty \frac{1}{m!} \|F_1(X,\varphi;\omega)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(X,\varphi)}^m$$
(3.65)

with convention $\sum_{m=0}^{-1} (\cdots) \equiv 0$.

Proof. Consider the sequence of polymer activities

$$H_l(X,\varphi;\omega) = \sum_{m=0}^l \frac{1}{m!} (F_1(X,\varphi))^m.$$
(3.66)

Then by the submultiplicativity, (3.64), we have

$$\|H_l(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi};\boldsymbol{\omega})\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi})} \leqslant \exp\left(\|F_1(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi};;\boldsymbol{\omega})\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi})}\right).$$
(3.67)

Since e^{F_1} is a pointwise limit of H_l and $D^n \partial_{\omega}^m H_k(X, \varphi; \omega) \to D^n \partial_{\omega}^m e^{F_1}(X, \varphi; \omega)$ as $l \to \infty$ for each $n, m \ge 0$, we have

$$\sum_{n,m\geq 0}^{n+m\leqslant N'} \frac{h_{\omega}^m \mathfrak{h}^n}{m!n!} \left\| D^n \partial_{\omega}^m e^{F_1(X,\varphi;0)} \right\|_{n,T_j(X,\varphi)} \leqslant \limsup_{l\to\infty} \|H_l(X,\varphi;\omega)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(X,\varphi)}$$
(3.68)

for any N' > 0 so we see in fact

$$\left\| e^{F_1(X,\varphi;\omega)} \right\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(X,\varphi)} \leqslant \exp\left(\|F_1(X,\varphi;;\omega)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(X,\varphi)} \right) < \infty, \tag{3.69}$$

which is (3.65) with k = -1. Bounds for $k \ge 0$ are obtained similarly.

The next property of the regulator is the following basic inequality that allows to absorb polynomial error bounds in the fields when changing from one scale to the next.

Lemma 3.3.3. For all $c_2, \kappa_L > 0$, $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$ for some $0 \leq j < N$, all $x_0 \in X$ and $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$, defining $\delta \varphi(x) = \varphi(x) - \varphi(x_0)$, one has

$$\kappa_L^{k/2} \| \delta \varphi \|_{C_j^2(X^*)}^k \leqslant C(k) G_j(X, \varphi), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(3.70)

Proof. See Section 3.7.2.

The next property of the regulator involves what is called the *strong regulator* in [23]:

$$w_j(X, \boldsymbol{\varphi})^2 = \sum_{B \in \mathscr{B}_j(X)} \max_{n=1,2} \|\nabla_j^n \boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{L^{\infty}(B^*)}^2, \quad X \in \mathscr{P}_j.$$
(3.71)

(The term strong regulator refers to the left-hand side of (3.72) below.)

Lemma 3.3.4. For all $\kappa_L > 0$ and sufficiently small c_2, c_w ,

$$e^{c_w \kappa_L w_j(X, \varphi)^2} \leqslant G_j(X, \varphi), \quad X \in \mathscr{P}_j.$$
 (3.72)

Moreover, for all $X, Y \in \mathscr{P}_j$ *satisfying* $X \cap Y = \emptyset$ *,*

$$e^{c_w \kappa_L w_j(X, \varphi)^2} G_j(Y, \varphi) \leqslant G_j(X \cup Y, \varphi).$$
(3.73)

Proof. See Section 3.7.2.

3.3.2 Supermartingale property

We will need to analyse how the norm of the polymer activities is bounded after taking the Gaussian expectation with respect to the covariances Γ_{j+1} (recall (3.2)). For a scale-*j* polymer activity *F*, a common strategy to bound $\mathbb{E}[\theta_{\zeta}F(X, \varphi')]$, for fixed φ' and $X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c$, will be to first bound $\|\theta_{\zeta}F(X, \varphi')\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_j(X, \varphi')} \leq \|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_j(X)}\theta_{\zeta}G_j(X, \varphi')$, which follows immediately from (3.44), so that the fluctuation integral acts effectively on the large field regulator G_j only. In this regard, the following Proposition 3.3.5 yields that the form of the large field regulator is stable under the fluctuation integral up to a factor $2^{|X|_j}$, where \overline{X} denotes the closure of *X*, cf. Section 3.2.

Recall that \mathbb{E} means we are taking expectation over $\zeta \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Gamma_{j+1})$ if j+1 < N and $\zeta \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N})$ if j+1 = N. The non-random part of the field is often denoted φ' .

Proposition 3.3.5. Assume (3.1) and that $L = \ell^{N'}$ for integers $\ell, N' \ge 1$. For c_2 sufficiently small, there exists an integer $\ell \equiv \ell(c_2)$ and a constant $c = c(c_2) > 0$ such that with $c_{\kappa} =$

 $c(c_2)\ell^{-2} \in (0,1)$, the following holds: for all $0 \leq j \leq N-1$ and all $\kappa_L \leq c_{\kappa} \rho_J^2 (\log L)^{-1}$,

$$\mathbb{E}[\theta_{\zeta}G_{j}(X,\varphi')] \leqslant 2^{|X|_{j}}G_{j+1}(\overline{X},\varphi'), \qquad X \in \mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}, \ \varphi' \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_{N}}.$$
(3.74)

Proof. See Section 3.7.4.

The following lemma is a simple consequence of Proposition 3.3.5.

Lemma 3.3.6. Suppose the assumptions of Proposition 3.3.5 hold. Let $F \in \mathcal{N}_j(X)$ with $\|D^n F\|_{n,T_j(X)} < \infty$, for $X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c$ and $\varphi' \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$. Then

$$\|D_{\varphi'}^{n}\mathbb{E}[\theta_{\zeta}F(X,\varphi')]\|_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi')} \leq 2^{|X|_{j}}\|D^{n}F(X)\|_{n,T_{j}(X)}G_{j+1}(\overline{X},\varphi').$$
(3.75)

Proof. The derivative $D_{\varphi'}$ can be exchanged with the expectation \mathbb{E} , hence for all functions f_k with $||f_k||_{C^2_i(X^*)} \leq 1, k = 1, ..., n$, by (3.39),

$$|D_{\varphi'}^{n}\mathbb{E}[F(X,\varphi'+\zeta)](f_{1},\cdots,f_{n})| \leq \mathbb{E}[|D_{\varphi'}^{n}F(X,\varphi'+\zeta)(f_{1},\cdots,f_{n})|] \leq \mathbb{E}[||D_{\varphi'}^{n}F(X,\varphi'+\zeta)||_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi'+\zeta)}]$$
(3.76)

and so, taking suprema over the f_k 's, recalling Definition 3.2.4 and applying the bound (3.74),

$$\|D_{\varphi'}^{n}\mathbb{E}[\theta_{\zeta}F(X,\varphi')]\|_{n,T_{j}(X)} \leq \|D^{n}F(X)\|_{n,T_{j}(X)}\mathbb{E}[\theta_{\zeta}G_{j}(X,\varphi')] \\ \leq 2^{|X|_{j}}\|D^{n}F(X)\|_{n,T_{j}(X)}G_{j+1}(\overline{X},\varphi').$$
(3.77)

As a particular application, by multiplying $\frac{h^n}{n!}$ and summing over $n \ge 0$, this implies

$$\|\mathbb{E}[\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}F(\boldsymbol{X},\boldsymbol{\varphi}')]\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(\boldsymbol{X},\boldsymbol{\varphi}')} \leqslant 2^{|\boldsymbol{X}|_{j}}\|F\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(\boldsymbol{X})}G_{j+1}(\overline{\boldsymbol{X}},\boldsymbol{\varphi}')$$
(3.78)

whenever $||F||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} < \infty$. In practice, we will also be needing similar estimate with \mathbb{E} replaced by $\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}$, as stated in the next proposition.

Proposition 3.3.7. Let $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ be as in (A'_f) , u_{j+1} be as in (3.19), $j \in [j_s, N-1]$ and the parameters be chosen according to Proposition 3.3.5. Let $F \in \mathcal{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(X)$ be such that $||F(X; \boldsymbol{\omega})||_{\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},T_j(X)} < \infty$ and $h_{\omega} \leq (C_1 \log L)^{-3/2}$ for sufficiently large $C_1 > 0$. Then $\mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}} \ni \boldsymbol{\omega} \mapsto \mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}[D^n F(X, \boldsymbol{\varphi}' + \zeta; \boldsymbol{\omega})]$ is analytic in $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$ for each $n \geq 0$ and satisfies

$$\left\|\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}[F(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\boldsymbol{\zeta};\boldsymbol{\omega})]\right\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}')} \leqslant C_{2}2^{|X|_{j}}\|F(X;\boldsymbol{\omega})\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X)}G_{j+1}(\overline{X},\boldsymbol{\varphi}')$$
(3.79)

for $X \in \mathscr{P}_i^c$ and some $C_2 > 0$.

Proof. See Section 3.8.2.

We conclude this section by fixing the parameters c_2 , κ_L appearing in (3.41).

Remark 3.3.8. We choose $c_2 > 0$ small enough such that both i) the estimate (3.73) in Lemma 3.3.4 holds whenever $c_w \leq c(c_2)$ and ii) Proposition 3.3.5 is in force. Having fixed c_2 , we choose $\ell = C\rho_J$ according to Proposition 3.3.5 and set $\kappa_L = c_{\kappa}\rho_J^2(\log L)^{-1}$ with $c_{\kappa} = c\ell^{-2}$, so that the conclusions of Proposition 3.3.5 (i.e. (3.74)) hold. We can thus freely apply the bounds derived in Lemmas 3.3.3 and 3.3.4 (in the latter case whenever $c_w \leq c(c_2)$) and Proposition 3.3.5 in the sequel. Throughout the rest of this thesis, we always implicitly assume that the base scale *L* is of the form $L = \ell^{N'}$ with ℓ as fixed above. Unless stated otherwise, all statements hold uniformly in $N' \geq 1$, and when we write $L \geq C$ in the sequel, we tacitly view this as a condition on N' being sufficiently large.

3.3.3 Subdecomposition of the regulator

The final property of the regulator is a technical property involving the scale subdecomposition from Section 3.1.3 and that is needed to obtain sharp integrability estimates. It is used as an ingredient of the proof of Proposition 3.3.5 above and also in the justification of complex translations in the proof of Lemma 5.4.6 below.

Throughout this section, assume $L = \ell^{N'}$ with integers ℓ and N'. For a parameter $c_4 > 0$ and $X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+s}$ for $s \in I_{N'} := \{0, 1/N', \dots, 1 - 1/N'\}$ (recall the notion of fractional scales from Section 3.1.3), let

$$g_{j+s}(X,\xi) = \exp\left(c_4 \kappa_L \sum_{a=0,1,2} W_{j+s}(X,\nabla^a_{j+s}\xi)^2\right),$$
(3.80)

with W_{j+s} defined analogously to (3.42). Then, with obvious notation, define $G_{j+s}(X, \cdot)$ for $X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+s}$ as in (3.41) but with j+s in place of j everywhere. They will be stated explicitly in (3.107) again.

The following Lemmas 3.3.9 and 3.3.10 can be extracted from [35, Lemma 19] and its proof. For completeness, we have again included proofs in Section 3.7.3 and 3.7.1.

Lemma 3.3.9. There exists C > 0 such that for any $X \in \mathscr{P}_{i+s}$ and $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$,

$$g_{j+s}(X,\zeta) \leqslant \exp(\frac{1}{2}Q_{j+s}(X,\zeta)) := \exp\left(Cc_4\kappa_L \sum_{a=0}^4 \sum_{(\mu)} \|\nabla_{j+s}^{(\mu)}\zeta\|_{L^2_{j+s}(X^*)}^2\right), \quad (3.81)$$

where the sum ranges over multiindices $(\mu) = (\mu_1, \dots, \mu_a) \in \{\pm e_1, \pm e_2\}^a$. Moreover, for any $c_4 > 0$, any integer ℓ , there is $c_{\kappa} = c_{\kappa}(c_4, \ell) > 0$ such that if $\kappa_L = c_{\kappa}\rho_J^2(\log L)^{-1}$ then

$$\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+s,j+s'}}(e^{\mathcal{Q}_{j+s}(X,\zeta)}) \leqslant 2^{(N')^{-1}|X|_{j+s}}.$$
(3.82)

Lemma 3.3.10. For $c_2 > 0$ small enough, there exist $c_4 = c_4(c_2) > 0$ and an integer $\ell_0 = \ell_0(c_2) > 1$ (both large), such that for all $\ell \ge \ell_0$, $N' \ge 1$, $0 \le j < N$, $s \in I_{N'}$, $s' = s + (N')^{-1}$ and $\kappa_L > 0$, for $X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+s}^c$, $\varphi, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$,

$$G_{j+s}(X, \varphi + \xi) \leq g_{j+s}(X_{s'}, \xi) G_{j+s'}(X_{s'}, \varphi).$$
 (3.83)

3.3.4 Continuity of the expectation

The next property shows that the expectation is continuous with respect to the parameter s of the covariances.

Lemma 3.3.11. For any $X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c$ and F(X) with $||F(X)||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} < \infty$, for $|s|, |s'| < \theta_J \varepsilon_s$,

$$\lim_{s' \to s} \|\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s')}[F(X, \cdot + \zeta)] - \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)}[F(X, \cdot + \zeta)]\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j+1}(\overline{X})} = 0.$$
(3.84)

More precisely, for any C > 0, the convergence is uniform over all F with $||F(X)||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} \leq C$. The same conclusion holds when $X \in \mathscr{P}_{i+1}^c$ and we assume

$$\sup_{\varphi} G_j(X,\varphi)^{-1} \| F(X,\varphi) \|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi)} < \infty,$$
(3.85)

i.e., the convergence is uniform in F *for which the left-hand side of* (3.85) *is bounded by a given* C > 0.

3.4 Analytic polymer activities

We use the observation made in [29] that the finiteness of the norm enforces analyticity of polymer activities in a strip. For open $U \subset \mathbb{C}^{\Lambda}$, the function $F : U \to \mathbb{C}$ is called complex analytic in U if it admits a local representation as a convergent power series around any point in U.

Proposition 3.4.1. Let $\vec{\mathfrak{h}} = (\mathfrak{h}, h_{\omega})$, $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$ and $||F(X)||_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_j(X)} < +\infty$. Then $F(X, \cdot; \omega)$ can be extended to $S_{\mathfrak{h}}(X) = \{\varphi + i\psi \in \mathbb{C}^{\Lambda_N} : \varphi(x), \psi(x) \in \mathbb{R}, \|\psi\|_{C^2_i(X^*)} < \mathfrak{h}\}$ where each

 $D^n F(X, \cdot; \omega)$ is complex analytic and satisfies

$$|F(X, \varphi + \phi; \omega)| \leq ||F(X, \varphi; \omega)||_{\mathfrak{h}, T_i(X, \varphi)}$$
(3.86)

whenever $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$, $\boldsymbol{\phi} \in \mathbb{C}^{\Lambda_N}$, $\|\boldsymbol{\phi}\|_{C^2_i(X^*)} < \mathfrak{h}$.

Proof. Let $D_{\mathfrak{h}}(0) = \{ \psi \in \mathbb{C}^{\Lambda} : \|\psi\|_{C_{j}^{2}(X^{*})} < \mathfrak{h} \}$. Note that $D_{\mathfrak{h}}(0) \subset \mathbb{C}^{\Lambda}$ is open because $\|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})} < \frac{1}{4}L^{-2j}\mathfrak{h}$ implies $\psi \in D_{\mathfrak{h}}(0)$. For $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{X^{*}}$ and $\psi \in D_{\mathfrak{h}}(0)$, let

$$F_{[\varphi]}(X,\varphi+\psi) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} D^n F(X,\varphi)(\psi^{\otimes n}).$$
(3.87)

Since $||F||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X,\varphi)} \leq ||F||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)}G_j(X,\varphi) < +\infty$ and since $||\psi||_{C_j^2(X^*)} < \mathfrak{h}$, the series (3.87) converges absolutely. These considerations also imply that $\widetilde{F}(X,\cdot) : S_{\mathfrak{h}} \to \mathbb{C}$ given by

$$\widetilde{F}(X,z) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} F_{[\varphi]}(X,\varphi+\psi), \quad \text{for any } \varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda} \text{ and } \psi \in D_{\mathfrak{h}}(0) \text{ s.t. } z = \varphi + \psi$$
(3.88)

is well-defined and extends *F*. Moreover, in view of (3.87), $\widetilde{F}(X, \cdot)$ is (plainly) given by a convergent power series in a neighbourhood of $z = \varphi$, for any $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda}$.

Now consider an arbitrary point $\zeta \in S_{\mathfrak{h}}$. It remains to argue that $\widetilde{F}(X, \cdot)$ defined by (3.88) can be represented as convergent power series around ζ . Write $\zeta = \varphi + \psi$ where $\varphi = \operatorname{Re}(\zeta)$ componentwise. Now observe that for $\delta \zeta \in \mathbb{C}^{\Lambda}$ small enough (such that $\psi + \delta \zeta \in D_{\mathfrak{h}}(0)$), one has

$$\widetilde{F}(X,\zeta+\delta\zeta) \stackrel{(3.88)}{=} \sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{1}{n!} D^n F(X,\varphi)((\psi+\delta\zeta)^{\otimes n}) = \sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{1}{k!} A_k(\delta\zeta^{\otimes k}),$$
(3.89)

where

$$A_k(f_1, \cdots, f_k) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{l!} D^{k+l} F(X, \varphi)(\psi^{\otimes l}, f_1, \cdots, f_k)$$
(3.90)

and the right-hand side of (3.89) is obtained by expanding $(\psi + \delta z)^{\otimes n}$, using multilinearity and re-arranging terms according to the number *k* that δz appears. Now use $||F||_{h,T_j} < +\infty$ once again to show the series in (3.89) converges. All in all, it follows that \widetilde{F} is complexanalytic, as desired.

The bound (3.86) is a result of (3.87).

By the proposition, we can make complex shift of variables in each Gaussian integrals using the Cauchy's integral theorem as long as the shift is not too large. This result is summarised in the next lemma, whose proof is presented in Section 3.8.1.

Lemma 3.4.2 (Gaussian complex shift of variable). Let \mathfrak{f} be as in (A'_f) , u_{j+1} be as in (3.19) and $j \ge j_s$. Also, let $F \in \mathscr{N}_j(X)$ with $\|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} < \infty$. Then for $h_{\omega} < (C \log L)^{-1}\mathfrak{h}$ with C > 0 sufficiently large and $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$,

$$\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}\left[F(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\boldsymbol{\zeta})\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[F\left(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\boldsymbol{\zeta}+\boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{u}_{j+1}\right)\right]$$
(3.91)

As the norm $||F||_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j}$ exploits the analyticity of *F* even further, we would have to study this a bit further.

Lemma 3.4.3. Let $\vec{\mathfrak{h}} = (\mathfrak{h}, h_{\omega})$ and $F \in \mathscr{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(X)$ be such that $||F(X; \omega)||_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_{j}(X)} < +\infty$ where $X \in \mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}$. Then $\mathbb{E}[\partial_{\omega}^{m}D^{n}F(X, \varphi' + \zeta; \omega)] = \partial_{\omega}^{m}D^{n}\mathbb{E}[F(X, \varphi' + \zeta; \omega)]$ for any $n, m \ge 0$ and $\mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}} \ni \omega \mapsto \mathbb{E}[D^{n}F(X, \varphi' + \zeta; \omega)]$ is a complex analytic function.

Proof. Let $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{(1-2\delta)h_{\omega}}$ for some $\delta > 0$. Then by the Cauchy's integral formula, for any $n, m \ge 0$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial_{\omega}^{m}D^{n}F(X,\varphi;\omega)\|_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi)} &= \left\|\frac{m!}{2\pi i}\int_{|z|=(1-\delta)h_{\omega}}\frac{D^{n}F(X,\varphi;z)}{(z-\omega)^{m+1}}dz\right\|_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \\ &\leqslant \frac{(1-\delta')n!}{(\delta-\delta')^{2}h_{\omega}^{m}h^{n}}\|F(X;\cdot)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X)}G_{j}(X,\varphi) \end{aligned}$$
(3.92)

where we have used, for $z \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$,

$$\|D^{n}F(X,\varphi;z)\|_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{|z|^{k}}{k!} \|\partial_{\omega}^{k}D^{n}F(X,\varphi;\omega)\|_{\omega=0}\|_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \leq \frac{n!}{\mathfrak{h}^{n}} \|F(X,\varphi;\cdot)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X,\varphi)}$$

$$(3.93)$$

By Proposition 3.3.5, $\mathbb{E}[G_j(X, \varphi' + \zeta)] \leq 2^{|X|_j} G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \varphi')$ for each $\varphi' \in \mathbb{R}^\Lambda$, so the Dominated convergence theorem guarantees that $\mathbb{E}[\partial_{\omega}^m D^n \theta_{\zeta} F(X, \varphi'; \omega)] = \partial_{\omega}^m D^n \mathbb{E}[\theta_{\zeta} F(X, \varphi'; \omega)]$, and they are continuous functions of ω .

Now let $\tilde{\gamma}$ be any piecewise C^1 curve in $\mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$, and we consider

$$\int_{\tilde{\gamma}} \mathbb{E}[D^n F(X, \varphi' + \zeta; \omega)] d\omega.$$
(3.94)

Again by (3.93) and Proposition 3.3.5, we have

$$\mathbb{E}[|D^{n}F(X,\varphi'+\zeta;\omega)|] \leqslant \frac{n!}{\mathfrak{h}^{n}} \|F(X)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X)} G_{j+1}(\overline{X},\varphi')$$
(3.95)

so $D^n F(X, \varphi' + \zeta; \omega)$ is integrable under the product measure $\mathbb{P}(d\zeta) \otimes d\omega$ of (3.94), and by the Fubini's theorem,

$$\int_{\tilde{\gamma}} \mathbb{E}[D^n F(X, \varphi' + \zeta; \omega)] d\omega = \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_{\tilde{\gamma}} D^n F(X, \varphi' + \zeta; \omega) d\omega\Big],$$
(3.96)

but by the Cauchy's integral theorem, $\int_{\tilde{\gamma}} D^n F(X, \varphi' + \zeta; \omega) d\omega = 0$, making the whole integral vanish. Hence by the Morera's theorem (recalling continuity in ω proved above), $\mathbb{E}[D^n F(X, \varphi' + \zeta; \omega)]$ is also complex analytic on $\mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$.

Lemma 3.4.4. Let $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ satisfy (A'_f) and u_{j+1} be defined by (3.19). Let $\mathfrak{h}, h_{\omega} > 0$ be such that $h_{\omega} < (C \log L)^{-1} \mathfrak{h}$ for sufficiently large C. Let $F \in \mathcal{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(X)$ be such that $\|F(X;\omega)\|_{(\mathfrak{h}'',h_{\omega}),T_j(X)} < +\infty$ where $\mathfrak{h}'' = \mathfrak{h} + h_{\omega} \|u_{j+1}\|_{C^2_j}$ and $X \in \mathscr{P}^c_j$. If we define

$$F'(X,\varphi;\cdot): \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}} \to \mathbb{C}, \quad \omega \mapsto F(X,\varphi + \omega u_{j+1};\omega),$$
(3.97)

then $D^n F'(X, \varphi; \cdot)$ and $\mathbb{E}[D^n F'(X, \varphi' + \zeta; \cdot)]$ are complex analytic functions of $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_\omega}$ for each $n \ge 0$, and satisfies

$$\|F'(X,\varphi;\omega)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(X,\varphi)} \leq \|F(X,\varphi;\omega)\|_{(\mathfrak{h}'',h_\omega),T_j(X,\varphi)}$$
(3.98)

$$\|\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}[F(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\boldsymbol{\zeta};\boldsymbol{\omega})]\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}')} \leq \|\mathbb{E}[F(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\boldsymbol{\zeta};\boldsymbol{\omega})]\|_{(\mathfrak{h}'',h_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}),T_{j}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}')}.$$
(3.99)

Proof. By Proposition 3.4.1, $z \mapsto D^n F(X, \varphi + zu_{j+1}; \omega)$ is analytic whenever $||zu_{j+1}||_{C_j^2(X^*)} < \beta$. h. However, since $||u_{j+1}||_{C_j^2(X^*)} \leq C\kappa^{-1}$, this condition is satisfied whenever $|z| \leq h_\omega < C^{-1}\kappa\beta$, making $F'(X, \varphi; \omega)$ analytic in $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_\omega}$. Now by the Chain rule,

$$\frac{d^m}{d\omega^m} D^n F'(X, \varphi; \omega) = \sum_{k=0}^m \binom{m}{k} D^{n+k} \partial_{\omega}^{m-k} F(X, \varphi + \omega u_{j+1}; \omega)(u_{j+1}^{\otimes k})$$
(3.100)

(*D* and ∂_{ω} are partial derivatives) so

$$\|F'(X,\varphi;\omega)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \leq \sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{m} \frac{\mathfrak{h}^{n}h_{\omega}^{m}}{n!m!} \binom{m}{k} \|D^{n+k}\partial_{\omega}^{m-k}F(X,\varphi;0)\|_{n+k,T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \|u_{j+1}\|^{k}$$
$$= \sum_{n,k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m'=0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathfrak{h}^{n}h_{\omega}^{k+m'}}{n!k!m'!} \|u_{j+1}\|^{k} \|D^{n+k}\partial_{\omega}^{m'}F(X,\varphi;0)\|_{n+k,T_{j}(X,\varphi)}$$
$$= \sum_{m'=0}^{\infty} \frac{h_{\omega}^{m'}}{m'!} \|\partial_{\omega}^{m'}F(X,\varphi;0)\|_{\mathfrak{h}+h_{\omega}\|u_{j+1}\|,T_{j}(X,\varphi)},$$
(3.101)

where the second line follows from change of variable m' = m - k and $||u_{j+1}|| = ||u_{j+1}||_{C_j^2(X^*)}$. This yields (3.98), hence by Lemma 3.4.3, we also have that $\mathbb{E}[D^n F'(X, \varphi' + \zeta; \omega)]$ complex analytic in $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_\omega}$ for each $n \ge 0$. Now (3.99) follows from Lemma 3.4.2, saying that $\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}[F(X, \varphi' + \zeta; \omega)] = \mathbb{E}[F'(X, \varphi' + \zeta; \omega)]$ and applying the same type of argument on $\mathbb{E}[F'(X, \varphi' + \zeta; \omega)]$.

This lemma is usually used after setting $C_1 > 0$ sufficiently large so that $\mathfrak{h}'' \leq 2\mathfrak{h}$. Then if we bound the right-hand side of (3.99) using the definition of $\|\cdot\|_{\vec{h},T_i(X)}$ -norm, we have

$$\|\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}[F(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\boldsymbol{\zeta};\boldsymbol{\omega})]\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}')} \leqslant C2^{|X|_{j}}\|F(X,\cdot;\boldsymbol{\omega})]\|_{(2\mathfrak{h},h_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}),T_{j}(X)}G_{j+1}(\overline{X},\boldsymbol{\varphi}'), \quad (3.102)$$

which is similar to the conclusion of Proposition 3.3.7, but weaker. However, (3.99) has use of its own as it makes it easy translate inequalities on $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_i(X)}$.

3.5 Proofs of the technical claims: organisation

In the rest of the chapter, we prove the unproved claims from the previous sections. The proofs do not come in linear order, so it ill be helpful to give an overview of the proofs.

- In Section 3.6, we prove Lemma 3.3.11. This statement depends on Proposition 3.3.5, but it is not used to prove any other statements.
- In Section 3.7, we prove Lemma 3.3.10, Lemma 3.3.3, Lemma 3.3.4, Lemma 3.3.9 and Proposition 3.3.5 in order. They share the common theme of controlling the large-field regulators G_j and $e^{c_w \kappa_L w_j (B, \varphi)^2}$. We see that the subdecomposed regulator of Section 3.3.3 will be necessary to control the expectation of G_j , so Proposition 3.3.5 is proved the last.

• In Section 3.8, we prove Lemma 3.4.2 and Proposition 3.3.7. We prove them by exploiting the properties of the regulator and analyticity of the polymer activities. Subdecomposition of the regulator also plays an important role in the proof of Proposition 3.3.7.

3.6 Continuity of the expectation

Proof of Lemma 3.3.11. We start from the following elementary identity for the derivative of a Gaussian integral with respect to its covariance: abbreviating $\Gamma_{j+1}(x,y) \equiv \Gamma_{j+1}(x,y;s,m^2)$, considering first the centered Gaussian vector on Λ_N with covariance $\Gamma_{j+1,\varepsilon} = \Gamma_{j+1} + \varepsilon$ Id with density f_{ε} , computing the derivatives $\partial f_{\varepsilon} / \partial \Gamma_{j+1,\varepsilon}(x,y)$ and letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ using dominated convergence, one finds that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial s} \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)}[F(X, \varphi + \zeta)] = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{x, y \in \Lambda_N} \frac{\partial \Gamma_{j+1}(x, y)}{\partial s} \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)} \Big[\frac{\partial^2 F(X, \varphi + \zeta)}{\partial \varphi(x) \varphi(y)} \Big].$$
(3.103)

Let $f^{z}(x) = \Gamma_{j+1}(z,x)$ and $g^{z}(x) = \delta(z,x)$. It then follows with the notation from (3.38) that

$$\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)}[F(X,\varphi+\zeta)] - \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s')}[F(X,\varphi+\zeta)] = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{z \in X^*} \int_s^{s'} ds'' \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s'')}[D^2 F(X,\varphi+\zeta;f^z,g^z)]. \quad (3.104)$$

By taking the $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(\overline{X})}$ norm of this and using Proposition 3.3.5, it follows that the left-hand side of (3.84) is bounded by

$$|s-s'|\left(2^{|X|_{j}}\mathfrak{h}^{-2}\sum_{z\in X^{*}}\|f^{z}\|_{C_{j}^{2}(X^{*})}\|g^{z}\|_{C_{j}^{2}(X^{*})}\|F(X)\|_{h,T_{j}(X)}\right).$$
(3.105)

Since X^* is finite and $||f^z||_{C_j^2(X^*)}$ and $||g^z||_{C_j^2(X^*)}$ are bounded uniformly in $|s| \leq \varepsilon_s \theta_j$ (their dependence on *j* and *X* is not relevant), the claim follows. The case $X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}^c$ assuming (3.85) follows using the same proof, and we now obtain

$$|s-s'|\left(2^{L^2|X|_{j+1}}\mathfrak{h}^{-2}\sum_{z\in X^*}\|f^z\|_{C^2_{j+1}(X^*)}\|g^z\|_{C^2_{j+1}(X^*)}\sup_{\varphi}\frac{\|F(X)\|_{h,T_{j+1}(X,\varphi)}}{G_j(X,\varphi)}\right)$$
(3.106)

instead of (3.105).

3.7 Properties of the regulator

We prove Lemma 3.3.10, Lemma 3.3.3, Lemma 3.3.4, Lemma 3.3.9 and Proposition 3.3.5 in this section.

3.7.1 Proof of Lemma 3.3.10

In this section and the next, we focus on purely geometric results on the L^2 and L^{∞} function spaces on the lattice. The proofs heavily depend on formulas derived from the lattice versions of the Sobolev estimates, see Appendix 3.A.

Proof of Lemma 3.3.10. We state the definition of G_{i+s} explicitly as

$$G_{j+s}(X,\varphi) = \exp\left\{\kappa_{L} \|\nabla_{j+s}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(X)}^{2} + c_{2}\kappa_{L} \|\nabla_{j+s}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(\partial X)}^{2} + \kappa_{L}W_{j+s}(X,\nabla^{2}_{j+s}\varphi)^{2}\right\}$$
$$W_{j+s}(X,\nabla^{a}_{j}\varphi)^{2} = \sum_{B \in \mathscr{B}_{j+s}(X)} \|\nabla^{a}_{j+s}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(B^{*})}^{2}$$
(3.107)

For brevity, $s + M^{-1}$ will be denoted s' and $X_{s'}$ will be denoted X'. We will bound each term appearing in $\log G_{j+s}(X, \varphi + \xi)$. First, $\|\nabla \varphi\|_{L^2(X)}^2$ will be isolated from $\|\nabla (\varphi + \xi)\|_{L^2(X)}^2$. Let $B \in \mathscr{B}_{j+s}(X)$ and without loss of generality, let B, l_i (i = 1, 2, 3, 4) be as above but $B = [1, L^{j+s}]^2$. Then by discrete integration by parts,

$$\sum_{x \in B} \nabla^{e_1} \varphi(x) \nabla^{e_1} \xi(x) = -\sum_{x \in I_3} \xi(x) \nabla^{-e_1} \varphi(x) - \sum_{x \in I_1} \xi(x+e_1) \nabla^{e_1} \varphi(x) + \sum_{x \in B} \xi(x) \nabla^{e_1} \nabla^{-e_1} \varphi(x)$$
(3.108)

Hence in particular, summing this over each direction $\pm e_1, \pm e_2, B \in \mathscr{B}_{j+s}(X)$, and using the AM-GM inequality,

$$t(\nabla\varphi,\nabla\xi)_{X} \leq \tau t \|\xi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(X)}^{2} + \tau^{-1}t\|\nabla_{j+s}^{2}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(X)}^{2} + \tau t \|\xi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(\partial X)}^{2} + \tau^{-1}t\|\nabla_{j+s}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(\partial X)}^{2}$$

$$\leq 2\tau W_{j+s}(X,\xi)^{2} + \tau^{-1}(\|\nabla_{j+s}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(\partial X)}^{2} + W_{j+s}(X,\nabla_{j+s}^{2}\varphi)^{2})$$
(3.109)

for any $\tau > 0$, and hence

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla_{j+s}(\varphi+\xi)\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(X)}^{2} &\leqslant \|\nabla_{j+s'}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s'}(X)}^{2} + \|\nabla_{j+s}\xi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(X)}^{2} \\ &+ 2\tau W_{j+s}(X,\xi)^{2} + \tau^{-1} \big(\|\nabla_{j+s}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(\partial X)}^{2} + W_{j+s}(X,\nabla_{j+s}^{2}\varphi)^{2}\big). \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.110)$$

Next, we will use rather trivial bound on the other two terms of $\log G_{j+s}$:

$$\|\nabla_{j+s}(\varphi+\xi)\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(\partial X)}^{2} \leq 2\|\nabla_{j+s}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(\partial X)}^{2} + 2W_{j+s}(X,\nabla_{j+s}\xi)^{2}$$
(3.111)

$$\|\nabla_{j}^{2}(\boldsymbol{\varphi} + \boldsymbol{\xi})\|_{L^{\infty}(B^{*})}^{2} \leqslant 2\|\nabla_{j}^{2}\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{L^{\infty}(B^{*})}^{2} + 2\|\nabla_{j}^{2}\boldsymbol{\xi}\|_{L^{\infty}(B^{*})}^{2}$$
(3.112)

By (3.110), (3.111), (3.112) and setting $c_4 = \max\{2, 2\tau, 2c_2\}$,

$$\frac{1}{\kappa_{L}}\log G_{j+s}(X,\varphi+\xi) \leqslant \|\nabla_{j+s}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(X)}^{2} + (2c_{2}+\tau^{-1})\|\nabla_{j+s}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(\partial X)}^{2} + 2(1+\tau^{-1})W_{j+s}(X,\nabla_{j+s}^{2}\varphi) + \frac{1}{\kappa_{L}}\log g_{j+s}(X,\xi).$$
(3.113)

Now by repeated application of the discrete Sobolev trace theorem [12, (3.174)],

$$\|\nabla_{j+s}\varphi\|^{2}_{L^{2}_{j+s}(\partial X)} \leqslant \|\nabla_{j+s}\varphi\|^{2}_{L^{2}_{j+s}(\partial X')} + 10\|\nabla_{j+s}\varphi\|^{2}_{L^{2}_{j+s}(X'\setminus X)} + 10W_{j+s}(\nabla^{2}_{j+s}\varphi, X'\setminus X)$$
(3.114)

hence by choosing $\tau = c_2^{-1}$ and $30c_2 \leqslant 1$,

$$\frac{\log(G_{j+s}(X,\varphi+\xi)/g_{j+s}(X,\xi))}{\kappa_{L}} \leq \|\nabla_{j+s}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(X')}^{2} + 3c_{2}\|\nabla_{j+s}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(\partial X')}^{2} + 2(1+\tau^{-1})W_{j+s}(\nabla_{j+s}^{2}\varphi,X') \\ \leq \|\nabla_{j+s'}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s'}(X')}^{2} + 3\ell^{-1}c_{2}\|\nabla_{j+s'}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j+s'}(\partial X')}^{2} + 2\ell^{-2}(1+\tau^{-1})W_{j+s'}(\nabla_{j+s'}^{2}\varphi,X').$$
(3.115)

Hence the conclusion follows upon taking ℓ large enough.

3.7.2 Proof of Lemmas 3.3.3 and 3.3.4

Proof of Lemma 3.3.3. We first collect the following elementary but fundamental inequality. For any function $f : \Lambda_N \to \mathbb{R}$, any connected polymer $X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c$ (not necessarily small) and $x_0 \in X$,

$$\max_{x \in X} |f(x) - f(x_0)| \leq 2|X|_j L^j \|\nabla f\|_{L^{\infty}(X)} = 2|X|_j \|\nabla_j f\|_{L^{\infty}(X)}.$$
(3.116)

Observing that $2|X^*|_j \leq C_d$ for some $C_d > 0$ when $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$, this gives

$$\|\delta\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})} \leqslant C_{d} \|\nabla_{j}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})}, \quad X \in \mathscr{S}_{j}.$$
(3.117)

Similarly, applying (3.116) with the choice $f = \nabla_j^{\mu} \varphi$ for $\mu \in \hat{e} = \{\pm e_1, \pm e_2\}$ to obtain that $|\nabla_j^{\mu} \varphi(x)| \leq |\nabla_j^{\mu} \varphi(y)| + C_d ||\nabla_j^2 \varphi||_{L_{\infty}(X^*)}$ for any $x, y \in X^*$, averaging over y in X and μ in \hat{e} , taking squares and using that $(a+b)^2 \leq 2(a^2+b^2)$, one obtains for any $X \in \mathcal{C}_j$ that

$$\|\nabla_{j}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})}^{2} \leqslant C(|X|_{j}^{-1}\|\nabla_{j}\varphi\|_{L^{2}_{j}(X)}^{2} + W_{j}(X,\nabla_{j}^{2}\varphi)^{2}), \qquad (3.118)$$

where we also used that

$$\|\nabla_j^2 \varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X^*)} \leqslant W_j(X, \nabla_j^2 \varphi), \qquad (3.119)$$

which follows from (3.42). Recalling $\|\cdot\|_{C_j^2(X^*)}$ from (3.37), combining (3.117), (3.118) and (3.119) while noting that $\nabla_i \delta \varphi = \nabla_i \varphi$, one readily infers that

$$\|\delta\varphi\|_{C_j^2(X^*)}^2 \leqslant C\big(\|\nabla_j\varphi\|_{L_j^2(X)}^2 + W_j(X,\nabla_j^2\varphi)^2\big), \quad X \in \mathscr{S}_j,$$
(3.120)

from which (3.70) follows in view of (3.41) by means of the elementary inequality $t^k \leq C(k)e^{t^2}$, valid for all $t \geq 0$.

Proof of Lemma 3.3.4. The bound (3.72) is a direct consequence of the first estimate in (6.100) of [23, Lemma 6.21] upon taking a product over $B \in \mathscr{B}_j(X)$ (for the reader's orientation, the quantity $e^{c_w \kappa_L w_j(\varphi, B)}$ for $B \in \mathscr{B}_j$ corresponds to $G^2_{\text{strong},\varphi}(B)$ in the notation of [23]). In particular, the presence of the factors 2^{-n} in (3.35) and (3.36), absent in [23, (6.67)], is inconsequential for the validity of these results. The same applies to further references to [23] in the sequel.

Note also that, while the value of c_w is fixed in [23] as $c_w = 2$ and exponent inside the definition of G_j is multiplied by a factor (called c_1) chosen large enough, we take c_w small, which is equivalent. Finally, note that (3.72) does not rely on the presence of the $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\partial X)}^2$ -term in G_j , i.e., (3.72) holds with $c_2 = 0$ in (3.41).

The inequality (3.73) is the content of (6.103) in [23]. Here G_j and c_2 corresponds to $G_{\varphi'}$ and c_3 , respectively, in the notation of [23]. Whereas c_1 (mentioned above) is fixed beforehand in [23], the asserted dependence of parameters above (3.73) on c_1 follows by inspection of the proof of [23, Lemma 6.22], see in particular [23, (6.105)].

3.7.3 Proof of Lemma 3.3.9

Proof of (3.81) *of Lemma 3.3.9.* By the Sobolev inequality, Lemma 3.A.3, for each a = 0, 1, 2, we have

$$W_{j+s}(X, \nabla^{a}_{j+s}\zeta) \leqslant C_{a,d} \|\nabla^{a}_{j+s}\zeta\|_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})} \leqslant C'_{a,d} \sum_{b=0,1,2} \|\nabla^{a+b}_{j+s}\zeta\|_{L^{2}_{j+s}(X^{*})}.$$
(3.121)

Plugging this into the definition of $g_{j+s}(X,\zeta)$ with scaled coefficients give the desired result.

For the proof of (3.82), we will need the following general estimate for Gaussian fields; see [23, Lemma 6.28] for a proof.

Lemma 3.7.1. Let ζ be a centered real-valued Gaussian field on a finite set X with covariance matrix C and suppose that the largest eigenvalue of C is smaller or equal to $\frac{1}{2}$. Then

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\exp(\frac{1}{2}\sum_{x\in X}\zeta(x)^2)\right] \leqslant e^{\operatorname{Tr}C}.$$
(3.122)

Applying this lemma to gradients of the slices ξ_k (see Section 3.1.3) gives the following lemma.

Lemma 3.7.2. For any $j \in \{1,...,N\}$, $k \in \{1,...,N'\}$, $s = \frac{k-1}{N'}$, $s' = \frac{k}{N'}$, let $Y \in \mathscr{P}_{j+s}^c$, and let ξ be a centered Gaussian field with covariance $\Gamma_{j+s,j+s'}$. For a multiindex $(\mu) = (\mu_1,...,\mu_a) \in \{\pm e_1,\pm e_2\}^a$ for $a \in \{0,1,2,3,4\}$, then let $\eta_{a,(\mu)}$ be the Gaussian field defined by

$$\eta_{a,(\mu)}(x) = \rho_J^2(\log L)^{-1} L^{-(j+s)} \nabla_{j+s}^{\mu_1 \cdots \mu_a} \xi(x).$$
(3.123)

Then there is a constant C' > 0 such that if $t \leq (2C'\ell^2)^{-1}$, then (recall $L = \ell^M$)

$$\mathbb{E}\left[e^{\frac{t}{2}\sum_{x\in Y}\eta(x)^2}\right] \leqslant e^{tC'M^{-1}|Y|_{j+s}}$$
(3.124)

where $|Y|_{j+s}$ denotes the number of L^{j+s} -blocks contained in Y.

Proof. By Lemma 3.1.4, for all $x, y \in \Lambda_N$ and (μ) as above, defining $\alpha = (\mu, -\mu)$ to be the concatenated multi-index (of length 2*a*),

$$\left| \mathbb{E}^{\xi_k} \left[(\nabla_{j+s}^{(\mu)} \xi_k)(x) (\nabla_{j+s}^{(\mu)} \xi_k)(y) \right] \right| \leqslant C_\alpha \rho_J^{-2} \log \ell,$$
(3.125)

which follows by considering the (worst) case estimate $|\alpha| = 0$ in Lemma 3.1.4. Letting $H_{a,(\mu)}(x,y) = \text{Cov}(\eta_{a,(\mu)}(x), \eta_{a,(\mu)}(y))$, it follows from (3.123) and (3.125) that there is a

constant C' > 0 such that for all $x, y \in Y$ and $a = 0, 1, \dots, 4$,

$$|H_{a,(\mu)}(x,y)| \leq C'(\log L)^{-1} L^{-2(j+s)} \log \ell.$$
(3.126)

Since also $H_{a,(\mu)}(x,y) = 0$ for $|x-y|_{\infty} \ge \frac{1}{2}L^{j+s+(N')^{-1}} = \frac{1}{2}\ell L^{j+s}$ by the finite-range property (2.8), it follows from (3.126) that

$$t \sup_{a \in \{0,...,4\}} \|H_{a,(\mu)}\|_{\text{op}} \leq tC' \ell^2 (\log \ell) (\log L)^{-1} = \frac{C't}{N'} \ell^2 \leq \frac{1}{2N'} \leq \frac{1}{2},$$
(3.127)

whenever $t \leq (2C'\ell^2)^{-1}$. Thus $\sqrt{t}\eta_{a,(\mu)}$ satisfies the assumption of Lemma 3.7.1 so that with (3.126),

$$\mathbb{E}[e^{\frac{t}{2}\sum_{x\in Y}\eta(x)^2}] \leqslant e^{tC'(N')^{-1}|Y|_{j+s}}$$
(3.128)

as claimed.

Proof of (3.82) *of Lemma 3.3.9.* Let $\eta_{a,(\mu)}$ be as in Lemma 3.7.2 and write $\kappa_L = c_{\kappa} \rho_J^2 (\log L)^{-1}$ with $c_{\kappa} > 0$. Then by (3.81) there is a constant C > 0 such that

$$g_{j+s}(Y,\xi) \leqslant \prod_{a=0}^{4} \prod_{(\mu)} \exp\left(\frac{Cc_4 c_{\kappa}}{2} (5 \cdot 2^a)^{-1} \|\eta_{a,(\mu)}\|_{L^2(Y)}^2\right),$$
(3.129)

and hence by Hölder's inequality,

$$\mathbb{E}[g_{j+s}(Y,\xi)] \leqslant \prod_{a=0}^{4} \prod_{(\mu)} \mathbb{E}\Big[\exp\Big(\frac{Cc_4c_{\kappa}}{2} \|\eta_{a,(\mu)}\|_{L^2(Y)}^2\Big)\Big]^{1/(5\cdot 2^a)}.$$
(3.130)

Applying (3.124) with $t = Cc_4c_{\kappa}$, the right-hand side is bounded by $e^{Cc_4c_{\kappa}C'(N')^{-1}|Y|_{j+s}} \leq 2^{(N')^{-1}|Y|_{j+s}}$ when $c_{\kappa} \leq (2CC'c_4\ell^2)^{-1}$ is chosen small enough.

For the analogous conclusion for the last step with $\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}$ instead of Γ_{j+1} , we just need to use the decomposition (3.14) instead of (3.13) and recall from Lemma 3.1.4 that $\Gamma_{N-1+s,N-1+s'}^{\Lambda_N}$ satisfies the same estimates as $\Gamma_{N-1+s,N-1+s'}$.

3.7.4 **Proof of Proposition 3.3.5**

Proof of Proposition 3.3.5. Assuming that c_2 is sufficiently small so that Lemma 3.3.10 applies, fix (with the right-hand sides as in the conclusion of Lemma 3.3.10)

$$\ell = \ell_0(c_2), \qquad c_4 = c_4(c_2).$$
 (3.131)

By the subdecomposition $\Gamma_{j+1} = \Gamma_{j,j+1/N'} + \cdots + \Gamma_{j+1-1/N',j+1}$ and the corresponding decomposition of the field

$$\zeta = \sum_{k=1}^{N'} \xi_k \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Gamma_{j+1}), \qquad \xi_k \sim \Gamma_{j+\frac{k-1}{N'}, j+\frac{k}{N'}}, \qquad (3.132)$$

by repeated application of (3.83), for all $\varphi' \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$, $X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c$, it follows that

$$\mathbb{E}[G_j(X, \varphi' + \zeta)] \leqslant \prod_{k=1}^{N'} \mathbb{E}^{\xi_k} \left[g_{j+\frac{(k-1)}{N'}}(X_{\frac{k}{N'}}, \xi_k) \right] G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \varphi').$$
(3.133)

Now by Lemma 3.3.9, and recalling $|Y|_{j+s} = |X_{j+s}|_{j+s} \leq |X|_j$, we obtain the claim:

$$\mathbb{E}[G_j(X, \varphi' + \zeta)] \leqslant \left(2^{(N')^{-1}|X|_j}\right)^{N'} G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \varphi') \leqslant 2^{|X|_j} G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \varphi').$$
(3.134)

The proof of the analogous conclusion for the last step with $\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}$ instead of Γ_{j+1} is analogous.

3.8 Complex shift of variables

We prove Lemma 3.4.2 and Proposition 3.3.7 in this section.

3.8.1 Proof of Lemma 3.4.2

We prove Lemma 3.4.2 here. We first prove a lemma the justifies the complex shift of variables for subdecomposed fields.

Lemma 3.8.1. Let $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$, F be a polymer activity such that $||F(X)||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} < \infty$ and $\psi, \tilde{\psi} \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$ have $||\psi||_{C_j^2}, ||\tilde{\psi}||_{C_j^2} < \mathfrak{h}/2$. Also, for $m^2 > 0$, let $C_s = \Gamma_{j+s,j+s'} + m^2$ if j+s' < N and $C_s = \Gamma_{j+s,j+s'}^{\Lambda_N} + m^2$ if j+s' = N. Then for $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{X^*}} d\xi_s e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\xi_s, C_s^{-1}\xi_s)} F(X, \varphi + \xi_s + \tilde{\psi}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{X^*} + i\psi} d\xi_s e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\xi_s, C_s^{-1}\xi_s)} F(X, \varphi + \xi_s + \tilde{\psi})$$
(3.135)

Proof. Consider the orthonormal change of coordinates of \mathbb{R}^{X^*} (with L^2 -norm) from ($\delta_x : x \in X^*$) to $(e_y : y \in A)$ (with $|A| = |X^*|$) such that $\psi = \alpha e_{y_0}$ for some $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and $y_0 \in A$. Writing

 $(\xi_{s,y})_{y \in A}$ for the coordinates for ξ_s in this basis (so $\xi_s = \sum_{y \in A} \xi_{s,y} e_y$), (3.135) is equivalent to

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} d\xi_{s,y_0} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\xi_s, C_s^{-1}\xi_s)} F(X, \varphi' + \xi_s + \tilde{\psi}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}+i\alpha} d\xi_{s,y_0} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\xi_s, C_s^{-1}\xi_s)} F(X, \varphi' + \xi_s + \tilde{\psi}).$$
(3.136)

Thus it is enough to apply the Cauchy's integral formula and check

$$\left|e^{-\frac{1}{2}\left(\left(\xi'+i\psi\right),C_{s}^{-1}\left(\xi'+i\psi\right)}F\left(X,\varphi'+\xi'+i\left(\tilde{\psi}+\psi\right)\right)\right|\to0\quad\text{as }\xi'\to\infty\tag{3.137}$$

to take the limits $\xi_{s,y_0} \to \pm \infty$. But since $\|\tilde{\psi} + \psi\|_{C_j^2} < \mathfrak{h}$, Proposition 3.4.1 and Lemma 3.3.10 give

$$|F(X, \varphi' + \xi' + i(\psi + \tilde{\psi}))| \leq ||F(X)||_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j}(X)} G_{j}(X, \varphi' + \xi')$$

$$\leq ||F(X)||_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j}(X)} G_{j+s'}(X_{j+s'}, \varphi') g_{j+s}(X_{j+s'}, \xi')$$
(3.138)

for $s = s + (N')^{-1}$. But also by Lemma 3.3.9,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{X^*}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\xi', C_s^{-1}\xi')} g_{j+s}(X_{j+s'}, \xi') < \infty,$$
(3.139)

thus in particular (3.137) holds.

Lemma 3.8.2. Let $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$, let F be a function such that $||F||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} < \infty$. Let $v_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$ be such that $||\Gamma_{j+s,j+\overline{s}}v_2||_{C_j^2} < \mathfrak{h}/2$ for each $s,\overline{s} \in \{0, (N')^{-1}, \cdots, 1\}$ and $s < \overline{s}$. If $\varphi' \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$, $v = v_1 + iv_2$ for some $v_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$, then

$$\mathbb{E}[F(X, \varphi' + \zeta + \Gamma_{j+1}\nu)] = e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\nu, \Gamma_{j+1}\nu)} \mathbb{E}[e^{(\zeta, \nu)}F(X, \varphi' + \zeta)].$$
(3.140)

Proof. Since *X* does not play any role, we will drop it at most places. By change of variable $\zeta \rightarrow \zeta - \Gamma_{i+1}v_1$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}[F(\varphi + \zeta + \Gamma_{j+1}v_1 + i\Gamma_{j+1}v_2)] = e^{-\frac{1}{2}(v_1,\Gamma_{j+1}v_1)}\mathbb{E}[e^{(\zeta,v_1)}F(\varphi + \zeta + i\Gamma_{j+1}v_2)].$$
 (3.141)

So we aim to prove, for any $m^2 > 0$ sufficiently small,

$$\mathbb{E}[e^{(\zeta^{(m^2)},v_1)}F(\varphi+\zeta^{(m^2)}+iCv_2)] = e^{-i(v_1,Cv_2)+\frac{1}{2}(v_2,Cv_2)}\mathbb{E}\left[e^{(\zeta^{(m^2)},v_1+iv_2)}F(\varphi+\zeta^{(m^2)})\right]$$
(3.142)

where now $C = \Gamma_{j+1} + N'm^2$ and $\zeta^{(m^2)} \sim \mathcal{N}(0, C|_{X^*})$. Once this is obtained, we can take the limit $m^2 \downarrow 0$ to conclude. But we have to be more careful than the real-valued shift of variables, as we only have restricted amount of analyticity for *F*.

Also having done the subscale decomposition $\zeta^{(m^2)} = \sum_{s=0}^{N'} \xi_s$ with $\xi_s \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Gamma_{j+s,j+s'} + m^2)$ (where $s' = s + (N')^{-1}$), the proof of (3.142), upto an induction, reduces to proving

$$\mathbb{E}\left[e^{(\xi_{s},v_{1})}F(\varphi'+\xi_{s}+i(C_{s}+C_{>s})v_{2})\right]$$

= $e^{-i(v_{1},C_{s}v_{2})+\frac{1}{2}(v_{2},C_{s}v_{2})}\mathbb{E}\left[e^{(\xi_{s},v_{1}+iv_{2})}F(\varphi'+\xi_{s}+iC_{>s}v_{2})\right]$ (3.143)

where $C_s = \Gamma_{j+s,j+s'} + m^2$, $C_{>s} = \sum_{\bar{s}>s} C_{\bar{s}}$, $\xi_s \sim \mathcal{N}(0,C_s)$ and $\varphi' = \varphi + \sum_{\bar{s}\neq s} \xi_{\bar{s}}$. But this is just (3.135) with $\psi = C_s v_2$ and $\tilde{\psi} = C_{<s} v_2$, whose conditions can be checked by the assumptions on v_2 .

Then we are only left to bound the size of $\Gamma_{j+s,j+s'}\tilde{f}$ in order to verify Lemma 3.4.2. In the next lemma, we recall $I_{N'} = \{0, \dots, 1 - (N')^{-1}\}$.

Lemma 3.8.3. For $\alpha \in \{1, \dots, n\}$, let \mathfrak{f}_{α} be as in (A'_f) and let

$$u_{j+s,j+\overline{s},\alpha} = \Gamma_{j+s,j+s'}\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}_{\alpha}, \quad \overline{s} > s, \ s \in I_{N'}, \ \overline{s} \in (N')^{-1} + I_{N'}$$
(3.144)

for $j \ge j_s$. Then $u_{j+s,j+\bar{s},\alpha}$ is supported on $B^0_{j+\bar{s}}$, the unique $j+\bar{s}$ -block containing 0 and for each $n \ge 0$ and

$$\|\nabla^{n} u_{j+s,j+\bar{s},\alpha}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leqslant \begin{cases} C_{0}M\rho^{2}\log L & \text{if } n=0\\ C_{n}M\rho^{2}L^{-n(j+s)} & \text{if } n \ge 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(3.145)$$

Also, $u_{j+1,\alpha}$ defined by (3.19) admits decomposition

$$u_{j+1,\alpha} = \sum_{s \in I_{N'}} u_{j+s,j+s+(N')^{-1},\alpha}.$$
(3.146)

Proof. The proof is identical to Lemma 3.1.5.

Proof of Lemma 3.4.2. Recall, $u_{j+1} = \Gamma_{j+1}\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ if $j \ge 0$. By definition,

$$\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}\left[F(X,\varphi'+\zeta)\right] = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\omega^2(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},\Gamma_{j+1}\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{(\zeta,\omega\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})}F(X,\varphi'+\zeta)\right]$$
(3.147)

Also, Lemma 3.8.3 and the condition $|\omega| < h_{\omega} < (C \log L)^{-1} \mathfrak{h}$ implies

$$\|\omega\Gamma_{j+s,j+\bar{s}}\tilde{f}\|_{C_{j}^{2}} < h/2, \quad \bar{s} > s, \ s \in I_{N'}, \ \bar{s} \in (N')^{-1} + I_{N'}$$
(3.148)

whenever $\omega < (C \log L)^{-1}h$ for sufficiently large *C*. This verifies the assumptions of Lemma 3.8.2, completing the proof.

3.8.2 **Proof of Proposition 3.3.7**

Lemma 3.8.4 (Gaussian integration by parts). *Given* $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ *satisfying* (A'_f) , *let* $u_{j+1} = \Gamma_{j+1}\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$. *Let F* be a polymer activity such that $||F||_{\tilde{\mathfrak{h}},T_i(X)} < \infty$. Then

$$\mathbb{E}\left[D^{k}F(X,\varphi'+\zeta)(u_{j+1}^{\otimes k})\right] = \sum_{l=0}^{k} \binom{k}{l} (u_{j+1},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})^{l/2} \operatorname{He}_{l}(0) \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}}^{\zeta} \left[(\zeta|_{X^{*}},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})^{k-l}F(X,\varphi'+\zeta) \right]$$
(3.149)

when $\operatorname{He}_{2p+1}(0) = 0$ and $\operatorname{He}_{2p}(0) = (-1)^p \frac{(2p)!}{2^p p!}$ for $p \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

Proof. We drop X so that $F(X, \varphi)$ is written as $F(\varphi)$. It is sufficient to prove this for $\zeta \sim \mathcal{N}(0, C|_{X^*})$ and $u_{j+1} = C\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$, where $C = \Gamma_{j+1} + m^2$ and $m^2 > 0$. Also, by integration by parts and upto a normalisation factor, $\mathbb{E}_C[D^k F(X, \varphi' + \zeta)(u_{j+1}^{\otimes k})]$ can be written in terms of the Lebesgue integral

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{X^*}} d\zeta \, e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\zeta, C^{-1}\zeta)} D^k F(\varphi' + \zeta)(u_{j+1}^{\otimes k}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{X^*}} d\zeta \, (-D)^k e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\zeta, C^{-1}\zeta)}(u_{j+1}^{\otimes k}) F(\varphi' + \zeta).$$
(3.150)

The derivative on the right-hand side can be written as

$$(-1)^{k} \frac{d^{k}}{ds^{k}}\Big|_{s=0} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\zeta + su_{j+1}, C^{-1}(\zeta + su_{j+1}))} = (-1)^{k} \frac{d^{k}}{ds^{k}}\Big|_{s=0} e^{-\frac{1}{2}As^{2} - Bs - E}$$
(3.151)

where $A = (u_{j+1}, C^{-1}u_{j+1}) = (u_{j+1}, \tilde{f}), B = (\zeta, C^{-1}u_{j+1}) = (\zeta, \tilde{f})$ and $E = \frac{1}{2}(\zeta, C^{-1}\zeta)$. By the Leibniz formula,

$$(-1)^{k} \frac{d^{k}}{ds^{k}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}As^{2} - Bs - E} = \sum_{l=0}^{k} \binom{k}{l} \operatorname{He}_{l}(\sqrt{As})A^{l/2}B^{k-l}e^{-\frac{1}{2}As^{2} - Bs - E}, \qquad (3.152)$$

where $\text{He}_l(x)$ is the Hermite polynomial of degree *l*. Therefore we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}_{C}\left[D^{k}F(X,\varphi'+\zeta)(u_{j+1}^{\otimes k})\right]$$

$$\propto \sum_{l=0}^{k} \binom{k}{l} (u_{j+1},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})^{l/2} \operatorname{He}_{l}(0) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{X^{*}}} d\zeta \, e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\zeta,C^{-1}\zeta)}(\zeta,\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})^{k-l}F(X,\varphi'+\zeta)\right]. \quad (3.153)$$

To conclude, take limit $m^2 \rightarrow 0$.

Lemma 3.8.5. Let \tilde{f} be as in (A'_f) and u_{j+1} be defined by (3.19) and $j \ge j_s$. If $||D^n F(X)||_{n,T_j(X)} < \infty$, there is some constant C > 0 such that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}}^{\zeta} \left[(\zeta|_{X^*}, \tilde{\mathfrak{f}})^k D^n F(X, \varphi' + \zeta) \right] \right\|_{n, T_j(X, \varphi)} \\ \leqslant C 2^{|X|_j} (C \log L)^{\frac{3}{2}k} \left(\left\lceil \frac{k}{2} \right\rceil ! \right) G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \varphi') \| D^n F(X) \|_{n, T_j(X)}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.154)$$

Proof. Again, we drop *X*. Since $|D^n F(\varphi' + \zeta)| \leq ||D^n F||_{n,T_j(X)} G_j(X, \varphi' + \zeta)$ we just need to bound $\mathbb{E}[|(\zeta|_{X^*}, \tilde{\mathfrak{f}})|^k G_j(X, \varphi' + \zeta)]$. Firstly, after the subdecomposition $\zeta|_{X^*} = \sum_{s=0}^{N'-1} \xi_s|_{X^*}$ (as in (3.132)) and using the Jensen's inequality, we have

$$|(\zeta|_{X^*},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})|^k = \left| \sum_{s=0}^{N'-1} (\xi_s|_{X^*},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}) \right|^k \leq (N')^{k-1} \sum_{s=0}^{N'-1} |(\xi_s|_{X^*},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})|^k \\ \leq (N')^{k-1} \sum_{s=0}^{N'-1} ||\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}||_{L^1}^k ||\xi_s||_{L^{\infty}(X^*)}^k$$
(3.155)

But since

$$\|\xi_{s}\|_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})}^{k} \leq (c_{4}\kappa)^{-\frac{k}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{k+2}{2}\right)\exp\left(c_{4}\kappa\|\xi_{s}\|_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})}^{2}\right)$$
(3.156)

(Γ is the gamma function) and $\|\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}\|_{L^1} \leq \mathfrak{n} M \rho^2 \leq 1$, we see for some C > 0 that

$$|(\zeta|_{X^*},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})|^k \leq (N')^{k-1} \sum_{s=0}^{N'-1} C^k \kappa^{-\frac{k}{2}} \left(\left\lceil \frac{k}{2} \right\rceil ! \right) e^{c_4 \kappa \|\xi_s\|_{L^{\infty}(X^*)}^2}.$$
(3.157)

Secondly, by repeated application of Lemma 3.3.10,

$$G_{j}(X, \varphi' + \zeta) \leq \prod_{s \in I_{N'}} g_{j+(N')^{-1}s}(X_{j+(N')^{-1}s}, \xi_{s})G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \varphi')$$
(3.158)

(as in (3.133)). But since $e^{c_4 \kappa \|\xi_s\|_{L^{\infty}(X^*)}^2} \leq g_{j+(N')^{-1}s}(X,\xi_s)$, combining this with (3.157), we have

$$\left| (\zeta|_{X^*}, \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}) \right|^k G_j(X, \varphi' + \zeta) \leqslant (N')^k C^k \kappa^{-\frac{k}{2}} \left\lceil \frac{k}{2} \right\rceil ! G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \varphi') \prod_{s=0}^{N'-1} g_{j+(N')^{-1}s}(X_{j+(N')^{-1}s}, \xi_s)^2.$$
(3.159)

Also Lemma 3.3.9 says

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[\prod_{s=0}^{N'-1} g_{j+(N')^{-1}s}(X_{j+(N')^{-1}s},\xi_s)^2\Big] \leqslant 2^{|X|_j},\tag{3.160}$$

so the conclusion follows from recalling that $N' = \frac{\log L}{\log \ell}$ and $\kappa = c_{\kappa} \rho_J^2 (\log L)^{-1}$.

Lemma 3.8.6. Let $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ and u_{j+1} be as in the previous Lemma. Let $h_{\omega} \leq (C \log L)^{-3/2}$ for sufficiently large C and $\|F(X)\|_{\tilde{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X)} < \infty$. Then

$$\|\mathbb{E}[F(X, \varphi' + \zeta + \omega u_{j+1}; \omega)]\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_j(X, \varphi')} \leq C_2 2^{|X|_j} \|F(X)\|_{\vec{kh}, T_j(X)} G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \varphi')$$
(3.161)

for some $C_2 > 0$.

Proof. Again, we drop X. We prove this by making the bound

$$\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{h_{\omega}^{l}}{l!} \left\| \frac{d^{l}}{d\omega^{l}} \right\|_{\omega=0} D^{n} \mathbb{E} \left[F(\varphi' + \zeta + \omega u_{j+1}; \omega) \right\|_{n, T_{j}(X, \varphi)}$$
$$\leq C 2^{|X|_{j}} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{h_{\omega}^{l}}{l!} \left\| \partial_{\omega}^{l} D^{n} F(; \omega) \right\|_{n, T_{j}(X)} G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \varphi')$$
(3.162)

for each $n \ge 0$ and *C* independent of *n*. Also, since *n* does not play any role in the proof, we will just prove this for the case n = 0. To show this, first make expansion

$$\frac{d^{l}}{d\omega^{l}}\Big|_{\omega=0}F(\varphi'+\zeta+\omega u_{j+1};\omega)=\sum_{k=0}^{l}\binom{l}{k}D^{l-k}\partial_{\omega}^{k}F(\varphi'+\zeta;0)(u_{j+1}^{\otimes l-k})$$
(3.163)

and by Lemma 3.8.4,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[D^{l-k}\partial_{\omega}^{k}F(\varphi'+\zeta;0)(u_{j+1}^{\otimes l-k})\right]$$

$$=\sum_{m=0}^{l-k} \binom{l-k}{m} (u_{j+1},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})^{\frac{m}{2}} \operatorname{He}_{m}(0)\mathbb{E}\left[(\zeta|_{X^{*}},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})^{l-k-m}\partial_{\omega}^{k}F(\varphi'+\zeta;0)\right],$$
(3.164)

while by Lemma 3.8.5,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\zeta|_{X^*},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}\right)^{l-k-m}\partial_{\omega}^k F(\varphi'+\zeta;0)\right]\right|$$

$$\leq C_2 2^{|X|_j} (C_1 \log L)^{\frac{3}{2}(l-k-m)} \left(\left\lceil \frac{l-k-m}{2} \right\rceil!\right) G_{j+1}(\overline{X},\varphi') \|\partial_{\omega}^k F\|_{0,T_j(X)}$$

$$(3.165)$$

Combining these bounds, using $(u_{j+1}, \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}) \leq C(M, \rho) \log L$ and $\operatorname{He}_{2p-1}(0) = 0$, $\operatorname{He}_{2p}(0) = (-1)^p \frac{(2p)!}{2^p p!}$ for $p \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, we have

$$\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{h_{\omega}^{l}}{l!} \left\| \frac{d^{l}}{d\omega^{l}} \right|_{\omega=0} \mathbb{E}[F(\varphi' + \zeta + \omega; \omega)]_{0, T_{j}(X, \varphi)}$$
(3.166)

$$\leq C_{2} 2^{|X|_{j}} G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \varphi') \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{l'=0}^{\infty} \frac{h_{\omega}^{l'+k}}{k!} \sum_{p=0}^{\lfloor \frac{l}{2} \rfloor} C_{3}^{2p} \frac{(C_{1} \log L)^{\frac{3}{2}l'-2p}}{2^{p} p! (l'-2p)!} \left(\left\lceil \frac{l'-2p}{2} \right\rceil! \right) \|\partial_{\omega}^{k} F\|_{0, T_{j}(X)}$$

after reparametrising l' = l - k, m = 2p and $C_3 = (C_1/C)^{1/2}$. This is bounded by

$$C_{2}2^{|X|_{j}}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\frac{h_{\omega}^{k}}{k!}\|\partial_{\omega}^{k}F(\cdot;\omega)\|_{0,T_{j}(X)}G_{j+1}(\overline{X},\varphi')\times\sum_{l'=0}^{\infty}\left(\cdots\right)$$
(3.167)

where

$$\sum_{l'=0}^{\infty} \left(\cdots\right) = \sum_{l'=0}^{\infty} \left((C_1 \log L)^{\frac{3}{2}} h_{\omega} \right)^{l'} \sum_{p=0}^{\lfloor \frac{l'}{2} \rfloor} C_3^p \frac{(C_1 \log L)^{-2p}}{2^p p! (l'-2p)!} \left\lceil \frac{l'-2p}{2} \right\rceil!.$$
(3.168)

But after using the trivial bound $\sum_{p=0}^{\lfloor \frac{l'}{2} \rfloor} \frac{1}{p!(l'-2p)!} \left\lceil \frac{l'-2p}{2} \right\rceil! \leqslant e$ and setting h_{ω} and L so that $\frac{1}{2}C_3(C_1 \log L)^{-2} \leqslant 1$ and $h_{\omega} \leqslant \frac{1}{2}(C_1 \log L)^{-3/2}$, we see that (3.167) is bounded by a constant that is independent of L.

Proof of Proposition 3.3.7. By Lemma 3.4.2,

$$\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}[F(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}';\boldsymbol{\omega})] = \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[e^{(\zeta,\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})}F(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\zeta;\boldsymbol{\omega})\right]}{\exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{\omega}^2(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},\Gamma_{j+1}\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})\right)} \\ = \mathbb{E}[F(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\zeta+\boldsymbol{\omega}u_{j+1};\boldsymbol{\omega})].$$
(3.169)

Hence in fact

$$\|\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}[F(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\boldsymbol{\zeta};\boldsymbol{\omega})]\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}')} = \|\mathbb{E}[F(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\boldsymbol{\zeta}+\boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{u}_{j+1};\boldsymbol{\omega})]\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}')}$$
(3.170)

Appendix 3.A Lattice Sobolev estimates

The proof of Lemma 3.3.10 heavily depends on formulas derived on lattice versions of the Sobolev inequality and the trace theorem for Sobolev spaces. We include the versions we need here. To simplify notation, from now on we fix d = 2.

Trace theorem Consider a block $B \in \{1, ..., R\}^2$ with $l_1 = \{0\} \times [1, R], l_2 = [1, R] \times \{R + 1\}, l_3 = \{R + 1\} \times [1, R], l_4 = [1, R] \times \{0\}$. Note that l_i 's are the outer boundary, which are different from ∂B , which is the inner boundary.

Lemma 3.A.1. For any $u : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}$, if $(k, \mu_k) \in \{(1, -e_1), (2, e_2), (3, e_1), (4, -e_2)\}$,

$$R^{-1}\sum_{x\in l_k} u(x)^2 \leqslant R^{-2}\sum_{x\in B} \left(u(x)^2 + R|\nabla^{\mu_k} u(x)^2| \right).$$
(3.171)

Proof. Without loss of generality, fix k = 1. Define a function $\xi : B \cup (\bigcup_{k=1}^{4} l_k) \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\xi(ae_1 + be_2) = (R - a)/R. \tag{3.172}$$

Then

$$R^{-1} \sum_{x \in l_1} u(x)^2 = R^{-1} \sum_{x \in l_1} \xi(x) u(x)^2$$

= $R^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{L^j} \nabla^{-e_1} \Big[\sum_{b=1}^{L^j} \xi(ke_1 + be_2) u(ke_1 + be_2)^2 \Big]$
= $R^{-1} \sum_{x \in B} \nabla^{-e_1}(\xi(x) u(x)^2)$
= $R^{-2} \sum_{x \in B} \Big((R \nabla^{-e_1} \xi(x)) u(x)^2 + \xi(x - e_1) R \nabla^{-e_1}(u(x)^2) \Big).$ (3.173)

But $|\xi(x)|, R|\nabla^{-e_1}\xi(x)| \leq 1$ for $x \in B$ and hence the result follows.

In particular, this lemma can be applied to the control the field on the boundary of the box by the field inside the box.

Corollary 3.A.2. *Let B be a box with outer boundary* $\cup_k l_k$ *as above and diameter* $R \ge 10$ *. Then for* $\varphi : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}$ *,*

$$R^{-1} \sum_{x \in \bigcup_k l_k} |\nabla \varphi(x)|^2 \leq 10 \Big(R^{-2} \sum_{x \in B} |\nabla \varphi(x)|^2 + \|\nabla^2 \varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(B)} \Big).$$
(3.174)

Proof. In Lemma 3.A.1, set

$$u(x)^2 = |\partial^{\mu} \varphi(x)|^2.$$
 (3.175)

Then for $v \in \hat{e} = \{\pm e_1, \pm e_2\},\$

$$R|u(x+v)^{2} - u(x)^{2}| = R|\nabla^{\mu}\varphi(x+v) + \nabla^{\mu}\varphi(x)| |\nabla^{\nu}\nabla^{\mu}\varphi(x)| \\ \leq \frac{1}{2}|\nabla^{\mu}\varphi(x+v) + \nabla^{\mu}\varphi(x)|^{2} + R^{2}||\nabla^{2}\varphi||_{L^{\infty}(B)}.$$
(3.176)

so summation over $x \in B$ gives

$$R\sum_{x\in B} |\nabla^{\nu} u(x)^{2}| \leq \sum_{x\in B\cup l_{k}} |\nabla^{\mu} \varphi(x)|^{2} + R^{4} \|\nabla^{2} \varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(B)}.$$
(3.177)

Therefore the lemma gives

$$R^{-1}\sum_{x\in l_k} |\nabla\varphi(x)|^2 \leq 2R^{-2}\sum_{x\in B\cup l_k} |\nabla\varphi(x)|^2 + R^2 \|\nabla^2\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(B)}.$$
(3.178)

If $R \ge 10$, we may send the l_k part in the sum $\sum_{x \in B \cup l_k}$ to the left-hand side to obtain

$$R^{-1}\sum_{x\in l_k} |\nabla\varphi(x)|^2 \leqslant \frac{10}{4} \Big(R^{-2}\sum_{x\in B} |\nabla\varphi(x)|^2 + \|\nabla^2\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(B)} \Big).$$
(3.179)

Sobolev inequality While the large field regulator G_j contains $\exp(\|\nabla^2 \varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(B^*)}^2)$ for $B \in \mathscr{B}_j$, we have a nice estimate of Gaussian integration only for exponentials of quadratic forms. Hence it is desirable to bound $\|\nabla^2 \varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(B^*)}^2$ in terms of $\|\nabla^a \varphi\|_{L^2(B^*)}^2$, $a \ge 2$. This follows from the following Sobolev inequality. Here, we are using the convention $\|f\|_{L^2(X)} = \sum_{x \in X} |f(x)|^2$.

Lemma 3.A.3. *For B be square of diameter R as above. There exists constant C* > 0 *uniform in R such that for all f* : { $x \in \Lambda : d_1(x, B) \leq 2$ } $\rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ *,*

$$\|f\|_{L^{\infty}(B)}^{2} \leqslant C \sum_{a=0}^{2} R^{2a-2} \|\nabla^{a} f\|_{L^{2}(B)}^{2}.$$
(3.180)

Proof. Take $x \in [1, \frac{R+1}{2}]^2 \cap B$. By symmetry, the conclusion follows if we bound $f(x)^2$ in terms of $\|\nabla^a f\|_{L^2(B)}^2$, a = 0, 1, 2. Take

$$\xi_x(x+ae_1+be_2) = \begin{cases} (1-3R^{-1}a)(1-3R^{-1}b) & \text{if } 0 \le a, b \le \frac{1}{3}R \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} .$$
(3.181)

Also let $D_x = \{x + ae_1 + be_2 : 0 \le a, b \le \frac{1}{3}R + 2\}$. Then

$$f(x)^{2} = f(x)^{2}\xi_{x}(x) = \sum_{a,b=0}^{\lfloor R/3 \rfloor} \nabla^{e_{1}} \nabla^{e_{2}} (f(x+ae_{1}+be_{2})^{2}\xi_{x}(x+ae_{1}+be_{2}))$$

$$= \sum_{a,b=0}^{\lfloor R/3 \rfloor} (\nabla^{e_{1}} \nabla^{e_{2}} f(x+ae_{1}+be_{2})^{2})\xi_{x}(x+(a+1)e_{1}+(b+1)e_{2})$$

$$+ (\nabla^{e_{1}} f(x+ae_{1}+be_{2})^{2}) (\nabla^{e_{1}}\xi_{x}(x+ae_{1}+(b+1)e_{2}))$$

$$+ (\nabla^{e_{1}} f(x+ae_{1}+be_{2})^{2}) (\nabla^{e_{2}}\xi_{x}(x+ae_{1}+(b+1)e_{2}))$$

$$+ f(x+ae_{1}+be_{2})^{2} \nabla^{e_{2}} \nabla^{e_{1}}\xi_{x}(x+ae_{1}+be_{2})). \quad (3.182)$$

Noticing that $\|\nabla_j^a \xi_x\|_{L^{\infty}(B)} \leq 3^a$ for a = 0, 1, 2,

$$f(x)^2 \leq 9 \sum_{a=0}^{2} R^{a-2} \|\nabla^a f^2\|_{L^1(D_x)}$$
(3.183)

but also the AM-GM inequality implies

$$\|\nabla^2 f^2\|_{L^1(D_x)} \leq \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla f\|_{L^2(B)}^2 + R^{-1} \|f\|_{L^2(B)}^2 + R \|\nabla^2 f\|_{L^2(B)}^2$$
(3.184)

$$\|\nabla f^2\|_{L^1(D_x)} \leq R^{-1} \|f\|_{L^2(B)} + R \|\nabla f\|_{L^2(B)}^2$$
(3.185)

which completes the inequality.

Appendix 3.B Completeness of the space of polymer activities

We prove the following proposition in this appendix.

Proposition 3.B.1. For any $\mathfrak{h} > 0$, the space $\{F \in \mathcal{N}_j(X) : \|F\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} < \infty\}$ is a Banach space.

Proof. Suppose $(F_k)_{k \ge 1}$ is a Cauchy sequence in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)}$. Without loss of generality, we will assume $\|F_k - F_{k+1}\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} \le 2^{-k}$. In particular,

$$\frac{\mathfrak{h}^{n}}{n!} \| D^{n}(F_{k} - F_{k+1})(\varphi) \|_{n, T_{j}(X, \varphi)} \leq 2^{-k} G_{j}(X, \varphi)$$
(3.186)

for each $n \ge 0$. Therefore the pointwise limit exists for $(F_k)_{k\ge 1}$, say *F*. From the completeness of the spaces $C^k(\mathbb{R}^{X^*})$, it is also clear that *F* is smooth. In fact, if we define another normed space

$$\mathcal{N}_{j}' = \{ K \text{ polymer activity } : \| K \|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j}(X)}' < \infty \},$$
(3.187)

$$\|K\|'_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X)} = \sup_{\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{X^{*}}} G_{j}(X,\varphi)^{-1} \left(\sup_{n \ge 0} \frac{\mathfrak{h}^{n}}{n!} \|D^{n}K(\varphi)\|_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \right)$$
(3.188)

then the pointwise limit satisfies $F \in \mathcal{N}'_j$. Now suppose $||F||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} = +\infty$. Then for each M > 0, there exists $\varphi_M \in \mathbb{R}^{X^*}$ and $N_M \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_M} \frac{\mathfrak{h}^n}{n!} \| D^n F(\varphi_M) \|_{n, T_j(X, \varphi_M)} \ge M G_j(X, \varphi_M).$$
(3.189)

But $\sum_{n=0}^{N_M} \frac{\mathfrak{h}^n}{n!} \|D^n(F_k - F_{k+1})(\varphi_M)\|_{n,T_j(X,\varphi_M)} \leq 2^{-k}G_j(X,\varphi_M)$ for each k so if we set $M > 1 + \|F_1\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)}$, this gives a contradiction. This proves $\|F\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} < \infty$.

Finally, we have to prove $F_k \to F$ as $k \to \infty$ in the $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)}$ norm. To see this, let $\overline{F}_k = F_k - F$, and notice that $(\overline{F}_k)_k$ is still Cauchy in the $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)}$ norm. Suppose \overline{F}_k does not converge to 0 as $k \to \infty$. By scaling and taking a subsequence if necessary, this means there is $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{X^*}$ such that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathfrak{h}^n}{n!} \| D^n \overline{F}_k(\varphi_k) \|_{n, T_j(X, \varphi_k)} \ge G_j(X, \varphi_k).$$
(3.190)

But also since $\|D^n \overline{F}_k(\varphi, k)\|_{n, T_j(X, \varphi)} \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$, up to a subsequence, there exist sequences $(N_k)_{k \ge 0}$, $(M_k)_{k \ge 0}$ such that $N_k < M_k < N_{k+1}$ and

$$\sum_{n=N_k}^{M_k} \frac{\mathfrak{h}^n}{n!} \| D^n \overline{F}_k(\varphi_k) \|_{n, T_j(X, \varphi_k)} \ge \frac{2}{3} G_j(X, \varphi_k)$$
(3.191)

$$\sum_{n\in\mathbb{N}\setminus[N_k,M_k]}\frac{\mathfrak{h}^n}{n!}\|D^n\overline{F}_k(\varphi)\|_{n,T_j(X,\varphi)}\leqslant \frac{1}{3}G_j(X,\varphi) \quad \text{for all } \varphi\in\mathbb{R}^{X^*}.$$
(3.192)

But this implies $\|(\overline{F}_k - \overline{F}_{k+1})(\varphi_{k+1})\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_j(X, \varphi_{k+1})} \ge \frac{1}{3}G_j(X, \varphi_{k+1})$ which contradicts that \overline{F}_k is a Cauchy sequence. Therefore $F_k \to F$ as $k \to \infty$.

Chapter 4

Polymer expansions

This chapter has two purposes. First, we discuss how the expansion (3.28)

$$Z_{j}^{0}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}|\boldsymbol{\Lambda}) = e^{-E_{j}|\boldsymbol{\Lambda}|} \sum_{\boldsymbol{X}\in\mathscr{P}_{j}(\boldsymbol{\Lambda})} e^{U_{j}(\boldsymbol{\Lambda}\setminus\boldsymbol{X},\boldsymbol{\varphi})} K_{j}^{0}(\boldsymbol{X},\boldsymbol{\varphi}),$$
(4.1)

can be propagated under the recursive fluctuation integrals $\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}}$ in (3.27). Due to the flexibility of the polymer expansion, we will see that it is not difficult to devise operations on polymer expansion to find triple $(E_{j+1}, U_{j+1}, K_{j+1}^0)$ satisfying the definition. However, the difficult part is to obtain E_{j+1} and U_{j+1} that approximate $\log Z_j^0$ relatively well and the remainder K_j^0 is suppressed small. This point is related to the second purpose of this chapter. By identifying the first-order terms of the reblocking operation and proving bounds on the higher-order terms, we reduce the problem of determining (E_{j+1}, U_{j+1}) to a problem of solving a linear equation, although the actual choice of (E_{j+1}, U_{j+1}) will be deferred to Chapter 6. This chapter has applicability in general renormalisation group analysis, as it does not require a specific form of the field theory. This is in contrast with what comes in the following chapters, where we rely on the symmetries of the polymer activities.

We outline the organisation of this chapter. In Section 4.1, we introduce a number of different ways to re-expand the polymer expansion after the fluctuation integral, exploiting the high degree of freedom of the polymer activities. In Section 4.2, we explain a clever expansion technique that cancels unwanted contributions from the artificial grid structure we have implemented. The polymer activity K_{j+1}^0 obtained from this operation exhibits a simple linear approximation, which is used to determine (E_{j+1}, U_{j+1}) later. In Section 4.3, we insert external fields \tilde{f} and v inside the polymer expansions. These external fields are required to bring the mesoscopic and the macroscopic observable of Theorem 1.1.3 and Theorem 1.1.5 into the picture. Combining with polymer operation techniques in Section 4.1, we see that this only adds a slight amount of complexity to the polymer expansions. In Section 4.4, we

prove that the non-linear term of K_{j+1} is differentiable in its arguments and the derivative vanishes at 0. Thus the problem of how to keep K_j suppressed small reduces to the problem of how to control the linear approximation K_j .

4.1 Polymer operations

We start the discussion with basic operations on polymer activities. The ideas of this section is based on the principles developed in [23, Section 5].

4.1.1 Polymer powers

We introduce convenient notations

$$(F \circ_j G)(X) = \sum_{Y \in \mathscr{P}_j(X)} F(X \setminus Y) G(Y), \qquad (F \otimes_j G)(X) = \sum_{Y \in \mathscr{P}_j(X)}^{Y \not\sim X \setminus Y} F(X \setminus Y) G(Y), \quad (4.2)$$

for any $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$ and scale *j* polymer functions *F*, *G*. Then (3.28) is equivalent to

$$Z_j^0(\cdot|\Lambda) = e^{-E_j|\Lambda|} (e^{U_j} \circ_j K_j^0)(\Lambda, \cdot).$$
(4.3)

Each \circ_j and \otimes_j is a commuting binary operator. These expansions have natural connections with our polymer functions of interest, in view of the next lemma.

Lemma 4.1.1. Let F_1, F_2 be multiplicative polymer functions and G_1, G_2 be polymer activities at scale *j*, *i.e.*, $F_{\alpha}(X) = F_{\alpha}^X$ and $G_{\alpha}(X) = G_{\alpha}^{\otimes X}$ for $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$ and $\alpha = 1, 2$. Then

$$(F_1 + F_2)^X = (F_1 \circ_j F_2)(X), \qquad (G_1 + G_2)^{\otimes X} = (G_1 \otimes_j G_2)(X). \tag{4.4}$$

Proof. Recall that the polymer powers F^X and $F^{\otimes X}$ are defined by (3.30). The proof is direct from the definitions.

4.1.2 Reblocking the perturbed field

We will encounter polymer expansions with two different types of field perturbation. The first type is perturbing the whole field, so we consider

$$F^{(1)}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = (e^{U_j} \circ_j K_j)(\boldsymbol{\Lambda}, \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \boldsymbol{\omega} \boldsymbol{u})$$
(4.5)
and the second type is perturbing only the field in U_i , so we consider

$$F^{(2)}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = (e^{U_j(\cdot + \boldsymbol{\omega} \boldsymbol{u})} \circ_j K_j)(\boldsymbol{\Lambda}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}), \tag{4.6}$$

cf. the shift of variable of Lemma 3.4.2. It is not difficult to put them in the standard form (4.3) using the polymer powers.

Definition 4.1.2. *Given* $u \in \mathbb{C}^{\Lambda}$ *and* (U_i, K_i) *be functions of* (X, φ) *. Define*

$$\mathscr{R}_{j}^{(1)}[u,U_{j},K_{j}](X) = \left(\left(e^{U_{j}(\cdot+u)} - e^{U_{j}}\right)\circ_{j}K_{j}(\cdot+u)\right)(X)$$

$$(4.7)$$

$$\mathscr{R}_{j}^{(2)}[u, U_{j}, K_{j}](X) = \left(\left(e^{U_{j}(\cdot + u)} - e^{U_{j}} \right) \circ_{j} K_{j} \right)(X).$$
(4.8)

Lemma 4.1.3. Suppose U_j and K_j satisfy $e^{U_j(X)} = (e^{U_j})^X$ and $K_j(X) = K_j^{\otimes X}$, respectively. *Then*

$$F^{(\alpha)}(\varphi) = \left(e^{U_j} \circ_j \mathscr{R}_j^{(\alpha)}[\omega u, U_j, K_j]\right)(\Lambda, \varphi)$$
(4.9)

for both $\alpha = 1, 2$.

If we assume in addition that U_j has form (3.50) and K_j is a polymer activity, and fi u is supported on some $Y_u \in \mathscr{P}_j$, then $\mathscr{R}_j^{(2)}[u, U_j, K_j](X) = K_j(X)$ whenever $X \cap Y_u = \emptyset$ and $\mathscr{R}_j^{(1)}[u, U_j, K_j](X) = K_j(X)$ whenever $X \cap (Y_u)^* = \emptyset$ (where we recall that $(\cdot)^*$ is the small set neighbourhood).

Proof. For brevity, denote $U_j(X, \varphi + \omega u) = U'_j(X, \varphi)$, $K_j(X, \varphi + \omega u) = K'_j(X, \varphi)$ and drop φ . Then

$$F^{(1)} = (e^{U'_{j}} \circ K'_{j})(\Lambda) = ((e^{U_{j}} + e^{U'_{j}} - e^{U_{j}}) \circ_{j} K'_{j}))(\Lambda)$$
$$= (e^{U'_{j}} \circ_{j} ((e^{U'_{j}} - e^{U_{j}}) \circ_{j} K'_{j}))(\Lambda)$$
(4.10)

where we used Lemma 4.1.1 in the second line. This gives (4.9) for $\alpha = 1$. The proof is the same for $\alpha = 2$, just replacing K'_i by K_j .

To see the second point, just observe that $U_j(X, \varphi) = U_j(X, \varphi + u)$ if $X \cap Y_u = \emptyset$ and $K_j(Z, \varphi) = K_j(Z, \varphi + u)$ if $Z \cap Y_u^* = \emptyset$ (see Definition 3.2.1 for the definition of polymer activity).

The following lemma also suggests that the estimates on these operations are wellbehaved. **Lemma 4.1.4.** Suppose $\beta \ge 8\mathfrak{h}^2 c_f^{-2}$, $2h_{\omega} ||u||_{C_j^2} \le \mathfrak{h}$, U_j is given in form (3.50) and $K_j \in \mathcal{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}$. Denoting $\vec{\mathfrak{h}} = (\mathfrak{h}, h_{\omega})$, there exists $\varepsilon_r \equiv \varepsilon_r(\beta, L) > 0$ such that whenever $\max\{||U_j||_{\Omega_j^U}, ||K_j||_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_j, A}\} \le \varepsilon_r$ and $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$,

$$\left\|\mathscr{R}_{j}^{(1)}[\omega u, U_{j}, K_{j}]\right\|_{(\mathfrak{h}/2, h_{\omega}), T_{j}, \frac{1}{2}A} \leqslant C \max\left\{\|U_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}}, \|K_{j}\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_{j}, A}\right\},$$
(4.11)

$$\left\|\mathscr{R}_{j}^{(2)}[\boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{U}_{j},\boldsymbol{K}_{j}]\right\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j},\frac{1}{2}A} \leqslant C \max\left\{\|\boldsymbol{U}_{j}\|_{\boldsymbol{\Omega}_{j}^{U}},\|\boldsymbol{K}_{j}\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j},A}\right\}$$
(4.12)

for some absolute constant C (that does not depend on any other parameters).

Proof. For brevity, denote $\mathscr{R}^{(\alpha)} = \mathscr{R}^{(\alpha)}_j [\omega u, U_j, K_j]$ for $\alpha = 1, 2$. By Lemma 3.4.4 and Lemma 3.2.8 with the assumption $\mathfrak{h} + h_{\omega} ||u||_{C_i^2} < 2\mathfrak{h}$, one may write

$$\begin{aligned} \|U_{j}(B,\varphi+\omega u)-U_{j}(B,\varphi)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(B,\varphi)} &\leq 2\|U_{j}(B,\varphi)\|_{\mathfrak{h}+h_{\omega}\|u\|,T_{j}(B,\varphi)} \\ &\leq CA^{-1}\|U_{j}\|_{\Omega_{i}^{U}}(\mathfrak{h}^{2}+w_{j}(B,\varphi)^{2}). \end{aligned}$$
(4.13)

Then by (3.64), for $||U_j||_{\Omega_j^U} \le \min\{1, \beta^{-1}\},\$

$$\begin{aligned} \|e^{U_{j}(B,\varphi+\omega u)} - e^{U_{j}(B,\varphi)}\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(B,\varphi)} &\leqslant \|e^{U_{j}(B,\varphi)}\|_{\vec{h},T_{j}(B,\varphi)}\|e^{U_{j}(B,\varphi+\omega u) - U_{j}(B,\varphi)} - 1\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(B,\varphi)} \\ &\leqslant CA^{-1}\|U_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}}e^{CA^{-1}\|U_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}}w_{j}(B,\varphi)^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.14)$$

Hence, if $x := \max\{\|U_j\|_{\Omega_j^U}, \|K_j\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_j, A}\}$ is sufficiently smaller than $\min\{1, \beta^{-1}, c_w \kappa\}$, then by (3.64) and Lemma 3.3.4,

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left(e^{U_j(\cdot, \varphi + \omega u)} - e^{U_j(\cdot, \varphi)} \right)^{X \setminus Y} K_j(Y, \varphi) \right\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_j(X, \varphi)} \\ &\leq A^{-|X|_j} (Cx)^{|X \setminus Y|_j} e^{c_w \kappa_{W_j} (X \setminus Y, \varphi)^2} x^{|\operatorname{Comp}_j(Y)|} G_j(Y, \varphi) \\ &\leq A^{-|X|_j} (Cx)^{|X \setminus Y|_j} x^{|\operatorname{Comp}_j(Y)|} G_j(X, \varphi) \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.15)$$

for $X, Y \in \mathscr{P}_j, Y \subset X$. By the definition of $\mathscr{R}^{(2)}$, now with *x* sufficiently smaller than *A*,

$$\|\mathscr{R}^{(2)}(X)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X)} \leqslant A^{-|X|_{j}} \sum_{Y \in \mathscr{P}_{j}(X)} (Cx)^{|X \setminus Y|_{j}} x^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|} \leqslant C(A/2)^{-|X|_{j}} x,$$
(4.16)

which is exactly (4.11).

For the bound on $\mathscr{R}^{(1)}$, we just have to replace the norm on K_j using Lemma 3.4.4 with the assumption $\frac{\mathfrak{h}}{2} + h_{\omega} ||u|| < \mathfrak{h}$,

$$\|K_j(Y,\varphi+\omega u)\|_{(\mathfrak{h}/2,h_{\omega}),T_j(Y,\varphi)} \leqslant \|K_j(Y,\varphi)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(X,\varphi)}.$$
(4.17)

Thus we obtain (4.12).

4.1.3 **Reblocking to next scale**

Changing the scale of the polymer expansion is based on the *coarse-graining-reblocking* operations defined as

$$\overline{K}_{j}^{0}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}(X)}^{\overline{Y}=X} e^{U_{j}(X\setminus Y,\boldsymbol{\varphi})} K_{j}^{0}(Y,\boldsymbol{\varphi}), \qquad X\in\mathscr{P}_{j+1}.$$
(4.18)

Then it is basic to check that

$$Z_j^0(\cdot|\Lambda) = e^{-E_j|\Lambda|} (e^{U_j} \circ_j K_j^0)(\Lambda, \cdot) = e^{-E_j|\Lambda|} (e^{U_j} \circ_{j+1} \overline{K}_j^0)(\Lambda, \cdot).$$
(4.19)

The linearised coarse-graining-reblocking is also of importance, defined as

$$\mathbb{S}K_{j}^{0}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}(X)}^{\overline{Y}=X} K_{j}^{0}(Y,\boldsymbol{\varphi}), \qquad X\in\mathscr{P}_{j+1}^{c}.$$
(4.20)

As the name indicates, S is a linear operator mapping a *j*-scale polymer activity to a j + 1-scale polymer activity. We see from the following proposition that only a limited number of terms actually contribute in SK_j^0 , since the norm of the polymer activities supported on large sets contract upon S.

Proposition 4.1.5. There exists a geometric constant $\eta > 0$ such that the following holds when $L \ge 2^d + 1 = 5$. For $h_{\omega} \le (C \log L)^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ for sufficiently large C, $A^{\frac{\eta}{2}} \ge 2^{\frac{2+\eta}{2}} eL^3$, $X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}^c$, and any scale-j polymer activity F with $\|F\|_{h,T_j} < \infty$,

$$\|\mathbb{S}(\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}[F1_{Y\notin\mathscr{S}_{j}}])(X)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X)} \leqslant (L^{-1}A^{-1})^{|X|_{j+1}}\|F\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}}.$$
(4.21)

The factor L^{-1} will compensate the loss of the factor of 2 in the A/2 factor in Lemma 3.3.6. The proof is a consequence of the following combinatorial lemma.

Lemma 4.1.6 (Lemmas 6.14–15 of [23]). There exists a geometric constant $\eta > 0$ such that the following holds when $L \ge 2^d + 1 = 5$. For every $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$,

$$(1+\eta)|\overline{X}|_{j+1} \leq |X|_j + 8(1+\eta)|\operatorname{Comp}_j(X)|.$$
(4.22)

Moreover, if X is connected but not a small set, then

$$(1+\eta)|\overline{X}|_{j+1} \leqslant |X|_j. \tag{4.23}$$

Proof of Proposition 4.1.5. By (4.23), we have $|Y|_j \ge (1+\eta)|X|_{j+1}$ if $\overline{Y} = X$ and $Y \in \mathscr{P}_i^c \setminus \mathscr{S}_j$, so applying successively (4.20), (3.44)-(3.63) and Proposition 3.3.7, one obtains

$$\|\mathbb{SE}_{(\omega)}[F1_{Y\notin\mathscr{S}_{j}}](X,\varphi')\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi')} \leq C \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}\backslash\mathscr{S}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} (A/2)^{-|Y|_{j}}G_{j+1}(X,\varphi')\|F\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}} \leq C \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}\backslash\mathscr{S}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} (A/2)^{-|Y|_{j}/2} (A/2)^{-(1+\eta)|X|_{j+1}/2} G_{j+1}(X,\varphi')\|F\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}}.$$
(4.24)

Next, observe that for any z > 0, decomposing a polymer $Y \in \mathscr{P}_j$ with $\overline{Y} = X$ over (j + 1)-blocks constituting *X*, one can rewrite

$$\sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} z^{|Y|_{j}} = \prod_{B\in\mathscr{B}_{j+1}(X)} \sum_{Y'\in\mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y'}=B} z^{|Y'|_{j}} = \left((1+z)^{L^{2}}-1\right)^{|X|_{j+1}}.$$
(4.25)

Returning to (4.24), using (4.25) with the choice $z = (A/2)^{-1/2}$, one obtains that the quantity $\|\mathbb{SE}[F1_{Y\notin\mathscr{S}_i}](X,\varphi')\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{i+1}(X,\varphi')}$ is bounded by

$$(A/2)^{-\frac{1+\eta}{2}|X|_{j+1}} \left((1+(A/2)^{-\frac{1}{2}})^{L^2} - 1 \right)^{|X|_{j+1}} G_{j+1}(X,\varphi') \|F\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j} \\ \leqslant (A/2)^{-\frac{1+\eta}{2}|X|_{j+1}} \left(e(A/2)^{-\frac{1}{2}}L^2 \right)^{|X|_{j+1}} G_{j+1}(X,\varphi') \|F\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j}$$
(4.26)

under the assumption $\sqrt{2}A^{-\frac{1}{2}}L^2 \leq 1$ where we use $(1+b)^c - 1 \leq \exp(bc) - 1 \leq ebc$ for any $b, c \geq 0, bc \leq 1$ to obtain the last inequality. If we assume further that *A* is large enough so that $e(A/2)^{-(2+\eta)/2}L^2 \leq L^{-1}A^{-1}$, then this is bounded by

$$(e(A/2)^{-\frac{2+\eta}{2}}L^2)^{|X|_{j+1}}G_{j+1}(X,\varphi')\|F\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j} \leq (L^{-1}A^{-1})^{|X|_{j+1}}G_{j+1}(X,\varphi')\|F\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j}, \quad (4.27)$$

giving the desired bound.

We also have the following lemma which is of a slightly different flavour, but has its use in various places related to large sets.

Lemma 4.1.7. Let $X \in \mathcal{P}_{j+1}$, $0 \leq x \leq \varepsilon_{rb} = A^{-16}$, η be as in Lemma 4.1.6 and $L^2 A^{-\eta/(1+\eta)} \leq 1$. Then

$$\sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} 1_{Y\notin\mathscr{S}_{j}} 1_{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|=1} x A^{-|Y|_{j}} \leqslant (eL^{2}A^{-(1+2\eta)/(1+\eta)})^{|X|_{j+1}} x$$
(4.28)

and

$$\sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} 1_{Y\notin\mathscr{S}_{j}} 1_{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)| \ge 2} x^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|} A^{-|Y|_{j}} \leqslant A^{16} (eL^{2}A^{-(1+2\eta)/(1+\eta)})^{|X|_{j+1}} x^{2}.$$
(4.29)

Proof. For the first estimate, for $x \leq 1$, (4.23) implies $|Y|_j = \frac{1}{1+\eta}|Y|_j + \frac{\eta}{1+\eta}|Y|_j \ge |X|_{j+1} + \frac{\eta}{1+\eta}|Y|_j$ so that

$$\sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}}^{\overline{Y}=X} 1_{Y\notin\mathscr{S}_{j}} x^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|} A^{-|Y|_{j}} \leqslant A^{-|X|_{j+1}} \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}}^{\overline{Y}=X} A^{-\frac{\eta}{1+\eta}|Y|_{j}} x$$
(4.30)

and we get the desired bound after applying (4.25).

For the second estimate, observe that (4.22) implies $|Y|_j = \frac{1}{1+\eta}|Y|_j + \frac{\eta}{1+\eta}|Y|_j \ge |X|_{j+1} - 8|\operatorname{Comp}_j(Y)| + \frac{\eta}{1+\eta}|Y|_j$ so that

$$\sum_{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)| \ge 2}^{\overline{Y}=X} x^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|} A^{-|Y|_{j}} \leq \sum_{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)| \ge 2}^{\overline{Y}=X} A^{-\frac{\eta}{1+\eta}|Y|_{j}} A^{-|X|_{j+1}+8|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|} x^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|} \leq A^{16} A^{-|X|_{j+1}} \sum_{Y \in \mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} A^{-\frac{\eta}{1+\eta}|Y|_{j}} x^{2}.$$

$$(4.31)$$

where the final line follows under the assumption $x \leq \varepsilon_{rb} = A^{-16}$. Now (4.25) implies

$$A^{-|X|_{j+1}} \sum_{Y \in \mathscr{P}_j}^{\overline{Y}=X} A^{-\frac{\eta}{1+\eta}|Y|_j} = A^{-|X|_{j+1}} \Big[(1+A^{-\eta/(1+\eta)})^{L^2} - 1 \Big]^{|X|_{j+1}} \\ \leqslant A^{-|X|_{j+1}} \Big(e^{A^{-\eta/(1+\eta)}L^2} - 1 \Big)^{|X|_{j+1}},$$
(4.32)

If *A* is chosen so that $A^{-\eta/(1+\eta)}L^2 \leq 1$, then this can be bounded by

$$(eL^2A^{-(2+\eta)/(1+\eta)})^{|X|_{j+1}}, (4.33)$$

completing the proof of the second estimate.

4.2 **Reexpansion in the succeeding scale**

In this section, we assume Z_j^0 of form (4.1) and we have good candidates for $E_{j+1} - E_j$ and U_{j+1} , the leading terms for the expansion in scale j + 1. To emphasize that they will eventually given as functions of (U_j, K_j^0) , we denote them \mathscr{E}_{j+1} and \mathscr{U}_{j+1} . Then we may now expand Z_{j+1}^0 in terms of polymer activities in scale j + 1 and in form (4.1). Note that this section is a modification of [23, Section 5], with the small difference that the order of expectation and reblocking is reversed, following the set-up of [35], and the operations are purely algebraic. The justification of convergence of expectation \mathbb{E} and estimates are subjects of Section 4.4 and later chapters.

Recall that the change of scale of the expansion was already presented in (4.18)–(4.19) using the coarse-graining-reblocking. So we are left to find a way to integrate the fluctuation integral \mathbb{E} with the polymer expansion. The first step is to replace U_i by U_{i+1} using

$$\overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}^0(X, \varphi) := -\mathscr{E}_{j+1}|X| + \mathscr{U}_{j+1}(X, \varphi)$$
(4.34)

and Lemma 4.1.1:

$$e^{\theta_{\zeta}U_{j}(X)} = (e^{\theta_{\zeta}U_{j}} - e^{\overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}^{0}} + e^{\overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}^{0}})^{X} = \left((e^{\theta_{\zeta}U_{j}} - e^{\overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}^{0}}) \circ_{j+1} e^{\overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}^{0}}\right)(X)$$
(4.35)

for $X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}$, where we recall the notation $\theta_{\zeta} F(X, \varphi') = F(X, \varphi' + \zeta)$. Thus by (3.27) and (4.19),

$$Z_{j+1}^{0}(\cdot|\Lambda) = e^{-E_{j}|\Lambda|} \mathbb{E}^{\zeta} \left[e^{\theta_{\zeta}U_{j}} \circ_{j+1} \theta_{\zeta} \overline{K}_{j}^{0} \right](\Lambda)$$

$$= e^{-E_{j}|\Lambda|} \left(e^{\overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}^{0}} \circ_{j+1} \mathbb{E}^{\zeta} \left[(e^{\theta_{\zeta}U_{j}} - e^{\overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}^{0}}) \circ_{j+1} \theta_{\zeta} \overline{K}_{j}^{0} \right] \right)(\Lambda).$$
(4.36)

where we have inserted (4.35) for the second inequality. Naively, this should complete the reexpansion if $\overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}^0$ is chosen correctly, but we will further manipulate this expansion to obtain a linear approximation of the polymer activity at scale j+1 more suitable for the analysis.

4.2.1 Redistribution of local terms

An additional expansion step can be performed in order to replace \overline{K}_j with a polymer activity with delicate cancellations. Suppose we are given a polymer function $Q_j^0: \mathscr{B}_j \times \mathscr{S}_j \times \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda} \to \mathbb{R}$ that $\sum_{B \in \mathscr{B}_j} Q_j^0(B, X, \varphi')$ approximates $\mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta} K_j(X, \varphi')$. Such functions are called *localisations*. The localisation depends on the model of interest, and for the DG model, we define it in Section 5.2 which are used to define Q_j^0 in (6.63), but the choice of Q_j can be arbitrary at this point. We also define *redistribution operators* on the localisation by

$$\mathscr{D}Q_{j}^{0}(B,X) = \mathbb{1}_{X \in \mathscr{S}_{j}} \mathbb{1}_{B \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}(X)} \sum_{D \in \mathscr{B}_{j}(B)} \sum_{Y \in \mathscr{S}_{j}}^{D \in \mathscr{B}_{j}(Y)} Q_{j}^{0}(D,Y) (\mathbb{1}_{\overline{Y}=X} - \mathbb{1}_{B=X})$$
(4.37)

$$\overline{\mathscr{D}}\mathcal{Q}_{j}^{0}(X) = \sum_{B \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}(X)} \mathscr{D}\mathcal{Q}_{j}^{0}(B,X).$$
(4.38)

Restrictions $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$ and $B \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}(X)$ on $\mathscr{D}Q_j^0(B,X)$ are redundant, but we have included them for clarity. The role of $\mathscr{D}Q_j^0$ is to reorder the summation. If X was given, the sum with $1_{\overline{Y}=X}$ asks to first seek $Y \in \mathscr{S}_j$ such that $\overline{Y} = X$ and then sum over $D \in \mathscr{P}_j(B \cap Y)$, but the sum with $1_{B=X}$ asks to first find $D \in \mathscr{B}_j(B)$ and sum over $Y \in \mathscr{S}_j$ such that $D \in \mathscr{B}_j(Y)$. See Remark 4.2.3 to see the advantage of these operations.

Then we use Lemma 4.1.1 to obtain

$$\theta_{\zeta}\overline{K}_{j}^{0}(X) = \left(\left(\theta_{\zeta}\overline{K}_{j}^{0} - \overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_{j}^{0}\right) \otimes_{j+1}\overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_{j}^{0}\right)(X)$$

$$(4.39)$$

and (4.36) becomes

$$Z_{j+1}^{0}(\cdot|\Lambda) = e^{-E_{j}|\Lambda|} \left(e^{\overline{\mathscr{W}}_{j+1}^{0}} \circ_{j+1} \mathbb{E}^{\zeta} \left[(e^{\theta_{\zeta}U_{j}} - e^{\overline{\mathscr{W}}_{j+1}^{0}}) \circ_{j+1} \left((\theta_{\zeta}\overline{K}_{j} - \overline{\mathscr{D}}K_{j}^{0}) \otimes_{j+1} \overline{\mathscr{D}}K_{j}^{0} \right) \right] \right) (\Lambda)$$

$$= e^{-E_{j}|\Lambda|} \sum_{X', X_{0}, X_{1}, Z \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}} e^{\overline{\mathscr{W}}_{j+1}^{0}(X')} \mathbb{E}^{\zeta} \left[(e^{\theta_{\zeta}U_{j}} - e^{\overline{\mathscr{W}}_{j+1}^{0}})^{X_{0}} (\theta_{\zeta}\overline{K}_{j}^{0} - \overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_{j}^{0})^{[X_{1}]} \right]$$

$$\times \prod_{Z' \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Z)} \sum_{B_{Z'} \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}(Z')} \mathscr{D}Q_{j}^{0}(B_{Z'}, Z')$$
(4.40)

where $X', X_0, X_1, Z \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}$ are disjoint, $X' \cup X_0 \cup X_1 \cup Z = \Lambda$ and $X_1 \not\sim Z$. We let $X = X_0 \cup X_1 \cup (\bigcup_{Z' \in \text{Comp}_{j+1}(Z)} B_{Z'}^*)$ and let \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^0 be what is present on X:

$$\mathscr{K}_{j+1}^{0}(U_{j},K_{j};X) := \sum_{X_{0},X_{1},Z,(B_{Z'})}^{*} e^{-\overline{\mathscr{W}}_{j+1}^{0}(T) + \mathscr{U}_{j+1}(X)} \times \mathbb{E}^{\zeta} \left[(e^{\theta_{\zeta}U_{j}} - e^{\overline{\mathscr{W}}_{j+1}^{0}})^{X_{0}} (\theta_{\zeta}\overline{K}_{j}^{0} - \overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_{j}^{0})^{[X_{1}]} \right] \prod_{Z' \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Z)} \mathscr{D}Q_{j}^{0}(B_{Z'},Z')$$
(4.41)

where the sum $\sum_{X_0,X_1,Z,(B'_Z)}^*$ indicates $T = X_0 \cup X_1 \cup Z$, $X_1 \not\sim Z$ and $B_{Z'} \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}(Z')$ for each $Z' \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Z)$. Then it is natural to see that

$$Z_{j+1}^{0}(\cdot|\Lambda) = e^{-E_{j+1}|\Lambda|} \left(e^{U_{j+1}} \circ_{j+1} \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^{0} \right) (\Lambda).$$
(4.42)

It will be useful to summarise these results as the following.

Definition 4.2.1. *Given* $U_j, K_j, U_+, \overline{U}_+$ *and* Q*, define*

$$\mathbb{K}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j, U_+, \overline{U}_+, Q; X) := \sum_{X_0, X_1, Z, (B_{Z'})}^* e^{-\overline{U}_+(T) + U_+(X)} \times \mathbb{E}\Big[(e^{\theta_{\zeta} U_j} - e^{\overline{U}_+})^{X_0} (\theta_{\zeta} \overline{K}_j - \overline{\mathscr{D}} Q)^{[X_1]} \Big] \prod_{Z' \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Z)} \mathscr{D} Q(B_{Z'}, Z')$$
(4.43)

for $X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}^c$, where the sum $\sum_{X_0, X_1, Z, (B'_Z)}^*$ indicates $X_0, X_1, Z \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}, (B_{Z'})$ is a collection such that $Z' \in \text{Comp}_{j+1}(Z)$ and $B_{Z'} \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}(Z')$, $T = X_0 \cup X_1 \cup Z, X_1 \not\sim Z$.

Proposition 4.2.2. For any choice of U_+ , \overline{U}_+ and Q such that $(\overline{U}_+ - U_+)(X)$ is scalar-valued (i.e., independent of the field φ), let

$$K_{j+1} = \mathbb{K}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j, U_+, \overline{U}_+, Q; X).$$
(4.44)

Then it satisfies

$$\mathbb{E}^{\zeta}[\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\zeta}(e^{U_{j}}\circ_{j}K_{j})(\Lambda)] = e^{(\overline{U}_{+}-U_{+})(\Lambda)}(e^{U_{+}}\circ_{j+1}K_{j+1})(\Lambda), \qquad (4.45)$$

if the convergence of the expectation \mathbb{E} *is guaranteed.*

4.2.2 Linear expansion of \mathscr{K}_{i+1}^0

At the first sight, it is not so clear what is the purpose of the redistribution operator. This point will get clear once we restrict ourselves to the linear order. The first order analysis does

not only help the conceptual understanding of the map \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^{0} , but it will also be a crucial component of our analysis.

The first order terms of \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^0 can be identified by the following steps on (4.41). (1) Only consider $X_0, X_1, Z, (B_{Z'})$ in the sum Σ^* such that

$$#(X_0, X_1, Z) := |X_0|_j + |\operatorname{Comp}_j(X_1)| + |\operatorname{Comp}_j(Z)| = 1.$$
(4.46)

(2) Replace $e^{\mathscr{E}_{j+1}|T|+\mathscr{U}_{j+1}(X\setminus T)}$ by 1. (3) Replace $e^{\theta_{\zeta}U_{j}} - e^{\overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}}$ by $\theta_{\zeta}U_{j} - \overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}$. (4) Replace \overline{K}_{j}^{0} by $\mathbb{S}K_{j}^{0}(X)$. These will leave us with the linearised version of \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^{0} as follows: for $X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}^{c}$,

$$\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0}(U_{j},K_{j}^{0};X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}') := \sum_{Y:\overline{Y}=X} \left(1_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}} \mathbb{E}^{\zeta} \boldsymbol{\theta}_{\zeta} K_{j}^{0}(Y,\boldsymbol{\varphi}') - 1_{Y\in\mathscr{I}_{j}} \sum_{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}(Y)} \mathcal{Q}_{j}^{0}(D,Y,\boldsymbol{\varphi}') \right) + \sum_{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}}^{\overline{D}=X} \left(\mathbb{E}^{\zeta} [\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\zeta} U_{j}(D,\boldsymbol{\varphi}')] + \mathscr{E}_{j+1} |D| - \mathscr{U}_{j+1}(D,\boldsymbol{\varphi}') + \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{I}_{j}}^{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}(Y)} \mathcal{Q}_{j}^{0}(D,Y,\boldsymbol{\varphi}') \right).$$

$$(4.47)$$

In more detail, the terms in the first line above and the Q_j^0 -terms in the second line come from $X = T = X_1$ (replacing $e^{U_j(X \setminus Y)}$ by 1 in \overline{K}_j , which corresponds to replacing \overline{K}_j by $\mathbb{S}K_j$, and keeping only connected polymers Y), the remaining terms in the second line are due to $X = T = X_0$ (and linearising the exponentials), and finally the terms with T = Z(and thus $X = B_Z^*$) actually vanish by the construction of $\overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_j^0$ (after the replacement of the exponential outside the expectation, i.e., in the first line of (4.41), by 1). Indeed, to see that the contribution from $X = B_Z^*$ cancels, note that for any $B \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}$,

$$\sum_{Z\in\mathscr{S}_{j+1}}^{B\in\mathscr{B}_{j+1}(Z)} \overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_{j}^{0}(B,Z) = \sum_{Z\in\mathscr{S}_{j+1}}^{B\in\mathscr{B}_{j+1}(Z)} \sum_{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}(B)}^{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}(Y)} \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{S}_{j}}^{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}(Y)} Q_{j}(D,Y) (1_{\overline{Y}=Z} - 1_{B=Z})$$
$$= \sum_{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}(B)}^{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}(Y)} \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{S}_{j}}^{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}(Y)} Q_{j}(D,Y) \sum_{Z\in\mathscr{S}_{j+1}}^{B\in\mathscr{B}_{j+1}(Z)} (1_{\overline{Y}=Z} - 1_{B=Z}) = 0.$$
(4.48)

Now, in light of Proposition 4.1.5, we see that the very first term of (4.47) has meaningful contribution only when $Y \in \mathscr{S}_j$. We thus see that it is enough to choose Q_j^0 that cancels $\mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta}K_j$ on small sets.

We may also define for $X \in \mathscr{P}_{i+1}^c$

$$\mathscr{M}_{j+1}^{0}(U_j, K_j) = \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^{0}(U_j, K_j) - \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0}(U_j, K_j),$$
(4.49)

the remaining part of \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^0 . We will later see in Lemma 4.4.2 that \mathscr{M}_{j+1}^0 is of order ≥ 2 .

Remark 4.2.3. As mentioned, the redistribution operator was introduced in order to facilitate the first order analysis. Suppose we have not introduced Q_i and rather have defined

$$K'_{j+1}(X) = e^{\mathscr{E}_{j+1}|X|} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(e^{\theta_{\zeta} U_j} - e^{\overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}} \right) \circ_{j+1} \theta_{\zeta} \overline{K}_j^0 \right](X)$$
(4.50)

Then by (4.36), it also satisfies

$$Z_{j+1}(\cdot|\Lambda) = e^{-\mathscr{E}_{j+1}|\Lambda|} (e^{\mathscr{U}_{j+1}} \circ_{j+1} K'_{j+1})(X)$$
(4.51)

so K'_{j+1} is also a valid candidate for the remainder coordinate in scale j+1. However, if we expand out K'_{j+1} in first order, we get

$$\mathscr{L}_{j+1}'(X) = \sum_{Y:\overline{Y}=X} \mathbb{1}_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_j^c} \mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\zeta} K_j^0(Y) + \sum_{D\in\mathscr{B}_j}^{\overline{D}=X} \mathbb{E}[\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\zeta} U_j(D)] + \mathscr{E}_{j+1}|D| - \mathscr{U}_{j+1}(D).$$
(4.52)

In above definition of \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^0 , we see that we can have cancellations in both of the sum by choosing Q_j^0 , \mathscr{E}_{j+1} and \mathscr{U}_{j+1} appropriately. But for $\mathscr{L}'_{j+1}K_j$, since the form of the two sums are incompatible, there is no obvious way to make a cancellation between the two terms. The role of the redistribution operator is to add and subtract terms in both $\sum_{Y:\overline{Y}=X}$ and $\sum_{D\in\mathscr{B}_j}^{\overline{D}=X}$ in a compatible way so there there are natural cancellations.

4.3 Polymer expansion with external field

In general, an expansion of form (3.28) is used when we are interested in macroscopic observables, such as the free energy or the torus scaling limit of Theorem 1.1.1. However, if we are interested in observables at lower scales, it is desirable to consider the Laplace transformations, or the tilted expectation of (3.16),

$$\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}[F(\zeta)] = \mathbb{E}\left[e^{\omega(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},\zeta)}F(\zeta)\right] / \mathbb{E}\left[e^{\omega(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},\zeta)}\right]$$
(4.53)

for the external field \tilde{f} .

If we are further given the observable scale $j_s > 0$ (also present in (A'_f)) and field $v \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda}$, we may consider a flow of Z_j defined inductively by

$$Z_0(\varphi; \omega | \Lambda) = Z_0^0(\varphi + \omega \nu | \Lambda) \tag{4.54}$$

and

$$Z_{j+1}(\varphi; \boldsymbol{\omega} | \boldsymbol{\Lambda}) = \begin{cases} \mathbb{E}[\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\zeta} Z_{j}(\varphi; \boldsymbol{\omega} | \boldsymbol{\Lambda})] & (j < j_{s}) \\ \mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})} [\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\zeta} Z_{j}(\varphi; \boldsymbol{\omega} | \boldsymbol{\Lambda})] & (j \ge j_{s}). \end{cases}$$
(4.55)

In the case when ω is real, then we can use a change of variables to write

$$Z_{j+1}(\varphi; \omega | \Lambda) = \mathbb{E} \left[\theta_{\zeta} Z_{j}(\varphi + \omega \Gamma_{j+1} \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}; \omega | \Lambda) \right]$$
(4.56)

but for general complex ω , this is not always possible, as we haven't checked the complex analyticity of Z_i . We also impose a restriction on v similar to that of (A'_u) .

(A_v) Given the observable scale $j_s \ge 0$, the field v has decomposition $v = \sum_{i=1}^{n} T_{y_i} v_{\alpha}$ such that $||v_i||_{C_{i_s}^2} \le C \mathfrak{n}^{-1} \log L$. Also, $\operatorname{supp}(v_i) \subset \mathscr{B}_0^{j_s+1}$ for each *i*.

The norm of v is bounded in scale j_s , but it is allowed to be supported on a larger region $B_0^{j_s+1}$. This makes a problem if it happens at all scales, but v only lives at a single scale j_s , so this is acceptable. Again, C will be a constant independent of all the other parameters, so we do not mention the dependence on it.

Nevertheless, we will be tracing the complex analyticity when required, and seek for a representation for $j > j_s$

Now, we seek for polymer representations of Z_j ,

$$Z_{j}(\varphi; \omega | \Lambda) = \begin{cases} e^{-E_{j}|\Lambda|} (e^{U_{j}} \circ_{j} K_{j}^{0})(\Lambda, \varphi + \omega \nu) & (j \leq j_{s}) \\ e^{-E_{j}|\Lambda| + e_{j}(\omega)} (e^{U_{j}(\cdot, \varphi + \omega u_{j})} \circ_{j} K_{j}(\cdot, \varphi))(\Lambda) & (j > j_{s}) \end{cases}$$
(4.57)

when ω is sufficiently small and $u_j = 1_{j>j_s} \Gamma_j \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ (see (3.19)). (Note that case $j \leq j_s$ in (4.57) is not the same as what is given in (4.55). This point will be justified in Section 4.3.1.) To this end, we define the renormalisation group step as a slight modification of (4.43), whose justifications will be given in Section 4.3.1, 4.3.2.

Definition 4.3.1. Let v and $(u_j)_j$ satisfy (A_v) and (A'_u) , respectively. Suppose \mathcal{E}_{j+1} , U_j , \mathcal{U}_{j+1} and K_j are given. Then define K_{j+1} as the following.

• When $j < j_s$, suppose localisation Q_j^0 is given. Then consider K_{j+1}^0 defined by (4.43), *i.e.*,

$$K_{j+1}^{0} = \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^{0}(U_{j}, K_{j}^{0}) := \mathbb{K}_{j+1}(U_{j}, K_{j}^{0}, \mathscr{U}_{j+1}, \overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}^{0}, Q_{j}^{0}; X),$$
(4.58)

and let $K_{j+1} = K_{j+1}^0$.

• When $j \ge j_s$, let

$$K_{j}^{\dagger}(\cdot;\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \begin{cases} \mathscr{R}_{j}^{(1)}[\boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{U}_{j},\boldsymbol{K}_{j}(\cdot;\boldsymbol{\omega})] & (j=j_{s}) \\ \mathscr{R}_{j}^{(2)}[\boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{u}_{j},\boldsymbol{U}_{j},\boldsymbol{K}_{j}(\cdot;\boldsymbol{\omega})] & (j>j_{s}) \end{cases}$$
(4.59)

with $\mathscr{R}^{(1)}, \mathscr{R}^{(2)}$ defined by (4.7),(4.8). If we are given a localisation Q_j and $\mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(X; \omega)$ is some polymer function of $X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}$ such that $\mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(X \cup Y) = \mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(X) + \mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(Y)$ for any $X \cap Y = \emptyset$, then let

$$K_{j+1} = \mathscr{K}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^{\dagger}) := \mathbb{K}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^{\dagger}, \mathscr{U}_{j+1}, \overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}, Q_j; X)$$
(4.60)

where now

$$\overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}(X,\varphi;\omega) = \mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(X;\omega) - \mathscr{E}_{j+1}|X|_{j+1} + \mathscr{U}_{j+1}(X,\varphi+\omega u_{j+1}), \qquad (4.61)$$

and recall \mathbb{K}_{i+1} from Definition 4.2.1.

Although it is conceptually better to think of \mathscr{K}_{j+1} as a function of (U_j, K_j) , it is often more convenient to think of it as a function of (U_j, K_j^{\dagger}) for its estimates. K_j does not depend on ω for $j \leq j_s$, but we are denoting $K_j(\cdot; \omega) \equiv K_j^0$ to minimize notational changes. Then we have the following analogue of Proposition 4.2.2.

Proposition 4.3.2. Suppose Z_j satisfies (4.57). Let Z_{j+1} be defined by (4.55) and K_{j+1} be defined by Definition 4.3.1 with integrability in \mathbb{E} being assumed. Then Z_{j+1} also satisfies (4.57) with $E_{j+1} = E_j + \mathscr{E}_{j+1}$ and $e_{j+1}(\Lambda) = e_j(\Lambda) + \mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(\Lambda)$ (with convention $e_j \equiv 0$ for $j \leq j_s$).

The proof will be given in the following sections.

4.3.1 Regime $j < j_s$

The $j < j_s$ case of Definition 4.3.1 is valid only when we have equivalence of (4.55) and (4.57). Indeed, we verify that these two definitions match in the following lemma, where we drop Λ for brevity.

Lemma 4.3.3. Let v satisfy (A_v) and $h_{\omega} \leq (C \log L)^{-1} \mathfrak{h}$ for large C. Let Z_j be defined iteratively by $Z_{j+1}(\varphi; \omega) = \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}}^{\zeta} [\theta_{\zeta} Z_j(\varphi; \omega)]$ for $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda}$ and $Z_0(\varphi; \omega) = Z_0^0(\varphi + \omega v)$. Suppose there is a sequence $(E_j, U_j, K_j)_{j \leq j_s}$ such that $Z_j^0(\varphi)$ admits expansion (4.1), $\|K_j^0\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_j} < +\infty$

and $||U_j||_{\Omega_j^U}$ are sufficiently small (polynomially in β , *L*) for each $j \leq j_s$. Then

$$Z_{j}(\boldsymbol{\varphi};\boldsymbol{\omega}) = Z_{j}^{0}(\boldsymbol{\varphi} + \boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{v}) \qquad \text{for all } j \leqslant j_{s}, \ \boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}. \tag{4.62}$$

Proof. When $\omega \in \mathbb{R} \cap \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$, then the identity is trivial by definition. Thus it is enough to verify that Z_j and $Z_j^0(\varphi + \omega v)$ are complex analytic functions of $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$. First, by Proposition 3.4.1, we see that $\omega \mapsto K_j^0(X, \varphi + \omega v)$ is analytic for each $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$ with

$$|K_j^0(X, \varphi + \omega v)| \leq ||K_j^0(X, \varphi)||_{\mathfrak{h}, T_j(X, \varphi)} \leq ||K_j^0(X)||_{\mathfrak{h}, T_j(X)} G_j(X, \varphi)$$
(4.63)

Also, by the explicit form of U_j , we see that $\omega \mapsto Z_j^0(\varphi + \omega v)$ is analytic. To prove analyticity of $\omega \mapsto Z_{j+1}(\varphi; \omega)$, we use induction, so assume that $Z_j(\cdot; \omega) = Z_j^0(\cdot + \omega v)$. Observe that

$$\sup_{\boldsymbol{\omega}\in\mathbb{D}_{h_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}}|U_{j}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}+\boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{v})|\leqslant O(\|U_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}})(\mathfrak{h}^{2}+w_{j}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi})^{2})\leqslant c_{w}\kappa_{L}(1+w_{j}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi})^{2})$$
(4.64)

for $||U_j||_{\Omega_i^U}$ sufficiently small. Thus combined with (4.63),

$$\sup_{\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h\omega}} \left| e^{U_j(\Lambda \setminus X, \varphi + \omega v)} K_j^0(X, \varphi + \omega v) \right| \leq O(\|K_j^0(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_j(X)} G_j(\Lambda, \varphi)$$
(4.65)

where we used Lemma 3.3.4 to bound $e^{c_w \kappa_L w_j(\Lambda \setminus X, \varphi)^2} G_j(X, \varphi)$. But by Proposition 3.3.5, we see $\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}} \theta_{\zeta} G_j(X, \varphi) < \infty$, so by the Dominated Convergence Theorem,

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} \mapsto Z_{j+1}(\cdot; \boldsymbol{\omega}) = e^{-E_j|\Lambda|} \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}}^{\zeta} \left[\theta_{\zeta} \sum_{X \in \mathscr{P}_j} e^{U_j(\Lambda \setminus X, \cdot + \boldsymbol{\omega} \boldsymbol{\nu})} K_j(X, \cdot + \boldsymbol{\omega} \boldsymbol{\nu}) \right]$$
(4.66)

is continuous in ω . The same bound also allows to use the Fubini's theorem, so

$$\int_{\gamma} d\omega Z_{j+1}(\varphi;\omega) = e^{-E_j|\Lambda|} \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}}^{\zeta} \left[\theta_{\zeta} \sum_{X \in \mathscr{P}_j} \int_{\gamma} d\omega e^{U_j(\Lambda \setminus X, \varphi + \omega \nu)} K_j^0(X, \varphi + \omega \nu) \right] = 0 \quad (4.67)$$

for any C^1 curve γ in $\mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$, where the second equality follows from the Cauchy's integral theorem. We conclude that $\omega \mapsto Z_{j+1}(\varphi; \omega)$ is analytic, completing the induction.

4.3.2 Regime $j \ge j_s$

We now justify (4.60) in the proof of Proposition 4.3.2.

Proof of Proposition 4.3.2. The case $j < j_s$ is already checked by Lemma 4.3.3. For $j \ge j_s$, (4.57) and Lemma 4.9 show

$$Z_{j_s}(\cdot|\Lambda) = e^{-E_j|\Lambda| + e_j(\Lambda)} (e^{U_j} \circ_j K_i^{\dagger})(\Lambda).$$
(4.68)

Thus Proposition 4.2.2 guarantees (4.57) for Z_{j+1} and K_{j+1} .

4.4 Estimate on the non-linear part

In this section, we define the linearisation \mathscr{L}_{j+1} of \mathscr{K}_{j+1} and prove estimates on the remaining terms. The results of this section also applies to \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^0 , since it can simply be considered as the case with vanishing external fields, so we do not discuss it separately.

Exactly following the procedure of Section 4.2.2, we see that the linear part of \mathcal{K}_{j+1} is given by

$$\mathscr{L}_{j+1}(U_{j},K_{j}^{\dagger};X,\varphi') := \sum_{Y:\overline{Y}=X} \left(1_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}}\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}\theta_{\zeta}K_{j}^{\dagger}(Y,\varphi') - 1_{Y\in\mathscr{I}_{j}}\sum_{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}(Y)}Q_{j}(D,Y,\varphi') \right) + \sum_{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}}^{\overline{D}=X} \left(\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}\theta_{\zeta}U_{j}(D,\varphi') - \overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}(D,\varphi') + \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{I}_{j}}^{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}(Y)}Q_{j}(D,Y,\varphi') \right)$$

$$(4.69)$$

where $\zeta \sim \mathcal{N}(0,\Gamma_{j+1})$ if j < N-1 and $\zeta \sim \mathcal{N}(0,\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N})$ if j = N-1. Then again, the remaining part will be defined by

$$\mathscr{M}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^{\dagger}) := \mathscr{K}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^{\dagger}) - \mathscr{L}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^{\dagger})$$

$$(4.70)$$

The aim of this section is to expand out \mathcal{M}_{j+1} and prove that \mathcal{M}_{j+1} is of order $O((||U_j||_{\Omega_j^U} + ||K_j^{\dagger}||_{\vec{h},T_j})^2)$ in Lemma 4.4.2. At this stage, we are not fixing $\mathcal{E}_{j+1}, \mathcal{U}_{j+1}$ and Q_j , so the estimate will only be proved modulo some estimates on them.

Below we write $U_{j+1}, \overline{U}_{j+1}$ in place of $\mathscr{U}_{j+1}, \overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}$ for simplicity of notation and recall

$$\overline{U}_{j+1}(X, \varphi'; \omega) = -\mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}(X; \omega) + U_{j+1}(X, \varphi' + \omega u_{j+1})$$
(4.71)

where we also let

$$\mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}(X;\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \mathscr{E}_{j+1}|X|_{j+1} - \mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(X;\boldsymbol{\omega}).$$
(4.72)

Accordingly, we introduce the map

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j} = (U_{j}, K_{j}) \mapsto \overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}) \equiv (\mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger} | X|, U_{j}, \overline{U}_{j+1}, K_{j}^{\dagger}, \overline{K}_{j}, Q_{j})(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}).$$
(4.73)

In terms of ω_j , one may decompose \mathcal{M}_{j+1} into four terms as follows: for $X \in \mathcal{P}_{j+1}^c$, using the notation (4.73),

$$\mathscr{M}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^{\dagger}, X, \varphi') = \sum_{k=1}^4 \mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k)}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_j(\omega_j), X, \varphi'), \qquad (4.74)$$

where the $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k)}$ are given as follows:

$$\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(1)}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(\omega_{j}),X) = \sum_{X_{0},X_{1},Z,(B_{Z''})}^{*} \mathbb{1}_{\#(X_{0},X_{1},Z) \geqslant 2} e^{\mathcal{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}(X)} e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}(X\setminus T)} \times \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}^{\zeta} \left[(e^{\theta_{\zeta}U_{j}} - e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}})^{X_{0}} (\theta_{\zeta}\overline{K}_{j} - \overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_{j})^{[X_{1}]} \right] \prod_{Z'' \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Z)} \mathscr{D}Q_{j}(B_{Z''},Z'')$$

$$(4.75)$$

$$\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(2)}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(\omega_{j}),X) = \sum_{X_{0},X_{1},Z,(B_{Z''})}^{*} \mathbb{1}_{\#(X_{0},X_{1},Z)\leqslant 1} (e^{\mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}(X)} e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}(X\setminus T)} - 1) \\ \times \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}^{\zeta} \Big[(e^{\theta_{\zeta}U_{j}} - e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}})^{X_{0}} (\theta_{\zeta}\overline{K}_{j} - \overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_{j})^{[X_{1}]} \Big] \prod_{Z''\in\mathrm{Comp}_{j+1}(Z)} \mathscr{D}Q_{j}(B_{Z''},Z'')$$

$$(4.76)$$

$$\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(3)}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(\omega_{j}),X) = \sum_{|X_{0}|_{j+1}=1}^{X_{0}=X} \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}^{\zeta} \left[\left(e^{\theta_{\zeta} U_{j}} - e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}} - \theta_{\zeta} U_{j} + \overline{U}_{j+1} \right)^{X_{0}} \right]$$
(4.77)

$$\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(4)}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(\omega_{j}),X) = \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}^{\zeta} \left[\theta_{\zeta} \sum_{Y \in \mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} e^{U_{j}(Y)} K_{j}^{\dagger}(X \setminus Y) - \mathbb{S}[K_{j}^{\dagger}](X) \right]$$
(4.78)

where \sum^* is as in Definition 4.2.1, thus in particular $T = X_0 \cup X_1 \cup Z$. Each $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(b)}$ (*b* = 1,2,3,4) arise as the remainder of the linearisation process (1)–(4) described above (4.47).

The bound of $\mathscr{M}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^{\dagger})$ will follow by bounding each $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k)}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_j)$ separately. Although the above is not the most efficient way to express \mathscr{M}_{j+1} , writing it in this way will make it easier to generalise the estimates to different settings. Indeed, one may deduce a bound on each $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(b)}$ that only depends on the estimates on $\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_j$. The next definition collects a list of bounds on various terms that appear in the above formulas. These estimates are sufficient to imply the desired bounds on the $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(b)}$, as asserted in Lemma 4.4.2.

These "building block estimates" require a suitable notion of derivative. Let X and Y be Banach spaces with norms $\|\cdot\|_X$ and $\|\cdot\|_Y$, and let $F : X \to Y$. The directional derivative of *F* at a point $x \in X$, in direction \dot{x} is denoted by $DF(x, \dot{x})$, i.e., when the limit exists,

$$DF(x,\dot{x}) = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (F(x+t\dot{x}) - F(x)), \qquad (4.79)$$

and if F is Fréchet-differentiable the norm of the derivative is the operator norm

$$\|DF(x,\cdot)\| := \sup\{\|DF(x,\dot{x})\|_{\mathbb{Y}} : \|\dot{x}\|_{\mathbb{X}} \le 1\}.$$
(4.80)

Definition 4.4.1. Let $(\mathbb{X}, |\cdot|)$ be a closed subset of a normed vector space. Given $\delta, \eta > 0$, define $\mathscr{X}_{j}^{\mathfrak{K}}(\mathbb{Y})$, to be the set of functions $\mathfrak{K}_{j}: x(\in \mathbb{X}) \mapsto \mathfrak{K}_{j}(x) = (\mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}(X), U_{j}, \overline{U}_{j+1}, K_{j}^{\dagger}, \overline{K}_{j}, Q_{j})(x)$ where each component takes polymer activity value as in the right-hand side of (4.73), such that $\mathfrak{K}_{j}(0) = 0$ and $x \mapsto (K_{j}^{\dagger}(x), Q_{j}(x))$ is linear and $K_{j}^{\dagger}(x)$ is bounded as a function $\mathbb{X} \to \mathscr{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}$ and satisfies the following estimates for all $B \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}, Z \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}$ and $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_{N}}$: for $k \in \{0, 1, 2\}$,

$$\|\mathfrak{U}(B,\varphi)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(B,\varphi)} \leq C(\delta,L)(1+\delta c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(B,\varphi)^{2})|x|$$
(4.81)

$$\|e^{\mathfrak{U}(B,\phi)} - \sum_{m=0}^{k} \frac{1}{m!} (\mathfrak{U}(B,\phi))^{m}\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(B,\phi)} \leqslant C(\delta,L) e^{\delta c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(B,\phi)^{2}} |x|^{k+1},$$
(4.82)

for $\mathfrak{U} \in \{U_j, \overline{U}_{j+1}, \mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}\}$ and some C(L), and when $\mathfrak{U} = \mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}$, the inequality holds with $C(\delta, L)$ replaced by C(L) and δ set to 0. Moreover,

$$\|De^{\mathfrak{U}'(B,\varphi)}\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(B,\varphi)} \leqslant C(L)e^{c_w\kappa_L w_j(B,\varphi)^2},\tag{4.83}$$

$$\|D^2 e^{\mathfrak{U}(B,\varphi)}\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(B,\varphi)} \leqslant C(L) e^{c_w \kappa_L w_j(B,\varphi)^2}, \tag{4.84}$$

$$\|D\overline{K}_{j}(Z,\varphi)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(Z,\varphi)} \leqslant C(A,L)A^{-(1+\eta)|Z|_{j+1}}G_{j}(Z,\varphi), \tag{4.85}$$

$$\|DQ_j(D,Y,\varphi)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(Y,\varphi)} \leqslant C(L)A^{-1}e^{c_w\kappa_L w_j(D,\varphi)^2},\tag{4.86}$$

for any $Y \in \mathscr{S}_j$, $D \in \mathscr{B}_j(Y)$, and $\mathfrak{U}' \in \{U_j, \overline{U}_{j+1}, \mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}\}$, and in the case of $\mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}$, the factor $e^{c_w \kappa_{L^w j}(B, \varphi)}$ can be omitted. The derivatives exist in the space of polymer activities with finite $\|\cdot\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_j(B)}$ -norm for $e^{\mathfrak{U}'}$, $De^{\mathfrak{U}'}$, finite $\|\cdot\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_j(Z)}$ -norm for \overline{K}_j and finite $\|\cdot\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_j(Y)}$ -norm for Q_j .

Having these assumptions at hand, we can prove bounds on each $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k)}$ as in the following lemma.

Lemma 4.4.2. Then there exist $L_0, A_0(L)$ such that the following holds. Let $(\mathbb{X}, |\cdot|)$ be a closed subset of a normed space. If $L \ge L_0$, $A \ge A_0(L)$ and if \mathfrak{K}_j is in $\mathscr{X}_j^{\mathfrak{K}}(\mathbb{X})$, there exist $\eta_0 \equiv \eta_0(\eta) > 0$ and $\varepsilon_{nl} > 0$ such that each $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k)}(\mathfrak{K}_j(x))$ is continuously differentiable on $\{x \in \mathbb{X} : |x| \le \varepsilon_{nl}\}$ for $k \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ and satisfies

$$\left\| D\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k)}(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x),X) \right\|_{\mathfrak{f},T_{j+1}(X)} \leqslant C_{2}(A,L)A^{-(1+\eta_{0}(\eta))|X|_{j+1}}|x|$$
(4.87)

for some $C_2(A, L) > 0$ *.*

In practice, we set X to be a set of (U_j, K_j^{\dagger}) , thus the derivative in (4.87) is a derivative in (U_j, K_j^{\dagger}) . In this case, the assumption $\Re_j \in \mathscr{X}_j^{\mathfrak{K}}(X)$ is verified later in Lemma 6.4.1 for the bulk RG and in Lemma 8.3.1 for the observable RG, after making the choice of \mathscr{E}_{j+1} , $\mathfrak{g}_{j+1}, \mathscr{U}_{j+1}$ and Q_j . The lemma has two important implications in this setting. First is that \mathscr{M}_{j+1} is continuously differentiable function of order 2 in (U_j, K_j^{\dagger}) . Second is that the large set regulator of \mathscr{M}_{j+1} is improved by a power of η_0 , thus we have relatively large amount of freedom on modifying the large set regulator in the reblocking steps. For example, we see that the large set regulator gets worse in Lemma 4.1.4, but this can be compensated by taking A sufficiently large so that $2A^{-\eta_0} \leq 1$. Note that η_0 is a function that solely depends on η in Definition 4.4.1 (that defines $\mathscr{X}_j^{\mathfrak{K}}(X)$). We will later see that η is a purely geometric constant (i.e., only depends on the graph, \mathbb{Z}^2 for our case), thus η_0 is also a purely geometric constant.

We again emphasize that we can also apply Lemma 4.4.2 to the setting without the external fields v and \tilde{f} , as it would be equivalent to setting $v \equiv \tilde{f} \equiv 0$. The rest of the chapter will be devoted to proving this lemma. The principles used to prove the lemma does not depend heavily on the system, so they have potential to be applied to much general settings.

4.4.1 Product rule for polymer activities

In preparation of the proof of Lemma 4.4.2, we first prove a product rule for polymer activities defined as in (4.75)–(4.76). For general polymer activities K, K' with $||K||_{\Omega_j^K}$, $||K'||_{\Omega_j^K} < \infty$, the polymer activity defined by $K''(X) = \sum_{Y \in \mathscr{P}_j(X)} K_j(Y) K'_j(X \setminus Y)$ is not necessarily differentiable. There are obstacles related both to the large field and the large set regulators. The first obstable is that it is not true that $G_j(X)G_j(Y) = G_j(X \cup Y)$ for general disjoint $X, Y \in \mathscr{P}_j$. The second obstacle is that summing over all $Y \in \mathscr{P}_j(X)$ would create a combinatorial factor $2^{|X|_j}$ in the end, so taking the supremum over $X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c$ would make $||K''||_j$ diverge. Fortunately, we can circumvent these problems in (4.75)–(4.76) due to the the specific form of the polymers involved. Sufficient conditions for the former operations are implied by the following conditions:

- (Q) Let $(\mathbb{X}, |\cdot|)$ be a normed space and $B_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{X}}$ be the open ball with radius $\varepsilon > 0$. Let φ', ζ be fields taking value in \mathbb{R}^{Λ} , and $\zeta \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Gamma_{j+1})$. Let $\mathscr{Q} = \bigcup_{\alpha=1}^{4} \mathscr{Q}_{\alpha}$ be a partition of \mathscr{B}_{j+1} and let $F_x(\cdot, \varphi', \zeta)$ and $f_x^y(\cdot, \varphi', \zeta)$ be polymer activities supported on \mathscr{Q} and labelled by $x \in B_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{X}}$, $y \in \mathbb{X}$. Assume that $F_0(Q, \varphi', \zeta) \equiv 1_{Q=\emptyset}$, that f_x^y is linear in y, and that there are C > 0, $\vec{\eta}(Q) \ge 0$ and a function $\psi : \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\psi(z) = o(1)$ as $z \to 0$ such that
 - (i) (Boundedness) $\|f_x^y(Q,\varphi',\zeta)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_i(Q,\varphi')} \leq CA^{-(1+\vec{\eta}(Q))|Q|_{j+1}} \mathscr{G}(Q,\varphi',\zeta)|y|;$
 - (ii) (Continuity)

$$\|(f_{x+z}^{y}-f_{x}^{y})(Q,\varphi',\zeta)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{i}(Q,\varphi')} \leqslant CA^{-(1+\vec{\eta}(Q))|Q|_{j+1}}\mathscr{G}(Q,\varphi',\zeta)|y|\psi(z);$$

(iii) (Derivative) $\|(F_{x+y} - F_x - f_x^y)(Q, \varphi', \zeta)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_j(Q, \varphi')} \leq CA^{-(1+\vec{\eta}(Q))|Q|_{j+1}} \mathscr{G}(Q, \varphi', \zeta)|y|\psi(y)|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_j(Q, \varphi')}$

where $\mathscr{G}(Q, \varphi', \zeta)$ is 1 if $Q \in \mathscr{Q}_1$, is $e^{c_w \kappa_{w_j}(Q, \varphi')}$ if $Q \in \mathscr{Q}_2$, is $e^{c_w \kappa_{w_j}(Q, \varphi' + \zeta)}$ if $Q \in \mathscr{Q}_3$, and is $G_j(Q, \varphi' + \zeta)$ if $Q \in \mathscr{Q}_4$, and $Y, Z \in \mathscr{Q}_4$ implies $Y \not\sim Z$. Also, assume that F_x does not depend on ζ if $Q \in \mathscr{Q}_1 \cup \mathscr{Q}_2$, and $\vec{\eta}(Q)$ takes value 0 or $\eta_0 > 0$ and if $\vec{\eta}(Q) = 0$, then $Q \in \mathscr{S}_{j+1}$.

The flexibility of \mathscr{G}_j will save us from the problem of regulators and the extra decay due to $\vec{\eta}(Q)$ will save us from the problem of combinatorial factor $2^{|X|_j}$. The choices of \mathscr{G}_j 's will have the following consequence, where we denote $Q \in \mathscr{Q}(X)$ if $Q \in \mathscr{Q}$ and $Q \subset X$.

Lemma 4.4.3. Let $\mathscr{Q} = \bigcup_{\alpha=1}^{4} \mathscr{Q}_{\alpha}$ be as in (Q) for $X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}$ and suppose $f(Q, \varphi', \zeta)$ is a polymer function such that

$$\|f(Q,\varphi,\zeta)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(Q,\varphi)} \leqslant a(Q)\mathscr{G}_j(Q,\varphi',\zeta).$$
(4.88)

Also, let $f(Q, \varphi', \zeta)$ be independent of ζ when $Q \in \mathcal{Q}_1 \cup \mathcal{Q}_2$. Then

$$\left\|\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}\prod_{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}\in\mathscr{Q}(X)}f(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}},\boldsymbol{\varphi}',\boldsymbol{\zeta})\right\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}')} \leqslant C2^{|X|_j}G_{j+1}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}')\prod_{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}\in\mathscr{Q}(X)}a(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Q}}).$$
(4.89)

for some constant C > 0.

Proof. Since f(Q) does not depend on ζ when $Q \in \mathcal{Q}_1 \cup \mathcal{Q}_2$, we first consider $Q \in \mathcal{Q}_3 \cup \mathcal{Q}_4$ to see that

$$\left\|\prod_{Q\in\mathscr{Q}_{3}(X)\cup\mathscr{Q}_{4}(X)}f(Q,\varphi',\zeta)\right\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X_{34})} \leqslant G_{j}(X_{34},\varphi'+\zeta)\prod_{Q\in\mathscr{Q}_{3}(X)\cup\mathscr{Q}_{4}(X)}a(Q)$$
(4.90)

where $X_{34} = \bigcup_{Q \in \mathcal{Q}_3(X) \cup \mathcal{Q}_4(X)} Q$ and we have used Lemma 3.3.4 to bound the products of \mathscr{G} 's. Thus by Proposition 3.3.7,

$$\left\| \mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})} \prod_{\boldsymbol{Q} \in \mathscr{Q}_{3}(\boldsymbol{X}) \cup \mathscr{Q}_{4}(\boldsymbol{X})} f(\boldsymbol{Q}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}', \boldsymbol{\zeta}) \right\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_{j+1}(\boldsymbol{X}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}')} \leq C2^{|X_{34}|_{j}} G_{j+1}(X_{34}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}') \prod_{\boldsymbol{Q} \in \mathscr{Q}_{3}(\boldsymbol{X}) \cup \mathscr{Q}_{4}(\boldsymbol{X})} a(\boldsymbol{Q}).$$
(4.91)

Now we have the desired inequality if we just multiply the norm on $f(Q, \varphi', \zeta)$ for $Q \in \mathcal{Q}_3 \cup \mathcal{Q}_4$.

Then we have the product rule for the case of our interest.

Proposition 4.4.4 (Product rule). Let \mathbb{X} , \mathcal{Q} , $\mathcal{Q}(X)$, f, F, ψ and $\vec{\eta}$ be as in (Q) for $X \in \mathcal{P}_{j+1}$. Given collection of parameters $\vec{x} = \{x(Q) \in \mathbb{X} : Q \in \mathcal{Q}\}$, define for $X \in \mathcal{P}_{j+1}$,

$$\mathscr{L}_{\vec{x}}(X, \varphi') = \begin{cases} \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)} \Big[\prod_{Q \in \mathscr{Q}(X)} F_{x(Q)}(Q, \varphi', \zeta) \Big] & \text{if } |\mathscr{Q}(X)| \ge 2, \ X = \bigcup_{Q \in \mathscr{Q}(X)} Q \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

$$(4.92)$$

Then for A sufficiently large and ε sufficiently small (polynomially in L, A, C), the partial derivatives of $\vec{x} \mapsto \mathscr{L}_{\vec{x}}$ exist (as a map from \mathbb{X} to the space of polymer activities of finite $\|\cdot\|_{h,T_{i+1}(X)}$ -norm), the partial derivatives in directions $P \in \mathscr{Q}$ are given by

$$d_P^{\mathcal{Y}} := \partial_{\mathcal{Y}, P} \mathscr{L}_{\vec{x}} := \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)} \Big[f_{\mathcal{X}(P)}^{\mathcal{Y}}(P, \varphi', \zeta) \prod_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathscr{Q}(X \setminus P)} F_{\mathcal{X}(\mathcal{Q})}(\varphi') \Big] \quad \text{if } |X|_{j+1} \ge 2,$$
(4.93)

and they are continuous in the domain $\{\vec{x} : |x(Q)| < \varepsilon, \forall Q \in \mathscr{Q}\}$. Moreover, in the case $x(Q) \equiv x$, if we let $\mathscr{L}_x = \mathscr{L}_{\vec{x}}$, then \mathscr{L}_x is differentiable in $\{|x| < \varepsilon\}$, the derivative satisfies the bounds

$$\|D\mathscr{L}_{x}(X)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X)} \leqslant CA^{-(1+\eta_{0}/2)|X|_{j+1}}|x|^{\max\{1,\frac{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|-1}{2}\}},\tag{4.94}$$

and $D\mathscr{L}_x(X)$ is continuous in x.

Proof. All *X* used below are assumed to satisfy $|\mathscr{Q}(X)| \ge 2$ and $\bigcup_{Q \in \mathscr{Q}(X)} Q = X$ which is sufficient by the definition of $\mathscr{L}_{\vec{x}}$. We first show that d_P^y has finite norm. Indeed, Lemma 4.4.3

gives

$$\begin{aligned} \|d_{P}^{y}(\varphi',X)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi')} &\leq C^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|}A^{-\sum_{Q\in\mathscr{Q}(X)}(1+\vec{\eta}(Q))|Q|_{j+1}}2^{|X|_{j}}G_{j+1}(X,\varphi')|x|^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|-1}|y| \\ &\leq C^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|}A^{\eta_{0}\sum_{Q\in\mathscr{Q}(X)}^{\vec{\eta}(Q)=0}|Q|_{j+1}}(2^{L^{2}}A^{-(1+\eta_{0})})^{|X|_{j+1}}G_{j+1}(X,\varphi')|x|^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|-1}|y| \\ &\leq C^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|}A^{4\eta_{0}|\mathscr{Q}(X)|}(2^{L^{2}}A^{-(1+\eta_{0})})^{|X|_{j+1}}G_{j+1}(X,\varphi')|x|^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|-1}|y|. \end{aligned}$$
(4.95)

Thus $(y \mapsto d_P^y)$ is a bounded linear map from \mathbb{X} to the polymer activities of finite $\|\cdot\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X)}$ -norm.

To show that d_P^y is the derivative of \mathscr{L}_x , let $\delta \mathscr{L}_{\vec{x},y} := \mathscr{L}_{\vec{x}+y\delta_{P,Q}} - \mathscr{L}_{\vec{x}} - d_P^y$. Then by essentially the same computation as above,

$$\begin{split} \|\delta\mathscr{L}_{\vec{x},y}(X,\varphi')\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi')} &= \left\|\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}\Big[(F_{x(P)+y} - F_{x(P)} - f_{x(P)}^{y})(P)\prod_{Q\in\mathscr{Q}(X\setminus P)}F_{x(Q)}(Q)\Big]\right\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi')} \\ &\leq (CA^{4\eta_{0}})^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|}|x|^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|-1}A^{-(1+\eta_{0})|X|_{j+1}}|y|2^{|X|_{j}}G_{j+1}(X,\varphi')\psi(y) \\ &\leq (CA^{4\eta_{0}})^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|}|x|^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|-1}(2^{L^{2}}A^{-(1+\eta_{0})})^{|X|_{j+1}}G_{j+1}(X,\varphi')|y|\psi(y), \end{split}$$
(4.96)

proving the existence of the partial derivatives of $\mathscr{L}_{\vec{x}}$ as a function from \mathbb{X} to the space of polymer activities of finite $\|\cdot\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X)}$ -norm. To see the differentiability of \mathscr{L}_{x} , let

$$d^{y}(X, \varphi') := D\mathscr{L}_{x}(X, \varphi') := \sum_{P \in \mathscr{Q}(X)} \partial_{y, P} \mathscr{L}_{\vec{x}}|_{x(Q) \equiv x}.$$
(4.97)

Then

$$\|d^{y}(X,\cdot)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X)} \leq |\mathscr{Q}(X)| (CA^{4\eta_{0}})^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|} |x|^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|-1} (2^{L^{2}}A^{-(1+\eta_{0})})^{|X|_{j+1}} G_{j+1}(X,\varphi') |y|$$
(4.98)

and hence $(y \mapsto d^y)$ is bounded linear from \mathbb{X} to the space of polymer activities with finite $\|\cdot\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{i+1}(X)}$ -norm. Also applying (4.96) multiple times shows that

$$\| (\mathscr{L}_{x+y} - \mathscr{L}_{x} - d^{y})(X, \cdot) \|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_{j+1}(X)}$$

$$\leq (CA^{4\eta_{0}})^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|} |\mathscr{Q}(X)| |x|^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|-1} (2^{L^{2}}A^{-(1+\eta_{0})})^{|X|_{j+1}} |y| \psi(y)$$

$$(4.99)$$

proving differentiability of \mathscr{L}_x . The bound for the derivative is obtained once we choose ε small and *A* large so that

$$A^{|X|_{j+1}} \| \mathcal{D}\mathscr{L}_{x}(X) \|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_{j+1}(X)} \leq (CA^{4\eta_{0}})^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|} |\mathscr{Q}(X)| A^{-\frac{\eta_{0}}{2}|X|_{j+1}} |x|^{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|-1} \leq C' A^{-\frac{\eta_{0}}{2}|X|_{j+1}} |x|^{\frac{|\mathscr{Q}(X)|-1}{2}}.$$
(4.100)

But for the case $|\mathscr{Q}(X)| = 2$, one could just have bounded the left-hand by $C'A^{-\frac{\eta_0}{2}|X|_{j+1}}|x|$ instead.

The continuity of the derivative follows from the assumption on the continuity of f. \Box

4.4.2 Proof of Lemma 4.4.2

In this subsection, $\mathscr{E}_{j+1}|X|, U_j, \overline{U}_{j+1}, K_j$ and Q_j will always be a function of x implicitly. Also, since Q_j contributes only through $\mathscr{D}Q_j$ and $\overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_j$, it is convenient to also think \mathfrak{K}_j is a collection $(\mathscr{E}_{j+1}|X|, U_j, \overline{U}_{j+1}, K_j, \mathscr{D}Q_j, \overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_j)$ and use the following estimates.

Lemma 4.4.5. Under the assumptions of Lemma 4.4.2,

$$\|D\mathscr{D}Q_j(B,Z,\varphi)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(B,\varphi)} \leqslant C(L)A^{-1}e^{c_w\kappa_L w_j(B,\varphi)^2}, \tag{4.101}$$

$$\|D\overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_j(Z,\varphi)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j(Z,\varphi)} \leqslant C(A,L)A^{-(1+\eta)|Z|_{j+1}}e^{c_w\kappa_Lw_j(Z,\varphi)^2},$$
(4.102)

for some constants C(L), C(A,L) > 0, being differentiable in the indicated space.

Proof. The proof is direct recalling $x \mapsto Q_j(x)$ is linear, the bound (4.86) and (4.37),(4.38) for the definition of $\mathscr{D}Q_j$ and $\overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_j$.

Now for brevity, we define the following expressions which appear as part of the definitions of the $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k)}$:

$$F(\mathfrak{K}_{j},T,X) = e^{\mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}|X| + \overline{U}_{j+1}(X\setminus T)}$$
(4.103)

$$H(\mathfrak{K}_{j}, X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (B_{Z''})) = \mathbb{E}\left[(e^{U_{j}} - e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}})^{X_{0}} (\overline{K}_{j} - \overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_{j})^{[X_{1}]} \right]$$

$$\times \prod_{Z'' \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Z)} \mathscr{D}Q_{j}(B, Z'').$$
(4.104)

Lemma 4.4.6. Under the same assumptions as in Lemma 4.4.2,

$$\mathscr{A}_{1}(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x),X) = \mathbb{1}_{|X|_{j+1}=1} \mathbb{E}[e^{U_{j}(X)} - U_{j}(X) - e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}(X)} + \overline{U}_{j+1}(X)]$$

$$(4.105)$$

$$\mathscr{A}_{2}(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x),T) = \sum_{X_{0},X_{1},Z,(B_{Z''})}^{\#(X_{0},X_{1},Z,E) \ge 2} H(x,X_{0},X_{1},Z,(B_{Z''}))$$
(4.106)

with $T = X_0 \cup X_1 \cup (\cup_{Z'' \in \operatorname{Comp}_{i+1}(Z)} B^*_{Z''})$ are differentiable in x with

$$\|DH(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x), X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (B_{Z''}))\|_{\mathfrak{f}, T_{j+1}(T)} \leqslant C_{A}A^{-(1+\frac{\eta}{4})|X|_{j+1}}|x|^{\max\{1, \frac{\#(X_{0}, X_{1}, Z)-1}{2}\}}$$
(4.107)

$$\|D\mathscr{A}_{l}(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x),X)\|_{\mathfrak{f},T_{j+1}(T)} \leq CA^{-(1+\eta)|X|_{j+1}}|x|, \quad l=1,2$$
(4.108)

for some $\eta > 0$, $C_A \equiv C_A(A,L)$, $C \equiv C(L)$ and H defined by (4.104). Moreover, each derivative is continuous in x.

Proof. The differentiability of \mathscr{A}_1 follows from (4.82) and (4.83). To see its bound, let $X = B \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}$. We have $\mathbb{E}[e^{U_j(B)} - U_j(B) - e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}(B)} + \overline{U}_{j+1}(B)] = \mathbb{E}[((e^{U_j} - 1 - U_j) + (e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}} - 1 - \overline{U}_{j+1}))(B)]$, and (4.84) implies

$$\begin{split} \|D\mathbb{E}[(e^{U_j}-1-U_j)](B, \varphi')\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_{j+1}(B, \varphi')} &\leq C\mathbb{E}[e^{c_w \kappa_L w_j (B, \varphi'+\zeta)^2}]|x| \leq C' G_{j+1}(B, \varphi')|x| \\ (4.109) \end{split}$$
where the second inequality follows from $\mathbb{E}[e^{c_w \kappa_L w_j (B, \varphi'+\zeta)^2}] \leq \mathbb{E}[G_j(B, \varphi'+\zeta)] \leq 2^{L^2} G_{j+1}(B, \varphi')$
see Lemma 3.3.4 and Proposition 3.3.5. The same estimate applies to $e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}} - 1 - \overline{U}_{j+1}$ and

hence

$$\|D\mathscr{A}_1(\mathfrak{K}_j(x), B)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_{j+1}(B)} \leq C|x|.$$

$$(4.110)$$

To show the differentiability of \mathscr{A}_2 , we can apply Proposition 4.4.4. To see this, expand

$$H(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x), X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (B_{Z''})) = \sum_{Y_{0}, Y_{1}} (-1)^{|Y_{0}|_{j+1} + |\operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Y_{1})|} \times \mathbb{E}\Big[(e^{U_{j}} - 1)^{X_{0} \setminus Y_{0}} (e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}} - 1)^{Y_{0}} (\overline{K_{j}})^{[X_{1} \setminus Y_{1}]} (\overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_{j})^{[Y_{1}]} \Big] \prod_{Z'' \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Z)} \mathscr{D}Q_{j}(B, Z'')$$

$$(4.111)$$

where the sum runs over $Y_0 \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}(X_0)$ and $\operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Y_1) \subset \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(X_1)$. For fixed X_0 , $X_1, Z, Y_0 \subset X_0$ and $Y_1 \subset X_1$, let $\mathscr{Q} = \mathscr{B}_{j+1}(X_0) \cup \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(X_1) \cup \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Z) \cup \mathscr{B}_{j+1}(T^c)$

where $T = X_0 \cup X_1 \cup Z$ and define

$$F_{x}(Q, \varphi', \zeta) = \begin{cases} e^{U_{j}(Q, \varphi' + \zeta)} - 1 & \text{if } Q \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}(X_{0} \setminus Y_{0}) \\ e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}(Q, \varphi')} - 1 & \text{if } Q \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}(Y_{0}) \\ \overline{K}_{j}(Q, \varphi' + \zeta) & \text{if } Q \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(X_{1} \setminus Y_{1}) \\ \overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_{j}(Q, \varphi') & \text{if } Q \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Y_{1}) \\ \mathscr{D}Q_{j}(B_{Q}, Q, \varphi') & \text{if } Q \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Z) \\ 1 & \text{if } Q \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}(T^{c}), \end{cases}$$

$$(4.112)$$

and

$$\mathscr{G}(Q, \varphi', \zeta) = \begin{cases} e^{c_w \kappa_L w_j(Q, \varphi' + \zeta)} & \text{if } Q \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}(X_0 \setminus Y_0) \\ e^{c_w \kappa_L w_j(Q, \varphi')} & \text{if } Q \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}(Y_0) \cup \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Y_1) \cup \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Z) \\ G_j(Q, \varphi' + \zeta) & \text{if } Q \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(X_1 \setminus Y_1) \\ 1 & \text{if } Q \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}(T^c). \end{cases}$$

$$(4.113)$$

Then Proposition 4.4.4 with the assumption that $\mathfrak{K}_j \in \mathscr{X}_j^{\mathfrak{K}}(\mathbb{X})$ (i.e., it satisfies the bounds (4.81)–(4.102)) shows \mathscr{A}_2 is differentiable and

$$\|D\mathscr{A}_{2}(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x),X)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X)} \leqslant \sum_{X_{0},X_{1},Y_{0},Y_{1},Z,(B_{Z''})}^{\#(X_{0},X_{1},Z) \ge 2} E(X_{0},X_{1},Y_{0},Y_{1},Z,(B_{Z''}))$$
(4.114)

$$E(X_0, X_1, Y_0, Y_1, Z, (B_{Z''})) = C_A A^{-(1+\eta/2)|T|_{j+1}} |x|^{\max\{1, \frac{\#(X_0, X_1, Z) - 1}{2}\}}$$
(4.115)

First consider the cases $\#(X_0, X_1, Z) \ge 4$ and note that $\max\{1, \frac{\#(X_0, X_1, Z) - 1}{2}\} = \frac{\#(X_0, X_1, Z) - 1}{2}$. Since $X_0, X_1, Y_0, Y_1, (B_{Z''}), Z \setminus (\bigcup_{Z''} B_{Z''})$ and $X \setminus T$ partition *X*, one may bound the sum by a sum running over partitions of *X* partitioned into 7 subsets. This gives a crude combinatorial bound

$$\sum_{X_{0},X_{1},Y_{0},Y_{1},Z,(B_{Z''})}^{\#(X_{0},X_{1},Z) \ge 4} E(X_{0},X_{1},Y_{0},Y_{1},Z,(B_{Z''})) \leqslant C_{A}7^{|X|_{j+1}} \sup A^{-(1+\frac{\eta}{2})|T|_{j+1}} |x|^{\frac{\#(X_{0},X_{1},Z)-1}{2}}$$

$$(4.116)$$

where the supremum also runs over the choices of $X_0, X_1, Y_0, Y_1, Z, (B_{Z''})$. Also with the assumption $7A^{-\eta/4} \leq 1$, this can also be bounded by

$$C_{A}A^{-(1+\frac{\eta}{4})|X|_{j+1}}\sup A^{(1+\frac{\eta}{2})|X\setminus T|_{j+1}}|x|^{\frac{\#(X_{0},X_{1},Z)-1}{2}}.$$
(4.117)

But $|X \setminus T|_{j+1} = |\bigcup_{Z''} (B^*_{Z''} \setminus Z'')|_{j+1} \leq 48|Z|_{j+1}$, so $A^{|X \setminus T|_{j+1}} \leq A^{48|Z|_{j+1}}$. Since each connected component of *Z* is a small set, it follows that $|Z|_{j+1} \leq 4|\operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Z)|$, and hence the condition $A^{192(1+\eta/4)}|x|^{1/8} \leq 1$ gives

$$A^{(1+\frac{\eta}{4})|X|_{j+1}} \sum_{X_0, X_1, Y_1, Y_2, Z, (B_{Z''})}^{\#(X_0, X_1, Z) \ge 4} E(X_0, X_1, Y_0, Y_1, Z, (B_{Z''})) \leqslant C|x|.$$
(4.118)

For the cases $\#(X_0, X_1, Z) \in \{2, 3\}$, we have $|X_0|_{j+1} \leq 3$ and $|\bigcup_{Z''} B^*_{Z''}|_{j+1} \leq 3 \times 49$ so

$$A^{(1+\frac{\eta}{4})|X|_{j+1}}\sum_{X_0,X_1,Y_1,Y_2,Z,(B_{Z''})}^{\#(X_0,X_1,Z)\in\{2,3\}}E(X_0,X_1,Y_0,Y_1,Z,(B_{Z''})) \leqslant C_A|x|$$
(4.119)

by just setting C_A sufficiently large depending on A.

The continuity of *DG* and $D\mathscr{A}_l$ is a result of the continuity of the derivative in Proposition 4.4.4.

Proof of Lemma 4.4.2, case $k \in \{1, 2, 3\}$. Consider the function

$$M_{j+1}(x,x') = \sum_{X_0,X_1,Z,(B_{Z''})}^{\#(X_0,X_1,Z) \ge 2} F(\mathfrak{K}_j(x),T,X)H(\mathfrak{K}_j(x'),X_0,X_1,Z,(B_{Z''}))$$
(4.120)

and recall that *F* and *H* are defined by (4.103) and (4.104), and we emphasise that abpve *F* uses *x* to define E_{j+1} and U_{j+1} while *H* uses *x'*, so that $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(1)}(\mathfrak{K}_j(x)) = M_{j+1}(x,x)$. By Lemmas 6.4.4 and 4.4.6, $M_{j+1}(x,x')$, $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(2)}(\mathfrak{K}_j(x'))$ and $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(3)}(\mathfrak{K}_j(x'))$ are differentiable in *x'* with the desired bounds. For the *x* derivative of $M_{j+1}(x,x')$, we justify the differentiability more carefully: let

$$f_x^{\dot{x}}(T,X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}') = (D\mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}(\dot{x})|X| + D\overline{U}_{j+1}(X\backslash T)(\dot{x}))F(\mathfrak{K}_j(x),T,X)$$

$$(4.121)$$

$$\#(X_0,X_1,Z) \ge 2$$

$$m_{x}^{\dot{x}}(X, \varphi') = \sum_{X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (B_{Z''})}^{*} f_{x}^{\dot{x}}(T, X) H(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x'), X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (B_{Z''})).$$
(4.122)

Letting $\delta_{\dot{x}}M_{j+1}(x,x') = M_{j+1}(x+\dot{x},x') - M_{j+1}(x,x') - m_{\dot{x}}^{\dot{x}}$, the bounds (4.82) and (4.107) give

$$\begin{split} \|\delta_{\dot{x}}M_{j+1}(x,x')(X,\varphi')\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi')} \\ &\leqslant C_{A}\sum_{X_{0},X_{1},Z,(B_{Z''})}^{\#(X_{0},X_{1},Z)\geqslant2} C^{|X|_{j+1}}(A^{-1-\eta})^{|X|_{j+1}}e^{c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(X\setminus T,\varphi')^{2}}G_{j+1}(T,\varphi')|\dot{x}|^{2}|x'|^{\max\{2,\frac{\#(X_{0},X_{1},Z)+1}{2}\}} \\ &\leqslant C_{A}\sup(5C)^{|X|_{j+1}}(A^{-1-\eta})^{|X|_{j+1}}G_{j+1}(X,\varphi')|\dot{x}|^{2}|x'|^{\max\{2,\frac{\#(X_{0},X_{1},Z)+1}{2}\}}$$
(4.123)

where the supremum ranges over $X_0, X_1, Z, (B_{Z''})$ with $\#(X_0, X_1, Z) \ge 2$. Choosing $5CA^{-\frac{\eta}{2}} \le 1$,

$$\|\delta_{\dot{x}}M_{j+1}(x,x')(X,\varphi')\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi')} \leqslant C_A A^{-(1+\frac{\eta}{2})|X|_{j+1}} G_{j+1}(X,\varphi')|\dot{x}|^2|x'|^2.$$
(4.124)

Therefore $M_{j+1}(x,x')(X)$ is differentiable in x and the same computation gives the bound

$$\|\partial_{x}M_{j+1}(x,x')(X)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X)} \leqslant C_{A}A^{-(1+\frac{\eta}{2})|X|_{j+1}}|x'|^{2}.$$
(4.125)

The continuity of the derivatives are results of continuity of derivatives in Lemma 4.4.6. \Box *Proof of Lemma 4.4.2, case k* = 4. We may alternatively write $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(4)} = \mathbb{E}M_{-}^{(4)} := \mathbb{E}[M_{-}^{(4,1)} + M_{-}^{(4,2)}]$ where

$$M_{-}^{(4,1)}(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x),X,\varphi',\zeta) = \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} \mathbb{1}_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}} (e^{U_{j}(X\setminus Y,\varphi'+\zeta)} - 1)K_{j}^{\dagger}(Y,\varphi'+\zeta)$$
(4.126)

$$M_{-}^{(4,2)}(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x),X,\varphi',\zeta) = \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} \mathbb{1}_{Y\notin\mathscr{S}_{j}} \mathbb{1}_{Y\notin\mathscr{S}_{j}} \mathbb{1}_{Y\notin\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}} e^{U_{j}(X\setminus Y,\varphi'+\zeta)} \prod_{Z\in\mathrm{Comp}_{j}(Y)} K_{j}^{\dagger}(Z,\varphi'+\zeta) \quad (4.127)$$

as $1_{Y \notin \mathscr{S}_j} 1_{Y \notin \mathscr{P}_j^c} = 1_{Y \notin \mathscr{P}_j^c}$. By (4.82),

$$\|De^{U_{j}(X\setminus Y,\varphi)}(\dot{x})\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \leq C(\delta,L)e^{(1+C(\delta,L)|x|)(|X\setminus Y|_{j}+\delta c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(X\setminus Y,\varphi)^{2})}|\dot{x}|$$

$$\leq C(L)e^{2|X\setminus Y|_{j}}e^{c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(X\setminus Y,\varphi)}|\dot{x}|$$
(4.128)

for $\delta < 1/2$ and $|x| \leq \frac{1}{C(\delta,L)}$ and then the mean value theorem gives

$$\|e^{U_j(X\setminus Y,\varphi)} - 1\|_{h,T_j(X,\varphi)} \leqslant C(L)e^{2|X\setminus Y|_j}e^{c_w\kappa_L w_j(X\setminus Y,\varphi)}|x|.$$
(4.129)

So using (4.128) to bound $\partial_{U_j} M_-^{(4)}$ and (4.129) to bound $\partial_{K_j} M_-^{(4)}$, and since $x \mapsto K_j$ is linear and bounded, we see that

$$\|DM_{-}^{(4,1)}(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x),X,\varphi',\zeta)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X,\varphi')} \leq C(L)\sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} 1_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}} e^{2|X\setminus Y|_{j+1}} e^{c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(X\setminus Y)^{2}} |x|A^{-|Y|_{j}}G_{j}(Y,\varphi'+\zeta).$$
(4.130)

If $Y \in \mathscr{S}_j$, then $X \in \mathscr{S}_{j+1}$ and $|X|_{j+1} \leq |Y|_j$ so the summand on the right-hand side is bounded by $C'(A,L)A^{-(1+\eta)|X|_{j+1}}|x|$ where $C'(A,L) = C(L)A^{4\eta}$. If $Y \notin \mathscr{S}_j$, then Lemma 4.1.6 implies $|Y|_j \geq \frac{\eta}{2(1+\eta)}|Y|_j + \frac{2+\eta}{2}|X|_{j+1}$ so that

$$C(L)\sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X}1_{Y\notin\mathscr{S}_{j}}(2e^{2})^{|X|_{j+1}}A^{-|Y|_{j}}|x| \leq C(L)(2e^{2}A^{-\frac{2+\eta}{2}})^{|X|_{j+1}}|x|\sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X}A^{-\frac{\eta}{2(1+\eta)}|Y|_{j}}.$$
 (4.131)

But for $L^2 \leq A^{\frac{\eta}{2(1+\eta)}}$,

$$\sum_{Y:\overline{Y}=X} A^{-\frac{\eta}{2(1+\eta)}|Y|_{j}} \leq (1+A^{-\frac{\eta}{2(1+\eta)}})^{|X|_{j}} \leq e^{L^{2}A^{-\frac{\eta}{2(1+\eta)}}|X|_{j+1}} \leq e^{|X|_{j+1}}$$
(4.132)

so we may conclude

$$\|DM_{-}^{(4,1)}(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x),X,\varphi')\|_{\mathfrak{H},T_{j}(X,\varphi')} \leq C(A,L)(e^{3}A^{-(1+\frac{\eta}{2})})^{|X|_{j+1}}|x|G_{j}(X,\varphi'+\zeta)$$
(4.133)

For $M_{-}^{(4,2)}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|DM_{-}^{(4,2)}(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x),X,\varphi',\zeta)\|_{\mathfrak{f},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi')} \\ \leqslant C(L)\sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}\setminus\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}}^{\overline{Y}=X} \mathbf{1}_{Y\notin\mathscr{S}_{j}}|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|A^{-|Y|_{j}}e^{2|X\setminus Y|_{j}}e^{c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(X\setminus Y,\varphi)}G_{j}(Y,\varphi'+\zeta)|x|^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|-1} \\ \leqslant C(L)G_{j}(X,\varphi'+\zeta)e^{2L^{2}|X|_{j+1}}\sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}\setminus\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}}^{\overline{Y}=X}\mathbf{1}_{Y\notin\mathscr{S}_{j}}(e^{2}A/2)^{-|Y|_{j}}|x|^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|-1}. \end{split}$$
(4.134)

But by Lemma 4.1.7, this is bounded by

$$C(L)G_{j}(X,\varphi'+\zeta)e^{2L^{2}|X|_{j+1}}(2e^{-1}L^{2}A^{-1-\eta})^{|X|_{j+1}}|x|$$
(4.135)

for some $\eta > 0$. Hence for sufficiently large *A*, we have

$$\|DM_{-}^{(4,2)}(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x),X,\varphi')\|_{\mathfrak{f},T_{j}(X,\varphi')} \leq C(L)A^{-(1+\eta/2)|X|_{j+1}}|x|G_{j}(X,\varphi'+\zeta)$$
(4.136)

and the same bounds also imply the differentiability of $D\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(4)}$ with bound

$$\|D\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(4)}(\mathfrak{K}_{j}(x))\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi')} \leqslant C(A,L)A^{-(1+\frac{\eta}{3})|X|_{j+1}}|x|G_{j+1}(X,\varphi').$$
(4.137)

The continuity of the derivative is a consequence of continuity of derivatives in Lemma 4.4.6. $\hfill\square$

Chapter 5

Localisation of periodic polymer activities

This chapter is dedicated to identifying the localisation and the mechanisms that are used to prove the contraction of the linearised renormalisation group map. In Chapter 4, we have already seen that terms in polymer expansions that are algebraically of degree ≥ 2 are also analytically of degree ≥ 2 in appropriate norms. Thus the results of this chapter combined with the previous chapter would complete the picture for proving the analytic properties of the polymer expansion introduced in Definition 4.2.1. Ultimately, the contraction estimates will become the key component for showing the stability of the renormalisation group flow, when the localisation and the coupling constants are chosen correctly.

There are essentially three sources of contraction in our setup, one relying on the periodicity (which is inherited from the original potential), one from terms only involving the gradients $\nabla^n \varphi$ of order n > 2, and one coming from large polymers $X \notin \mathscr{S}_j$. The final one is already proved in Proposition 4.1.5, so we focus on the first two mechanisms.

The main results of this chapter are Propositions 5.2.2 and 5.2.3, which concern small polymers. Most of the remainder of this section consists of supporting arguments that are used only for the proof of these propositions and will not be applied directly in the rest of this paper.

5.1 Periodicity, charge decomposition, and lattice symmetries

For a field $\varphi = (\varphi_x)$ and scalar $t \in \mathbb{R}$ we often write $\varphi + t = (\varphi_x + t)$ in the sequel. Our starting point is the following *charge decomposition* of a globally periodic field functional,

introduced in [29]. The period would depend on the parameter β , but we would not make the dependence always explicit.

Definition 5.1.1. Let $\beta > 0$. Then a polymer activity F is $2\pi/\sqrt{\beta}$ -periodic if $t \in \mathbb{R} \mapsto F(X, \varphi + t)$ is $2\pi/\sqrt{\beta}$ -periodic. Its Fourier expansion in the constant field is denoted by

$$F(X, \boldsymbol{\varphi} + t) = \sum_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{i\sqrt{\beta}qt} \hat{F}_q(X, \boldsymbol{\varphi}), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}$$
(5.1)

where

$$\hat{F}_q(X, \varphi) = \int_0^1 dc \ e^{-2\pi i q c} F(X, \varphi + 2\pi \beta^{-1/2} c), \quad q \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(5.2)

The polymer activity \hat{F}_q is called the charge-q part of F (and the neutral part when q = 0). Moreover, a polymer activity F is said to have charge q if $F = \hat{F}_q$ and neutral if has charge 0.

We simply refer to a $2\pi/\sqrt{\beta}$ -periodic polymer activity for some $\beta > 0$ as *periodic* in the sequel. In doing so, we always assume that statements hold for any value of β , unless explicitly stated otherwise.

Notice that the smoothness assumption on F guarantees the existence and absolute convergence of the Fourier series (5.1). Moreover, F having charge q is equivalent to the condition that

$$F(X, \varphi + t) = e^{i\sqrt{\beta}qt}F(X, \varphi), \quad \text{for all } t \in \mathbb{R}$$
(5.3)

(the direct implication follows plainly from (5.2) and the converse by comparing (5.3) and (5.1)).

For later use, we record the following instance of the above setup. For any polymer activity $F(X, \varphi)$ as appearing in Definition 5.1.1, fixing a point $x_0 \in X$ and denoting $\delta \varphi(x) = \varphi(x) - \varphi(x_0)$, using that $F(X, \varphi) = F(X, \varphi(x_0) + \delta \varphi)$, one sees that

$$F(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \sum_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{i\sqrt{\beta}q\boldsymbol{\varphi}(x_0)} \hat{F}_q(X, \boldsymbol{\delta}\boldsymbol{\varphi}).$$
(5.4)

The following elementary lemma states that the charge-q part \hat{F}_q of a polymer activity is bounded in terms of the norm of the polymer activity (defined in Definition 3.2.4).

Lemma 5.1.2. Let *F* be a periodic polymer activity. For all $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$ and $X \in \mathscr{P}_i^c$,

$$\|\widehat{F}_{q}(X,\varphi)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \leqslant \|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X)}G_{j}(X,\varphi).$$
(5.5)

Proof. The inequality (5.5) is obtained by starting from (5.2) and then using the definition of the norm: for $(f_k)_{k=1}^n$ with $||f_k||_{C^2_i(X^*)} \leq 1$ for each k,

$$|D^{n}\hat{F}_{q}(X,\varphi)(f_{1},\cdots,f_{n})| \leq \int_{0}^{1} ds |D^{n}F(X,\varphi+2\pi\beta^{-1/2}s)(f_{1},\cdots,f_{n})|$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{1} ds ||D^{n}F(X,\varphi+2\pi\beta^{-1/2}s)||_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi)}$$
(5.6)

hence

$$\|\hat{F}_{q}(X,\varphi)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \leqslant \int_{0}^{1} ds \|F(X,\cdot)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X)} G_{j}(X,\varphi+2\pi\beta^{-1/2}s)$$
(5.7)

$$\stackrel{\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{4}1)}{=} \|F(X,\cdot)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} G_j(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}). \tag{5.8}$$

The localisation operators which will be used to exact the relevant and marginal part from the remainder coordinates rely on the charge decomposition as well as on lattice symmetries, so we define these first.

Definition 5.1.3. A scale-*j* polymer activity $F = (F(X))_{X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c}$ is even if $F(X, \varphi) = F(X, -\varphi)$ for each (X, φ) . *F* is invariant under lattice symmetries if for every graph automorphism *A* of the torus Λ_N that maps any block in \mathscr{B}_j to a block in \mathscr{B}_j one has $F(AX, A\varphi) = F(X, \varphi)$ where $(A\varphi)(x) = \varphi(A^{-1}x)$. The meaning is analogues for polymer activities on \mathbb{Z}^2 .

5.2 Localisation operator

The main result of Section 5 are the following localisation operators $Loc_{X,B}$ which will be used to exact the relevant and marginal part from the remainder coordinates. Our notation $Loc_{X,B}$ is inspired by that of [26], but compared to this reference, the contraction mechanisms in this section rely on oscillations under the Gaussian expectation for the charged terms in addition. These operators are given in the next definition, but the explicit definition does not play a direct role in the remainder of the paper: all that we will require in the following sections are its main properties which are stated in Propositions 5.2.2 and 5.2.3 below.

The intuition that motivates the definition of Loc (and is substantiated by its properties stated in the next propositions) is related to which terms of a given periodic polymer *F* are *relevant* or *marginal*: all the higher order Fourier coefficients \hat{F}_q , $q \ge 1$, contract at large β (i.e., they become irrelevant along the renormalisation group flow), cf. Lemma 5.4.7 below, and so does the neutral part \hat{F}_0 after removal of its Taylor expansion in $\nabla \varphi$ up to terms of

second order, cf. Lemma 5.4.12 below. The combination of these mechanisms culminates in Proposition 5.2.3. These considerations motivates the localisation to be an approximation of the Taylor expansion of the neutral part of the polymer activities. Moreover, it is sufficient to exhibit these cancellations for small polymers $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$. Large polymers contract automatically (due to their size), as was seen in Section 4.1.3, in particular Proposition 4.1.5.

Definition 5.2.1. Let *F* be a periodic scale-*j* polymer activity, and let \hat{F}_0 be its neutral part. For $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$ and $B \in \mathscr{B}_j(X)$, define

$$\operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}^{(0)} F(X, \varphi) = \hat{F}_0(X, 0).$$
(5.9)

If H is an even periodic scale-j polymer activity and respects lattice symmetries, define

$$\operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}^{(2)} H(X, \varphi) = \frac{1}{8|X||B|} \sum_{x_0, y_0 \in B} \sum_{x_1, x_2 \in X^*} \partial_{\varphi(x_1)} \partial_{\varphi(x_2)} \hat{H}_0(X, 0) \\
\times \sum_{\mu, \nu \in \hat{e}} (1 + \delta_{\mu, \nu} - \delta_{\mu, -\nu}) \nabla^{\mu} \varphi(y_0) (\delta x_1)^{\mu} \nabla^{\nu} \varphi(y_0) (\delta x_2)^{\nu}$$
(5.10)

where $\delta x_i = x_i - x_0$ for $i \in \{1,2\}$ and y^{μ} is the μ -component of y with the convention $y^{-\mu} = -y^{\mu}$, and let

$$\operatorname{Loc}_{X,B} H(X) = \operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}^{(0)} H(X) + \operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}^{(2)} H(X).$$
(5.11)

Then define

$$\operatorname{Loc}_{X}^{(0)}F(X) = \sum_{B \in \mathscr{B}_{j}(X)} \operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}^{(0)}F(X)$$

$$\operatorname{Loc}_{X}H(X) = \sum_{B \in \mathscr{B}_{j}(X)} \operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}H(X), \qquad \operatorname{Loc}_{X}^{(2)}H(X) = \sum_{B \in \mathscr{B}_{j}(X)} \operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}^{(2)}H(X)$$
(5.12)

In the definition of $\text{Loc}^{(2)}$, although the points x_0, x_1, x_2 live in Λ_N , since they are restricted to a small polymer $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$ (that doe not 'wrap' around the torus), we can define the subtraction $\delta x_i = x_i - x_0$ in the local coordinates of *X*.

As one can see from the definition, we use $Loc^{(0)}$ for localising periodic polymer activities without any symmetry and use Loc for localising even periodic polymer activities with lattice symmetries. Without the presence of the external field, we can define the (bulk) polymer activities that always preserve the symmetries, so only Loc appears in the bulk renormalisation group flow.

5.2.1 Algebraic property

Following our convention, recall that *j* is tacitly allowed to take values j = 1, ..., N - 1 for a given torus of side length L^N and the following statements hold uniformly in *N* (and *L* unless stated otherwise). We emphasise that $\text{Loc}_X F$ is meant to be the Taylor expansion of \hat{F}_0 in the second order, so it is a second degree polynomial of $\nabla \varphi$. But by the specific definition of of it, we see that the localisation only contains terms of specific form.

In the following proposition and the rest of the chapter, again recall that \mathbb{E} means we are taking expectation over $\zeta \sim \mathcal{N}(0,\Gamma_{j+1})$ if j+1 < N and $\zeta \sim \mathcal{N}(0,\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N})$ if j+1 = N. The non-random part of the field is often denoted φ' .

Proposition 5.2.2. Let *F*, *H* be periodic scale-*j* polymer activity such that *H* is even and invariant under lattice symmetries. Then there are scalars $\overline{E} = \overline{E}(F)$, $\overline{s} = \overline{s}(H)$ satisfying (with purely geometric implicit constants)

$$\overline{E} = O(A^{-1}L^{-2j} \|F\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j}), \quad \overline{s} = O(A^{-1}\mathfrak{h}^{-2} \|H\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j})$$
(5.13)

such that for any $B \in \mathscr{B}_j$,

$$\sum_{X \in \mathscr{S}_{j}: X \supset B} \operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}^{(0)} \mathbb{E} \theta_{\zeta} F(X, \varphi') = \overline{E} |B|$$
(5.14)

$$\sum_{X \in \mathscr{S}_j: X \supset B} \operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}^{(2)} \mathbb{E} \theta_{\zeta} H(X, \varphi') = \frac{1}{2} \overline{s} |\nabla \varphi'|_B^2$$
(5.15)

where the localisation operators are applied on the variable φ' . Moreover, whenever $||F||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j}, ||H||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j} < \infty$, both $\overline{E} = \overline{E}(F)$ and $\overline{s} = \overline{s}(H)$ are continuous functions of the implicit parameter $s \in [-\varepsilon_s \theta_J, \varepsilon_s \theta_J]$ (inherent to \mathbb{E}).

5.2.2 Analytic properties

Since localisations approximate the polymer activities, we can also write estimates on the error of the approximation, stated in terms of

$$\alpha_{\text{Loc}} = L^{-3} (\log L)^{3/2} + \min\left\{1, \sum_{q \ge 1} e^{4\sqrt{\beta}qh} e^{-(q-1/2)r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}\right\}$$
(5.16)

$$\alpha_{\text{Loc}}^{(0)} = L^{-1} (\log L)^{1/2} + \min\left\{1, \sum_{q \ge 1} e^{4\sqrt{\beta}qh} e^{-(q-1/2)r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}\right\}.$$
 (5.17)

As mentioned in Section 3.2.3, h will be a constant in the end, while \mathfrak{h} is allowed to depend on the scale. We distinguish the role of h and \mathfrak{h} because of this reason.

Proposition 5.2.3. There exists a constant $c_h > 0$ such that the following holds. Let $r \in (0,1]$ and assume that $2h \ge \mathfrak{h} \ge \max\{rc_h\rho_J^{-2}\sqrt{\beta},\rho_J^{-1}\}$, that $\kappa_L = c_\kappa\rho_J^2(\log L)^{-1}$ as in Proposition 3.3.5, and that $L \ge C$ and $A \ge 1$. Then for all $\varphi' \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$, $h_{h_{\omega}} < (C_1 \log L)^{-1}\mathfrak{h}$ for sufficiently large C_1 and some $C_2 > 0$,

(i) if F is a periodic ω -polymer activity at scale j and $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$,

$$\left\| (\operatorname{Loc}_{X}^{(0)} - 1) \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)} \theta_{\zeta} F(X, \cdot) \right\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_{j+1}(\overline{X})} \leqslant C_{2} \alpha_{\operatorname{Loc}}^{(0)} A^{-|X|_{j}} \|F\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_{j}};$$
(5.18)

(i) if F is an even periodic ω -polymer activity at scale j and $X \in \mathscr{S}_{j}$,

$$\left\| (\operatorname{Loc}_{X} - 1) \mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})} \boldsymbol{\theta}_{\zeta} F(X, \cdot) \right\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_{j+1}(\overline{X})} \leqslant C_{2} \alpha_{\operatorname{Loc}} A^{-|X|_{j}} \|F\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_{j}}.$$
(5.19)

Proposition 5.2.4. Let *F* be a periodic ω -polymer activity and $h_{\omega} < (C_1 \log L)^{-1} \mathfrak{h}$ for sufficiently large C_1 . Then $\operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}^{(0)}$ and $\operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}$ are bounded in the sense (note the T_j instead of T_{j+1} norm on the left-hand side)

$$\|\operatorname{Loc}_{X}^{(0)}\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}\theta_{\zeta}F(X,\varphi')\|_{h_{\omega},T} \leqslant C\|F(X)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X)}$$
(5.20)

$$\|\operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}\theta_{\zeta}F(X,\varphi')\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X,\varphi')} \leqslant C(\log L)\|F(X)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X)}e^{c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(B,\varphi')^{2}},$$
(5.21)

and $\operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}^{(0)} \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)} \theta_{\zeta} F(X)$ and $\operatorname{Loc}_{X,B} \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)} \theta_{\zeta} F(X)$ are continuous in the implicit parameter $s \in [-\varepsilon_s \theta_J, \varepsilon_s \theta_J]$ (inherent to $\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}$) with respect to the same norms.

In our application (carried out precisely in Section 7.3), we will choose $h \leq rc_h \rho_J^{-2} \sqrt{\beta}$. The expression for α_{Loc} can then be simplified as follows: since then

$$e^{4\sqrt{\beta}h} \leqslant C' e^{4rc_h \rho_J^{-2}\beta} \tag{5.22}$$

and for j + 1 < N, the maximum in (5.16) is bounded by

$$e^{-\frac{1}{2}r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}e^{4\sqrt{\beta}h}\sum_{q\geq 0}e^{4\sqrt{\beta}qh}L^{-qr\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)} \leqslant \left(Ce^{-\frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}\right)^{r\beta}\sum_{q\geq 0}\left(Ce^{-\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}\right)^{qr\beta}$$
(5.23)

for $C = C'e^{4c_h}$. By Corollary 3.1.1, the covariances satisfy $\Gamma_j(0) \sim (4/\beta_{\text{free}} + O(s/\beta_{\text{free}}^2)) \log L$ with $\beta_{\text{free}} = 8\pi(v_J^2 + s)$. For any $\theta \in (0, 1/2]$ and β is sufficiently large so that $r\beta > 1/2$ $\beta_{\text{free}}(1+2\theta)$, it follows that if *L* is sufficiently large depending on *C*, θ , and v_J (to ensure that $C \leq e^{\frac{1}{4}\theta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}$), and *s* is sufficiently small,

$$(Ce^{-\frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{j+1}(0)})^{r\beta} \leqslant L^{-2r\beta(1-\theta/2)\left((1/\beta_{\text{free}}+O(s/\beta_{\text{free}}^2)\right)} \leqslant L^{-2(1+2\theta)(1-\theta/2)} \leqslant L^{-2(1+\theta)}, \quad (5.24)$$

and hence (5.23) is bounded by $CL^{-2-2\theta}$. In particular,

$$\alpha_{\text{Loc}} \leqslant C(L^{-3}(\log L)^{3/2} + L^{-2-2\theta}) \leqslant L^{-2-\theta}.$$
(5.25)

The contractivity of the (bulk) renormalisation group map will later be ensured by $CL^2 \alpha_{Loc} < CL^{-\theta} < 1$.

Much of the remainder of this section is concerned with the proof of these propositions. Proposition 5.2.2 is a relatively straightforward consequence of the definitions. Proposition 5.2.3 is more involved and combines different contraction mechanisms for neutral and charged terms. We thus discuss these mechanisms separately.

5.3 Symmetries of Loc-proof of Proposition 5.2.2

Proof of Proposition 5.2.2. (5.14) is relatively easy to see, as

$$\overline{E} = \frac{1}{|B|} \sum_{X \in \mathscr{S}_j : X \supset B} \operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}^{(0)} \mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta} F(X, \varphi') = \sum_{X \in \mathscr{S}_j : X \supset B} \frac{1}{|X|} \mathbb{E}\hat{F}_0(X, \zeta).$$
(5.26)

Also, by Definition 5.2.1, the left-hand side of (5.15) equals

$$\sum_{X \in \mathscr{S}_{j}: X \supset B} \frac{1}{|X||B|} \sum_{x_{0}, y_{0} \in B} \sum_{x_{1}, x_{2} \in X^{*}} \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\varphi(x_{1})} \partial_{\varphi(x_{2})} \mathbb{E} \hat{H}_{0}(X, \zeta) \langle \nabla \varphi'(y_{0}), x_{1} - x_{0}, \nabla \varphi'(y_{0}), x_{2} - x_{0} \rangle,$$
(5.27)

where

$$\langle \nabla \varphi'(y_0), y_1, \nabla \varphi'(y_0), y_2 \rangle = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\mu, \nu \in \hat{e}} (1 + \delta_{\mu, \nu} - \delta_{\mu, -\nu}) \nabla^{\mu} \varphi'(y_0) y_1^{\mu} \nabla^{\nu} \varphi'(y_0) y_2^{\nu}.$$
(5.28)

As we now explain, by invariance under lattice rotations, only the diagonal terms in the inner product contribute and we see that this expression equals the right-hand side of (5.15) with

$$\bar{s} = \sum_{X \in \mathscr{S}_{j}: X \supset B} \frac{1}{|X||B|} \sum_{x_{0} \in B, x_{1}, x_{2} \in X^{*}} \partial_{\varphi(x_{1})} \partial_{\varphi(x_{2})} \mathbb{E}\hat{H}_{0}(X, \zeta)(x_{1} - x_{0}, x_{2} - x_{0}),$$
(5.29)

where (\cdot, \cdot) is the standard ℓ^2 inner product. To see this in detail, expand (5.27) using the definition (5.28) and let $I_{\mu\nu}$ be the (scaled) coefficient of $\nabla^{\mu} \varphi'(y_0) \nabla^{\nu} \varphi'(y_0)$ written explicitly as

$$I_{\mu\nu} = i_{\mu\nu} \sum_{X \in \mathscr{S}_j: X \supset B} \frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{x_0 \in B} \sum_{x_1, x_2 \in X^*} \partial_{\varphi(x_1)} \partial_{\varphi(x_2)} \mathbb{E} \hat{F}_0(X, \zeta) (x_1 - x_0)^{\mu} (x_2 - x_0)^{\nu}$$
(5.30)

where $i_{\mu\mu} = 2$, $i_{(-\mu)\mu} = 0$ and $i_{\mu\nu} = 1$ if $\mu \perp \nu$. But by rotational invariance, we have $I_{\mu\mu} = I_{\nu\nu}$ for any $\mu, \nu \in \hat{e}$, so

$$I_{\mu\mu} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\nu \in \hat{e}} I_{\nu\nu} = \sum_{X \in \mathscr{S}_j : X \supset B} \frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{x_0 \in B} \sum_{x_1, x_2 \in X^*} \partial_{\varphi(x_1)} \partial_{\varphi(x_2)} \mathbb{E} \hat{F}_0(X, \zeta) (x_1 - x_0, x_2 - x_0) \quad (5.31)$$

Therefore summing over $\mu = \pm v$ and $y_0 \in B$ simply gives $\frac{1}{2}\overline{s}|\nabla \varphi'|_B^2$. Now for the case $\mu \perp v$, it is direct from the expression that $I_{(-\mu)\nu} = -I_{\mu\nu}$ and $I_{\mu\nu} = I_{\nu\mu}$. But since $\mu \perp \nu$, by rotation invariance, $I_{\nu(-\mu)} = I_{\mu\nu}$ and it follows that $I_{\mu\nu} = 0$.

To bound \bar{s} , let $f_v^{x_0}(x_1) = (x_1 - x_0)^v$ for $x_1 \in X^*$ and a fixed $x_0 \in X$. Then $||f_v^{x_0}||_{C_j^2(X^*)} \leq CL^j$ and with (3.78) it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |\bar{s}| &= \left| \sum_{X \in \mathscr{S}_{j}: X \supset B} \frac{1}{|X||B|} \sum_{x_{0} \in B, \nu = 1, 2} D^{2} \mathbb{E} \hat{F}_{0}(X, \zeta) (f_{\nu}^{x_{0}}, f_{\nu}^{x_{0}}) \right] \\ &\leq C \mathfrak{h}^{-2} \sum_{X \in \mathscr{S}_{j}: X \supset B} \frac{1}{|X||B|} \sum_{x_{0} \in B, \nu = 1, 2} L^{2j} \|\mathbb{E} F(X, \zeta)\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j}(X, 0)} \\ &\leq 2^{4} C \mathfrak{h}^{-2} A^{-1} \|F\|_{h, T_{j}} \sum_{X \in \mathscr{S}_{j}: X \supset B} \frac{1}{|X|_{j}} \leq C' \mathfrak{h}^{-2} A^{-1} \|F\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j}}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.32)

The bound for *E* is proved similarly:

$$|\overline{E}| = \left|\sum_{X \in \mathscr{S}_j : X \supset B} \frac{1}{|X|} \mathbb{E}\hat{F}_0(X, 0)\right| \leq \sum_{X \in \mathscr{S}_j : X \supset B} \frac{1}{|X|} (2A)^{-|X|_j} ||F||_{\mathfrak{h}, T_j} \leq CL^{-2j} A^{-1} ||F||_{\mathfrak{h}, T_j}.$$
(5.33)

The asserted continuity in the implicit parameter *s* follows from the expressions in the first line of (5.32) and (5.33) in combination with Lemma 3.3.11. This completes the proof. \Box
5.4 **Proof of Proposition 5.2.3**

5.4.1 Preliminaries

As a preliminary to the proof of Proposition 5.2.3, we state how the norm of a polymer activity changes when measured in terms of T_{j+1} compared to the T_j -norm. We will use the following elementary inequality.

Lemma 5.4.1. Let $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$. Fix $x_0 \in X$ and for $f : X^* \to \mathbb{C}$, define $\delta f(x) = f(x) - f(x_0)$. *Then*

$$\|\delta f\|_{C_{j}^{2}(X^{*})} \leq C_{d} L^{-1} \max_{m=1,2} \|\nabla_{j+1}^{m} f\|_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})}.$$
(5.34)

for some geometric constant $C_d > 0$.

Proof. Since $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$, its small set neighbourhood X^* contains at most $2^d b$ blocks, where $b = |B^*|_j$ for any $B \in \mathscr{B}_j$. Thus the ℓ^{∞} -diameter of X^* is at most $C_d L^j$ and thus

$$\|\delta f\|_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})} = \max_{x \in X^{*}} |f(x) - f(x_{0})| \leq C_{d} L^{j} \max_{x \in X^{*}, \mu \in \hat{e}} |\nabla^{\mu} f(x)| \leq C_{d} L^{-1} \|\nabla_{j+1} f\|_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})}.$$
(5.35)

Also, for $m \ge 1$, $\nabla^m \delta f = \nabla^m f$, and the result follows.

This lemma has the following important consequence for neutral polymer activities.

Lemma 5.4.2. Let *F* be a neutral scale-*j* polymer activity. Then for $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$, $\varphi' \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$ and $n \ge 0$,

$$\|D^{n}F(X,\varphi)\|_{n,T_{j+1}(X,\varphi)} \leq (C_{d}^{-1}L)^{-n} \|D^{n}F(X,\varphi)\|_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi)}.$$
(5.36)

In particular, if F is in addition supported on $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$ (i.e., F(X) = 0 when $X \notin \mathscr{S}_j$),

$$\|F(X, \varphi)\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j+1}(X, \varphi)} \leqslant \|F(X, \varphi)\|_{C_d L^{-1}\mathfrak{h}, T_j(X, \varphi)}.$$
(5.37)

Proof. Since F is neutral, i.e. has charge q = 0, cf. (5.3), for f_1 constant-valued one has

$$DF(X,\varphi)(f_1) = f_1 \sum_{x_0 \in X} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_{x_0}} F(X,\varphi) = f_1 \frac{d}{dc} F(X,\varphi+c) \big|_{c=0} = 0$$
(5.38)

and the same reasoning implies that $D^n F(X, \varphi)(f_1, \dots, f_n) = 0$ whenever any of f_1, \dots, f_n is constant-valued. Therefore, having fixed $x_0 \in X$, for any $f_i \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$, by multilinearity,

$$D^n F(X, \varphi)(f_1, \ldots, f_n) = D^n F(X, \varphi)(\delta f_1, \ldots, \delta f_n),$$

where $(\delta f_k)(x) = f_k(x) - f_k(x_0)$. Therefore if $||f_k||_{C^2_{i+1}(X^*)} \leq 1$ for k = 1, ..., n,

$$|D^{n}F(X,\varphi)(f_{1},\ldots,f_{n})| \leq (C_{d}^{-1}L)^{-n} ||D^{n}F(X,\varphi)||_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi)}$$
(5.39)

by Lemma 5.4.1. In view of (3.40), the claim follows.

The following similar but weaker bound holds for charged polymer activities.

Lemma 5.4.3. Let *F* be a scale-*j* polymer activity of charge *q* that is supported on $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$. *Then*

$$\|F(X,\varphi)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi)} \leqslant e^{\sqrt{\beta}|q|\mathfrak{h}} \|F(X,\varphi)\|_{C_d L^{-1}\mathfrak{h},T_j(X,\varphi)}.$$
(5.40)

Proof. One may decompose $F(X, \varphi) = e^{i\sqrt{\beta}q\varphi(x_0)}F(X, \delta\varphi)$ where $\delta\varphi(x) = \varphi(x) - \varphi(x_0)$. Define $\overline{F}(X, \varphi) := F(X, \delta\varphi)$, then \overline{F} is now neutral. The estimate of Lemma 5.4.2 applies to \overline{F} , giving

$$\|\overline{F}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi})\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi})} \leqslant \|F\|_{C_d L^{-1}\mathfrak{h},T_j(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi})}.$$
(5.41)

The conclusion now follows from (3.53) and the submultiplicativity property of the norm (3.64).

5.4.2 **Proof of Proposition 5.2.3: charged part**

We will prove Proposition 5.2.3 by decomposing F into its neutral and charged part and considering both contributions separately, starting with the latter. The estimate (5.18) and (5.19) for charged F relies crucially on how the expectation acts on the charged components. The contraction mechanism for charged polymer activities is a generalisation of the elementary identity

$$\mathbb{E}[e^{i\sqrt{\beta}q\zeta_{x_0}}] = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\beta q^2 \Gamma_{j+1}(0)},\tag{5.42}$$

valid for all integers q and $\beta > 0$, where here and in the sequel, $\Gamma_{j+1}(x) = (\delta_0, \Gamma_{j+1}\delta_x)$. The generalisation uses the analyticity of polymer activities with finite $\|\cdot\|_{h,T_j}$ -norm, see Proposition 3.4.1, which justifies the following complex translation.

Lemma 5.4.4. Let $\mathfrak{h} > 0$, and let F be a charge-q polymer activity with $||F(X)||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} < \infty$, $q \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then for any constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$ with $|c| < \mathfrak{h}$,

$$F(X, \varphi + ic) = e^{-\sqrt{\beta qc}} F(X, \varphi).$$
(5.43)

Proof. First recall that by Proposition 3.4.1, $F(\varphi + z)$ is well-defined and complex analytic for $z \in \{w \in \mathbb{C} : |w| < \mathfrak{h}\}$. Hence $f : \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < \mathfrak{h}\} \to \mathbb{C}, z \mapsto F(X, \varphi + z) - e^{iq\sqrt{\beta}z}F(X, \varphi)$ is a complex analytic function that takes value 0 on the real line by (5.3). Therefore $f \equiv 0$. \Box

Before we jump into the main result, we first discuss a technical point, which defines the constant c_h appearing in the statement of Proposition 5.2.3. Ultimately we are interested in the covariance Γ_{j+1} , but to obtain the optimal estimates we must work with its subdecomposition into fractional scales introduced in Section 3.1.3. Thus for ℓ, N' as in Section 3.3.3, let $I_{N'} = \{0, (N')^{-1}, 2(N')^{-1}, \ldots 1 - (N')^{-1}\}$ be the set of fractional scales. Then for $s = k(N')^{-1} \in I_{N'}$ and $s' = s + (N')^{-1}$ (cf. Remark 3.3.8 regarding N'), set

$$\xi_s(x) = \sqrt{\beta} (\Gamma_{j+s,j+s'}(x-x_0) - \Gamma_{j+s,j+s'}(0)), \qquad \xi_{< s} = \sum_{t \in I_{N'}, t < s} \xi_t.$$
(5.44)

Lemma 5.4.5 (Choice of c_h). There exists $c_h > 0$ such that for any $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$, $s \in I_{N'}$ and $\beta > 0$,

$$\|\xi_s\|_{C^2_j(X^*)} \vee \|\xi_{< s}\|_{C^2_j(X^*)} < \frac{1}{2}c_h \rho_J^{-2} \sqrt{\beta}.$$
(5.45)

Proof. By Lemma 3.1.4,

$$\|\sum_{s\in J} \nabla_j^{\alpha} \xi_s\|_{L^{\infty}(X^*)} \leqslant C_{\alpha} \rho_J^{-2} \sqrt{\beta}$$
(5.46)

for any $J \subset I_{N'}$ and $|\alpha| \in \{1,2\}$. Also for $\alpha = 0$ and $X \in \mathcal{S}_j$, with the same constant C_d as in (5.35),

$$\sup_{x \in X^*} |\sum_{s \in J} \xi_s(x)| \leq C_d L^j \|\sum_{s \in J} \nabla \xi_s\|_{L^{\infty}(X^*)} \leq C_d \|\sum_{s \in J} \nabla_j \xi_s\|_{L^{\infty}(X^*)} \leq C_d C_\alpha \sqrt{\beta} \rho_J^{-2}.$$
(5.47)

Combining both inequalities gives the claim with $c_h = 3C_{\alpha}(C_d \vee 1)$.

Henceforth, we fix c_h so that the conclusions of Lemma 5.4.5 hold. The formula (5.42) can now be generalised to the following identity.

Lemma 5.4.6. Let $r \in (0,1]$, $\mathfrak{h} \ge rc_h \rho_J^{-2} \sqrt{\beta}$, and let F be a charge-q ω -polymer activity with $\|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} < \infty$. Then for $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$, $q \in \mathbb{Z}$, $x_0 \in X$ and $\xi(x) = \sqrt{\beta}(\Gamma_{j+1}(x-x_0) - \Gamma_{j+1}(0))$, for all $\varphi' \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$,

$$\mathbb{E}[F(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\boldsymbol{\zeta})] = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)(2r|q|-r^2)} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{-i\sqrt{\beta}r\sigma_q\zeta_{x_0}}F(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\boldsymbol{\zeta}+ir\sigma_q\boldsymbol{\xi}(x))\right], \quad (5.48)$$

where $\sigma_q = \operatorname{sign}(q)$.

Proof. Recall that $\zeta \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Gamma_{j+1})$ under \mathbb{E} . (or $\zeta \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N})$ when j+1=N, but we will drop label Λ_N for brevity). We will need to work with the subdecomposition of the covariance Γ_{j+1} discussed above the lemma. Since $\xi = \sum_{s \in I_{N'}} \xi_s$, it is sufficient to show the lemma for $||F||_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j+s}} < +\infty$ and Γ_{j+1} replaced by $\Gamma_{j+s, j+s'}$ where $s = s' - M^{-1} \in I_{N'}$ and ζ replaced by $\zeta_s + ir\xi_{<s}$ where $\zeta_s \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Gamma_{j+s, j+s'})$. It is convenient to work with invertible covariance matrices, so we will work with $C = \Gamma_{j+s, j+s'} + \delta$ for $\delta > 0$ so that *C* is strictly positive definite, and then take the limit $\delta \downarrow 0$ to conclude. All in all, it thus suffices to show that

$$\int e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\zeta_{s},C^{-1}\zeta_{s})}F(X,\varphi'+\zeta_{s}+ir\sigma_{q}\xi_{

$$=e^{-\frac{1}{2}\beta C(0)(2r|q|-r^{2})}\int e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\zeta_{s},C^{-1}\zeta_{s})-i\sqrt{\beta}r\sigma_{q}\zeta_{s}(x_{0})}F(X,\varphi'+\zeta_{s}+ir\sigma_{q}(\xi_{
(5.49)$$$$

from which (5.48) readily follows by integrating successively over ζ_s , $s \in I_{N'}$ and letting $\delta \downarrow 0$. Here, with a slight abuse of notation, we define $\xi_s(x) = \sqrt{\beta}(C(x-x_0) - C(0))$, from which ξ_s as introduced in (5.44) is obtained in the limit $\delta \to 0$. Then the bound of Lemma 5.4.5 holds the same for this modified ξ_s when δ is sufficiently small, which we henceforth tacitly assume.

We now show (5.49). Let $X' = \{x \in \Lambda : d_1(x, X^*) \leq 2\}$ so that $\|\psi\|_{C^2_j(X^*)}$ only depends on $\psi|_{X'}$. Performing a change of variable from ζ_s to $\zeta_s - ir\sigma_q\xi_s$, the integral on the right-hand side of (5.49) can be recast as

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{X'}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\zeta_s, C^{-1}\zeta_s) - i\sqrt{\beta}r\sigma_q\zeta_s(x_0)} F(X, \varphi' + \zeta_s + ir\sigma_q\xi_{< s} + ir\sigma_q\xi_s) d\zeta_s = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\beta r^2 C(0)} R_{r\sigma_q\xi_s}(r)$$
(5.50)

where

$$R_{\psi}(r') = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{X'} + i\psi} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\zeta + ir'z, C^{-1}(\zeta + ir'z))} F(X, \varphi' + \zeta + ir\sigma_q \xi_{< s}) d\zeta.$$
(5.51)

and $z = \sigma_q \sqrt{\beta} C(0)$. By Lemma 5.4.5 (which is just the Cauchy's integral formula) and assumption on δ , the condition $\mathfrak{h} \ge c_h r \rho^{-2} \sqrt{\beta}$ guarantees $\|r \sigma_q \xi_s\|_{C_j^2(X^*)}, \|r \sigma_q \xi_{< s}\|_{C_j^2(X^*)} < \frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{h}$, we can apply Lemma 3.8.1 to see that

$$R_{r\sigma_a\xi_s}(r) = R_0(r) \tag{5.52}$$

and thus it will be enough to compute $R_0(r)$.

To compute $R_0(r)$, consider $R_0(r' + \delta r')$ for sufficiently small $\delta r'$. Another application of Lemma 3.8.1 shows that

$$R_0(r'+\delta r') = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{X'}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\zeta + ir'z, C^{-1}(\zeta + ir'z))} F(X, \varphi' + \zeta + ir\sigma_q \xi_{< s} - i(\delta r')z) d\zeta.$$
(5.53)

But by (5.43), $F(X, \varphi' + \zeta + ir\sigma_q\xi_{<s} - i(\delta r')z) = e^{\sqrt{\beta}qz\delta r'}F(X, \varphi' + \zeta + ir\sigma_q\xi_{<s})$, so $R_0(r')$ satisfies

$$\frac{d}{dr'}R_0(r') = \sqrt{\beta}qzR_0(r') = \beta|q|C(0)R_0(r').$$
(5.54)

Solving this differential equation yields

$$R_0(r) = e^{|q|r\beta C(0)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{X'}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\zeta, C^{-1}\zeta)} F(X, \varphi' + \zeta + ir\sigma_q \xi_{< s}) d\zeta,$$
(5.55)

and thus (5.49) is obtained once we recall (5.50) (5.52).

This identity leads to the following contraction mechanism for charge-q polymer activities.

Lemma 5.4.7. Let $r \in (0,1]$, $\mathfrak{h} \ge rc_h \rho_J^{-2} \sqrt{\beta}$, $L \ge 4C_d$ and $h_{\omega} \le (C_1 \log L)^{-1} \mathfrak{h}$ for sufficiently large C_1 . Then there exists C > 0 such that for $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$, and any charge-q polymer activity F with $|q| \ge 1$ and $||F(X)||_{\mathfrak{h},T_i(X)} < \infty$, and all $\varphi' \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$,

$$\|\mathbb{E}[\theta_{\zeta}F(X)]\|_{(2\mathfrak{h},h_{\omega}),T_{j+1}(X)} \leqslant Ce^{2\sqrt{\beta}|q|\mathfrak{h}}e^{-(|q|-1/2)r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}\|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X)}.$$
(5.56)

Proof. We will hide the dependence of $F(X, \varphi)$ on X for brevity. Let us start from (5.48) with $r \in (0, 1]$. Then

$$D^{n}\theta_{\zeta}\mathbb{E}[F(\varphi')] = e^{-\frac{2|q|r-r^{2}}{2}\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}\mathbb{E}[e^{-i\sqrt{\beta}r\sigma_{q}\zeta_{x_{0}}}D^{n}\theta_{\zeta}F(\varphi'+ir\sigma_{q}\xi)]$$
(5.57)

where $\xi(x) = \sqrt{\beta} (\Gamma_{j+1}(x-x_0) - \Gamma_{j+1}(0))$. By our assumptions and Lemma 5.4.5 (with the choice M = 1), we have $2C_d L^{-1}\mathfrak{h} + r \|\xi\| < \mathfrak{h}$, where $\|\cdot\| = \|\cdot\|_{C_j^2}$. Thus by Proposition 3.4.1, *F* is analytic in the strip $S_{2C_d L^{-1}\mathfrak{h} + r \|\xi\|}$, and hence the Taylor expansion

$$D^{n}\theta_{\zeta}F(\varphi'+ir\sigma_{q}\xi) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} D^{k}_{\varphi'}(D^{n}\theta_{\zeta}F)(\varphi')((ir\sigma_{q}\xi)^{\otimes k})$$
(5.58)

is convergent and so, combining with (5.57), and since $|\sigma_q| = 1$,

$$\|D_{\varphi'}^{n}\mathbb{E}[F(\varphi'+\zeta)]\|_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi')} \leqslant e^{-\frac{2|q|-1}{2}r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}\mathbb{E}\Big[\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\frac{\|r\xi\|^{k}}{k!}\|D^{n+k}F(\varphi'+\zeta)\|_{n+k,T_{j}(X,\varphi')}\Big].$$
(5.59)

Therefore, for $\mathfrak{h}' > 0$ left to be chosen,

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta}[F(\varphi')]\|_{\mathfrak{h}',T_{j}(X,\varphi')} &\leqslant e^{-\frac{2|q|-1}{2}r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}\mathbb{E}\Big[\sum_{n,k}\frac{\mathfrak{h}'^{n}\|r\xi\|^{k}}{n!k!}\|D^{n+k}\theta_{\zeta}F(\varphi')\|_{n+k,T_{j}(X,\varphi')}\Big] \\ &\leqslant e^{-\frac{2|q|-1}{2}r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}\mathbb{E}\Big[\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\frac{(\mathfrak{h}'+\|r\xi\|)^{n}}{n!}\|D^{n}\theta_{\zeta}F(\varphi')\|_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi')}\Big] \\ &= e^{-\frac{2|q|-1}{2}r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}\mathbb{E}[\|\theta_{\zeta}F(\varphi')\|_{\mathfrak{h}'+r}\|\xi\|_{T_{j}(X,\varphi')}]. \end{split}$$
(5.60)

To complete the lemma, one is just left to compare $\|\theta_{\zeta}F(\varphi')\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(\varphi',X)}$ with a quantity in a lower scale. This is where Lemma 5.4.3 comes in, yielding the bound

$$\|\mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta}F(\varphi')\|_{2\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(\varphi',X)} \leqslant e^{2\sqrt{\beta|q|\mathfrak{h}}}\|\mathbb{E}[F(\varphi'+\zeta)]\|_{2C_{d}L^{-1}\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(\varphi',X)}$$
(5.61)

and we see that the choice $\mathfrak{h}' = 2C_d L^{-1}\mathfrak{h}$ gives

$$\|\mathbb{E}[\theta_{\zeta}F(\varphi')]\|_{2\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(\varphi'+\zeta)} \leqslant e^{2\sqrt{\beta}|q|\mathfrak{h}}e^{-\frac{2|q|-1}{2}r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}\mathbb{E}[\|F(\varphi'+\zeta)\|_{2C_{d}L^{-1}\mathfrak{h}+r}\|\xi\|,T_{j}(\varphi',X)].$$
(5.62)

Now invoking Proposition 3.3.5,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbb{E}[\theta_{\zeta}F(\varphi')]\|_{2\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(\varphi',X)} &\leqslant e^{-\frac{2|q|-1}{2}r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}e^{2\sqrt{\beta}|q|\mathfrak{h}}\mathbb{E}[\theta_{\zeta}G_{j}(X,\varphi')]\|F\|_{2C_{d}L^{-1}\mathfrak{h}+r}\|\xi\|_{T_{j}(X)} \\ &\leqslant e^{-\frac{2|q|-1}{2}r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}e^{2\sqrt{\beta}|q|\mathfrak{h}}2^{|X|_{j}}G_{j+1}(\overline{X},\varphi')\|F\|_{2C_{d}L^{-1}\mathfrak{h}+r}\|\xi\|_{T_{j}(X)}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.63)

Since $||F||_{2C_dL^{-1}\mathfrak{h}+r||\xi||,T_j(X)} \leq ||F||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)}$ and X is a small set, we obtain

$$\|\mathbb{E}[\theta_{\zeta}F(X,\varphi')]\|_{2\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi')} \leqslant Ce^{2\sqrt{\beta}|q|\mathfrak{h}}e^{-(|q|-1/2)r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}\|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X)}G_{j+1}(\overline{X},\varphi').$$
(5.64)

The same estimate holds for each $\|D_{\omega}^{m}\mathbb{E}[\theta_{\zeta}F(X, \varphi')]\|_{2\mathfrak{h}, T_{j+1}(X, \varphi')}$ $(m \ge 0)$, so the desired conclusion holds.

Finally, we conclude the Proposition 5.2.3 for charged F.

Lemma 5.4.8. Under the setting of Proposition 5.2.3, let F be a periodic scale-j polymer activity and $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$. Also, assume that the neutral part of F(X) vanishes, i.e., $\hat{F}_0(X) = 0$. Then

$$\|\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}F(\boldsymbol{X},\cdot)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(\overline{\boldsymbol{X}})} \leqslant C\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{\mathrm{Loc}}\|F(\boldsymbol{X})\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(\boldsymbol{X})}$$
(5.65)

for some C > 0 independent of all the other parameters.

Proof. Since $\hat{F}_0(X) = 0$, by (5.1),

$$F = \sum_{q \neq 0} \hat{F}_q. \tag{5.66}$$

The triangle inequality, (3.63), Lemma 5.4.7 and the assumption $\mathfrak{h} \leq 2h$ give

$$\|\mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\zeta}F(X,\boldsymbol{\varphi}')\|_{(2\mathfrak{h},h_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}),T_{j+1}(\overline{X},\boldsymbol{\varphi}')} \leq C\left[\sum_{q\geqslant 1}e^{4\sqrt{\beta}|q|h}e^{-(|q|-1/2)r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)}\right]\|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X)}G_{j+1}(\overline{X},\boldsymbol{\varphi}'), \tag{5.67}$$

But by Lemma 3.4.4,

$$\|\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}F(\boldsymbol{X},\boldsymbol{\varphi}')\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(\overline{\boldsymbol{X}},\boldsymbol{\varphi}')} \leqslant \|\mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}F(\boldsymbol{X},\boldsymbol{\varphi}')\|_{(2\mathfrak{h},h_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}),T_{j+1}(\overline{\boldsymbol{X}},\boldsymbol{\varphi}')}$$
(5.68)

whenever $2\mathfrak{h} \ge \mathfrak{h}'' = \mathfrak{h} + h_{\omega} ||u_{j+1}||_{C_i^2}$, thus we have the desired bound.

5.4.3 **Proof of Proposition 5.2.3: neutral part**

For neutral *F*, the contractions in Proposition 5.2.3 does not rely on the fluctuation integral, but instead uses that gradients contract under change of norm. In all of the following lemmas, we assume that $\mathfrak{h} \ge \rho_J^{-1}$ as appearing in the assumptions of Proposition 5.2.3, and we also suppose that all remaining assumptions of Proposition 5.2.3 are in force. We will also frequently abbreviate $\mathbb{E}F(X) = \mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta}F(X)$.

$$\operatorname{Loc}_{X} \mathbb{E}F(X) - \mathbb{E}F(X) = (\operatorname{Loc}_{X} \mathbb{E}F(X) - \overline{\operatorname{Tay}}_{2} \mathbb{E}F(X)) + (\overline{\operatorname{Tay}}_{2} \mathbb{E}F(X) - \mathbb{E}F(X))$$
$$= (\operatorname{Loc}_{X} \mathbb{E}F(X) - \overline{\operatorname{Tay}}_{2} \mathbb{E}F(X)) - \overline{\operatorname{Rem}}_{2} \mathbb{E}F(X), \quad (5.69)$$

where the Taylor approximation and its remainder are defined as follows: For $F(X) \in \mathcal{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(X)$ with $||F||_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}(X)} < \infty$, define the Taylor approximation and remainder of degree *n* in the variable φ by

$$\operatorname{Tay}_{n}^{\varphi}F(X,\varphi+\psi) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{1}{k!} \sum_{x_{1},\cdots,x_{k}\in X^{*}} \frac{\partial^{k}F(X,\psi)}{\partial\varphi(x_{1})\cdots\partial\varphi(x_{k})} \varphi(x_{1})\cdots\varphi(x_{k})$$
(5.70)

$$\operatorname{Rem}_{n}^{\varphi} F(X, \varphi + \psi) = F(X, \varphi + \psi) - \operatorname{Tay}_{n}^{\varphi} F(X, \varphi + \psi).$$
(5.71)

If F is neutral, then we can also define the Taylor expansion in the gradient of φ ,

$$\overline{\operatorname{Tay}}_{n}^{\varphi}F(X,\varphi+\psi) = \frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{x_{0}\in X} \operatorname{Tay}_{n}^{\delta\varphi}F(X,\delta\varphi+\psi)$$
(5.72)

$$\overline{\operatorname{Rem}}_{n}^{\varphi}F(X,\varphi+\psi) = F(X,\varphi+\psi) - \overline{\operatorname{Tay}}_{n}^{\varphi}F(X,\varphi+\psi)$$
(5.73)

where $\delta \varphi(x) := \varphi(x) - \varphi(x_0)$ is dependent of the choice of $x_0 \in X$.

We first collect two auxiliary results that will be used to bound the first term in (5.69).

Lemma 5.4.9. For $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$, $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$ and $x_0, y_0 \in X$,

$$\begin{aligned} |\nabla^{e_1} \varphi(x_0) \nabla^{e_2} \varphi(x_0) - \nabla^{e_1} \varphi(y_0) \nabla^{e_2} \varphi(y_0) \|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j+1}(X, \varphi)} \\ \leqslant C L^{-2j-3} (\mathfrak{h} + \|\nabla_{j+1} \varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X)} + \|\nabla_{j+1}^2 \varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X)})^2 \quad (5.74) \end{aligned}$$

and for any $\mu \in \hat{e}$ and $x \in X$ (see below (3.31) for notation),

$$\|\nabla^{\mu}\varphi(x)\nabla^{(\mu,-\mu)}\varphi(x)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi)} \leqslant CL^{-3j-3}(\mathfrak{h}+\|\nabla_{j+1}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X)}+\|\nabla_{j+1}^{2}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X)})^{2}.$$
(5.75)

Proof. To see the first inequality, observe that

$$|\nabla^{\mu}\varphi(x_{0}) - \nabla^{\mu}\varphi(y_{0})| \leqslant CL^{-j-2} \|\nabla^{2}_{j+1}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X)},$$
(5.76)

hence

$$|D_{\varphi}(\nabla^{\mu}\varphi(x_{0}) - \nabla^{\mu}\varphi(y_{0}))(f)| = |\nabla^{\mu}f(x_{0}) - \nabla^{\mu}f(y_{0})| \leq CL^{-j-2} ||f||_{C^{2}_{j+1}(X^{*})}.$$
 (5.77)

Since $\nabla^{\mu} \varphi(x_0) - \nabla^{\mu} \varphi(y_0)$ is linear in φ , all but the first two terms in the series expansion (3.40) of $\|\nabla^{\mu} \varphi(x_0) - \nabla^{\mu} \varphi(y_0)\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j+1}(\varphi, X)}$ vanish and therefore, using (5.76) and (5.77),

$$\|\nabla^{\mu}\varphi(x_{0}) - \nabla^{\mu}\varphi(y_{0})\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi)} \leqslant CL^{-j-2}(\mathfrak{h} + \|\nabla^{2}_{j+1}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X)}).$$
(5.78)

Analogously,

$$\|\nabla^{\mu}\varphi(x_{0})\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi)} + \|\nabla^{\mu}\varphi(y_{0})\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi)} \leqslant CL^{-j-1}(\mathfrak{h} + \|\nabla_{j+1}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X)}), \quad (5.79)$$

and (5.74) follows using the submultiplicativity of the norm. The second inequality (5.75) follows from similar direct computations:

$$\|\nabla^{\mu}\varphi(x)\nabla^{(\mu,-\mu)}\varphi(x)\|_{0,T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \leqslant CL^{-3j-3}\|\nabla_{j+1}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X)}\|\nabla^{2}_{j+1}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X)}$$
(5.80)

$$\|D\nabla^{\mu}\varphi(x)\nabla^{(\mu,-\mu)}\varphi(x)\|_{1,T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \leq CL^{-3j-3}(\|\nabla_{j+1}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X)} + \|\nabla_{j+1}^{2}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X)})$$
(5.81)

$$\|D^{2}\nabla^{\mu}\varphi(x)\nabla^{(\mu,-\mu)}\varphi(x)\|_{2,T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \leqslant CL^{-3j-3},$$
(5.82)

and higher-order derivatives vanish.

Lemma 5.4.10. Let $F \in \mathcal{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(X)$ with $||F||_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X)} < \infty$, and let $X \in \mathcal{S}_{j}$. Choose any $x_{0} \in X$ and denote $\delta x_{1} = x_{1} - x_{0}$, $\delta x_{2} = x_{2} - x_{0}$. Then

$$\left|\sum_{x_1,x_2\in X^*}\partial_{\varphi(x_1)}\partial_{\varphi(x_2)}\mathbb{E}F(X,\zeta)\delta x_1^{\mu}\delta x_2^{\nu}\right| \leqslant C\mathfrak{h}^{-2}L^{2j}\|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)}.$$
(5.83)

Proof. By definition of $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_i(X)}$ followed by (3.78) with $G(\overline{X},0) = 1$,

$$\mathfrak{h}^{2} \left| \sum_{x_{1},x_{2}} \partial_{\varphi(x_{1})} \partial_{\varphi(x_{2})} \mathbb{E}F(X,\zeta) \delta x_{1}^{\mu} \delta x_{2}^{\nu} \right| \leq \|\mathbb{E}F(X,\zeta)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X,0)} \|\delta x_{1}^{\mu}\|_{C^{2}_{j}(X^{*})} \|\delta x_{2}^{\nu}\|_{C^{2}_{j}(X^{*})}$$
$$\leq CL^{2j} \|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X)}$$

(5.84)

where we used $\|\delta x_1^{\mu}\|_{C^2_j(X^*)}, \|\delta x_2^{\nu}\|_{C^2_j(X^*)} = O(L^j).$

Lemma 5.4.11. Let $\mathfrak{h} \ge \rho_J^{-1}$ and $\kappa_L = c_{\kappa} \rho_J^2 (\log L)^{-1}$. Then for all $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$ and neutral and even $F(X) \in \mathscr{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(X)$, we have

$$\left\| \left(\operatorname{Loc}_{X} - \overline{\operatorname{Tay}}_{2} \right) \mathbb{E} \theta_{\zeta} F(X, \cdot) \right\|_{(2\mathfrak{h}, h_{\omega}), T_{j+1}(\overline{X})} \leqslant CL^{-3}(\log L)A^{-|X|_{j}} \|F\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_{j}}$$
(5.85)

for $\vec{\mathfrak{h}} = (\mathfrak{h}, h_{\omega})$.

Proof. We will prove the statement without the ω -derivatives, i.e., we aim to prove

$$\|\operatorname{Loc}_{X} \mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta} F(X,\cdot) - \overline{\operatorname{Tay}}_{2} \mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta} F(X,\cdot)\|_{2\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(\overline{X})} \leqslant CL^{-3}(\log L)A^{-|X|_{j}} \|F\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}}.$$
 (5.86)

Then the same estimates on $D_{\omega}^{m}F$ are essentially the same.

By definition (see (5.11) and (5.12)), denoting by $B_j(x_0)$ the block $B \in \mathscr{B}_j$ such that $x_0 \in B$,

$$\operatorname{Loc}_{X} \mathbb{E}F(X) = \sum_{B \in \mathscr{B}_{j}(X)} \operatorname{Loc}_{X,B} \mathbb{E}F(X) = \mathbb{E}\hat{F}_{0}(X,\zeta)$$
$$+ \frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{x_{0} \in X} \frac{1}{|B|} \sum_{y_{0} \in B_{j}(x_{0})} \sum_{x_{1},x_{2} \in X^{*}} \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\varphi_{x_{1}}} \partial_{\varphi_{x_{2}}} \mathbb{E}\hat{F}_{0}(X,\zeta) \langle \nabla \varphi(y_{0}), \delta x_{1}, \nabla \varphi(y_{0}), \delta x_{2} \rangle, \quad (5.87)$$

where $\delta x_1 = x_1 - x_0$, $\delta x_2 = x_2 - x_0$ and, following the notation of Lemma 5.4.10 (cf. (5.28)),

$$\langle \nabla \varphi(y_0), \delta x_1, \nabla \varphi(y_0), \delta x_2 \rangle := \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\mu, \nu \in \hat{e}} (1 + \delta_{\mu, \nu} - \delta_{\mu, -\nu}) \nabla^{\mu} \varphi(y_0) \delta x_1^{\mu} \nabla^{\nu} \varphi(y_0) \delta x_2^{\nu}.$$
(5.88)

We firstly replace $\langle \nabla \varphi(y_0), \delta x_1, \nabla \varphi(y_0), \delta x_2 \rangle$ by $(\nabla \varphi(y_0), \delta x_1)(\nabla \varphi(y_0), \delta x_2)$ and secondly replace y_0 by x_0 in (5.87) where $(\nabla \varphi(x), y) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mu \in \hat{e}} \nabla^{\mu} \varphi(x) y^{\mu}$. This gives

$$\frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{x_0 \in X} \sum_{x_1, x_2 \in X^*} \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\varphi_{x_1}} \partial_{\varphi_{x_2}} \mathbb{E} \hat{F}_0(X, \zeta) (\nabla \varphi(x_0), \delta x_1) (\nabla \varphi(x_0), \delta x_2)$$
(5.89)

and, as we now explain, an error term bounded in the $\|\cdot\|_{2\mathfrak{h},T_{i+1}(X,\varphi)}$ -norm by

$$CL^{-3}2^{|X|_j} \|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} \mathfrak{h}^{-2}(\mathfrak{h} + \|\nabla_{j+1}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X^*)} + \|\nabla_{j+1}^2\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X^*)})^2.$$
(5.90)

Indeed, to obtain this error bound, we proceed as follows: observing that

$$(\nabla \varphi(y_0), \delta x_1)(\nabla \varphi(x_0), \delta x_2) - \langle \nabla \varphi(y_0), \delta x_1, \nabla \varphi(x_0), \delta x_2 \rangle$$

= $\frac{1}{4} \sum_{\mu \in \hat{e}} \nabla^{\mu} \varphi(y_0) \nabla^{(\mu, -\mu)} \varphi(y_0) \delta x_1^{\mu} \delta x_2^{\mu}$, (5.91)

the claimed bound for the first replacement is justified by (5.75) and (5.83), whereas the claimed bound for the second replacement follows from (5.74) and (5.83). The factor $2^{|X|_j}$ appearing in (5.90) follows hereby from an application of Proposition 3.3.5. Rather than including full details here, we refer to (5.96)-(5.97) below, which estimate a similar but slightly more involved error term, yielding the bound (5.95). The bound (5.90) is readily obtained by adapting these arguments.

Next we replace $\langle \nabla \varphi(x_0), \delta x_i \rangle$ in (5.89) by $\delta \varphi(x_i) = \varphi(x_i) - \varphi(x_0)$. For $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$, one has

$$\|\delta\varphi(x)\|_{C^{2}_{j+1}(X^{*})}, \|\langle\nabla\varphi(x_{0}),\delta x\rangle\|_{C^{2}_{j+1}(X^{*})} \leqslant CL^{-1}\|\nabla_{j+1}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})}$$
(5.92)

$$\|\boldsymbol{\delta}\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}) - \langle \nabla\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\boldsymbol{x}_0), \boldsymbol{\delta}\boldsymbol{x} \rangle\|_{C^2_{j+1}(X^*)} \leqslant CL^{-2} \|\nabla^2_{j+1}\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{L^{\infty}(X^*)}.$$
(5.93)

Using again the definition of the norm (3.40), we may thus replace (5.89) by

$$\frac{1}{2|X|} \sum_{x_0 \in X} \sum_{x_1, x_2 \in X^*} \partial_{\delta \varphi(x_1)} \partial_{\delta \varphi(x_2)} \mathbb{E} \hat{F}_0(X, \zeta) (\varphi(x_1) - \varphi(x_0)) (\varphi(x_2) - \varphi(x_0))$$
(5.94)

with an error in the $\|\cdot\|_{2\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi)}$ -norm bounded by

$$CL^{-3}2^{|X|_{j}}||F(X)||_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X)}\mathfrak{h}^{-2}\big(\mathfrak{h}+||\nabla_{j+1}\varphi||_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})}+||\nabla_{j+1}^{2}\varphi||_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})}\big)^{2}.$$
(5.95)

Indeed,

$$\left| \sum_{x_{1},x_{2}\in X^{*}} \partial_{\delta\varphi(x_{1})} \partial_{\delta\varphi(x_{2})} \mathbb{E}\hat{F}_{0}(X,\zeta) (\delta\varphi(x_{1}) - (\nabla\varphi(x_{0}),\delta x_{1})) \delta\varphi(x_{1}) \right| \\ \leqslant \mathbb{E} \|D^{2}\hat{F}_{0}(X,\zeta)\|_{n,T_{j+1}(X,\zeta)} \|\delta\varphi(x_{1}) - (\nabla\varphi(x_{0}),\delta x_{1})\|_{C^{2}_{j+1}(X^{*})} \|\varphi(x_{2}) - \varphi(x_{0})\|_{C^{2}_{j+1}(X^{*})} \\ \leqslant C\mathfrak{h}^{-2} \|F(X)\|_{h,T_{j}(X)} \mathbb{E}[G_{j}(X,\zeta)] L^{-3} \|\nabla_{j+1}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\nabla^{2}_{j+2}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})} \\ \leqslant CL^{-3} 2^{|X|_{j}} \|F(X)\|_{h,T_{j}(X)} \mathfrak{h}^{-2} \|\nabla_{j+1}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})} \|\nabla^{2}_{j+1}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X^{*})}$$
(5.96)

using (5.5) for the second inequality and Proposition 3.3.5 in the last step, and since each $\delta \varphi(x_1) - (\nabla \varphi(x_0), \delta x_1)$ and $\delta \varphi(x_1)$ are linear in φ , we immediately see (see around (5.77) for a similar reasoning) that

$$\begin{aligned} &\|\sum_{x_1,x_2\in X^*}\partial_{\delta\varphi(x_1)}\partial_{\delta\varphi(x_2)}\mathbb{E}\hat{F}_0(X,\zeta)(\delta\varphi(x_1) - (\nabla\varphi(x_0),\delta x_1))\delta\varphi(x_1)\|_{2\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi)} \\ &\leqslant CL^{-3}2^{|X|_j}\|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)}\mathfrak{h}^{-2}(2\mathfrak{h} + \|\nabla_{j+1}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X^*)})(2\mathfrak{h} + \|\nabla_{j+1}^2\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X^*)}) \end{aligned}$$
(5.97)

A similar bound holds for

$$\sum_{x_1,x_2\in X^*} \frac{\partial^2 \mathbb{E}\hat{F}_0(X,\zeta)}{\partial(\delta\varphi(x_1))\partial(\delta\varphi(x_2))} (\delta\varphi(x_1) - (\nabla\varphi(x_0),\delta x_1))(\nabla\varphi(x_0),\delta x_2)$$
(5.98)

and hence the claim follows.

Recognizing $\mathbb{E}\hat{F}_0(X,\zeta)$ in (5.87) together with (5.94) as $\overline{\text{Tay}}_2\mathbb{E}F(X)$ and collecting the errors, we have thus overall shown

$$\|\operatorname{Loc}_{X} \mathbb{E}F(X) - \overline{\operatorname{Tay}}_{2} \mathbb{E}F(X)\|_{2\mathfrak{h}, T_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \varphi')} \leq CL^{-3} \|F(X)\|_{h, T_{j}(X)} (1 + \mathfrak{h}^{-1} \max_{n=1, 2} \|\nabla_{j+1}^{n} \varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(X*)})^{2}.$$
(5.99)
The claim now follows from Lemma 3.3.3, along with (3.63), using that $\mathfrak{h}^{-2} \kappa_{L}^{-1} = O(\log L)$
which holds since $\mathfrak{h}^{-2} = O(\rho_{J}^{2})$ by our assumption $\mathfrak{h} \geq \rho_{J}^{-1}$ and since $\kappa_{L}^{-1} = O(\rho_{J}^{-2} \log L).$

Lemma 5.4.12. Under the setting of Lemma 5.4.11, for all $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$, neutral $F(X) \in \mathscr{N}_{j,h_{\omega}}(X)$ and $\alpha \ge 0$,

$$\|\overline{\operatorname{Rem}}_{\alpha}^{\varphi'} \mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta} F(X, \cdot)\|_{(2\mathfrak{h}, h_{\omega}), T_{j+1}(\overline{X})} \leqslant C_{\alpha} \left(L^{-1} (\log L)^{1/2}\right)^{\alpha+1} A^{-|X|_{j}} \|F\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}}, T_{j}}$$
(5.100)

with $\vec{\mathfrak{h}} = (\mathfrak{h}, h_{\omega})$.

Proof. Again, we will only prove the bound without the ω -derivative.

Recall that $F(X, \zeta + \varphi') = F(X, \zeta + \delta \varphi')$ with $\delta \varphi'(x) = \varphi'(x) - \varphi'(x_0)$ for neutral F and any x_0 by (5.4). Thus, $\overline{\operatorname{Rem}}_{\alpha}^{\varphi'} \mathbb{E}F = \frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{x_0 \in X} \operatorname{Rem}_{\alpha}^{\delta \varphi'} \mathbb{E}F$ with $\delta \varphi'(x)$ defined for varying x_0 's, we just need to prove the statement for a fixed $x_0 \in X$ and $\overline{\operatorname{Rem}}_{\alpha}^{\varphi'}$ replaced by $\operatorname{Rem}_{\alpha} \equiv \operatorname{Rem}_{\alpha}^{\delta \varphi'}$.

We need to estimate $||D^n \operatorname{Rem}_{\alpha} \mathbb{E} F(X)||_{n,T_{j+1}(X,\varphi')}$. We will divide the cases $n \ge \alpha + 1$ and $n \le \alpha$. Using that $\operatorname{Rem}_{\alpha} \mathbb{E} \theta_{\zeta} F(X,\varphi')$ is neutral, the estimate for $n \ge \alpha + 1$ follows simply from Lemma 5.4.2 and the fact that $D^n \operatorname{Rem}_{\alpha} = D^n$ for $n \ge \alpha + 1$:

$$\|D^{n}\operatorname{Rem}_{\alpha}\mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta}F(X,\varphi')\|_{n,T_{j+1}(X,\varphi')} \leqslant (C_{d}^{-1}L)^{-n}\|D^{n}\mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta}F(X,\varphi')\|_{n,T_{j}(X,\varphi')}.$$
(5.101)

Multiplying by $\mathfrak{h}^n/n!$, summing over *n*, and combining with Lemma 3.3.6, noting that $2^{|X|_j} \leq C$ since *X* is small, this readily yields

$$\sum_{n \geqslant \alpha+1} \frac{(2\mathfrak{h})^n}{n!} \|D^n \operatorname{Rem}_2 \mathbb{E} \theta_{\zeta} F(X, \varphi')\|_{n, T_{j+1}(X, \varphi')} \leqslant CL^{-(\alpha+1)} A^{-|X|_j} \|F\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_j} G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \varphi').$$
(5.102)

The cases $n = 0, \dots, \alpha$ require a bit of effort and represent in fact the dominant contributions. We use Taylor's theorem and neutrality of *F* to write

$$D^{n}\operatorname{Rem}_{\alpha}\mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta}F(X,\varphi')(f_{1},\cdots,f_{n}) = \sum_{k=n}^{\alpha} \frac{1}{(k-n)!} D^{k}\operatorname{Rem}_{\alpha}\mathbb{E}F(X,\zeta)(f_{1},\cdots,f_{n},(\delta\varphi')^{\otimes k-n}) + \int_{0}^{1} dt \, \frac{(1-t)^{\alpha+1-n}}{(\alpha-n)!} D^{\alpha+1}\operatorname{Rem}_{\alpha}\mathbb{E}F(X,\zeta+t\varphi')(f_{1},\cdots,f_{n},(\delta\varphi')^{\otimes \alpha+1-n}).$$
(5.103)

But since $D^k \operatorname{Rem}_{\alpha} \mathbb{E}F(X, \cdot) = D^k \mathbb{E}F(X, \cdot)$ for $k \ge \alpha + 1$, applying successively (3.39), (5.36) and (3.75), one sees that

$$\begin{split} |D^{\alpha+1}\operatorname{Rem}_{\alpha}\mathbb{E}F(X,\zeta+t\varphi')(f_{1},\cdots,f_{n},(\delta\varphi')^{\otimes\alpha+1-n})| \\ &\leqslant \|D^{\alpha+1}\mathbb{E}F(X,\zeta+t\varphi')\|_{\alpha+1,T_{j+1}(X,t\varphi')}\|\delta\varphi'\|_{C^{2}_{j+1}(X^{*})}^{\alpha+1-n}\prod_{1\leqslant l\leqslant n}\|f_{l}\|_{C^{2}_{j+1}(X^{*})} \\ &\leqslant (C_{d}^{-1}L)^{-(\alpha+1)}\|D^{\alpha+1}\mathbb{E}F(X,\zeta+t\varphi')\|_{\alpha+1,T_{j}(X,t\varphi')}\|\delta\varphi'\|_{C^{2}_{j+1}(X^{*})}^{\alpha+1-n}\prod_{1\leqslant l\leqslant n}\|f_{l}\|_{C^{2}_{j+1}(X^{*})} \\ &\leqslant C'(hL)^{-(\alpha+1)}\|F(X)\|_{\alpha+1,T_{j}(X)}G_{j+1}(\overline{X},t\varphi')\|\delta\varphi'\|_{C^{2}_{j+1}(X^{*})}^{\alpha+1-n}\prod_{1\leqslant l\leqslant n}\|f_{l}\|_{C^{2}_{j+1}(X^{*})}. \end{split}$$
(5.104)

Moreover, since $D^k \operatorname{Rem}_2 \mathbb{E}F(X, \zeta) = 0$ for $k \in \{0, \dots, \alpha\}$, whenever $||f_l||_{C^2_{j+1}(X^*)} \leq 1$ for each $l \in \{1, \dots, n\}$, one obtains that the left-hand side of (5.103) is bounded in absolute value by

$$(C_d^{-1}L\mathfrak{h})^{-(\alpha+1)} \int_0^1 dt \, \frac{(1-t)^{\alpha+1-n}}{(\alpha-n)!} \|F(X)\|_{\alpha+1,T_j(X)} G_{j+1}(\overline{X},t\varphi') \|\delta\varphi'\|_{C^2_{j+1}(X^*)}^{\alpha+1-n}.$$
 (5.105)

Now since $G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \varphi') = G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, t\varphi')G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \sqrt{1-t^2}\varphi')$ by definition of G_{j+1} in (3.41), and then using Lemma 3.3.3 applied with $\varphi = \sqrt{1-t^2}\varphi'$, we obtain, for $n \leq \alpha$

$$\sup_{\varphi'} \frac{G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, t\varphi') \|\delta\varphi'\|_{C^{2}_{j+1}(\overline{X}^{*})}^{\alpha+1-n}}{G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \varphi')} = \sup_{\varphi'} \frac{\|\delta\varphi'\|_{C^{2}_{j+1}(\overline{X}^{*})}^{\alpha+1-n}}{G_{j+1}(\overline{X}, \sqrt{1-t^{2}}\varphi')} \leqslant O(\kappa_{L}^{-(\alpha+1-n)/2})(1-t^{2})^{-(\alpha+1-n)/2}$$
(5.106)

All in all, since

$$\int_{0}^{1} (1-t)^{\alpha+1-n} (1-t^2)^{-(\alpha+1-n)/2} dt \leq C_n \int_{0}^{1} t^{(\alpha+1-n)/2} < \infty, \quad n \leq \alpha,$$
(5.107)

this implies, for $n \leq \alpha$,

$$\begin{aligned} |D^{n}\operatorname{Rem}_{\alpha}\mathbb{E}F(X,\varphi)||_{n,T_{j+1}(\overline{X},\varphi')} \\ \leqslant O(L^{-(\alpha+1)}\kappa_{L}^{-(\alpha+1-n)/2})\mathfrak{h}^{-(\alpha+1)}||F(X)||_{\alpha+1,T_{j}(X)}G_{j+1}(\overline{X},\varphi'). \end{aligned} (5.108)$$

Multiplying by $\mathfrak{h}^n/n!$, summing over *n*, using that

$$\sum_{0 \leqslant n \leqslant \alpha} \frac{\mathfrak{h}^{n-\alpha-1}}{n!} \kappa_L^{-(\alpha+1-n)/2} \leqslant C(\log L)^{(\alpha+1)/2} \mathfrak{h}^{-(\alpha+1)}$$
(5.109)

by assumption on κ_L and \mathfrak{h} (the dominant term being n = 0), it follows that

$$\sum_{n\leqslant\alpha} \frac{(2\mathfrak{h})^n}{n!} \|D^n \operatorname{Rem}_{\alpha} \mathbb{E}F(X,\varphi)\|_{n,T_{j+1}(\overline{X},\varphi')} \leqslant C \left(L^{-1}(\log L)^{1/2}\right)^{\alpha+1} A^{-|X|_j} \|F\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j} G_{j+1}(\overline{X},\varphi').$$
(5.110)

The claim follows immediately by combining the estimates (5.102) (with (3.63)) and (5.110). \Box

Proof of Proposition 5.2.3. The Fourier decomposition (5.1.1) yields, since $\operatorname{Loc}_{X}^{(\alpha)} \mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta} \hat{F}_{q}(X) = 0$ whenever $q \neq 0$ (cf. (5.11)),

$$\operatorname{Loc}_{X}^{(\alpha)} \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)} \theta_{\zeta} F(X) - \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)} \theta_{\zeta} F(X) = \left(\operatorname{Loc}_{X}^{(\alpha)} - 1 \right) \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)} \theta_{\zeta} \hat{F}_{0}(X) - \sum_{q \neq 0} \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)} \theta_{\zeta} \hat{F}_{q}(X),$$
(5.111)

which allows to bound them by bounding the terms of different charge separately. The last sum is the charged part of F and was already bounded by Lemma 5.4.8.

(i) Since $\overline{\text{Tay}}_0 \mathbb{E} \theta_{\zeta} \hat{F}_0(X) = \text{Loc}_X^{(0)} \mathbb{E} \theta_{\zeta} \hat{F}_0(X)$, Lemma 5.4.12 (with the choice $F = \hat{F}_0$) is enough to obtain

$$\|(\operatorname{Loc}_{X}^{(0)}-1)\mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta}\hat{F}_{0}(X)\|_{(2\mathfrak{h},h_{\omega}),T_{j+1}(X)} \leqslant C\alpha_{\operatorname{Loc}}^{(0)}A^{-|X|_{j}}\|F\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j}}$$
(5.112)

and also by Lemma 3.4.4,

$$\|(\operatorname{Loc}_{X}^{(0)}-1)\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}\theta_{\zeta}\hat{F}_{0}(X)\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_{j+1}(X)} \leq \|(\operatorname{Loc}_{X}^{(0)}-1)\mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta}\hat{F}_{0}(X)\|_{(2\mathfrak{h},h_{\omega}),T_{j+1}(X)}.$$
 (5.113)

These prove (5.18).

(ii) Assume *F* is even and periodic. Then Lemmas 5.4.11 and 5.4.12 (with the choice $F = \hat{F}_0$) yield bounds on $(\text{Loc}_X - \overline{\text{Tay}}_2) \mathbb{E} \theta_{\zeta} \hat{F}_0(X, \varphi')$ and $(1 - \overline{\text{Tay}}_2^{\varphi'}) \mathbb{E} \theta_{\zeta} \hat{F}_0(X, \varphi')$, respectively, and thus

$$\|(\operatorname{Loc}_X - 1)\mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta}\hat{F}_0(X)\|_{(2\mathfrak{h},h_{\omega}),T_{j+1}(X)} \leqslant C\alpha_{\operatorname{Loc}}A^{-|X|_j}\|F\|_{\vec{\mathfrak{h}},T_j}.$$
(5.114)

As above, this proves (5.19) once we recall Lemma 3.4.4.

Boundedness of localisation

The following will be used to deduce (5.21).

Lemma 5.4.13. For *F* a neutral *j* scale ω -polynomial activity $B \in \mathscr{B}_j$ and $X \in \mathscr{S}_j$

$$\left|\operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}^{(0)} \mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta} F(X, \varphi')\right| \leqslant C \|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j}(X)}$$
(5.115)

$$\|\operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}^{(2)} \mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta} F(X, \varphi')\|_{(2\mathfrak{h}, h_{\omega}), T_{j}(X, \varphi')} \leqslant C(\log L) \|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j}(X)} e^{c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(B, \varphi')^{2}}.$$
 (5.116)

Proof. $\operatorname{Loc}_X^{(0)} \mathbb{E}F(X)$ is bounded using (3.75) with $\varphi' \equiv 0$ by

$$|\mathbb{E}\hat{F}_0(X,\zeta)| \leqslant 2^{|X|_j} \|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} \leqslant C \|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)},$$
(5.117)

since X is small. Now consider

$$\operatorname{Loc}_{X,B}^{(2)} \mathbb{E}F(X) = \frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{x_0, y_0 \in B} \frac{1}{|B|} \sum_{x_1, x_2 \in X^*} \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\varphi_{x_1}} \partial_{\varphi_{x_2}} \mathbb{E}\hat{F}_0(X, \zeta) \langle \nabla \varphi'(y_0), \delta x_1, \nabla \varphi'(y_0), \delta x_2 \rangle.$$
(5.118)

(see (5.88) for the notation). For $\mu, \nu \in \hat{e}, \sum_{x_1, x_2 \in X^*} \partial_{\varphi_{x_1}} \partial_{\varphi_{x_2}} \mathbb{E} \hat{F}_0(X, \zeta) (\delta x_1)^{\mu} (\delta x_2)^{\nu}$ can be bounded using Lemma 5.4.10. Moreover since $y_0 \in B$,

$$L^{j} \|\nabla^{\mu} \varphi'(y_{0}) \mathbf{1}_{y_{0} \in B}\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j}(X, \varphi')} \leqslant \mathfrak{h} + \|\nabla_{j} \varphi'\|_{L^{\infty}(B)}.$$
(5.119)

Putting these together, using the submultiplicativity of the norm and recalling the definition of w_j from (3.71), the $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(\varphi,X)}$ -norm of the second term of (5.118) is readily seen to be bounded by

$$C\mathfrak{h}^{-2}(\mathfrak{h} + \|\nabla_{j}\varphi'\|_{L^{\infty}(B)}^{2})^{2}\|F\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X)} \leqslant C'\mathfrak{h}^{-2}\kappa_{L}^{-1}\|F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j}(X)}e^{c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(B,\varphi')^{2}}.$$
 (5.120)

The claim again follows from the fact that $\mathfrak{h}^{-2}\kappa_L^{-1} = O(\log L)$.

Proof of Proposition 5.2.4. The bounds are direct results of Lemma 5.4.13 and Lemma 3.4.4.

The continuity in *s* again follows from Lemma 3.3.11, similarly as in the proof of Proposition 5.2.2. \Box

Chapter 6

Renormalisation group on the Discrete Gaussian model at high temperature

This chapter reformulates the Discrete Gaussian model in terms of a statistical physics model with continuous spin values and applies the renormalisation group analysis without the external field. The RG analysis is composed of two parts. We construct the (bulk) RG map Φ_{j+1}^0 , a function of (U_j, K_j^0) that constructs the coordinates in the next scale in Section 6.3.3. The (bulk) RG map is then used to construct the (bulk) RG flow, whose convergence is subject to the choice of the initial condition, and the set of converging initial values form a stable manifold. The stable manifold and the (bulk) RG flow is constructed in Chapter 7. The (bulk) RG flow becomes the basis of proving the torus scaling limit theorem in Chapter 9, and observable RG flows are discussed in Chapter 8.

The bulk RG map of this chapter only considers scales j + 1 < N, which we tacitly assume.

6.1 Main results

6.1.1 Reformulation into a continuous spin model

We have two inputs in the reformulated *J*-DG model: the regularising mass m^2 and the stiffness renormalisation factor *s*. These give covariances $\Gamma_j(s)$, $\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s)$ and $t_N(s,m^2)Q_N$ introduced in Section 3.1 and

$$\tilde{C}(s) \equiv \tilde{C}^{\Lambda_N}(s) = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \Gamma_j(s) + \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}$$
(6.1)

(see Lemma 3.1.2), the tilted expectation

$$\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega}),C}[F(\boldsymbol{\varphi})] = \frac{\mathbb{E}_C[e^{\boldsymbol{\omega}(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},\boldsymbol{\varphi})}F(\boldsymbol{\zeta})]}{\mathbb{E}_C[F(\boldsymbol{\zeta})]}, \qquad \tilde{\mathfrak{f}} = (1 + s\gamma\Delta)\mathfrak{f}$$
(6.2)

for given f, and the following reformulation.

Proposition 6.1.1. Suppose $\sum_{x} \mathfrak{f}(x) = 0$ and let $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}} = (1 + s\gamma\Delta)\mathfrak{f}$. Then for |s| sufficiently small, $\beta > 0$ and $\omega \in \mathbb{C}$,

$$\langle e^{\beta^{-1/2}\omega(\mathfrak{f},\sigma)} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N} = e^{\frac{1}{2}\omega^2(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},\tilde{C}(s)\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}) + \frac{\gamma}{2}\omega^2(\mathfrak{f},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})} \lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} F_{N,m^2}[\mathfrak{f}](\omega)$$
(6.3)

$$F_{N,m^2}[\mathfrak{f}](\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \frac{\mathbb{E}^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}'}\mathbb{E}^{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}[Z_0(\boldsymbol{\varphi}' + \boldsymbol{\zeta} + \boldsymbol{\omega}\gamma\mathfrak{f})]}{\mathbb{E}^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}'}\mathbb{E}^{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}[Z_0(\boldsymbol{\varphi}' + \boldsymbol{\zeta})]}$$
(6.4)

with $\varphi' \sim \mathcal{N}(0, t_N(m^2)Q_N)$ and $\zeta \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \tilde{C}(s))$ and

$$Z_0^0(\boldsymbol{\varphi}|\Lambda_N) = \exp\left[\frac{1}{2}s_0|\nabla\boldsymbol{\varphi}|^2_{\Lambda_N} + \sum_{x\in\Lambda_N,\,q\ge 1}z_0^{(q)}\cos(q\sqrt{\beta}\,\boldsymbol{\varphi}(x))\right],\tag{6.5}$$

for $s_0 = s$ and some $z_0^{(q)} = O(e^{-c_f \beta(1+q)})$.

The proposition simply states that the *J*-DG model is equivalently described by the continuous-valued spin model with potential $U_0 \in \Omega_0^U$ (of form given by Definition 3.2.6). The proof is given in Section 6.2.

6.1.2 Renormalisation group map

As in Chapter 4, we study $\mathbb{E}^{\zeta}[Z_0^0(\varphi'+\zeta)]$ by inductively defining $Z_{j+1}^0(\varphi'|\Lambda_N) = \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}}^{\zeta}[\theta_{\zeta}Z_j^0(\varphi'|\Lambda_N)]$ when $Z_j^0 = e^{-E_j|\Lambda_N|}(e^{U_j} \circ_j K_j^0)(\Lambda_N)$ for some $U_j \in \Omega_j^U$ and some polymer activity K_j^0 . We construct a map

$$\Phi_{j+1}^0: (E_j, s_j, z_j, K_j^0) \mapsto (E_j + \mathscr{E}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{s}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{z}_{j+1}, \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^0), \tag{6.6}$$

so that if $(E_{j+1}, s_{j+1}, z_{j+1}, K_{j+1}^0) = (E_j + \mathcal{E}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{s}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{z}_{j+1}, \mathcal{K}_{j+1}^0)$, then

$$Z_{j+1}^{0} = e^{-E_{j+1}|\Lambda_{N}|} (e^{U_{j+1}} \circ_{j} K_{j+1}^{0})(\Lambda_{N})$$
(6.7)

(see Theorem 6.3.5). We also make use of the symmetries and periodicity under constant summations, so only even periodic K_j^0 respecting lattice symmetry at scale *j* will be considered.

We denote this by letting $\Omega_{j,0}^{K}$ be the space of such K_{j}^{0} and also

$$\|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}} = \|K_{j}^{0}\|_{2h,T_{j},A}, \qquad \|(U_{j},K_{j}^{0})\|_{\Omega_{j,0}} = \max\{\|U_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}}, \|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}}\}$$
(6.8)

We choose $(\mathscr{E}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{s}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{z}_{j+1})$ that satisfy the following analytic results. The first theorem is about the coupling constants (s_j, z_j) (equivalently, U_j), which form the leading part of the RG map.

Theorem 6.1.2 (Estimates for coupling constants). Let $U_j = (s_j, z_j) \in \Omega_j^U$ and $K_j^0 \in \Omega_{j,0}^K$. For any choice of L > 1, A > 1, and h > 0, we have $\mathfrak{z}_{j+1}^{(q)}(z_j) = L^2 e^{-\frac{1}{2}\beta q^2 \Gamma_{j+1}(0)} z_j^{(q)}$ for all $q \ge 1$ and \mathfrak{s}_{j+1} , \mathscr{E}_{j+1} only depend on (s_j, K_j^0) with the following estimates:

$$\mathfrak{s}_{j+1}(s_j, K_j^0) - s_j | \leqslant C h^{-2} A^{-1} \| K_j^0 \|_{\Omega_{j,0}^K}$$
(6.9)

$$|\mathscr{E}_{j+1}(s_j, K_j^0) + s_j \nabla^{(e_1, -e_1)} \Gamma_{j+1}(0)| \leqslant C L^{-2j} A^{-1} \|K_j^0\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^K}.$$
(6.10)

Moreover, all maps above are continuous in the implicit parameter s for fixed (s_j, z_j, K_i^0) .

The next theorem is the estimate on the remaining coordinate K_j^0 , saying that the norm always contracts if U_j and K_j^0 are small enough. This contraction is necessary, as it makes K_j^0 'irrelevant'.

Theorem 6.1.3 (Estimate for remainder coordinate). Let j + 1 < N, $U_j = (s_j, z_j) \in \Omega_j^U$ and $K_j^0 \in \Omega_{j,0}^K$. Then $\mathscr{K}_{j+1}^0(U_j, K_j) \in \Omega_{j+1,0}^K$ and admits a decomposition

$$\mathscr{K}_{j+1}^{0}(U_{j}, K_{j}^{0}) = \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0}(K_{j}^{0}) + \mathscr{M}_{j+1}^{0}(U_{j}, K_{j}^{0})$$
(6.11)

into polymer activities at scale j + 1 such that the following holds for any β large and r small (satisfying (6.56)), h given by (3.60) provided $L \ge L_0$, $A \ge A_0(L)$, for $K_j^0 \in \Omega_{j,0}^K$.

(i) The map \mathscr{L}_{j}^{0} is linear in K_{j}^{0} and independent of U_{j} . There is a constants $C_{1} > 0$ independent of all the parameters such that, with α_{Loc} as in (5.16),

$$\|\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0}(K_{j}^{0})\|_{\Omega_{j+1,0}^{K}} \leqslant C_{1}L^{2}\alpha_{\text{Loc}}\|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}}.$$
(6.12)

(ii) The remainder maps \mathscr{M}_{j+1}^0 satisfy $\mathscr{M}_{j+1}^0 = O(U_j, K_j)^2$ in the sense that there exist $\varepsilon_{nl} \equiv \varepsilon_{nl}(\beta, A) > 0$ (only polynomially small in β) and $C_3 = C_3(\beta, A, L) > 0$ (only polynomially large in β) such that $\mathscr{M}_{j+1}^0(U_j, K_j^0)$ is continuously Fréchet-differentiable

and, for $||(U_j, K_i^0)||_{\Omega_{i,0}} \leq \varepsilon_{nl}$,

$$\|D\mathscr{M}_{j+1}^{0}(U_{j},K_{j}^{0})\|_{\Omega_{j+1}^{K}} \leqslant C_{3}\|(U_{j},K_{j}^{0})\|_{\Omega_{j,0}}$$
(6.13)

with $\mathscr{M}_{i+1}^{0}(0,0) = 0.$

The proofs are given in Section 6.3 and 6.4.

6.2 Reformulating the Discrete Gaussian model

In this section, we prepare for the renormalisation group analysis by performing several initial manipulations of the Discrete Gaussian model as defined in (1.12). In this section, we will mostly keep the interaction J and the underlying torus $\Lambda = \Lambda_N$ (of side length L^N) implicit throughout this section. The corresponding statements are then simply understood to hold for any choice of J satisfying the conditions above (1.8), all $N \ge 0$ and $L \ge 1$. In fact the choice of side length for Λ will play no role in the present section.

6.2.1 Mass regularisation

In the first regularisation step, we replace the Discrete Gaussian model $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}$ supported on $\sigma \in \Omega^{\Lambda_N}$ by a mass-regularised version without fixing σ_0 to be 0, thus restoring translation invariance. To this end, given $m^2 > 0$, let

$$\mathbb{Z}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}} = 2\pi \boldsymbol{\beta}^{-1/2} \mathbb{Z} \tag{6.14}$$

and for any bounded function $F : \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}^{\Lambda_N} \to \mathbb{R}$, let

$$\langle F \rangle_{\beta,m^2} = \frac{1}{Z_{\beta,m^2}} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}^{\Lambda}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\sigma,(-\Delta_J + m^2)\sigma)} F(\sigma), \tag{6.15}$$

where Z_{β,m^2} is the corresponding normalisation constant. The following lemma shows that we recover $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}$ in the limit $m^2 \downarrow 0$. In the sequel, for $t \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}$ and $\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}^{\Lambda_N}$ we write $\sigma + t$ for the shifted configuration with entries $(\sigma + t)_x = \sigma_x + t$, $x \in \Lambda_N$.

Lemma 6.2.1. Let $F : \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}^{\Lambda} \to \mathbb{R}$ be such that $F(\sigma) = F(\sigma + t)$ for any constant (field) $t \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}$, and assume that $F|_{\Omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}}$ is integrable with respect to $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}$. Then F is integrable under $\langle \cdot \rangle_{\beta,m^2}$ for all $m^2 > 0$ and

$$\langle F(\boldsymbol{\beta}^{-1/2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}) \rangle_{J,\boldsymbol{\beta}} = \lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} \langle F(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) \rangle_{\boldsymbol{\beta},m^2}.$$
 (6.16)

Proof. Recall (1.12) for $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}$. By rescaling the spins by $\beta^{-1/2}$,

$$\langle F(\beta^{-1/2}\sigma) \rangle_{J,\beta} = \sum_{\sigma \in \Omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\sigma, -\Delta_{J}\sigma)} F(\sigma) / Z_{J,\beta}, \qquad Z_{J,\beta} = \sum_{\sigma \in \Omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\sigma, -\Delta_{J}\sigma)}$$
(6.17)

where $\Omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda} = \{ \sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}^{\Lambda} : \sigma_0 = 0 \}$. Thus it will be sufficient to prove

$$\frac{1}{Z_{J,\beta}} \sum_{\sigma \in \Omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\sigma, -\Delta_{J}\sigma)}} F(\sigma) \sim \langle F(\sigma) \rangle_{\beta,m^{2}}$$
(6.18)

as $m^2 \downarrow 0$.

For *F* having the above properties, writing any element of $\mathbb{Z}_{\beta}^{\Lambda}$ as $\sigma + t$ with $t \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}$ and $\sigma \in \Omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}$, one has that

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}^{\Lambda}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\sigma,(-\Delta_{J}+m^{2})\sigma)} |F(\sigma)| = \sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}} \sum_{\sigma \in \Omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\sigma+t,(-\Delta_{J}+m^{2})(\sigma+t))} |F(\sigma+t)|$$
$$= \sum_{\sigma \in \Omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\sigma,-\Delta_{J}\sigma)} |F(\sigma)| \sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}m^{2}(\sigma+t,\sigma+t)},$$
(6.19)

where the second line is obtained using that $F(\sigma) = F(\sigma + t)$ and expanding the quadratic form (note that $\Delta_J t = 0$ when *t* is constant-valued). Since, uniformly in $\sigma \in \Omega_B^{\Lambda}$,

$$\sum_{t\in\mathbb{Z}_{\beta}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}m^{2}(\sigma+t,\sigma+t)} = \sum_{t\in\mathbb{Z}_{\beta}}\prod_{x\in\Lambda}e^{-\frac{1}{2}m^{2}(\sigma_{x}+t)^{2}} \leqslant \sum_{t\in\mathbb{Z}_{\beta}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}(mt)^{2}},$$
(6.20)

where the inequality follows by retaining only x = 0 with $\sigma_x = 0$, and combining with the integrability of $F|_{\Omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}}$, it follows that the left-hand side of (6.19) is finite; hence *F* is in $L^1(\langle \cdot \rangle_{\beta,m^2})$. Moreover (6.19) continues to hold without absolute values, as follows readily by the Dominated convergence theorem. Now, as $m^2 \downarrow 0$, for any fixed $\sigma \in \Omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}$, we claim that

$$\sum_{t\in\mathbb{Z}_{\beta}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}m^{2}(\sigma+t,\sigma+t)}\sim\sum_{t\in\mathbb{Z}_{\beta}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}m^{2}t^{2}|\Lambda|}.$$
(6.21)

Indeed, since $|(\sigma, 1)t| \leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon t^2 + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon}(\sigma, 1)^2$ for any $\varepsilon > 0$ by Young's inequality, the left-hand side is

$$e^{-\frac{1}{2}m^{2}(\sigma,\sigma)}\sum_{t\in\mathbb{Z}_{\beta}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}m^{2}t^{2}}e^{-m^{2}(\sigma,1)t} \leqslant e^{-\frac{1}{2}m^{2}(\sigma,\sigma)}e^{\frac{1}{2\varepsilon}m^{2}(\sigma,1)^{2}}\sum_{t\in\mathbb{Z}_{\beta}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}(1-\varepsilon)m^{2}t^{2}}.$$
 (6.22)

Therefore, for all $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$\limsup_{m^2 \downarrow 0} \frac{\sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}m^2(\sigma+t,\sigma+t)}}{\sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(1-\varepsilon)m^2t^2}} \leqslant 1,$$
(6.23)

and analogously

$$\liminf_{m^2 \downarrow 0} \frac{\sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}m^2(\sigma + t, \sigma + t)}}{\sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(1 + \varepsilon)m^2t^2}} \ge 1.$$
(6.24)

From this, (6.21) follows by taking $\varepsilon \to 0$. By (6.19) and the Dominated convergence theorem, thus

$$\sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}\in\mathbb{Z}_{\beta}^{\Lambda}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{\sigma},(-\Delta_{J}+m^{2})\boldsymbol{\sigma})} F(\boldsymbol{\sigma}) \sim \sum_{t\in\mathbb{Z}_{\beta}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}m^{2}t^{2}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}\in\Omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{\sigma},-\Delta_{J}\boldsymbol{\sigma})} F(\boldsymbol{\sigma})$$
(6.25)

and the claim follows by taking a ratio of this and the expression with F replaced by 1. \Box

6.2.2 Smoothing the discrete model

In the next step, we replace the Discrete Gaussian model with mass $m^2 \in (0, 1]$ given by (6.15) with a continuous-valued spin model. For this we write

$$(-\Delta_J + m^2)^{-1} = \gamma i d + C(m^2)$$
(6.26)

where $\gamma > 0$ is a positive constant chosen such that $C(m^2)$ is positive definite. Assuming $m^2 \in (0,1]$, we have $0 < -\Delta_J + m^2 \leq 3$ id as quadratic forms, and one can choose any $\gamma \in (0,1/3)$. Note that $C(m^2)$ inherits symmetry from $-\Delta_J + m^2$ by (6.26). In fact, the parameter γ is fixed by Proposition 2.1.2, but the rest of the section holds true for any choice of $\gamma \in (0, 1/3)$. We often omit the superscript Λ_N for the remainder of Section 6.2 to avoid unnecessary clutter.

As we now explain, the decomposition (6.26) implies that for any $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda}$, one can rewrite

$$e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\sigma,(-\Delta_J+m^2)\sigma)} = c(\gamma,m^2) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{\Lambda}} e^{-\frac{1}{2\gamma}\sum_{x}(\varphi_x-\sigma_x)^2} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\varphi,C(m^2)^{-1}\varphi)} d\varphi,$$
(6.27)

for a suitable constant $c(\gamma, m^2) \in (0, \infty)$. The identity (6.27) is of central importance. It is in fact equivalent to the well-known property that the sum of two independent Gaussian vectors is Gaussian with covariance the sum of the two covariances. To wit, observe that for any symmetric matrices *A* and *B* acting on \mathbb{R}^{Λ} such that all of *A*, *B* and *A*+*B* are invertible and

all $\sigma, \varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda}$, letting $\sigma' = (A + B)^{-1}A\sigma$, one has the identity

$$\left(\varphi - \sigma, A(\varphi - \sigma)\right) + \left(\varphi, B\varphi\right) = \left(\varphi - \sigma', (A + B)(\varphi - \sigma')\right) + \left(\sigma, (A^{-1} + B^{-1})^{-1}\sigma\right), \quad (6.28)$$

as can be verified immediately upon rewriting the last term as $(A^{-1} + B^{-1})^{-1} = A(A+B)^{-1}B$. Choosing $A = \frac{1}{\gamma}$ Id, $B = C(m^2)^{-1}$, the left-hand side of (6.28) corresponds to (twice) the exponential appearing on the right of (6.27). With these choices, $(A^{-1} + B^{-1})^{-1} = -\Delta_J + m^2$ on account of (6.26). Thus, integrating over φ and completing the square using (6.28) readily gives (6.27).

Inserting the identity (6.27) into the partition function of the (mass regularised) Discrete Gaussian model (6.15), one obtains, for all β , $m^2 > 0$,

$$Z_{\beta,m^2} = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}^{\Lambda}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\sigma,(-\Delta_J + m^2)\sigma)} = c(\gamma,m^2,\beta) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{\Lambda}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\varphi,C(m^2)^{-1}\varphi)} e^{\sum_x \tilde{U}(\varphi_x)} d\varphi, \qquad (6.29)$$

where for $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}$ and all $\gamma > 0$ we define

$$\tilde{F}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = c(\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \boldsymbol{\beta}) \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}} e^{-\frac{1}{2\gamma}(\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\varphi})^2}, \qquad \tilde{U}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \log \tilde{F}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}).$$
(6.30)

Here $c(\gamma, \beta) > 0$ is a constant that is chosen for later convenience such that

$$1 = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \tilde{F}(\varphi/\sqrt{\beta}) d\varphi = \frac{c(\gamma,\beta)}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-\frac{1}{2\gamma\beta}\varphi^2} d\varphi.$$
(6.31)

Both \tilde{F} and \tilde{U} are smooth periodic functions of the single real variable $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}$. For later application, we record the following properties of their Fourier representations.

Lemma 6.2.2. For any $\gamma > 0$ and $\beta > 0$, the Fourier representation of \tilde{F} is given by

$$\tilde{F}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = 1 + \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} 2e^{-\frac{\gamma\beta}{2}q^2} \cos(q\sqrt{\beta}\boldsymbol{\varphi}), \quad \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(6.32)

Moreover, there exists $C \in (0,\infty)$ such that for any $\gamma \beta \ge C$, the function $\varphi \mapsto \tilde{U}(\varphi)$ has the Fourier representation

$$\tilde{U}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} \tilde{z}^{(q)}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \cos(q\sqrt{\boldsymbol{\beta}}\boldsymbol{\varphi}), \quad \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \mathbb{R},$$
(6.33)

with coefficients satisfying

$$|\tilde{z}^{(q)}(\beta)| \leq 16e^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta(1+q)}.$$
 (6.34)

Proof. Let $F(\varphi) = \tilde{F}(\varphi/\sqrt{\beta}) = e^{\tilde{U}(\varphi/\sqrt{\beta})}$. Then *F* is 2π even and periodic, see (6.30) and recall $\Omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda} = \{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}^{\Lambda} : \sigma_0 = 0\}$. Its Fourier coefficients are given by

$$\hat{F}(q) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} F(\varphi) e^{iq\varphi} d\varphi = \frac{c(\gamma,\beta)}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-\frac{1}{2\gamma\beta}\varphi^2} e^{iq\varphi} d\varphi \stackrel{(6.31)}{=} e^{-\frac{\gamma\beta}{2}q^2}, \quad q \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
 (6.35)

Thus (6.32) follows. To prove (6.33), (6.34), consider the following norm on 2π -periodic functions f (for which the norm is finite): for $c = \frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta$, denoting by $\hat{f}(q) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} f(\varphi) e^{iq\varphi} d\varphi$ the corresponding Fourier coefficients, one sets

$$\|f\|_{\ell^{1}(c)} = \sum_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{c|q|} |\hat{f}(q)|.$$
(6.36)

Using the fact that $\widehat{fg}(q) = \sum_{q' \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{f}(q) \widehat{g}(q'-q)$ for periodic f and g, one readily deduces that $\|\cdot\|_{\ell^1(c)}$ is submultiplicative, i.e. that $\|fg\|_{\ell^1(c)} \leq \|f\|_{\ell^1(c)} \|g\|_{\ell^1(c)}$, making the space of 2π -periodic functions with finite norm a unital Banach algebra with unit $f \equiv 1$. Moreover, for $\beta \gamma \geq 4$,

$$\|F - 1\|_{\ell^{1}(c)} = 2\sum_{q \ge 1} e^{-\frac{\gamma\beta}{2}q^{2} + cq} \le 4e^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta},$$
(6.37)

where the second inequality follows for instance by completing the square, comparing with a Gaussian integral and applying a standard Gaussian tail estimate. Since $\tilde{U}(\varphi/\sqrt{\beta}) = \log F(\varphi)$, we have

$$\|\tilde{U}(\cdot/\sqrt{\beta})\|_{\ell^{1}(c)} \leq 2\|F-1\|_{\ell^{1}(c)} \leq 8e^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta}, \tag{6.38}$$

where we have used the estimate $\|\log F\| \leq 2\|F - 1\|$ which is valid in any (unital) Banach algebra with norm $\|\cdot\|$ if $\|F - 1\|$ is small, as follows e.g. by bounding the relevant Taylor remainder. In view of (6.36), this yields that $|\tilde{z}^{(q)}(\beta)| \leq 16e^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta - c|q|}$ for all $q \geq 1$ with $\tilde{z}^{(q)}(\beta)$ as defined by (6.33).

6.2.3 Stiffness renormalisation

The identity (6.29) for the partition function and its extension to the moment generating function in Lemma 6.2.3 below reformulates the analysis of the Discrete Gaussian model in terms of a smooth periodic potential integrated against a Gaussian field. Ideas of this flavour have been used in various contexts in the past. However, to achieve sufficient precision to control the scaling limit, it is crucial for our work to allow for the parameter $s \neq 0$ below,

which will correspond to the stiffness renormalisation of the limiting Gaussian free field, or equivalently, the exact identification of the effective temperature β_{eff} in Theorem 1.1.1.

To set up this stiffness renormalisation, first recall that Δ_J is the normalised Laplacian, see (1.8), with step distribution *J*. For convenience, we will denote by Δ without subscript the standard *unnormalised* nearest-neighbour Laplacian; the irrelevant omission of the normalisation for Δ simplifies some formulas later. For |s| sufficiently small, $C(m^2)^{-1} - s\Delta$ is positive definite, as shown in Proposition 2.1.4 below (see in particular (2.15), where $C \equiv C^{\Lambda_N}$), hence

$$C(s,m^2) = (C(m^2)^{-1} - s\Delta)^{-1},$$
(6.39)

is well-defined and positive-definite. We then introduce, for $s_0 \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$Z_0^0(\varphi) \equiv Z_0^0(\varphi|\Lambda) = e^{U_0(\varphi)} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} e^{\frac{s_0}{2}(\varphi, -\Delta\varphi) + \sum_x \tilde{U}(\varphi_x)}$$
(6.40)

with \tilde{U} given by (6.30). We return to discuss the interpretation of Z_0^0 below the proof of Proposition 6.1.1.

The following lemma generalises the partition function identity (6.29), both by allowing a test function and by allowing the parameter $s \neq 0$ that will later correspond to the stiffness renormalisation.

Lemma 6.2.3. For all $\beta > 0$, $\gamma \in (0, 1/3)$, $m^2 \in (0, 1]$, $\omega \in \mathbb{C}$, s sufficiently small and $\mathfrak{f} \in \mathbb{C}^{\Lambda}$,

$$\left\langle e^{\omega(\mathfrak{f},\sigma)} \right\rangle_{\beta,m^2}^{\Lambda_N} = e^{\frac{\gamma}{2}\omega^2(\mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{f})} \frac{\mathbb{E}_{C(s,m^2)} \left[e^{\omega(\mathfrak{f},\varphi)} Z_0^0(\varphi + \gamma \omega \mathfrak{f}) \right]}{\mathbb{E}_{C(s,m^2)} \left[Z_0^0(\varphi) \right]}$$
(6.41)

where $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}} = (1 + s \gamma \Delta) \mathfrak{f}$ and

$$Z_0^0(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}s_0|\nabla \boldsymbol{\varphi}|^2_{\Lambda} + \sum_{x \in \Lambda} \sum_{q \ge 1} z_0^{(q)} \cos\left(q\beta^{1/2}\boldsymbol{\varphi}(x)\right)\right)$$
(6.42)

with $s_0 = s$ and $z_0^{(q)} = \tilde{z}^{(q)}$ (which are defined by (6.33)).

Proof. Completing the square and recalling (6.30), one sees that for any $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}$ and $a \in \mathbb{C}$,

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}} e^{a\sigma} e^{-\frac{1}{2\gamma}(\sigma-\varphi)^2} = e^{\frac{\gamma}{2}a^2} e^{a\varphi} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}} e^{-\frac{1}{2\gamma}(\sigma-\varphi-\gamma a)^2} \propto e^{\frac{\gamma}{2}a^2} e^{a\varphi} e^{\tilde{U}(\varphi+\gamma a)}.$$
(6.43)

Using the convolution identity (6.27), for any $f \in \mathbb{C}^{\Lambda}$, one therefore obtains that

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_{\beta}^{\Lambda}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\sigma,(-\Delta_{J}+m^{2})\sigma)} e^{\omega(\mathfrak{f},\sigma)} \propto e^{\frac{\gamma}{2}\omega^{2}(\mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{f})} \mathbb{E}_{C(m^{2})}[e^{\omega(\mathfrak{f},\varphi)} e^{\tilde{U}(\varphi+\gamma\omega\mathfrak{f})}].$$
(6.44)

By definition of $C(s, m^2)$, see (6.39), the right-hand side is proportional to

$$e^{\frac{\gamma}{2}\omega^{2}(\mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{f})}\mathbb{E}_{C(s,m^{2})}[e^{\omega(\mathfrak{f},\varphi)}e^{\frac{s}{2}(\varphi,-\Delta\varphi)}e^{\tilde{U}(\varphi+\gamma\omega\mathfrak{f})}]$$

$$=e^{\frac{\gamma}{2}\omega^{2}(\mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{f})-\frac{s}{2}\gamma^{2}\omega^{2}(\mathfrak{f},-\Delta\mathfrak{f})}\mathbb{E}_{C(s,m^{2})}[e^{\omega(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},\varphi)}e^{\frac{s}{2}(\varphi+\gamma\omega\mathfrak{f},-\Delta(\varphi+\gamma\omega\mathfrak{f}))}e^{\tilde{U}(\varphi+\gamma\omega\mathfrak{f})}]$$

$$=e^{\frac{\gamma}{2}\omega^{2}(\mathfrak{f},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})}\mathbb{E}_{C(s,m^{2})}[e^{\omega(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},\varphi)}Z_{0}^{0}(\varphi+\gamma\omega\mathfrak{f})] \qquad (6.45)$$

where in the second line we again completed the square and used that $s = s_0$ along with (6.42).

Finally, we take limit $m^2 \downarrow 0$ using Lemma 3.1.2 and notation

$$\tilde{C}(s) = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \Gamma_j(s) + \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s) = \lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \Gamma_j(s, m^2) + \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s, m^2)$$
(6.46)

Proof of Proposition 6.1.1. By Lemma 6.2.1 and Lemma 6.2.3,

$$\langle e^{\beta^{-1/2}\omega(\mathfrak{f},\sigma)} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_{N}} = \lim_{m^{2}\downarrow 0} \langle e^{\omega(\mathfrak{f},\sigma)} \rangle_{\beta,m^{2},\Lambda_{N}} = \lim_{m^{2}\downarrow 0} e^{\frac{\gamma}{2}\omega^{2}(\mathfrak{f},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})} \frac{\mathbb{E}_{C(s,m^{2})} \left[e^{\omega(\varphi,\mathfrak{f})} Z_{0}^{0}(\varphi + \gamma\omega\mathfrak{f}) \right]}{\mathbb{E}_{C(s,m^{2})} \left[Z_{0}^{0}(\varphi) \right]}$$

$$(6.47)$$

Since we have decomposition $\varphi = \varphi' + \zeta^{(m^2)}$ for some independent Gaussian random variables $\varphi' \sim \mathcal{N}(0, t_N Q_N)$, $\zeta^{(m^2)} \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \Gamma_j(s, m^2) + \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(s, m^2))$, and since $t_N Q_N \tilde{\mathfrak{f}} \equiv 0$, Lemma 3.1.2 implies

$$\frac{\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'}\mathbb{E}^{\zeta^{(m^2)}}[e^{\omega(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},\zeta^{(m^2)})}Z_0^0(\varphi'+\zeta^{(m^2)}+\gamma\omega\mathfrak{f})]}{\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'}\mathbb{E}^{\zeta^{(m^2)}}[Z_0^0(\varphi'+\zeta^{(m^2)})]} \sim \frac{\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'}\mathbb{E}^{\zeta}[e^{\omega(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},\zeta)}Z_0^0(\varphi'+\zeta+\gamma\omega\mathfrak{f})]}{\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'}\mathbb{E}^{\zeta}[Z_0^0(\varphi'+\zeta)]}$$
(6.48)

as $m^2 \downarrow 0$ (for $\zeta \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \tilde{C}(s))$).

To conclude this section, we briefly discuss the role of U_0 and $\tilde{C}(s)$ introduced in (6.40),(6.46). Compared to \tilde{U} the potential U_0 includes an additional Dirichlet energy term $(\varphi, -\Delta \varphi) = (\nabla \varphi, \nabla \varphi)$ with prefactor s_0 . This parameter s_0 can be essentially arbitrary for the moment and is compensated by the *s*-dependence of $\tilde{C}(s)$ on F_{N,m^2} of (6.4) when $s = s_0$ as in the assumption of the last lemma. Thus the parameter $s = s_0$ corresponds to a division of the Gaussian free field into a part that serves as reference measure, i.e., the Gaussian measure with covariance $\tilde{C}(s) + t_N Q_N$, and a part that is interpreted as a perturbation of it. A careful

choice of this division will be made at the end of the analysis. This choice will be such that the covariance $\tilde{C}(s)$ is that of a limiting Gaussian field that approximates the Discrete Gaussian model on large scales and that converges to the multiple of the Gaussian free field in Theorem 1.1.1. Namely, if $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ and f_N is as in the statement of Theorem 1.1.1, then

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} (f_N, \tilde{C}(s) f_N) = \frac{1}{s + v_J^2} (f, (-\Delta_{\mathbb{T}^2})^{-1} f)_{\mathbb{T}^2},$$
(6.49)

(see Lemma 9.1.3, where we look at a slightly modified covariance) and our choice of *s* depending *J* and β will be precisely such that $\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta) = \beta(1+sv_J^{-2})$, where $\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta)$ is the effective temperature in Theorem 1.1.1.

6.3 Bulk renormalisation group map

The present section is at the heart of the argument. We define a suitable renormalisation group map Φ_{j+1}^0 from scale *j* to scale *j* + 1, which corresponds to integrating out the covariance Γ_{j+1} , and exhibits Theorem 6.3.5 (algebraic property) and Theorems 6.1.2, 6.1.3 (analytic properties). These are the only features which will be needed in the sequel and, roughly speaking, will allow to perform a suitable fixed-point argument in the next chapter. The map Φ_{j+1}^0 has two components, one describing the evolution of coupling constants, and one describing that of the remainder coordinate. The latter is an evolution on polymer activities, whose growth will be controlled in terms of the norms introduced in Section 3.2. The estimates corresponding to these two components appear separately in Theorems 6.1.2 and 6.1.3. The actual definition of the remainder coordinate (Definition 6.3.7) involves the localisation operator introduced in Section 5.2, which is used to extract the relevant terms. The most involved part, which occupies most of this section, is to obtain the relevant bounds for the resulting remainder coordinate, and in particular for its non-linear part, cf. (6.13), but we have done most of the work in Section 4.4.

The parameter *s* was arbitrary in Proposition 6.1.1 (provided $|s| \le \varepsilon_s \theta_J$). A careful choice will be necessary in the analysis of the stable manifold of the renormalisation group map (in Chapter 7), but in the present section the parameter does not play an important role. We will therefore usually leave the *s*-dependence implicit in our notation. Thus all definitions in this section do implicitly depend on *s*, but all estimates will be uniform in $|s| \le \varepsilon_s \theta_J$. Thoughout this section, the distribution *J* is allowed to be any finite-range step distribution that is invariant under lattice symmetries (cf. above (1.8)) and we assume (3.1), which is no loss of generality.

Each RG map for j + 1 < N only depends on the massless covariance $\Gamma_j(s)$, so the RG flow does not feel the mass regularisation effect in these intermediate scales.

6.3.1 Coordinates for the renormalisation group map

The initial condition for the renormalisation group map is the interaction function $Z_0^0(\varphi|\Lambda)$. This function will eventually be chosen as in (6.40) with $s_0 = s$ and s chosen carefully, but we allow $s_0 \neq s$ for the RG map. Given such a function $Z_0^0(\varphi|\Lambda)$, we define Z_j^0 (with $\Lambda = \Lambda_N$) as in Chapter 4:

$$Z_{j+1}^{0}(\varphi';\omega|\Lambda) = \mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta} Z_{j}^{0}(\varphi'|\Lambda), \qquad (j \leq N-1, \varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda}), \tag{6.50}$$

(recall that \mathbb{E} integrates the Gaussian field ζ with covariance $\Gamma_{j+1} = \Gamma_{j+1}(s)$). Then the renormalisation group map is defined to parametrise the polymer expansions

$$Z_{j'}^{0}(\varphi|\Lambda) = e^{-E_{j'}|\Lambda|}(e^{U_{j'}} \circ_j K_{j'}^{0})(\Lambda,\varphi), \qquad j' \in \{j, j+1\}.$$
(6.51)

A careful inductive choice of E_j , U_j and K_j^0 for the representation (6.51) will later constitute the bulk (or unperturbed) renormalisation group flow.

For the remainder of this section, we merely specify general conditions that we impose on the form of U_j and K_j and how to measure their size. The coordinate U_j is an explicit leading part that is defined in terms of coupling constants (s_j, z_j) as follows.

Definition 6.3.1. The coordinate U_j given by (3.50) is parametrised in terms of the coupling constants (s_j, z_j) where $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $z_j = (z_j^{(q)})_{q \ge 1}$ is itself a sequence of real coupling constants:

$$U_{j}(X, \varphi) = \frac{1}{2} s_{j} |\nabla \varphi|_{X}^{2} + W_{j}(X, \varphi)$$

$$W_{j}(X, \varphi) = \sum_{x \in X} \sum_{q \ge 1} L^{-2j} z_{j}^{(q)} \cos(\beta^{1/2} q \varphi(x)),$$
(6.52)

We will always identify U_j with the coupling constants (s_j, z_j) and use the norm

$$||U_j||_j \equiv ||U_j||_{\Omega_j^U} = A \max\left\{|s_j|, \sup_{q \ge 1} e^{c_f \beta q} |z_j^{(q)}|\right\}$$
(6.53)

(recall Definition 3.2.6 for $||U_j||_{\Omega_j^U}$) for $c_f = \frac{1}{4}\gamma$, where the constant γ is the one from Proposition 2.1.2. Also recall that Ω_j^U is the Banach space of such U_j with finite $|| \cdot ||_{\Omega_j^U}$ -norm.

The quantity K_j^0 is a remainder coordinate on whose form we only impose the following generic conditions. Note that this includes in particular the important component factorisation property (3.29) which is implied by Definition 3.2.1.

Definition 6.3.2. The coordinate K_j^0 is a polymer activity (see Definition 3.2.1) satisfying the following.

- The periodicity condition $K_j^0(X, \varphi) = K_j^0(X, \varphi + 2\pi\beta^{-1/2}n)$ for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.
- Even and invariant under the lattice symmetries (see Definition 5.1.3) and $K_j^0(\cdot, \varphi) = K_i^0(\cdot, -\varphi)$.

For such polymer activitives K_j^0 we use the norm (3.45), i.e.,

$$\|K_{j}^{0}\|_{j} \equiv \|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}} = \|K_{j}^{0}\|_{2h,T_{j},A},$$
(6.54)

with

$$h = \max\{c_f^{1/2}, rc_h \rho_J^{-2} \sqrt{\beta}, \rho_J^{-1}\},$$
(6.55)

where $r \in (0,1]$, c_f is as in (3.51) and c_h is chosen by (5.45). Let $\Omega_{j,0}^K$ be the Banach space of polymer activies K_j^0 with finite $\|\cdot\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^K}$ -norm.

Remark 6.3.3. We will take β and *r* such that

$$\beta \ge 32 \max\{c_f^{-1}, c_f^{-2}\}, \qquad \rho_J^2 \ge \sqrt{32} r c_h c_f^{-1}.$$
 (6.56)

Then the choice of $\mathfrak{h} = 4h$ satisfies the assumptions of Lemma 3.2.8. Thus

$$\|W_{j}(B,\varphi)\|_{4h,T_{j}(B,\varphi)} \leqslant CA^{-1} \|W_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}}.$$
(6.57)

Indeed, if $\mathfrak{h} = 4c_f^{1/2}$, then $2\mathfrak{h}^2 c_f^{-2} = 32c_f^{-1} \leq \beta$, if $\mathfrak{h} = 4rc_h\rho_J^{-2}\sqrt{\beta}$, then $2\mathfrak{h}^2 c_f^{-2} \leq 32r^2c_h^2\rho_J^{-4}\beta \leq \beta$ and if $\mathfrak{h} = 4\rho_J^{-1}$, then $2\mathfrak{h}^2 c_f^{-2} \leq 32c_f^{-2} \leq \beta$.

Since c_h and c_f are absolute constants, the conditions (6.56) can be achieved either by taking *r* small enough with ρ_J fixed or ρ_J large enough with r = 1. Note that by Proposition 5.2.3 (observe that all of its assumptions hold) and the discussion below its statement, in particular the second term in the definition of α_{Loc} in (5.16) indicates that the price to pay for having *r* small is to take β sufficiently large so that $e^{-\frac{1}{2}r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0)} < L^{-2}$ (which we will later need). We will eventually impose one of these choices of parameters; this choice occurs in the proof of Corollary 7.3.3.

Finally, we define the norm on the product space of (U_j, K_j) as follows.

Definition 6.3.4. Let $\Omega_{j,0} = \Omega_j^U \times \Omega_{j,0}^K$ with norm

$$\|\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}\|_{j,0} \equiv \|\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}} = \max\{\|U_{j}\|_{\Omega_{i}^{U}}, \|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{i,0}^{K}}\}.$$
(6.58)

Ultimately we will choose $W_0(X, \varphi) = \sum_{x \in X} \tilde{U}(\varphi_x)$ with \tilde{U} as in (6.30), i.e., with $z_0^{(q)} = \tilde{z}^{(q)}$ as in Lemma 6.2.2. Then Lemma 6.2.2 implies

$$\|W_0\|_{\Omega_0^U} \leqslant 16Ae^{-c_f\beta}, \qquad c_f = \frac{1}{4}\gamma. \tag{6.59}$$

6.3.2 Introduction to the renormalisation group map

Due to the flexibility of the polymer expansion, there are many choices of maps that act on the renormalisation group coordinates $(E_j, s_j, z_j, K_j^0) \mapsto (E_{j+1}, s_{j+1}, z_{j+1}, K_{j+1}^0)$ such that (6.50)–(6.52) hold. The renormalisation group map corresponds to a careful choice in which the remainder coordinates K_j^0 contract from scale to scale in an appropriate sense, while the evolution of the coordinates U_j can be analysed explicitly. Such a choice of the renormalisation group map

$$\Phi_{j+1}^0: (E_j, s_j, z_j, K_j^0) \mapsto (E_{j+1}, s_{j+1}, z_{j+1}, K_{j+1}^0)$$
(6.60)

is explicitly given in Definitions 6.3.6–6.3.7 below. Note that, throughout the chapter, Φ_j^0 depends implicitly on Λ_N and $0 \le j < N - 1$ (but see Section 7.2 for its infinite-volume extension). The precise choice of the definition of Φ_{j+1}^0 is not significant for later sections, however, save for certain key properties that follow from this definition, which was stated in Theorem 6.1.2, 6.1.3 and will be stated below in Theorem 6.3.5. Any definition that implies these properties would have been equally good.

We briefly set up some convenient notation. In what follows, we either denote the components of the map Φ_{j+1}^0 by $(E_j + \mathscr{E}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{s}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{F}_{j+1}^0)$ or by $(E_j + \mathscr{E}_{j+1}, \mathscr{U}_{j+1}, \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^0)$ where $\mathscr{U}_{j+1} = (\mathfrak{s}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{z}_{j+1})$. Note that the coupling constant E_j contributes to (6.51) only by a φ -independent factor, and therefore its influence on (6.50) is trivial. As indicated above, we will thus assume that $E_j = 0$ in the definition of Φ_{j+1}^0 , and that the definition is then extended to general E_j by setting $\mathscr{E}_{j+1}(E_j, s_j, z_j, K_j^0) = \mathscr{E}_{j+1}(0, s_j, z_j, K_j^0), \mathfrak{s}_{j+1}(E_j, s_j, z_j, K_j^0) =$ $\mathfrak{s}_{j+1}(0, s_j, z_j, K_j^0)$, and analogously for the other components. To emphasise the dependence on Λ_N , we will sometimes write Φ_{j+1}^{0,Λ_N} and $\mathscr{K}_{j+1}^{0,\Lambda_N}$ instead of Φ_{j+1}^0 and \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^0 . Whenever we write only a subset of the arguments (E_j, s_j, z_j, K_j^0) below, we implicitly mean that the given map is a function of these arguments alone. For instance, $\mathfrak{s}_{j+1}(s_j, K_j^0)$ means that \mathfrak{s}_{j+1} is a function of (s_j, K_j^0) . The following theorem, along with Theorem 6.1.2, 6.1.3 refers to the map Φ_{j+1}^0 introduced below in Definitions 6.3.6–6.3.7 and exhibit its salient features.

Theorem 6.3.5 (Algebraic properties). The renormalisation group map Φ_{j+1}^0 is consistent with (6.50)–(6.51), i.e., if Z_j^0 has the form (6.51) at scale j with parameters (E_j, s_j, z_j, K_j^0) then Z_{j+1}^0 defined by (6.50) has this form at scale j+1 with $(E_{j+1}, s_{j+1}, z_{j+1}, K_{j+1}^0) = \Phi_{j+1}^0(E_j, s_j, z_j, K_j^0)$. Moreover, if K_j^0 is a scale-j polymer activity (see Definition 3.2.1) that is even and invariant under lattice symmetries (see Definition 5.1.3) and is $(2\pi\beta^{-1/2})$ periodic, then K_{j+1}^0 is a scale-(j+1) polymer activity with the same properties.

The remainder of this section is concerned with the definition of the renormalisation group map and the proof of the above theorems.

6.3.3 Definition of the renormalisation group map

The first definition concerns the coupling constants (E_j, s_j, z_j) . These are given by first order perturbation theory, plus a correction from the remainder coordinate K_j^0 , which involves its localisation as introduced in Section 5.2.

Definition 6.3.6. For U_j of the form (6.52), define the map $(\mathscr{E}_{j+1}, \mathscr{U}_{j+1}) : (U_j, K_j^0) \mapsto (E_{j+1}, U_{j+1})$ to be the unique solution of

$$-\mathscr{E}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^0)|B| + \mathscr{U}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^0, B, \varphi')$$

= $\mathbb{E}U_j(B, \varphi' + \zeta) + \sum_{X \in \mathscr{S}_j: X \supset B} \operatorname{Loc}_{X, B} \mathbb{E}K_j^0(X, \varphi' + \zeta), \quad (6.61)$

where $B \in \mathscr{B}_j$ is any scale-*j* block, $\mathscr{E}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^0) \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\mathscr{U}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^0) \in \Omega_j^U$. For general $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$, the definition extends by setting

$$\mathscr{U}_{j+1}(X) = \sum_{B \in \mathscr{B}_j(X)} \mathscr{U}_{j+1}(B).$$
(6.62)

That $(\mathscr{E}_{j+1}, \mathscr{U}_{j+1})$ is well-defined via (6.61), i.e., that the right-hand side of (6.61) can be uniquely written in the form of the left-hand side, follows by explicitly evaluating the Gaussian expectation in the first term and by Proposition 5.2.2 for the sum over $\text{Loc}_{X,B}$, as will become apparent in the proof of Theorem 6.1.2 below.

The following definition gives the evolution of the remainder coordinate K_j^0 , where we recall \mathbb{K}_{i+1} from Definition 4.2.1.

Definition 6.3.7. *Given* $(U_j, K_j^0) \in \Omega_{j,0}$, $(\mathscr{E}_{j+1}, \mathscr{U}_{j+1})$ given by Definition 6.3.6 and $\overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}^0(X) = -\mathscr{E}_{j+1}|X| + \mathscr{U}_{j+1}(X)$, we define

$$Q_{j}^{0}(D, Y, \varphi') = \mathbb{1}_{Y \in \mathscr{S}_{j}} \operatorname{Loc}_{Y, D}^{(2)} \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}[K_{j}^{0}(Y, \varphi' + \zeta)]$$
(6.63)

and $\mathscr{K}_{j+1}^0: (U_j, K_j^0) \mapsto K_{j+1}^0$ by

$$\mathscr{K}_{j+1}^{0}(U_{j}, K_{j}^{0}; X, \varphi) = \mathbb{K}_{j+1}(U_{j}, K_{j}^{0}, \mathscr{U}_{j+1}, \overline{\mathscr{U}}_{j+1}, Q_{j}^{0}; X, \varphi).$$
(6.64)

We prove Theorem 6.3.5 and Theorem 6.1.2 first, which can be seen from the definitions without much difficulty.

Proof of Theorem 6.3.5. That Z_{j+1}^0 satisfies

$$Z_{j+1}^{0}(\cdot|\Lambda_{N}) = e^{-(E_{j}+\mathscr{E}_{j+1})|\Lambda_{N}|} \left(e^{\mathscr{U}_{j+1}} \circ_{j+1} K_{j+1}^{0}\right)(\Lambda_{N})$$
(6.65)

follows from Proposition 4.2.2. The remark on the symmetries of K_{j+1}^0 follows from the definition of \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^0 , as the reexpansion map \mathbb{K}_{j+1} does not affect any of the indicated symmetries.

Proof of Theorem 6.1.2. By evaluating the expectation $\mathbb{E}U_j$ on the right-hand side of (6.61) explicitly using (6.52), the fact that ζ is centred and invariant under lattice rotations and (5.42),

$$\mathbb{E}U_{j}(B, \varphi' + \zeta) = \frac{1}{2} s_{j} \left(|\nabla \varphi'|_{B}^{2} + \mathbb{E}|\nabla \zeta|_{B}^{2} \right) + \sum_{x \in B} \sum_{q \ge 1} L^{-2j} z_{j}^{(q)} \cos(\beta^{1/2} q \varphi'(x)) \mathbb{E}[e^{i\sqrt{\beta}q\zeta(x)}]$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} s_{j} \left(|\nabla \varphi'|_{B}^{2} + |B| \sum_{\sigma = \pm} \mathbb{E}\left[(\zeta(x_{0} + \sigma e_{1}) - \zeta(x_{0}))^{2} \right] \right) + W_{j+1}(B, \varphi')$$

(6.66)

with $z_{j+1}^{(q)} = \mathfrak{z}_{j+1}^{(q)}(z_j)$ implicit in W_{j+1} given by

$$\mathfrak{z}_{j+1}^{(q)}(z_j^{(q)}) = L^2 e^{-\frac{1}{2}\beta q^2 \Gamma_{j+1}(0)} z_j^{(q)}$$
(6.67)

as declared in Theorem 6.1.2. Hence, combining (6.66) with (5.13) and (5.15), it follows that the right-hand side of (6.61) corresponds to the change of coupling constants

 $(\mathscr{E}_{j+1},\mathfrak{s}_{j+1},\mathfrak{z}_{j+1}):(s_j,z_j,K_j^0)\mapsto (E_{j+1}s_{j+1},z_{j+1})$ given by (6.67) and

$$\mathfrak{s}_{j+1}(s_j, K_j^0) = s_j + O\left(A^{-1}h^{-2} \|K_j^0\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^K}\right)$$
(6.68)

$$\mathscr{E}_{j+1}(s_j, K_j^0) = -s_j \nabla^{(e_1, -e_1)} \Gamma_{j+1}(0) + O(L^{-2j} A^{-1} \| K_j^0 \|_{\Omega_{j,0}^K})$$
(6.69)

where

$$\nabla^{(e_1,-e_1)}\Gamma_{j+1}(0) = \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\sigma} \mathbb{E}[(\zeta(x_0+\sigma e_1)-\zeta(x_0))^2] = -\Gamma_{j+1}(e_1) - \Gamma_{j+1}(-e_1) + 2\Gamma_{j+1}(0).$$
(6.70)

The conclusions (6.9) and (6.10) are different ways to state (6.68) and (6.69).

We now argue that the asserted continuity properties in the implicit parameter *s* hold. With regards to $\mathfrak{z}_{j+1}^{(q)}$, this is immediate by (6.67) and the continuity of $s \mapsto \Gamma_{j+1}(s)$, cf. Proposition 2.1.2,(ii). Next, referring to Proposition 5.2.2, we have $\mathfrak{s}_{j+1}(s_j, K_j^0) = s_j + \mathfrak{s}_{j+1}(0, K_j^0)$ and $\mathscr{E}_{j+1}(s_j, K_j^0) = -s_j \nabla^{(e_1, -e_1)} \Gamma_{j+1}(0) + \mathscr{E}_{j+1}(0, K_j^0)$, whereby $\mathscr{E}_{j+1}(0, K_j^0) = -\overline{E}(K_j^0)$ and $\mathfrak{s}_{j+1} = \overline{s}(K_j^0)$. Thus, Proposition 5.2.2 immediately yields that $\mathscr{E}_{j+1}(0, K_j^0)$ and $\mathfrak{s}_{j+1}(0, K_j^0)$ are both continuous in the implicit parameter *s* whenever $\|K_j^0\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^K} < \infty$. The claim follows.

The proof of Theorem 6.1.3 occupies the remainder of the chapter. More precisely, in Section 6.3.4 we find the explicit expression of \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^0 and prove its bound, and in Sections 6.4, we bound the nonlinear part \mathscr{M}_{j+1}^0 .

6.3.4 Proof of Theorem 6.1.3: bound on the linear part

We have already observed in Section 4.2 that we can extract out the linear part of \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^0 (also see Section 4.4) and it has form

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0}(U_{j},K_{j}^{0};X,\varphi') &\coloneqq \sum_{Y:\overline{Y}=X} \left(\mathbb{1}_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}} \mathbb{E}K_{j}^{0}(Y,\varphi'+\zeta) - \mathbb{1}_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}} \sum_{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}(Y)} Q_{j}^{0}(D,Y,\varphi') \right) \\ &+ \sum_{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}}^{\overline{D}=X} \left(\mathbb{E}[U_{j}(D,\varphi'+\zeta)] + \mathscr{E}_{j+1}|D| \\ &- \mathscr{U}_{j+1}(D,\varphi') + \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}}^{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}(Y)} Q_{j}^{0}(D,Y,\varphi') \right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.71)$$

By the choice of $(\mathscr{E}_{j+1}, \mathscr{U}_{j+1}, Q_j^0)$ from Definition 6.3.6–6.3.7, we see that the second summation vanishes and the first line becomes

$$\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0}(U_{j}, K_{j}^{0}; X, \varphi') = \sum_{b=1,3} \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,(b)}(K_{j}^{0}; X, \varphi')$$
(6.72)

where

$$\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,(1)} = \sum_{Y:\overline{Y}=X} \mathbb{1}_{Y\in\mathscr{S}_j} (1 - \operatorname{Loc}_Y^{(2)}) \mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta} K_j^0(Y, \varphi')$$
(6.73)

$$\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,(3)} = \mathbb{S}\big[\mathbf{1}_{Y \in \mathscr{P}_{j}^{c} \setminus \mathscr{S}_{j}} \mathbb{E}[\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\zeta} K_{j}^{0}(Y, \boldsymbol{\varphi}')]\big], \tag{6.74}$$

and we recall S from Section 4.1.3. We have omitted b = 2 to make the notation consistent with what comes in Chapter 8. The bound on \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^0 is obtained by bounding each $\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,(b)}$.

Proof of Theorem 6.1.3,(i). By Proposition 5.2.3 (ii),

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,(1)}(K_{j}^{0};X)\|_{2h,T_{j+1}(X)} &\leqslant C \sum_{Y:\overline{Y}=X} \mathbf{1}_{Y\in\mathscr{S}_{j}} \alpha_{\mathrm{Loc}} A^{-|Y|_{j}} \|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}} \\ &\leqslant C' A^{-|X|_{j+1}} L^{2} \alpha_{\mathrm{Loc}} \|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}} \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.75)$$

where in the second inequality, we have used that $|Y|_j \ge |X|_{j+1}$ and that there are at most $O(L^2)$ number of small polymers $Y \in \mathscr{S}_j$ such that $\overline{Y} = X$.

For $\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,(3)}$, we use Proposition 4.1.5 to obtain

$$\|\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,(3)}(K_{j}^{0};X)\|_{2h,T_{j+1}(X)} \leq (L^{-1}A^{-1})^{|X|_{j+1}} \|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}}.$$
(6.76)

6.4 **Proof of Theorem 6.1.3: bound on the non-linear part**

Bound on $\mathscr{M}_{j+1}^0 = \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^0 - \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^0$ is not of triviality, but thanks to Lemma 4.4.2, the bound reduces to the following lemma, where we recall $\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_j$ from (4.73)–for the bulk RG flow, it becomes

$$\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}^{0}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0}) = (\mathscr{E}_{j+1}|\boldsymbol{X}|, \boldsymbol{U}_{j}, \overline{\boldsymbol{U}}_{j+1}^{0}, \boldsymbol{K}_{j}^{0}, \overline{\boldsymbol{K}}_{j}^{0}, \boldsymbol{Q}_{j}^{0})(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0})$$

$$(6.77)$$

for $\omega_i^0 = (U_j, K_i^0)$ and

$$\overline{U}_{j+1}^{0}(X, \varphi') = -\mathscr{E}_{j+1}|X| + U_{j+1}(X, \varphi')$$
(6.78)

and we also recall $\mathscr{X}_{j}^{\mathfrak{K}}$ from Definition 4.4.1. For notational sake, we write $s_{j+1}, z_{j+1}, U_{j+1}$ for $\mathfrak{s}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{Y}_{j+1}, \mathscr{U}_{j+1}$.

Lemma 6.4.1. Under the assumptions of Theorem 6.1.3, for any $\delta > 0$ and parameters satisfying (6.56), there exists $\varepsilon(L) > 0$ only polynomially small in L, and constants $C(\delta, L) \equiv C(\delta, \beta, L)$, $C(L) \equiv C(\beta, L)$, C(A, L), $\varepsilon(\delta, L) \equiv \varepsilon(\delta, \beta, L)$ and $\eta > 0$ such that if $\mathscr{X}_{j}^{\mathfrak{K}}(\cdot)$ is defined with these δ , η , $C(\delta, L)$, C(L), C(A, L) then $\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}^{0}$ is in $\mathscr{X}_{j}^{\mathfrak{K}}(\{\omega_{j}^{0} \in \Omega_{j,0} : \|\omega_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}} \leq \varepsilon(\delta, L)\})$.

We defer the proof of the lemma to Section 6.4.1 and first complete the proof of Theorem 6.1.3 (ii).

Proof of Theorem 6.1.3 (ii). The continuous differentiability of \mathscr{M}_{j+1}^0 is a direct consequence of Lemma 4.4.2 applied with $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small, $\mathbb{X} = \{\omega_j^0 \in \Omega_{j,0} : \|\omega_j^0\|_{\Omega_{j,0}} \leq \varepsilon(\delta, \beta, L)\}$, $\Re_j = \overline{\Re}_j^0$, and the decomposition $\mathscr{M}_{j+1}^0 = \sum_{k=1}^4 \mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{0,(k)}$ from (4.74), with the assumptions of Lemma 4.4.2 being verified by Lemma 6.4.1. The bound (6.13) is obtained by summing (4.87) for k = 1, 2, 3, 4, so

$$\|\mathscr{M}_{j+1}^{0}(U_{j},K_{j}^{0})(X)\|_{2h,T_{j+1}(X)} \leqslant CA^{-(1+\eta_{0})|X|_{j+1}}\|(U_{j},K_{j}^{0})\|_{\Omega_{j,0}},$$
(6.79)

as desired.

6.4.1 **Proof of Lemma 6.4.1**

In this section we prove Lemma 6.4.1, i.e., that $\overline{\Re}_j(\omega_j^0)$ defined above satisfies $\overline{\Re}_j \in \mathscr{X}_j^{\mathfrak{R}}(\Omega_{j,0})$ whenever $\omega_j^0 = (U_j, K_j^0)$ is sufficiently small. Indeed, in Lemma 6.4.2 we verify that (4.81) and (4.82) hold, and in Lemmas 6.4.3–6.4.4 we verify (4.83)–(4.86). We would have to note that $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{H},T_j}$ in Definition 4.4.1 should be interpreted as $\|\cdot\|_{2h,T_j}$, since the bulk RG coordinates do not have ω -dependence.

To control the term $\frac{1}{2} |\nabla \varphi|_B^2$ that appears in the expressions to be bounded (cf. for instance (6.52)), the expression (3.71) will appear repeatedly, i.e.,

$$w_j(X, \varphi)^2 = \sum_{D \in \mathscr{B}_j(X)} \max_{n=1,2} \|\nabla_j^n \varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(D^*)}^2,$$
(6.80)

see (3.52) for example. We recall that w_j is related to the large field regulator G_j by the inequalities (3.72) and (3.73).

Lemma 6.4.2. Under the assumptions of Theorem 6.1.3, there exists $\varepsilon(\delta, \beta, L) > 0$ only polynomially small in L and β such that the following holds: for any $\delta > 0$, suppose $\|\omega_j^0\|_{j,0} := \|(U_j, K_j^0)\|_{\Omega_{j,0}} \leq \varepsilon(\delta, \beta, L)$. Then (4.81), (4.82) hold with $\mathfrak{h} = 2h$, *i.e.*,

$$\|\mathfrak{U}(B,\varphi)\|_{2h,T_j(B,\varphi)} \leq C(\delta,L)(1+\delta c_w \kappa_L w_j(B,\varphi)^2) \|\omega_j^0\|_{j,0}$$
(6.81)

$$\|e^{\mathfrak{U}(B,\varphi)} - \sum_{m=0}^{k} \frac{1}{m!} (\mathfrak{U}(B,\varphi))^{m}\|_{2h,T_{j}(B,\varphi)} \leqslant C(\delta,L) e^{\delta c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(B,\varphi)^{2}} \|\omega_{j}^{0}\|_{j,0}^{k+1}$$
(6.82)

for $\mathfrak{U} \in \{U_j, \overline{U}_{j+1}^0\}$ and the same holds when $\mathfrak{U} = \mathscr{E}_{j+1}$ but with $\delta = 0$.

Proof. By Remark 6.3.3, Theorem 6.1.2, (3.4) (estimate on $\nabla^{(e_1,-e_1)}\Gamma_{j+1}(0)$) and the choice of W_{j+1} for $j^* \in \{j, j+1\}$ and $B \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}$,

$$|\mathscr{E}_{j+1}||B|, \ \|W_{j^*}(B,\varphi)\|_{2h,T_j(B,\varphi)} \leqslant CA^{-1}L^2 \|\omega_j^0\|_{j,0}, \tag{6.83}$$

and

$$\|\frac{1}{2}s_{j^*}|\nabla\varphi|_B^2\|_{2h,T_j(B,\varphi')} \leqslant CA^{-1}\sum_{D\in\mathscr{B}_j(B)} (h^2 + w_j(D,\varphi)^2) \|\omega_j^0\|_{j,0}$$
$$\leqslant CA^{-1}(L^2h^2 + w_j(B,\varphi)^2) \|\omega_j^0\|_{j,0}.$$
(6.84)

Since $h = \max\{c_f^{1/2}, rc_h\rho_J^{-2}\sqrt{\beta}, \rho_J^{-1}\}$, by taking $L \ge c_f^{-1/2}$ we have $L^2h^2 \ge 1$. Then for $\mathfrak{U} \in \{U_j, \overline{U}_{j+1}^0\}$

$$\|\mathfrak{U}(B,\varphi)\|_{2h,T_{j}(B,\varphi)} \leq C(\delta)\kappa_{L}^{-1}L^{2}h^{2}\left(1+\delta c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(B,\varphi)^{2}\right)\|\omega_{j}^{0}\|_{j,0}.$$
(6.85)

Now, since $\beta \ge 32c_f^{1/2}$, there exists C > 0 such that $h \le C\sqrt{\beta}$, so for some $C(\delta, \beta, L)$ only polynomially large in β and L,

$$\|\mathfrak{U}(B,\varphi)\|_{2h,T_{j}(B,\varphi)} \leq C(\delta,\beta,L) \left(1 + \delta c_{w} \kappa_{L} w_{j}(B,\varphi)^{2}\right) \|\omega_{j}^{0}\|_{j,0}.$$

$$(6.86)$$

Also using the trivial fact that $1 + x \leq e^x$ for $x \geq 0$,

$$\|\mathfrak{U}(B,\varphi)\|_{2h,T_{j}(B,\varphi)} \leqslant C(\delta,\beta,L)e^{\delta c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(B,\varphi)^{2}}\|\omega_{j}^{0}\|_{j,0}.$$
(6.87)
This shows (6.81). To deduce (6.82), assume $\|\omega_j^0\|_{j,0} \leq \varepsilon(\delta,\beta,L) = \frac{1}{C(\delta,\beta,L)}$. Together with the submultiplicativity (3.64) of the norm, (6.86) then implies

$$\|e^{\mathfrak{U}}\|_{2h,T_{j}(B,\varphi)} \leqslant e^{\|\mathfrak{U}\|_{2h,T_{j}(B,\varphi)}} \leqslant e^{1+\delta c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(B,\varphi)^{2}} \leqslant Ce^{\delta c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(B,\varphi)^{2}}$$
(6.88)

and furthermore, using (6.87) to bound $(\mathfrak{U})^{k+1}$ for $k \in \{0, 1, 2\}$,

$$\|e^{\mathfrak{U}} - \sum_{m=0}^{k} \frac{1}{m!} (\mathfrak{U})^{m}\|_{2h, T_{j}(B, \varphi)} \leq \frac{1}{(k+1)!} \|\mathfrak{U}\|_{2h, T_{j}(B, \varphi)}^{k+1} e^{\|\mathfrak{U}\|_{2h, T_{j}(B, \varphi)}} \leq C(\delta, \beta, L) \|\omega_{j}^{0}\|_{j, 0}^{k+1} \exp\left(4\delta c_{w} \kappa_{L} w_{j}(B, \varphi)^{2}\right), \quad (6.89)$$

which is equivalent to the claim, by replacing 4δ by δ . The remark about \mathscr{E}_{j+1} follows from the same computations starting just from (6.83).

Lemma 6.4.3. Under the assumptions of Theorem 6.1.3, there exist $c_w > 0$, $\varepsilon \equiv \varepsilon(\beta, L) > 0$ (only polynomially small in β), $C \equiv C(c_w, \beta, L)$, and $C_A \equiv C_A(c_w, \beta, L, A)$ such that the bounds (4.83), (4.84), (4.86) hold whenever $\|\omega_i^0\|_{j,0} \leq \varepsilon$, *i.e.*,

$$\|De^{\mathfrak{U}(B,\varphi)}\|_{2h,T_j(B,\varphi)} \leqslant C(L)e^{c_w\kappa_L w_j(B,\varphi)^2},\tag{6.90}$$

$$\|D^2 e^{\mathfrak{U}'(B,\varphi)}\|_{2h,T_i(B,\varphi)} \leqslant C(L) e^{c_w \kappa_L w_j(B,\varphi)^2},\tag{6.91}$$

$$\|DQ_{i}^{0}(D,Y,\varphi)\|_{2h,T_{i}(Y,\varphi)} \leq C(L)e^{c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(D,\varphi)^{2}},$$
(6.92)

for any $Y \in \mathscr{S}_j$, $D \in \mathscr{B}_j(Y)$, and $\mathfrak{U}' \in \{U_j, \overline{U}_{j+1}^0, \mathscr{E}_{j+1}\}$, and in the case of \mathscr{E}_{j+1} , the factor $e^{c_w \kappa_L w_j(B, \varphi)}$ can be omitted. The derivatives exist in the asserted spaces of polymer activities.

Proof. The twice differentiability of $e^{\mathfrak{U}}$ is a consequence of Lemma 6.4.2, as we will show in detail below. To start with, we will fix $c_w > 0$ small enough so that Lemma 3.3.4 holds. Let $\|\dot{\omega}_{j,0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}} \leq \varepsilon(\delta,\beta,L)$ for small $\delta > 0$, where $\varepsilon(\delta,\beta,L)$ is as in Lemma 6.4.2. By Lemma 6.4.2 and (6.88),

$$\|e^{\mathfrak{U}'(\omega_j+\dot{\omega}_j,B,\varphi)} - (1+\mathfrak{U}'(\dot{\omega}_j,B,\varphi))e^{\mathfrak{U}'(\omega_j,B,\varphi)}\|_{2h,T_j(\varphi,B)} \leq C(\delta,\beta,L)\|\dot{\omega}_j\|_{j,0}^2 e^{2\delta c_w\kappa_Lw_j(B,\varphi)^2}$$
(6.93)

so $De^{\mathfrak{U}(\omega_j, B, \varphi)}(\dot{\omega}_j) = e^{\mathfrak{U}(\omega_j, B, \varphi)}\mathfrak{U}(\dot{\omega}_j, B, \varphi)$. Moreover, as asserted, the differentiability is uniform in φ after dividing by $G_j(B, \varphi)$ by Lemma 3.3.4, i.e., the derivatives exist in the

space of polymer activities. Similarly, for $\|\ddot{\omega}_j\|_{j,0} \leq \varepsilon(\delta, \beta, L)$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|De^{\mathfrak{U}'(\omega_j+\ddot{\omega}_j,B,\varphi)}(\dot{\omega}_j) - (1+\mathfrak{U}'(\ddot{\omega}_j,B,\varphi))De^{\mathfrak{U}'(\omega_j,B,\varphi)}(\dot{\omega}_j)\|_{2h,T_j(\varphi,B)} \\ \leqslant C(\delta,\beta,L)\|\dot{\omega}_j\|_{j,0}\|\ddot{\omega}_j\|_{j,0}^2e^{2\delta c_w\kappa_L w_j(B,\varphi)^2} \end{aligned}$$
(6.94)

so $D^2 e^{\mathfrak{U}(\omega_j, B, \varphi)}(\dot{\omega}_j, \ddot{\omega}_j) = e^{\mathfrak{U}(\omega_j, B, \varphi)} \mathfrak{U}'(\dot{\omega}_j, B, \varphi) \mathfrak{U}'(\ddot{\omega}_j, B, \varphi)$. It follows that $e^{\mathfrak{U}}, De^{\mathfrak{U}}$ are differentiable and $De^{\mathfrak{U}(\omega_j, B, \varphi)}, D^2 e^{\mathfrak{U}'(\omega_j, B, \varphi)}$ satisfy the desired bounds again using Lemma 6.4.2 and (6.88). Claims on \mathscr{E}_{j+1} follow from the same principles, but it does not have dependence on φ .

Finally, because of (5.21),

$$\|\operatorname{Loc}_{Y,D}^{(2)} \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)} \theta_{\zeta} K_{j}^{0}(Y, \varphi')\|_{2h, T_{j}(Y, \varphi')} \leq C(\log L) \|K_{j}^{0}(Y)\|_{2h, T_{j}(Y)} e^{c_{w} \kappa_{L} w_{j}(D, \varphi')^{2}}.$$
 (6.95)

Since Q_j^0 is a linear function of K_j^0 , its differentiability follows from boundedness, and the derivative satisfies (6.92).

Lemma 6.4.4. Under the assumptions of Theorem 6.1.3, there exist $\varepsilon \equiv \varepsilon(\beta, L) > 0$ (only polynomially small in β) and C(A, L) such that (4.85) holds whenever $\|\omega_j^0\|_{j,0} \leq \varepsilon$, i.e.,

$$\|D\overline{K}_{j}^{0}(Z,\varphi)\|_{2h,T_{j}(Z,\varphi)} \leqslant C(A,L)A^{-(1+\eta)|Z|_{j+1}}G_{j}(Z,\varphi)$$
(6.96)

for some purely geometric constant $\eta > 0$.

Proof. Recall (4.18) for the definition of \overline{K}_{j}^{0} . We may rewrite, for $X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}^{c}$,

$$\overline{K}_{j}^{0}(X,\varphi) = \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}}^{\overline{Y}=X} e^{U_{j}(X\setminus Y,\varphi)} K_{j}^{0}(Y,\varphi) + \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} e^{U_{j}(X\setminus Y,\varphi)} K_{j}^{(n)}(Y,\varphi)$$
(6.97)

where

$$K_j^{(n)}(Y,\varphi) = \mathbb{1}_{Y \in \mathscr{P}_j \setminus \mathscr{P}_j^c} K_j^0(Y,\varphi).$$
(6.98)

We will bound the two terms in (6.97) separately. Observe that, for $Y \in \mathscr{P}_j^c$, $\overline{Y} = X$ and any $\delta > 0$, applying submultiplicativity, Lemma 6.4.2 (also see (6.88)) implies

$$\|e^{U_j(X\setminus Y)}\|_{2h,T_j(X,\varphi)} \leqslant e^{|X\setminus Y|_j + \delta c_w \kappa_L w_j(X\setminus Y,\varphi)^2 \|\omega_j^0\|_{\Omega_{j,0}}}$$
(6.99)

whenever $\|\omega_j^0\|_{j,0} \leq \varepsilon(\delta,\beta,L)$ for suitable $\varepsilon(\delta,\beta,L)$. Using this bound, together with (3.73), Lemma 4.1.6, and estimating $|X \setminus Y|_j \leq L^2 |X|_{j+1}$, one obtains for $Y \in \mathscr{P}_j^c$

$$\begin{aligned} \|e^{U_{j}(X\setminus Y,\varphi)}K_{j}^{0}(Y,\varphi)\|_{2h,T_{j}(X,\varphi)} &\leqslant e^{|X\setminus Y|_{j}+\delta c_{w}\kappa_{L}\varepsilon_{w_{j}}(X\setminus Y,\varphi)^{2}}G_{j}(Y,\varphi)A^{-|Y|_{j}}\|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}} \\ &\leqslant A^{8(1+\eta)}e^{L^{2}|X|_{j+1}}G_{j}(X,\varphi)A^{-(1+\eta)|X|_{j+1}}\|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}} \tag{6.100}$$

for some $\eta > 0$ and $\|\omega_j^0\|_{j,0} \leq \varepsilon(\delta, L)$. Hence for the first term of (6.97),

$$\|\sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}}^{\overline{Y}=X}e^{U_{j}(X\setminus Y,\varphi)}K_{j}^{0}(Y,\varphi)\|_{2h,T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \leqslant C(A)e^{L^{2}|X|_{j+1}}G_{j}(X,\varphi)\sum_{Y:\overline{Y}=X}A^{-(1+\eta)|X|_{j+1}}\|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}}$$
(6.101)

but $\sum_{Y:\overline{Y}=X} 1 \leq 2^{|X|_j} \leq 2^{L^2|X|_{j+1}}$ so this is bounded by $C(A)A^{-(1+\frac{\eta}{2})|X|_{j+1}}G_j(X,\varphi) \|K_j^0\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^K}$ for $A \geq C(L)$ sufficiently large. Now by the linearity of the map $K_j^0 \mapsto \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_j^c} e^{U_j(X\setminus Y)}K_j^0(Y)$, we immediately have, for $\eta' = \eta/2$,

$$\left\|\partial_{K_{j}^{0}}\left[\sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}}^{\overline{Y}=X}e^{U_{j}(X\setminus Y,\varphi)}K_{j}^{0}(Y,\varphi)\right](\dot{K}_{j})\right\|_{2h,T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \leq C(A)A^{-(1+\eta')|X|_{j+1}}\|\dot{K}_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}}G_{j}(X,\varphi).$$
(6.102)

Next, for $Y \in \mathscr{P}_j \setminus \mathscr{P}_j^c$ and $\overline{Y} = X$, we have by (3.29) that

$$(K_{j}^{0} + \dot{K}_{j})(Y) - K_{j}^{0}(Y) = \prod_{Z \in \text{Comp}_{j}(Y)} (K_{j}(Z) + \dot{K}_{j}(Z)) - \prod_{Z \in \text{Comp}_{j}(Y)} K_{j}^{0}(Z)$$
(6.103)

so, denoting by $\overline{K_j^{(n)}}$ the object defined by (4.18) with $K_j^{(n)}$ from (6.98) in place of K_j^0 , we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \overline{(K_{j}^{0} + \dot{K}_{j})^{(n)}} - \overline{K_{j}^{(n)}} - \sum_{Y \notin \mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}} \sum_{Z \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)} e^{U_{j}(X \setminus Y)} \dot{K}_{j}(Z) \prod_{Z' \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y \setminus Z)} K_{j}^{0}(Z') \right\|_{2h, T_{j}(X)} \\ & \leq \sum_{Y \notin \mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}} e^{|X \setminus Y|_{j}} A^{-|Y|_{j}} \Big(\Big(\varepsilon + \|\dot{K}_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}} \Big)^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|} - \|\dot{K}_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}}^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|} - |\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)| \|\dot{K}_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}}^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|-1} \varepsilon \Big] \\ & \leq C \sum_{Y \notin \mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}} \sum_{P \in \mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}} e^{|X \setminus Y|_{j}} A^{-|Y|_{j}} |\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|^{2} \|\dot{K}_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}}^{2} \varepsilon^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|-2} \\ & \leq C' e^{L^{2}|X|_{j+1}} \sum_{Y \notin \mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}|Y|_{j}} A^{-|Y|_{j}} \|\dot{K}_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}}^{2} \varepsilon^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|-2} \tag{6.104}$$

where the second inequality holds under the assumption $\|\dot{K}_j\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^K} \leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$. By Lemma 4.1.7, this is bounded by $C(A)(eL^2e^{L^2}A^{-(1+\eta'')})^{|X|_{j+1}}\|\dot{K}_j\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^K}^2$ for some $\eta'' > 0$, and hence $\overline{K_j^{(n)}}$ is differentiable in K_j^0 . The derivative satisfies a similar bound:

$$\left\|\sum_{Y\notin\mathscr{P}_{j}Z\in\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)}^{Y=X}\sum_{e^{U_{j}(X\setminus Y)}\dot{K}_{j}(Z)K_{j}^{0}(Y\setminus Z)}\left\|_{2h,T_{j}(X)}\leqslant C(A)A^{-(1+\eta''/2)|X|_{j+1}}\|\dot{K}_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}}\varepsilon\right.$$
(6.105)

when A is chosen sufficiently large. So only the derivative in U_j is left to be studied. But

$$\begin{split} \left\| \partial_{U_{j}} \left[\sum_{Y \in \mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} e^{U_{j}(X \setminus Y, \varphi)} K_{j}^{0}(Y, \varphi) \right] (\dot{U}_{j}) \right\|_{2h, T_{j}(X, \varphi)} \\ &\leqslant \sum_{Y \in \mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} \| \dot{U}_{j}(X \setminus Y, \varphi) \|_{2h, T_{j}(X \setminus Y, \varphi)} \| e^{U_{j}(X \setminus Y)} K_{j}^{0}(Y, \varphi) \|_{2h, T_{j}(X, \varphi)} \\ &\leqslant C(\beta, L) \sum_{Y \in \mathscr{P}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} e^{L^{2}|X|_{j+1}} e^{-|Y|_{j}} G_{j}(X, \varphi) A^{-|Y|_{j}} \| K_{j}^{0} \|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}}^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|} \| \dot{U}_{j} \|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}} \\ &\leqslant C(\beta, L) e^{L^{2}|X|_{j+1}} G_{j}(X, \varphi) \| \dot{U}_{j} \|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}} (eL^{2}A^{-(1+2\eta)/(1+\eta)})^{|X|_{j+1}} \| K_{j}^{0} \|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}} \tag{6.106}$$

where the final inequality follows again by Lemma 4.1.7 assuming $||K_j^0||_{\Omega_{j,0}^K} \leq \varepsilon_{rb}$. Also, since $C(\beta, L)$ is a constant only polynomially large in β , we obtain

$$\left\|\partial_{U_{j}}\left[\sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}}^{Y=X}e^{U_{j}(X\setminus Y,\varphi)}K_{j}^{0}(Y,\varphi)\right](\dot{U}_{j})\right\|_{2h,T_{j}(X,\varphi)} \leqslant C(L)A^{-(1+\eta''')|X|_{j+1}}G_{j}(X,\varphi)\|\dot{U}_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}}$$
(6.107)

after choosing *A* large in *L* and $||K_j^0||_{\Omega_{j,0}^K}$ polynomially small in β . Hence we have the bound for $\partial_{U_j} \overline{K}_j^0$ when *A* is sufficiently large and together, (6.102), (6.105) and (6.107) yield (6.96).

Chapter 7

Stable manifold

In Chapter 6, we defined a renormalisation group map Φ_{j+1}^{0,Λ_N} for j+1 < N. Later in this chapter, we also construct the RG map on the final scale, Φ_N^{N,Λ_N} whose properties will be given in Proposition 7.4.4. These RG maps construct a renormalisation group flow $(s_j, z_j, K_j^0)_{j \leq N}$, defined iteratively by

$$(s_{j+1}, z_{j+1}, K_{j+1}^0) = \Phi_{j+1}^{0, \Lambda_N}(s_j, z_j, K_j^0), \qquad j \le N - 1$$
(7.1)

provided that (s_j, z_j, K_j^0) remains in the domain of the renormalisation group maps. Compared to the definition in Chapter 6, we have dropped the *E*-coordinate from the renormalisation group map as it does not influence its dynamics and thus does not play a role in this section.

Our goal is now to show that for appropriate initial conditions (s_0, z_0, K_0) , independent of Λ_N , the renormalisation group flow exists indefinitely (in the sense explained below). Moreover, we will address the point that our renormalisation group map actually depends on a parameter *s* (mostly suppressed in our notation so far), which we ultimately need to set equal to s_0 (see Proposition 6.1.1), but which has been arbitrary so far. Thus a renormalisation group flow depends both on the parameter *s* and the initial condition (s_0, z_0, K_0^0) , but we will show that it is possible to choose $s = s_0$.

7.1 Statement of result

Recall the definition of the reference temperature $\beta_{\text{free}}(J)$ from (1.23) for a given finite-range step distribution *J*

$$\beta_{\text{free}}(J) = 8\pi v_J^2,\tag{7.2}$$

 c_f given by Definition 3.2.6 and $\tilde{z}(\beta)$ given by Lemma 6.2.2. In the sequel, we frequently write $K_0 = 0$ to denote the zero element in the linear space of polymer activities, i.e., the polymer activity given by $K_0(X) = 0$, $X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c$, whence $K_0(X) = 1_{\emptyset}(X)$, cf. below Definition 3.2.1.

Proposition 7.1.1. (i) For any finite-range step distribution J (as always invariant under lattice symmetries and satisfying (3.1)) there exist $r \in (0,1]$ and $\beta_0(J) \in (0,\infty)$ such that the following holds for $\beta \ge \beta_0(J)$. There exist $s_0^c(J,\beta) = O(e^{-c_f\beta})$ and $\alpha = \alpha(J,\beta) > 0$, and positive integers L = L(J) and A = A(J) such that there exists a solution $(U_j, K_j^0)_{0 \le j \le N}$ to (7.1) with parameter $s = s_0^c(J,\beta)$ and initial conditions $s_0 = s_0^c(J,\beta), z_0 = \tilde{z}(\beta)$ and $K_0^0 = 0$. Moreover, they satisfy

$$\|U_j\|_{\Omega_j^U} = O(e^{-c_f \beta} L^{-\alpha_j}), \qquad \|K_j^0\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^K} = O(e^{-c_f \gamma \beta} L^{-\alpha_j}), \tag{7.3}$$

for any $0 \leq j \leq N$ where the norms are as in Definitions 6.3.1–6.3.2 (and thus depend on A, L, r, β, ρ_J) and α is such that $CL^2 \alpha_{Loc} < L^{-\alpha}$ for sufficiently large C.

(ii) If \mathscr{J} is a family of finite-range step distributions and (3.1) holds with the same constant for all $J \in \mathscr{J}$, then there exists $C(\mathscr{J}) > 0$ such that for any $\delta > 0$ and $J \in \mathscr{J}$ with $v_J^2 \ge C(\mathscr{J}) |\log \delta|$, one may take $\beta_0(J) = (1+\delta)\beta_{\text{free}}(J)$ in (i).

We remark that in terms of the function $s_0^c(J,\beta)$ of the proposition, the effective temperature in Theorem 1.1.1 will be defined by (cf. the discussion around (6.49))

$$\beta_{\rm eff}(J,\beta) = (1 + s_0^c(J,\beta)v_J^{-2})^{-1}\beta.$$
(7.4)

The initial conditions of Proposition 7.1.1 will be repeated multiple number of times, so we summarise them as the following.

(Φ_{IC}) Let $\beta_0(J)$, $s_0^c(J,\beta)$, $\alpha(J,\beta)$, *L* and *A* be as in Proposition 7.1.1. Let $\beta \ge \beta_0(J)$, the parameter *s* be set to be $s_0^c(\beta)$, the initial coupling constants $U_0(X,\varphi) = \frac{1}{2}s_0|\nabla\varphi|_X^2 + \sum_{x \in X} \sum_{q \ge 1} z_0^{(q)} \cos(q\beta^{1/2}\varphi(x))$ are given by $s_0 = s_0^c(\beta)$, $z_0^{(q)} = \tilde{z}^{(q)}(\beta)$, and the initial remainder coordinate is $K_0(X) = 1_{X=\emptyset}$.

Proposition 7.1.1 will be proved in the rest of the chapter.

7.2 Infinite-volume RG flow

In Chapter 6, we considered Λ_N fixed and corresponding scales j < N. In particular the renormalisation group map (7.1) also depends on Λ_N . However, in order to talk about the

convergence of the flow (s_j, z_j, K_j^0) as $j \to \infty$, we now introduce notions of polymer activities and renormalisation flow that is free of this dependence by being defined in infinite volume. To distinguish polymer activities that depend on the torus from those defined in \mathbb{Z}^2 , we now write $K(\cdot|\Lambda_N)$ or $K^{\Lambda_N}(\cdot)$ for the former and $K(\cdot)$ without index for the latter.

We first have to define an infinite-volume analogues of the polymers and polymer activities. We do not attempt to write everything explicitly when the extensions are clear.

Definition 7.2.1. Let $\Omega_{j,0}^{K}(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ be the set of even periodic *j*-polymer activities $(K_j^0(X, \varphi) : X \in \mathscr{P}_j)$ such that $K_j^0(X, \varphi)$ only depends on $\varphi|_{X^*}$, $K_j^0(X) = (K_j^0)^{[X]}$ for any $X \in \mathscr{P}_j(\mathbb{Z}^2)$, respecting lattice symmetries and

$$\|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})} := \|K_{j}^{0}\|_{2h,T_{j}} = \sup_{X \in \mathscr{P}_{j,0}^{c}(\mathbb{Z}^{d})} A^{|X|_{j}} \|K_{j}^{0}(X)\|_{2h_{j},T_{j}(X)} < +\infty.$$
(7.5)

where $\mathscr{P}_{j,0}^c(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ is the set of connected *j*-scale polymers $X \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$ such that $0 \in X$. Also, for $\omega_i^0 = (U_j, K_j^0)$, let

$$\|\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0}\|_{j,0} \equiv \|\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0}\|_{\boldsymbol{\Omega}_{j,0}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})} = \max\{\|U_{j}\|_{\boldsymbol{\Omega}_{j}^{U}}, \|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\boldsymbol{\Omega}_{j,0}^{K}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})}\}.$$
(7.6)

It follows from Appendix 3.B that $\Omega_{j,0}^{K}$ is complete. Also, for $K_{j}^{0} \in \Omega_{j,0}^{K}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})$, we can think of the infinite volume RG map

$$\Phi_{j+1}^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2}:(s_j,z_j,K_j^0)\mapsto(\mathfrak{s}_{j+1}(s_j,K_j^0),\mathfrak{z}_{j+1}(z_j),\mathscr{K}_{j+1}^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2}(s_j,z_j,K_j^0))$$
(7.7)

defined exactly according to the procedure described in Section 6.3. Note that these quantities are well-defined because of the local dependence of the polymer activities and the covariance Γ_{j+1} has finite range. The dependence of \mathfrak{s}_{j+1} and \mathfrak{z}_{j+1} on \mathbb{Z}^2 are not made explicit because they will turn out to be essentially the same as those on Λ_N , see Proposition 7.4.2. Also, we see that the infinite volume RG map satisfies all the properties proved in Chapter 6.

Proposition 7.2.2. Let $U_j \in \Omega_j^U$ and $K_j^0 \in \Omega_{j,0}^K(\mathbb{Z}^2)$. Then $\Phi_{j+1}^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2}(E_j, U_j, K_j^0)$ satisfies the estimates of of Theorem 6.1.2 and Theorem 6.1.3 also hold when K_j^0 is measured in norm $\|\cdot\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^K(\mathbb{Z}^2)}$.

Proof. The proof of Theorem 6.1.2 and Theorem 6.1.3 did not use finiteness of the system Λ_N , so the proofs applies exactly the same.

We also need the continuity in *s*, whose proof will be deferred to Section 7.5.

Lemma 7.2.3. Let β , r, A, L be as in Theorem 6.1.3. Then there exists $\varepsilon_c \equiv \varepsilon_c(\beta, A, L)$ (only polynomially small in β) such that the family $(\mathscr{K}_{j+1}^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2})_N$ with $\mathscr{K}_{j+1}^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2} : D_j \times [-\varepsilon_s \theta_J, \varepsilon_s \theta_J] \rightarrow \Omega_{j+1,0}^K(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ is continuous as a function of the implicit parameter $s \in [-\varepsilon_s \theta_J, \varepsilon_s \theta_J]$ when $D_j = \{ \| (U_j, K_j^0) \|_{j,0} \leq \varepsilon_c \} \subset \Omega_{j,0}(\mathbb{Z}^2).$

7.3 Stable manifold for the infinite volume RG flow

In this section, we prove an analogue of Proposition 7.1.1 for the infinite volume RG flow.

It is somewhat more convenient to represent $z_j = (z_j^{(q)})$ and its evolution in terms of W_j as defined in Definition 6.3.1. This is mainly so that so that we can use the notation $||W_j||_{\Omega_j^U}$ from that definition (and do not need to introduce further notation). Thus given the map $\mathscr{U}_{j+1} = (\mathfrak{s}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{z}_{j+1})$, we define

$$\mathscr{W}_{j+1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0})(\boldsymbol{B},\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \sum_{q \ge 1} \sum_{x \in \boldsymbol{B}} L^{-2(j+1)} \mathfrak{z}_{j+1}^{(q)}(z_{j}) \cos(\sqrt{\beta} q \boldsymbol{\varphi}(x)).$$
(7.8)

Then by Proposition 7.2.2 and Theorems 6.1.2–6.1.3, the infinite-volume renormalisation flow is given by

$$s_{j+1} = \mathfrak{s}_{j+1}(s_j, K_j^0) = s_j + \mathscr{H}_{j+1}(K_j^0)$$
(7.9)

$$W_{j+1}(B, \varphi') = \mathscr{W}_{j+1}(W_j)(B, \varphi') = \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}}[W_j(B, \varphi' + \zeta)]$$
(7.10)

$$K_{j+1}^{0} = \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^{0,\mathbb{Z}^{2}}(s_{j}, W_{j}, K_{j}^{0}) = \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,\mathbb{Z}^{2}}(K_{j}^{0}) + \mathscr{M}_{j+1}^{0,\mathbb{Z}^{2}}(s_{j}, W_{j}, K_{j}^{0})$$
(7.11)

where $\mathscr{H}_{j+1}(K_j^0)$ is given by Definition 6.3.6 (whose extension to \mathbb{Z}^2 is clear, as it only uses small polymers) and $\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2}$, $\mathscr{M}_{j+1}^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2}$ are given by Theorem 6.1.3, extended to \mathbb{Z}^2 by Proposition 7.2.2. Our goal is to apply the stable manifold theorem in the form stated in [23, Theorem 2.16] to show the existence of s_0^c explained earlier. For this it is essential that the maps $\mathscr{H}_{j+1}^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2}$ contract. According to (6.12) and the definition of α_{Loc} in (5.16), this requires control of the lower bound on $\Gamma_{j+1}(0)$. The covariance estimate (3.5) implies a good lower bound on $\Gamma_{j+1}(0)/\log L$ once *j* is larger than a *critical scale* j_0 , defined precisely by the next lemma. In the following we will write (note the extra argument *s* compared to (7.4)):

$$\beta_{\rm eff}(J,\beta,s) = (1+sv_J^{-2})^{-1}\beta.$$
(7.12)

Proposition 7.3.1. For given $r \in (0,1]$ and $\delta > 0$, assume β is such that $r\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta,s) \ge (1+\delta)\beta_{\text{free}}(J)$. Then there exists $j_0 \equiv j_0(\rho_J, L, \delta)$ such that

$$L^{j_0} = O\left(L\rho_J(1+\delta^{-1})\right) \tag{7.13}$$

and that, for $j \ge j_0$,

$$L^{2}e^{-\frac{1}{2}r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0;s)} \leqslant L^{-\delta}.$$
(7.14)

Proof. By (2.11) and (3.1), there exists $c_0 \ge 1$ such that $|2\pi t(v_J^2 + s)\dot{D}_t(0,0|s) - 1| \le c_0\rho_J/t$ for all $t \ge \rho_J$. Hence define

$$t_0 := c_0 \left(\frac{1}{4} - \frac{1}{4(1+\delta)}\right)^{-1} \rho_J \ge c_0 \left(\frac{1}{4} - \frac{\beta_{\text{free}}(J)}{4r\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta,s)}\right)^{-1} \rho_J \tag{7.15}$$

and $j_0 := \lceil \log_L(2t_0) \rceil$. Then for $j \ge j_0$,

$$\frac{r\beta}{2\log L}\Gamma_{j+1}(0;s) - 2 \ge \frac{2r\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta,s)}{\beta_{\text{free}}(J)} \left(1 - \frac{c_0 r(J)}{2t_0}\right) - 2 \ge \frac{7}{4}\delta$$
(7.16)

so the claim holds.

We explain some terminologies for the following theorem. We assume that $r \in (0, 1]$, $\beta > 0$, $\rho_J \ge 1$ satisfy the assumptions of Remark 6.3.3 and that $r\beta > \beta_{\text{free}}(J)$. Let *L* and *A* be at least those given in Theorem 6.1.3, $j_0(\rho_J, L, \delta)$ be as in Proposition 7.3.1, and recall (2.5), the definition of θ_J . There are various ε 's turning up. Given $\delta > 0$, we let $\varepsilon_{\delta} > 0$ be such that $r\beta_{\text{eff}}(s,J) \ge (1+\delta)\beta_{\text{free}}(J)$ for $|s| \le \varepsilon_{\delta}$. Let $\varepsilon_{nl} \equiv \varepsilon_{nl}(\beta, A, L)$, a rational function of its arguments, be as in Theorem 6.1.3, ε_s be as in Lemma 7.5.1, ε_c be as in Lemma 7.2.3 and let

$$\varepsilon_{\delta}' = \min\{\varepsilon_{\delta}, \theta_{J}\varepsilon_{s}, \frac{1}{4}\}, \qquad \varepsilon_{nl}' = \min\{\varepsilon_{nl}, (2L)^{-1}C_{3}(\beta, A, L)^{-1}, \varepsilon_{c}\}.$$
(7.17)

with C_3 as in (6.13)). Thus ε'_{δ} is a bound for parameter *s* and ε'_{nl} is a bound for various polymer activities. Also, let $\varepsilon_0 = L^{-3j_0(\rho_J,L,\delta)}\varepsilon'_{nl}(\beta,A,L)$ and $\theta_0 = \frac{1}{8}\min\{1,\delta\} > 0$.

Theorem 7.3.2. Let ℓ be sufficiently large and $r, \delta > 0$. Then for $L \ge L_0(\theta_0)$ of form $L = \ell^{N'}, A \ge A_0(L), |s| \le \varepsilon'_{\delta}$ and $||W_0||_{\Omega_0^U} \le \varepsilon_0$ there exists $\mathfrak{s}_0^c(\beta, s) = O(||W_0||_{\Omega_0^U})$ such that $(s_j, W_j, K_j^0) \to 0$ exponentially in j, satisfying the flow equations (7.9)–(7.11) with initial conditions $s_0 = \mathfrak{s}_0^c(\beta, s), W_0$ given as above, and $K_0^0 = 0$. Moreover, \mathfrak{s}_0^c is continuous in s and

$$|s_j|, \|W_j\|_{\Omega_j^U}, \|K_j^0\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^K} \le O(\|W_0\|_{\Omega_0^U})L^{-\alpha j}$$
(7.18)

for some $\alpha > 0$ satisfying $CL^2 \alpha_{Loc} \leq L^{-\alpha}$ for sufficiently large C.

Proof. We drop \mathbb{Z}^2 in the proof. The proof is an application of the stable manifold theorem in the form of [23, Theorem 2.16], only with smoothness replaced by continuous differentiability in its assumption and conclusion. To obtain the continuity in *s* we will work with spaces of continuous functions in *s*. For this application, we begin by defining Banach spaces $(I_j)_j$, $(F_j)_j$ for $j \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 0}$ by

$$I_j = \left\{ s_j(s) \in C([-\varepsilon'_{\delta}, \varepsilon'_{\delta}], \mathbb{R}) : \|s_j\|_{I_j} < +\infty \right\},\tag{7.19}$$

$$F_{j} = \left\{ (W_{j}, K_{j})(s) \in C\left([-\varepsilon_{\delta}', \varepsilon_{\delta}'], \Omega_{j}^{W} \times \Omega_{j,0}^{K} \right) : \| (W_{j}, K_{j}^{0}) \|_{F_{j}} < +\infty \right\},$$
(7.20)

where $\Omega_i^W \subset \Omega_i^U$ is the (closed) subspace of elements with *s*-component equal to 0,

$$\|s_{j}\|_{I_{j}} = \tau(j) \sup_{s \in [-\varepsilon_{\delta}', \varepsilon_{\delta}']} |s_{j}(s)|,$$

$$\|(W_{j}, K_{j}^{0})\|_{F_{j}} = \tau(j) \sup_{s \in [-\varepsilon_{\delta}', \varepsilon_{\delta}']} \max\{\|W_{j}(s)\|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}}, \|K_{j}^{0}(s)\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}}\},$$
(7.21)

and

$$\tau(j) = L^{3(j_0 - j)_+} = L^{3\max\{j_0 - j, 0\}}.$$
(7.22)

The weight $\tau(j)$ will ensure contractiveness of the map for scales $j \leq j_0$ where it is not guaranteed that $\Gamma_{j+1}(0)$ is not bounded below. Since Ω_j^U and $\Omega_{j,0}^K(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ are Banach spaces, I_j and F_j are Banach spaces. Also let B_a^X be the open ball in normed space X centred at 0 with radius a > 0. Define

$$T_{j+1} : \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon_0}^{I_j} \times \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon_0}^{F_j} \to I_{j+1} \times F_{j+1},$$

$$(s_j, W_j, K_j^0) \mapsto (\mathfrak{s}_{j+1}(s_j, K_j^0), \mathscr{W}_{j+1}(W_j), \mathscr{K}_{j+1}^0(s_j, W_j, K_j^0)).$$

$$(7.23)$$

Since $\mathscr{H}_{j+1}, \mathscr{W}_{j+1}, \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^0$ are bounded linear functions and \mathscr{M}_{j+1}^0 is a continuously differentiable function, T_{j+1} is also continuously differentiable. Also, the operators T_{j+1} are uniformly invertible in a neighbourhood of (0,0) in the following sense: by Theorem 7.3.2 (and using estimates of Theorems 6.1.2, 6.1.3), there are constants C_1, C_2 independent of j

such that

- (C1) $\sup_{j} \{ |\mathscr{H}_{j+1}(K_{j}^{0})| : ||K^{0}||_{\Omega_{i_{0}}^{K}} \leq 1 \} < +\infty;$
- (C2) $\sup_{j} \{ \| \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0}(K_{j}^{0}) \|_{\Omega_{j+1,0}^{K}} : \| K \|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}} \leq 1 \} \leq C_{1} L^{2} \alpha_{\text{Loc}};$
- (C3) $\sup_{j} \{ \| \mathscr{W}_{j+1}(W_{j}) \|_{\Omega_{j+1}^{U}} : \| W_{j} \|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}} \leq 1 \} \leq L^{2} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\beta \Gamma_{j+1}(0)};$
- (C4) $(s_j, W_j, K_j^0) \mapsto \mathscr{M}_{j+1}^0$ is continuously differentiable;
- (C5) $\|D\mathscr{M}_{j+1}^{0}(s_{j},W_{j},K_{j}^{0})\|_{\Omega_{j+1,0}^{K}} \leq C_{2}\|(s_{j},W_{j},K_{j}^{0})\|_{\Omega_{j,0}} \text{ for } (s_{j},W_{j},K_{j}^{0}) \in B_{\varepsilon_{0}}^{I_{j}} \times B_{\varepsilon_{0}}^{F_{j}},$ and $\mathscr{M}_{j+1}^{0}(0,0,0) = 0.$

Note that Proposition 7.3.1 implies, for $e^{2\sqrt{\beta}h} \leq (e^{\frac{1}{2}r\beta\Gamma_{j+1}(0;s)})^{\theta_0}$ (which is implied always possible by choosing $L \geq L_0(\theta)$ sufficiently large)

$$L^{2} \alpha_{\text{Loc}} \leq L^{-1} (\log L)^{3/2} + L^{2} \sum_{q \ge 1} L^{-(2+\delta)(2q-1)(1-\theta_{0})} \leq C' (L^{-1} (\log L)^{3/2} + L^{-\delta/2}).$$
(7.24)

Together with (C2), (C3), and (7.14), this implies

$$\sup_{j} \|(\mathscr{W}_{j+1}, \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0})\|_{F_{j} \to F_{j+1}} < 2C_{1}L^{2}\alpha_{\text{Loc}} \leqslant L^{-\alpha} < 1$$
(7.25)

when *L* is chosen sufficiently large. Then, by (C1), (C4), (C5), and (7.25), T_{j+1} is as required for the proof of [23, Theorem 2.16] (with smoothness of \mathscr{M}_{j+1}^0 replaced by continuous differentiability) to apply, thus yielding the existence of a continuously differentiable function $S^{(s)}: B_{\varepsilon_0}^{F_0} \to I_0$ such that the initial condition $(S^{(s)}(W_0, K_0^0), W_0, K_0^0)$ solves the flow equations (7.9)–(7.11) with the final condition $(s_j, W_j, K_j^0) \to (0, 0, 0)$ exponentially. The rate of the exponential decay also follows from the proof.

Then $\mathfrak{s}_0^c = S^{(s)}(W_0, 0)$ is as desired: Indeed,

$$|\mathfrak{s}_{0}^{c}(\beta,s)| \leq \sup_{(W_{0}',0)\in B_{\varepsilon_{0}}^{F_{0}}} \|D_{(W_{0},K_{0})}S^{(s)}(W_{0}',0)\|_{\mathrm{op}} \|W_{0}\|_{\Omega_{0}^{U}} = O(\|W_{0}\|_{\Omega_{0}^{U}}),$$
(7.26)

and continuity in *s* follows because all elements are by construction continuous functions in *s* by Lemma 7.2.3. \Box

Corollary 7.3.3. Let $\mathfrak{s}_0^c(\beta, s)$, L_0 , and A_0 be as in Theorem 7.3.2 applied with $W_0 = \tilde{U}$ as in (6.30), and set $N'_0 = \lceil \log_{\ell} L_0 \rceil$. The following hold for $L = \ell^{N'_0}$ and $A = A_0(L)$.

(i) If J is fixed and β is sufficiently large, there exists $s_0^c(J,\beta)$ such that $\mathfrak{s}_0^c(\beta,s_0^c(J,\beta)) = s_0^c(J,\beta)$.

(ii) Let \mathscr{J} be a family of finite-range step distributions and suppose that (3.1) holds with the same constants for all $J \in \mathscr{J}$. Then for any $\delta > 0$, there exists C > 0 such that whenever $J \in \mathscr{J}$, $v_J^2 \ge C |\log \delta|$ and $\beta \ge (1+\delta)\beta_{\text{free}}(J)$, there exists $s_0^c(J,\beta)$ such that $\mathfrak{s}_0^c(\beta, s_0^c(J,\beta)) = s_0^c(J,\beta)$.

The proof of the corollary is an application of the intermediate value theorem.

Proof. To see (*i*), first choose r > 0 small enough and $\beta > 0$ large enough so that the assumption of Lemma 3.2.8 is satisfied and $r\beta \ge 2\beta_{\text{free}}$. Also choose $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ as in Theorem 7.3.2 and fix $\delta = 1/2$. Then $\varepsilon_{\delta} > 0$ is chosen to be less than 1/10.

Now note that Lemma 6.2.2 implies that $||W_0||_{\Omega_0^U} \leq Ce^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta}$. By Theorem 6.1.3 and Proposition 7.3.1, $\varepsilon_0 = L^{-3j_0(\rho_J,L,\delta)}\varepsilon_{nl}(\beta,A,L)$ is only polynomially decaying in β . Therefore $||W_0||_{\Omega_0^U} \leq Ae^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta} < \varepsilon_0$ for sufficiently large β , and the assumption concerning W_0 of Theorem 7.3.2 is satisfied with $W_0 = \tilde{U}$. Also by the choice of $|s| \leq \varepsilon'_{\delta} = \min\{\varepsilon_{\delta}, \theta_J \varepsilon_s, \frac{1}{4}\}$ above and because $v_J^2 \geq 1/2$, it is also true that $r\beta_{\text{eff}}(s,J) = r(1+sv_J^{-2})^{-1}\beta \geq \frac{10}{12}r\beta \geq \frac{20}{12}\beta_{\text{free}}$, verifying the other assumption of Theorem 7.3.2. Hence by the theorem, there is $\mathfrak{s}_0^c(\beta,s) = O(e^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta})$ so taking β sufficiently large so that $|\mathfrak{s}_0^c(\beta,s)| \leq \varepsilon'_{\delta}/2$ for all $|s| \leq \varepsilon'_{\delta}$ then (*i*) follows from continuity: if $f(s) = s - \mathfrak{s}_0^c(\beta, s)$ then $f(+\varepsilon'_{\delta}) \geq \varepsilon'_{\delta}/2$ and $f(-\varepsilon'_{\delta}) < -\varepsilon'_{\delta}/2$. By the intermediate value theorem there is s such that f(s) = 0 which is the claim.

To see (*ii*), first fix r = 1 and ρ_J large enough to satisfy the assumptions of Lemma 3.2.8. Having v_J^2 sufficiently large and $\beta \ge (1+\delta)\beta_{\text{free}}(J) = 8\pi(1+\delta)v_J^2$ is again sufficient to obtain $||W_0||_{\Omega_0^U} \le CAe^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta} \le \varepsilon_0$. Then we choose $\varepsilon_{\delta}'' = \min\{\varepsilon_{\delta}, \theta_{\mathscr{J}}\varepsilon_s, \frac{1}{4}\}$ (in place of ε_{δ}') so we have a common domain $[-\varepsilon_{\delta}'', \varepsilon_{\delta}'']$ of *s* on which Theorem 7.3.2 is satisfied for all $J \in \mathscr{J}$. Moreover, whenever $|s| \le \varepsilon_{\delta}'' \le \frac{\delta}{4}$,

$$\beta_{\rm eff}(s,J) = (1 + sv_J^{-2})^{-1}\beta \ge (1 + \delta/2)^{-1}\beta \ge (1 + \delta)(1 + \delta/2)^{-1}\beta_{\rm free}(J)$$
(7.27)

hence one has uniform lower bound of $\beta_{\text{eff}}(s,J)/\beta_{\text{free}}(J)$ greater than 1. Since $\mathfrak{s}_0^c(\beta,c) = O(e^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta}) = O(e^{-2\pi\gamma v_J^2})$ by Theorem 7.3.2, taking v_J^2 large enough gives $|\mathfrak{s}_0^c| \leq \varepsilon_{\delta}''/2$. The same continuity argument as in *(i)* then applies to give the conclusion.

7.4 Infinite volume RG as a limit of finite volume RG

We have seen in the previous section that the analogue of Proposition 7.1.1 holds for the infinite volume RG flow $(U_j, K_j^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2})_{j\geq 0}$. In order to convert it to a statement about the finite volume RG flow, we would like to consider $K_j^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2} \in \Omega_{j,0}^K(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ as a limit of polymer activities in $\Omega_{j,0}^K(\Lambda_N)$. We introduce some notations for this purpose.

Definition 7.4.1. For each Λ_N , fix an origin $0 \in \Lambda_N$ and recall that $\pi_N : \mathbb{Z}^2 \to \Lambda_N$ is the quotient map such that $\pi_N(0) = 0$. Define $R_N = \mathbb{Z}^2 \cap \left[-\frac{L^N-1}{2}, \frac{L^N-1}{2}\right]^2 \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$, so $\pi_N|_{R_N} : R_N \to \Lambda_N$ is a bijection with inverse $\iota_N : \Lambda_N \to R_N$. For $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$, the push-forward $(\iota_N)_{\#}\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ is well-defined.

Proposition 7.4.2. Given N > k > 0, let $(U_j^{\mathbb{Z}^2}, K_j^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2})_{0 \leq j \leq k}$ and $(U_j^{\Lambda_N}, K_j^{0,\Lambda_N})_{0 \leq j \leq k}$ satisfy

$$(U_{j+1}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}, K_{j+1}^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2}) = \Phi_{j+1}^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2}(U_j^{\mathbb{Z}^2}, K_j^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2}), \qquad (U_{j+1}^{\Lambda_N}, K_{j+1}^{0,\Lambda_N}) = \Phi_{j+1}^{0,\Lambda_N}(U_j^{\Lambda_N}, K_j^{0,\Lambda_N})$$
(7.28)

for each $j \leq k-1$ with initial condition $U_j = U_0$ and $K_0(X) = 1_{X=\emptyset}$. Then for any $X \in \mathscr{P}_j(\pi_N R_{N-1}) \subset \mathscr{P}_j(\Lambda_N)$, we have

$$K_{j}^{0,\Lambda_{N}}(X,\varphi) = K_{j}^{0,\mathbb{Z}^{2}}(\iota_{N}(X),(\iota_{N})_{\#}\varphi),$$
(7.29)

$$(E_{j}^{\Lambda_{N}}, s_{j}^{\Lambda_{N}}, z_{j}^{\Lambda_{N}}) = (E_{j}^{\mathbb{Z}^{2}}, s_{j}^{\mathbb{Z}^{2}}, z_{j}^{\mathbb{Z}^{2}})$$
(7.30)

for any $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \mathbb{R}^{\Lambda_N}$ and $j \leq k$.

Proof. We see that (7.29) follows from an induction concerning the definition of the RG map, see (4.43) and Definition 6.3.7. Then (7.30) follows because $(E_j^{\Lambda_N}, U_j^{\Lambda_N})$ only depend on $(K_{j-1}(Y) : Y \in \mathscr{S}_{j-1})$ by definition.

Thus we immediately prove Proposition 7.1.1 for $j \leq N - 1$.

Corollary 7.4.3. *The conclusion of Proposition 7.1.1 holds, up to* $j \leq N-1$ *.*

Proof. The proof is a consequence of Corollary 7.3.3 and Proposition 7.4.2: Indeed, the flow $(s_j, W_j, K_j^{0,\Lambda_N})$ determined by Φ_j^{0,Λ_N} has the same coupling constants s_j and W_j as the analogously defined flow of Φ^{0,\mathbb{Z}^2} with the same initial conditions, thus in particular $\|U_j\|_j \leq O(\|W_0\|_0)L^{-\alpha_j}$. Now by (6.12) and (6.13), since $2C_1L^2\alpha_{\text{Loc}} \leq L^{-\alpha}$,

$$\|K_{j+1}^{0,\Lambda_N}\|_{j+1,0} \leqslant \frac{1}{2} C_1 L^{-\alpha} \|K_j^0\|_{j,0} + C_2 (\|K_j^0\|_{j,0} + \|U_j\|_j)^2,$$
(7.31)

for $j \leq N-2$. The flow of $(K_j^{0,\Lambda_N})_{0 \leq j \leq N-1}$ is thus dominated by an exponentially converging sequence uniformly in *N*, i.e., if $(k_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ solves $k_0 = 0$ and

$$k_{j+1} = \frac{1}{2}C_1 L^{-\alpha} k_j + C_2 (k_j + \|U_j\|_j)^2, \qquad (7.32)$$

then $||K_j^{0,\Lambda_N}||_{j,0} \leq k_j \leq O(||W_0||_0 L^{-\alpha_j})$ for any $j \leq N-1$.

181

Now we are only left to study the final integration by performing the integral over covariance $\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}$. The case j + 1 = N is not within the scope of Theorem 6.1.3, so additional analysis is requires. The result is almost the same, but the contraction of (6.12) is not present.

Proposition 7.4.4 (Integration with respect to the bounded covariance). Let

$$\Phi_{0,N}^{\Lambda_N}: (E_{N-1}, s_{N-1}, W_{N-1}, K_{N-1}) \mapsto (E_N^{\Lambda_N}, s_N^{\Lambda_N}, W_N^{\Lambda_N}, K_N^{0,\Lambda_N})$$
(7.33)

be defined according to Definition 6.3.6 and Definition 6.3.7 but with Γ_{j+1} replaced by $\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}$. Then

$$Z_{N}^{0}(\varphi'|\Lambda_{N}) := e^{-E_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}|\Lambda_{N}|} (e^{U_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}(\Lambda_{N},\varphi')} + K_{N}^{0,\Lambda_{N}})(\Lambda_{N},\varphi')) = \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}}^{\zeta} [Z_{N-1}^{0}(\varphi'+\zeta)]$$
(7.34)

where $U_N^{\Lambda_N}(\Lambda_N, \varphi') = \frac{1}{2} s_N^{\Lambda_N} |\nabla \varphi'|_{\Lambda_N}^2 + W_N^{\Lambda_N}(\Lambda_N, \varphi')$ and $E_N^{\Lambda_N}, s_N^{\Lambda_N}, W_N^{\Lambda_N}$ satisfy the estimates of Theorem 6.1.2 and

$$\|(U_N^{\Lambda_N}, K_N^{0,\Lambda_N})\|_{\Omega_{N,0}} \leqslant CL^2 \|(U_{N-1,0}, K_{N-1}^0)\|_{\Omega_{N-1,0}}$$
(7.35)

for some C > 0 whenever $||(U_{N-1}, K_{N-1}^0)||_{\Omega_{N-1,0}} \leq \varepsilon \equiv \varepsilon(\beta, A, L)$ is sufficiently small (only polynomially small in β).

Proof. The identity (7.34) is true by construction since $\mathscr{B}_N(\Lambda_N)$ only consists of the empty polymer and Λ_N itself. Also the estimates of Theorem 6.1.2 hold because $\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}$ satisfies the same upper bounds as Γ_N , cf. Corollary 3.1.1 and Lemma 3.1.4 for the covariance estimates and Proposition 3.3.5 for the corresponding regulators.

To see the final remark, notice that

$$W_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}(\Lambda_{N}, \varphi) = L^{-2N} \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} L^{2} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\beta q^{2} \Gamma_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}(0)} z_{N-1}^{(q)} \sum_{x \in B} \cos(q\sqrt{\beta}\varphi(x))$$
(7.36)

and $\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(0) \ge 0$, we have $\|U_N^{\Lambda_N}\|_N \le CL^2 \|U_{N-1}\|_{N-1}$. Also, we see that analogues of (6.12) and (6.13) bound $(K_N^0)'$, but now α_{Loc} replaced by

$$\alpha_{\text{Loc}}^{\Lambda_N} = CL^{-3} (\log L)^{3/2} + C \min\left\{1, \sum_{q \ge 1} e^{4\sqrt{\beta}qh} e^{-(q-1/2)r\beta\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(0)}\right\} \le 2C.$$
(7.37)

This does not provide contraction because we do not have a lower bound on $\Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}(0)$, but we have $\|K_N^{0,\Lambda_N}\|_{\Omega_{N,0}^K} \leq 2CL^2 \|(U_{N-1},K_{N-1}^0)\|_{\Omega_{N-1,0}}$.

Proof of Proposition 7.1.1. The proposition follows by combining Corollary 7.4.3 and Proposition 7.4.4.

7.5 Continuity in *s*: proof of Lemma 7.2.3

In the proof, we will always be considering the RG map on \mathbb{Z}^2 , so we omit them in the notation. The proof of continuity in *s* of the RG map uses the following lemma which extends Lemma 3.3.6.

Lemma 7.5.1. For any C > 0 and any scale-*j* polymer activity *F* that is invariant under translations and satisfies $||F||_{\mathfrak{h},T_i} \leq C$, for $|s|, |s'| < \theta_J \varepsilon_s$,

$$\lim_{s'\to s} \sup_{X\in\mathscr{P}_j^c} \left(\frac{A}{3}\right)^{|X|_j} \|\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s')}[F(X,\cdot+\zeta)] - \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)}[F(X,\cdot+\zeta)]\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(\overline{X})} = 0$$
(7.38)

and the limit is uniform in *F* satisfying $||F||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j} \leq C$. An analogous statement holds if we assume

$$\sup_{X\in\mathscr{P}_{j+1}^c} A^{|X|_{j+1}} \sup_{\varphi} G_j(X,\varphi)^{-1} \|F(X,\varphi)\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(X,\varphi)} \leqslant C$$

$$(7.39)$$

with the conclusion now being

$$\lim_{s' \to s} \sup_{X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}^c} \left(\frac{2A}{3 \cdot 2^{L^2}} \right)^{|X|_{j+1}} \|\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s')}[F(X, \cdot + \zeta)] - \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)}[F(X, \cdot + \zeta)]\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j+1}(X)} = 0.$$
(7.40)

Proof. We first claim that any scale-*j* polymer activity *F* with $||F||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j} \leq C$ can be approximated by polymer activities that are supported on polymers consisting of a bounded number of blocks. Indeed, $||F||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j} = \sup_{X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c} A^{|X|_j} ||F(X)||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} \leq C$ implies that $(2A/3)^{|X|_j} ||F(X)||_{\mathfrak{h},T_j(X)} \rightarrow 0$ as $|X|_j \rightarrow \infty$. More precisely, for any $\delta > 0$, there exist M > 0 only depending on *C* such that

$$\sup_{X \in \mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}} (2A/3)^{|X|_{j}} \|F(X)1_{|X|_{j} \leqslant M} - F(X)\|_{\mathfrak{h}, T_{j}(X)} \leqslant \delta.$$
(7.41)

By Lemma 3.3.6, then also

$$\sup_{X\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}}(A/3)^{|X|_{j}}\|\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)}[F(X,\cdot+\zeta)1_{|X|_{j}\leqslant M}-F(X,\cdot+\zeta)]\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(\overline{X})}\leqslant\delta.$$
(7.42)

Since $\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)}F(X, \cdot + \zeta)1_{|X|_j \leq M}$ is continuous in *s* by Lemma 3.3.11 uniformly in $X \in \mathscr{P}_j^c$ and *F* with $||F(X)||_{h,T_i(X)} \leq C$ (by translation invariance there are only a bounded number of

polymers X with $|X|_j \leq M$ to consider), the claim follows. For the case (7.39), the conclusion follows from the same argument and (7.42) replaced by

$$\sup_{X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}^{c}} (3^{-1}2^{-L^{2}+1}A)^{|X|_{j+1}} \|\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)}[F(X,\cdot+\zeta)1_{|X|_{j} \leqslant M} - F(X,\cdot+\zeta)]\|_{\mathfrak{h},T_{j+1}(X)} \leqslant \delta$$
(7.43)

because $\mathbb{E}[G_j(X,\zeta)] \leq 2^{|X|_j} = 2^{L^2|X|_{j+1}}.$

We begin with the continuity of the maps \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^0 . To make their *s*-dependence explicit we write $\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,s}$ for \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^0 defined with $\mathbb{E} = \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)}$.

Lemma 7.5.2. Under the assumptions of Theorem 6.1.3 and $s, s' \in [-\varepsilon_s \theta_J, \varepsilon_s \theta_J]$, we have

$$\lim_{s' \to s} \|\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,s}(K_j) - \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,s'}(K_j)\|_{\Omega_{j+1,0}^K} = 0.$$
(7.44)

Proof. By (6.72), for $X \in \mathscr{P}_{i+1}^c$,

$$\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,s}(K_{j}^{0})(X,\varphi') = \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,s}(K_{j}^{0}1_{Y\in\mathscr{S}_{j}})(X,\varphi') + \mathbb{S}\big[\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)}[K_{j}^{0}1_{Y\notin\mathscr{S}_{j}}]\big](X,\varphi')$$
(7.45)

where $\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,s}(K_j^0 1_{Y \in \mathscr{S}_j})$ is generated by $K_j^0(Y)$ on $Y \in \mathscr{S}_j$ and we recall the reblocking operator \mathbb{S} from (4.20). Since by translation invariance the norm effectively only uses bounded number of $Y \in \mathscr{S}_j$, Lemma 3.3.11 and the continuity statement of Proposition 5.2.3 directly imply the continuity of $\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{0,s}(K_j^0 1_{Y \in \mathscr{S}_j})$ in *s*. Concerning the continuity of the second term, (7.38) shows that

$$y(s,s') := \sup_{Y \in \mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}} \left(\frac{A}{3}\right)^{|Y|_{j}} \left\| \left(\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)} - \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s')} \right) \left[\theta_{\zeta} K_{j}^{0} \mathbf{1}_{Y \notin \mathscr{S}_{j}}(Y) \right] \right\|_{2h, T_{j+1}(X)}$$
(7.46)

tends to 0 as $s' \rightarrow s$ and

$$\|\mathbb{S}\big(\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)} - \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s')}\big)\big[\theta_{\zeta}K_{j}^{0}\mathbf{1}_{Y\notin\mathscr{S}_{j}}\big](X)\|_{2h,T_{j+1}(X)} \leqslant \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}\backslash\mathscr{S}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} \Big(\frac{A}{3}\Big)^{-|Y|_{j}}y(s,s')^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|}.$$
(7.47)

But then Lemma 4.1.7 directly implies, whenever $y(s,s') \leq (A/3)^{-8}$,

$$\sum_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}\backslash\mathscr{S}_{j}}^{\overline{Y}=X} (A/3)^{-|Y|_{j}} y(s,s')^{|\operatorname{Comp}_{j}(Y)|} \leq (eL^{2}(A/3)^{-(1+2\eta)/(1+\eta)})^{|X|_{j+1}} y(s,s').$$
(7.48)

By setting $eL^2(A/3)^{-(1+2\eta)/(1+\eta)} \leq A^{-1}$, we have that $\mathbb{S}\left[\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)}\left[\theta_{\zeta}K_j^0 \mathbf{1}_{Y\notin\mathscr{S}_j}\right]\right]$ is continuous in *s*.

In the definition of the maps \mathscr{M}_{j+1}^0 , there are two sources of dependence on *s*, the first one coming from $\mathscr{E}_{j+1}, \overline{U}_{j+1}^0, \mathscr{D}Q_j$ and $\overline{\mathscr{D}}Q_j$, and the second one coming from the expectation $\mathbb{E} = \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)}$ written explicitly in (4.43). Concerning the first dependence, by the continuity statement of Proposition 5.2.3 and Theorem 6.1.2, we have that

$$\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(U_{j},K_{j}^{0}) = (\mathscr{E}_{j+1}|X|,U_{j},\overline{U}_{j+1}^{0},K_{j},\overline{K}_{j}^{0},Q_{j}^{0})(U_{j},K_{j}^{0})$$
(7.49)

is continuous in the implicit parameter *s*, so if we can show that $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k)}(\mathfrak{K}_j^0)$ depends 'continuously' on \mathfrak{K}_j^0 , then the dependence on *s* coming from the first source is continuous. Indeed, this will be shown in the following corollary. For given $\eta > 0$, define $\Omega_{j,\eta}^{\mathfrak{K}}$ to be the linear space of coordinates $(\mathscr{E}_{j+1}|X|, U_j, \overline{U}_{j+1}^0, K_j, \overline{K}_j^0, Q_j^0)$ where the following norm takes finite value:

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\mathscr{E}_{j+1}|X|, U_{j}, \overline{U}_{j+1}^{0}, K_{j}, \overline{K}_{j}^{0}, Q_{j}^{0})\|_{j,\eta,\mathfrak{K}} \\ &= \max \left\{ L^{2j} |\mathscr{E}_{j+1}|, \|U_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}}, \|\overline{U}_{j+1} + \mathscr{E}_{j+1}|X|\|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}}, \|K_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}}, \\ \sup_{X \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}^{c}, \, \varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{X^{*}}} A^{(1+\eta)|X|_{j+1}} G_{j}(X, \varphi)^{-1} \|\overline{K}_{j}(X, \varphi)\|_{h, T_{j}(X, \varphi)}, \\ \sup_{Y \in \mathscr{S}_{j+1}, \, D \in \mathscr{B}_{j}(Y)} \sup_{\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^{X^{*}}} A e^{-c_{w} \kappa_{L} w_{j}(B, \varphi)^{2}} \|Q_{j}^{0}(D, Y, \varphi)\|_{2h, T_{j}(D, \varphi)} \right\}. \end{aligned}$$
(7.50)

Then $(\Omega_{j,\eta}^{\mathfrak{K}}, \|\cdot\|_{j,\eta,\mathfrak{K}})$ forms a normed space. Note that this norm is essentially defined by the conditions in Definition 4.4.1.

Corollary 7.5.3. Let $\eta, \delta > 0$ and $B_a^{\hat{R}} = \{x \in \Omega_{j,\eta}^{\hat{R}} : ||x||_{j,\eta,\hat{R}} \leq a\}$. Then there exists $a \equiv a(\delta, \beta, L) > 0$ (independent of j and N) such that the identity map $\operatorname{id}_{B_a^{\hat{R}}}$ is in $\mathscr{X}_j^{\hat{R}}(B_a^{\hat{R}})$. In particular, if we set $\hat{R}_j(x) = x$ for $x \in B_a^{\hat{R}}$, then each $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k)}(\hat{R}_j(x))$ (k = 1, 2, 3, 4) is differentiable in $x \in B_a^{\hat{R}}$ with the derivative uniformly bounded in j and N.

Proof. The first statement is obvious because $id : \Omega_{j,\eta}^{\mathfrak{K}} \to \Omega_{j,\eta}^{\mathfrak{K}}$ is a linear function with norm 1. For the second statement, we just need to apply Lemma 4.4.2 with $(\mathbb{Y}, |\cdot|) = (B_a^{\mathfrak{K}}, \|\cdot\|_{j,\eta,\mathfrak{K}}).$

Note that by Lemma 6.4.1, there exist $\varepsilon(\delta,\beta,L)$ and $C(\delta,\beta,L)$ such that $||(U_j,K_j^0)||_{\Omega_{j,0}} \leq \varepsilon(\delta,\beta,L)$ gives $||\overline{\Re}_j(U_j,K_j^0)||_{j,\eta,\Re} \leq C(\delta,\beta,L)\varepsilon(\delta,\beta,L)$. So if we set $||(U_j,K_j)||_{\Omega_{j,0}} \leq \varepsilon(\delta,\beta,L) \leq a(\delta,\beta,L)/C(\delta,\beta,L)$, then this corollary implies that each $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k)}(\overline{\Re}_j(U_j,K_j))$ is continuous in *s* coming from the first source described above.

For the second source of *s*-dependence of \mathscr{M}_{j+1}^0 , we will make the dependence due to $\mathbb{E} = \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)}$ visible in (4.74) and (4.75)–(4.78) by writing $\mathscr{M}_{j+1}^{0,s}$ and $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k),s}$ for \mathscr{M}_{j+1} and $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k)}$ evaluated by taking the expectation over $\zeta \sim \mathscr{N}(0, \Gamma_{j+1}(s))$. This dependence will be studied in the next lemma.

Lemma 7.5.4. Under the assumptions of Theorem 6.1.3 and $s, s' \in [-\varepsilon_s \theta_J, \varepsilon_s \theta_J]$, we have

$$\lim_{s' \to s} \|\mathscr{M}_{j+1}^{0,s}(U_j, K_j^0) - \mathscr{M}_{j+1}^{0,s'}(U_j, K_j^0)\|_{\Omega_{j+1,0}^K} = 0.$$
(7.51)

Proof. Since we have (4.74) and Lemma 6.4.1, we only have to verify

$$\lim_{s' \to s} \|\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k),s}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0})) - \mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k),s'}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0}))\|_{j+1} = 0$$
(7.52)

for $\omega_j^0 = (U_j, K_j^0)$ and each $k \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$. Define

$$H_{-}(\mathfrak{K}_{j}, X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (B_{Z''}), \varphi', \zeta) = (e^{U_{j}} - e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}})^{X_{0}} (\overline{K}_{j} - \mathscr{E}K_{j})^{[X_{1}]} \prod_{Z'' \in \operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Z)} J_{j}(B_{Z''}, Z'')$$
(7.53)

and, as in (4.104),

$$H^{s}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}, X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (B_{Z''}), \varphi') = \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)} H_{-}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}, X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (B_{Z''}), \varphi', \zeta).$$
(7.54)

Expanding (4.111), i.e.,

$$(e^{U_j} - e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}})^{X_0}(\overline{K}_j - \mathscr{E}K_j)^{[X_1]} = \sum_{Y_0, Y_1} (e^{U_j} - 1)^{Y_0} (-e^{\overline{U}_{j+1}} + 1)^{X_0 \setminus Y_0} (\overline{K}_j)^{[Y_1]} (-\mathscr{E}K_j)^{[X_1 \setminus Y_1]}$$
(7.55)

where Y_0, Y_1 run over $Y_0 \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}(X_0), Y_1 \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}(Y_1), Y_1 \not\sim X_1 \setminus Y_1$, the bounds (4.83)–(4.102) imply

$$\|H_{-}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0}), X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (B_{Z''}), \boldsymbol{\varphi}', \boldsymbol{\zeta})\|_{2h, T_{j}(T, \boldsymbol{\varphi}')} \leq \sum_{Y_{0}, Y_{1}} \left(C(A, L) \|\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j}} \right)^{\#(X_{0}, X_{1}, Z)} A^{-(1+\eta)|X_{0} \cup X_{1}|_{j+1}} G(X_{0}, Y_{0}, X_{1}, Y_{1}, Z, \boldsymbol{\varphi}', \boldsymbol{\zeta})$$

$$(7.56)$$

for some $\eta > 0$ where

$$G(X_0,Y_0,X_1,Y_1,Z,\boldsymbol{\varphi}',\boldsymbol{\zeta})=e^{c_w\kappa_L\left(w_j((X_0\setminus Y_0)\cup(X_1\setminus Y_1)\cup Z,\boldsymbol{\varphi}')+w_j(Y_0,\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\boldsymbol{\zeta})\right)}G_j(Y_1,\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\boldsymbol{\zeta}).$$

Choosing $C(A,L) \|\omega_j^0\|_{\Omega_{j,0}}^{1/4} \leq 1$ and $(C(A,L) \|\omega_j^0\|_{\Omega_{j,0}})^{1/196} \leq A^{-(1+\eta)}$, since 49 $|\operatorname{Comp}_{j+1}(Z)| \leq |\cup_{Z''} B_{Z''}^*|_{j+1}$, we have

$$\left(4C(A,L)\|\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}}\right)^{\#(X_{0},X_{1},Z)}A^{-(1+\eta)|X_{0}\cup X_{1}|_{j+1}} \leqslant 4^{-\#(X_{0},X_{1},Z)}\|\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}}^{\frac{\#(X_{0},X_{1},Z)}{2}}A^{-(1+\eta)|X|_{j+1}}$$

$$(7.58)$$

where $X = X_0 \cup X_1 \cup (\cup_{Z''} B^*_{Z''})$. Therefore

$$\|H_{-}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(\omega_{j}^{0}), X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (B_{Z''}), \varphi', \zeta)\|_{2h, T_{j}(T, \varphi')}$$

$$\leq \|\omega_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j, 0}}^{\frac{\#(X_{0}, X_{1}, Z)}{2}} A^{-(1+\eta)|X|_{j+1}} \sup_{Y_{0}, Y_{1}} G(X_{0}, Y_{0}, X_{1}, Y_{1}, Z, \varphi', \zeta).$$
(7.59)

since $H_{-}(\cdot, \varphi', \zeta)$ is a function of two field variables, Lemma 7.5.1 does not apply directly. Nevertheless, since *G* serves the role of the regulator satisfying

$$\mathbb{E}[G(X_0, Y_0, X_1, Y_1, Z, \boldsymbol{\varphi}', \boldsymbol{\zeta})] \leqslant 2^{|X|_j} G_{j+1}(X, \boldsymbol{\varphi}'),$$

the proof of (7.40) shows that, defining

$$H^{s,s'}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0}), X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (\boldsymbol{B}_{Z''}), \boldsymbol{\varphi}') = \left(\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)} - \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s')}\right) \left[H_{-}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0}), X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (\boldsymbol{B}_{Z''}), \boldsymbol{\varphi}', \boldsymbol{\zeta})\right],$$
(7.60)

in the limit $s' \rightarrow s$, one has

$$|H^{s,s'}|_{j+1} := \sup_{T \in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}} \left(\frac{2A^{1+\eta}}{3 \cdot 2^{L^2}}\right)^{|T|_{j+1}} ||H^{s,s'}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_j(\boldsymbol{\omega}_j^0), X_0, X_1, Z, (B_{Z''}))||_{h, T_{j+1}(T)} \to 0.$$
(7.61)

(7.57)

In particular each $||H^{s,s'}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_j(\omega_j^0), X_0, X_1, Z, (B_{Z''}))||_{2h, T_{j+1}(T)}$ is finite. Hence

$$\begin{split} \|(\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(1),s} - \mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(1),s'})(\overline{\mathfrak{R}}_{j}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0}), X, \boldsymbol{\varphi}')\|_{2h, T_{j+1}(X, \boldsymbol{\varphi}')} \\ &= \left\|\sum_{X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (B_{Z''})}^{\#(X_{0}, X_{1}, Z) \geqslant 2} F(\overline{\mathfrak{R}}_{j}, T, X, \boldsymbol{\varphi}')H^{s,s'}(\overline{\mathfrak{R}}_{j}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{0}), X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (B_{Z''}), \boldsymbol{\varphi}')\right\|_{2h, T_{j+1}(X, \boldsymbol{\varphi}')} \\ &\leqslant \sum_{X_{0}, X_{1}, Z, (B_{Z''})}^{\#(X_{0}, X_{1}, Z) \geqslant 2} C^{|X|_{j+1}}e^{c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(X \setminus T, \boldsymbol{\varphi}')}|H^{s,s'}|_{j+1}\left(\frac{2}{3 \cdot 2^{L^{2}}}A^{(1+\eta)}\right)^{-|X|_{j+1}}G_{j+1}(T, \boldsymbol{\varphi}') \\ &\leqslant C^{|X|_{j+1}}|H^{s,s'}|_{j+1}5^{|X|_{j+1}}\left(\frac{2}{3 \cdot 2^{L^{2}}}A^{(1+\eta)}\right)^{-|X|_{j+1}}G_{j+1}(X, \boldsymbol{\varphi}'), \end{split}$$
(7.62)

where 5 in the last line is a combinatorial factor arising from choices of X_0, X_1, Z and $(B_{Z''})$. Taking $A^{\eta} \ge 15C2^{L^2-1}$, we see

$$\|(\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(1),s} - \mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(1),s'})(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(\omega_{j}^{0}))\|_{\Omega_{j+1}^{K}} \leq C|H^{s,s'}|_{j+1} \to 0 \text{ as } s' \to s.$$
(7.63)

A similar but simpler computations shows the same for $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(2),s}$. The continuity of $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(3),s}$ in *s* is implied directly by Lemma 3.3.11 because it only allows the case $|X|_{j+1} = 1$.

To see the same for $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(4),s}$, recall from (4.133) and (4.136) that

$$\|M_{-}^{(4)}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(\omega_{j}^{0}), X, \varphi)\|_{2h, T_{j}(X, \varphi')} \leq C(A, L)A^{-(1+\eta)|X|_{j+1}}G_{j}(X, \varphi' + \zeta)\|\omega_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j}}^{2}$$
(7.64)

for some $\eta > 0$. Since $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(4),s,s'} = (\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s)} - \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma_{j+1}(s')})M_{-}^{(4)}$, (7.40) implies

$$\lim_{s' \to s} \sup_{X \in \mathscr{P}_j} \left(\frac{2}{3 \cdot 2^{L^2}} A^{1+\eta} \right)^{-|X|_{j+1}} \|\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(4),s,s'}(\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_j(\boldsymbol{\omega}_j^0), X)\|_{2h, T_{j+1}(X)} = 0.$$
(7.65)

Just taking $A^{\eta} \ge 3 \cdot 2^{L^2 - 1}$, this implies continuity of $\mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(4),s}$ in *s*.

Proof of Lemma 7.2.3. The continuity statement of $\mathscr{K}_{j+1}^0 = \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^0 + \mathscr{M}_{j+1}^0$ is now a direct consequence of Lemma 7.5.2, Corollary 7.5.3, and Lemma 7.5.4. The continuity of \mathscr{U}_{j+1} follows from the continuity statement in Theorem 6.1.2.

Chapter 8

Observable renormalisation group flow

In this chapter, we reproduce the results of Chapter 6, 7 for the RG flow with observables. However, we do not have to tune the value of s_0 as in the previous chapter, as we can consider the observable RG flow as a perturbation of the bulk RG flow. Indeed, we will prove the stability of observable RG flow assuming the initial condition (Φ_{IC}) from Proposition 7.1.1.

8.1 Main results

The results are about the observable RG flow

$$\Phi_{j+1}: (E_j, e_j, s_j, z_j, K_j) \mapsto (E_j + \mathscr{E}_{j+1}, e_j + \mathfrak{g}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{s}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{z}_{j+1}, \mathscr{K}_{j+1})$$

$$(8.1)$$

where now K_j is a periodic ω -polymer activity and $e_j(X; \omega)$ is a polymer function analytic in $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_\omega}$. The flow depends on the external fields v and $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ satisfying (A_v) and (A'_f) , respectively, and we will assume this throughout the chapter. The coordinates are defined so that, if $(Z_j)_{j\geq 0}$ are defined by (4.55) and

$$(E_{j+1}, e_{j+1}, s_{j+1}, z_{j+1}, K_{j+1}) = \Phi_{j+1}(E_j, e_j, s_j, z_j, K_j),$$
(8.2)

then

$$Z_{j}(\boldsymbol{\varphi};\boldsymbol{\omega}|\boldsymbol{\Lambda}) = \begin{cases} e^{-E_{j}|\boldsymbol{\Lambda}|}(e^{U_{j}}\circ_{j}K_{j}^{0})(\boldsymbol{\Lambda},\boldsymbol{\varphi}+\boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{\nu}) & (j\leqslant j_{s})\\ e^{-E_{j}|\boldsymbol{\Lambda}|+e_{j}(\boldsymbol{\Lambda};\boldsymbol{\omega})}(e^{U_{j}(\cdot,\boldsymbol{\varphi}+\boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{u}_{j})}\circ_{j}K_{j}(\cdot,\boldsymbol{\varphi}))(\boldsymbol{\Lambda}) & (j>j_{s}) \end{cases}$$
(8.3)

(recall j_s is the observable scale). When $\omega = 0$, it means that the system is unperturbed, so $K_j(\omega = 0)$ corresponds to the bulk polymer activity K_j^0 . The goal of this chapter is to obtain

the stability of the observable RG flow when we tune the initial condition to (Φ_{IC}) . In the following, $(\Omega_j^K, \|\cdot\|_{\Omega_j^K})$ is the set of ω -polymer activities specific later in Section 8.2.1.

Proposition 8.1.1. Suppose v and \tilde{f} satisfy (A_v) and (A'_f) , respectively. Let $r \in (0, 1]$, $\beta_0(J) \in (0, \infty)$, $\alpha = \alpha(J, \beta) > 0$, $s_0^c(J, \beta)$, L = L(J) and A = A(J) be as in (Φ_{IC}) . Then whenever $\beta \ge \beta_0(J)$, there is a solution $(U_j, K_j)_{0 \le j \le N}$ to (8.2) exists with initial conditions $s_0 = s = s_0^c(J, \beta)$, $z_0 = \tilde{z}(\beta)$ and $K_0 = 0$. Moreover,

$$\|\mathfrak{g}_j(\Lambda_N)\|_{h_{\omega},T} \leqslant O(e^{-c_f\beta}L^{-\alpha_j}), \qquad \|K_j\|_{\Omega_j^K} = O(e^{-c_f\beta}L^{-\alpha_j}). \tag{8.4}$$

for each $0 \leq j \leq N$ (with U_j identical to that of Proposition 7.1.1) and $\beta_0(J)$ satisfies the same remark as that of Proposition 7.1.1 (ii).

Remark 8.1.2. In the proof, we will see that we have to choose L = L(J) and A = A(J) sufficiently large for the observable flow on top of (Φ_{IC}) . However, we could have taken L(J) and A(J) in (Φ_{IC}) that covers the case of Proposition 8.1.1, so we would not be emphasising this point.

To prove the stability, we will need analogues of Theorem 6.1.2, 6.1.3, with U_j chosen the same as for the bulk RG flow.

Theorem 8.1.3. Suppose v and $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ satisfy (A_v) and (A'_f) , respectively, with observable scale j_s . If $h_{\omega} < (C \log L)^{-1} \mathfrak{h}$ for C sufficiently large, there exists $\varepsilon_r \equiv \varepsilon_r(A,L) > 0$ such that whenever $\max\{\|U_j\|_{\Omega_i^V}, \|K_j\|_{\Omega_i^K}\} \leq \varepsilon_r$ and $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$,

$$\|\mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(D)\|_{h_{\omega},T} \leq 1_{D \subset P_{j}^{*}} CA^{-1} \max\{\|U_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}}, \|K_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j}^{K}}\}$$
(8.5)

for any $D \in \mathscr{B}_j$.

To prove bounds on \mathscr{K}_{j+1} , it is more convenient to think of it as a function of (U_j, K_j^{\dagger}) . We use $(\Omega_{j,\dagger}^K, \|\cdot\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}^K})$ defined later in Section 8.2.1.

Theorem 8.1.4 (Estimate for remainder coordinate). Suppose v and \tilde{f} satisfy (A_v) and (A'_f) , respectively. Let j + 1 < N and assume (Φ_{IC}) . Then the map \mathscr{K}_{j+1} admits a decomposition

$$\mathscr{K}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^{\dagger}) = \mathscr{L}_{j+1}(K_j^{\dagger}) + \mathscr{M}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^{\dagger})$$
(8.6)

into polymer activities at scale j + 1 such that the following holds for any $\beta \ge \beta_0(J)$:

(i) The map \mathscr{L}_j is linear in K_j^{\dagger} and independent of U_j . There is a constants $C_1, C_2 > 0$ independent of all the parameters such that, with α_{Loc} and $\alpha_{Loc}^{(0)}$ as in (5.16) and (5.17)

$$\|\mathscr{L}_{j+1}(K_{j})\|_{\Omega_{j+1}^{K}} \leqslant C_{1}L^{2}\alpha_{\text{Loc}}\|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}} + C_{2}\alpha_{\text{Loc}}^{(0)}\|K_{j}^{\dagger} - K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}^{K}} \times \begin{cases} 1 & (j \neq j_{s}) \\ L^{2} & (j = j_{s}) \end{cases}.$$
(8.7)

(ii) The remainder maps \mathcal{M}_{j+1} satisfy $\mathcal{M}_{j+1} = O(U_j, K_j^{\dagger})^2$ in the sense that there exist $\varepsilon_{nl} \equiv \varepsilon_{nl}(\beta, A, L) > 0$ (only polynomially small in β) and $C_3 = C_3(\beta, A, L) > 0$ (only polynomially large in β) such that $\mathcal{M}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^{\dagger})$ is continuously Fréchet-differentiable and, for $\|(U_j, K_j^{\dagger})\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}} \leq \varepsilon_{nl}$,

$$\|D\mathcal{M}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^{\dagger})\|_{\Omega_{j+1}^K} \leqslant C_3 \max\left\{ \|U_j\|_{\Omega_j^U}, \|K_j^{\dagger}\|_{\Omega_{j, \dagger}^K} \right\}$$
(8.8)

with $\mathcal{M}_{j+1}(0,0) = 0$.

We prove Theorem 8.2.2 in Section 8.2.2 directly after defining g_{j+1} , while the proof of Theorem 8.1.4 is given in Section 8.2.3, 8.3.

8.2 Observable renormalisation group map

In this section, we construct the observable RG map (8.1) based on the bulk RG map (6.6). Given initial $Z_0^0(\varphi|\Lambda)$ by (6.40) with $s_0 = s = s_0^c(J,\beta)$, we define Z_j (with $\Lambda = \Lambda_N$) as in Chapter 4: in the presence of external field with observable scale j_s , we have defined $Z_0(\varphi; \omega|\Lambda) = Z_0^0(\varphi + \omega v|\Lambda)$ and

$$Z_{j+1}(\varphi; \boldsymbol{\omega} | \Lambda) = \begin{cases} \mathbb{E}[\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\zeta} Z_{j}(\varphi; \boldsymbol{\omega} | \Lambda)] & (j < j_{s}) \\ \mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})} [\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\zeta} Z_{j}(\varphi; \boldsymbol{\omega} | \Lambda)] & (j \ge j_{s}). \end{cases}$$
(8.9)

and the renormalisation group flow map is defined to parametrise

$$Z_{j}(\boldsymbol{\varphi};\boldsymbol{\omega}|\boldsymbol{\Lambda}) = \begin{cases} e^{-E_{j}|\boldsymbol{\Lambda}|}(e^{U_{j}}\circ_{j}K_{j}^{0})(\boldsymbol{\Lambda},\boldsymbol{\varphi}+\boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{\nu}) & (j\leqslant j_{s})\\ e^{-E_{j}|\boldsymbol{\Lambda}|+e_{j}(\boldsymbol{\omega})}(e^{U_{j}(\cdot,\boldsymbol{\varphi}+\boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{u}_{j})}\circ_{j}K_{j}(\cdot,\boldsymbol{\varphi}))(\boldsymbol{\Lambda}) & (j>j_{s}). \end{cases}$$
(8.10)

8.2.1 Coordinates for the RG map

As promised, we now specify the space of remainder coordinate K_j . Since we would like to have K_j as a perturbation of K_j^0 , the condition $K_j(\omega = 0) = K_j^0$ is crucial. Since we are assuming (Φ_{IC}) , we are always assuming that $(U_j, K_j^0)_{0 \le j \le N}$ can be constructed as in Proposition 7.1.1.

Definition 8.2.1. The coordinate K_j is a ω -polymer activity (see Definition 3.2.1) satisfying

- *the periodicity condition* $K_i(X, \varphi) = K_i(X, \varphi + 2\pi\beta^{-1/2}n)$ *for any* $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ *,*
- $K_j(\cdot;\boldsymbol{\omega}=0)=K_j^0$,
- $K_j(X; \boldsymbol{\omega}) = K_j^0(X)$ whenever $X \cap (P_{\vec{y}}^j)^* = \emptyset$ when $j > j_s$ and $K_j \equiv K_j^0$ when $j \leq j_s$.

For such polymer activitives K_j we use the norm (3.45), i.e.,

$$\|K_j\|_j \equiv \|K_j\|_{\Omega_j^K} = \|K_j\|_{\vec{h}_j, T_j, A},$$
(8.11)

with $\vec{h}_j = (h_j, h_{\omega})$,

$$h_{j} = \begin{cases} 2h & (j \leq j_{s}) \\ h & (j > j_{s}), \end{cases} \qquad h_{\omega} = (C_{w} \log L)^{-\frac{3}{2}}$$
(8.12)

where we recall the choice of h from (6.55). Let Ω_j^K be the Banach space of polymer activies K_j with finite $\|\cdot\|_{\Omega_j^K}$ -norm.

As we have already seen, it is more convenient to use K_j^{\dagger} in place of K_j , so we also define a space for them (see Lemma 4.1.3,4.1.4 for the motivation).

Definition 8.2.2. The coordinate K_j^{\dagger} is a ω -polymer activity satisfying all of Definition 8.2.1 but has $K_j(X; \omega) = K_j^0(X)$ whenever $X \cap (P_{\vec{v}}^j)^* = \emptyset$ for any j and

$$\|K_j\|_{j,\dagger} \equiv \|K_j\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}^K} = \|K_j\|_{\vec{h}_{j+1}, T_j, A/2}.$$
(8.13)

We also let $\Omega_{j,\dagger}^{K}$ be the space of such K_{j}^{\dagger} with finite $\|\cdot\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}^{K}}$ -norm.

By the definition (3.25) of $P_{\vec{y}j}$, the condition $K_j(X; \omega) = K_j^0(X)$ whenever $X \cap (P_{\vec{y}}^j)^* = \emptyset$ for $j < j_s$ just means that $K_j \equiv K_j^0$.

Finally, we define the norm on the product space of (U_j, K_j) as follows.

Definition 8.2.3. Let $\Omega_j = \Omega_j^U \times \Omega_j^K$ with norm

$$\|\omega_j\|_j \equiv \|\omega_j\|_{\Omega_j} = \max\{\|U_j\|_{\Omega_j^U}, \|K_j\|_{\Omega_j^K}\}.$$
(8.14)

Also let $\Omega_{j,\dagger} = \Omega_j^U \times \Omega_{j,\dagger}^K$ with norm

$$\|\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{\dagger}\|_{j,\dagger} \equiv \|\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{\dagger}\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}} = \max\{\|U_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j}^{U}}, \|K_{j}^{\dagger}\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}}\}.$$
(8.15)

8.2.2 Definition of the renormalisation group map

We first define the perturbed free energy \mathfrak{g}_{i+1} and remind the definition of K_i^{\dagger} .

Definition 8.2.4. *Given* $K_j \in \Omega_j^K$ *, define*

$$\mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(D,K_j;\omega) = \mathbb{1}_{D \subset (P^j_{\vec{y}})^*} \sum_{Y \in \mathscr{S}_j}^{Y \supset D} \frac{1}{|Y \cap (P^j_{\vec{y}})^*|_j} \operatorname{Loc}_Y^{(0)} \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)} \theta_{\zeta}[K_j^{\dagger}(Y,\varphi';\omega) - K_j^0(Y,\varphi')]$$
(8.16)

for $D \in \mathcal{B}_i$, where

$$K_{j}^{\dagger}(\cdot;\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \begin{cases} \mathscr{R}_{j}^{(1)}[\boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{u}_{j},\boldsymbol{U}_{j},\boldsymbol{K}_{j}(\cdot;\boldsymbol{\omega})] & (j=j_{s}) \\ \mathscr{R}_{j}^{(2)}[\boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{u}_{j},\boldsymbol{U}_{j},\boldsymbol{K}_{j}(\cdot;\boldsymbol{\omega})] & (j>j_{s}). \end{cases}$$
(8.17)

For $X \in \mathscr{P}_j$ (or $\in \mathscr{P}_{j+1}$), let

$$\mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(X,K_j;\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \sum_{D \in \mathscr{B}_j(X)} \mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(D,K_j;\boldsymbol{\omega}).$$
(8.18)

The following definition gives the evolution of the remainder coordinate K_j . It does not distinguish the case $j < j_s$ from $j \ge j_s$ because $K_j \equiv K_j^0$ when $j < j_s$.

Definition 8.2.5. Given $(\mathscr{E}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{g}_{j+1}, \mathscr{U}_{j+1}, K_j)$, we define $\mathscr{K}_{j+1} : (U_j, K_j) \mapsto K_{j+1}$ as in *Definition 4.3.1 with*

$$Q_{j}(D, Y, \varphi') = \mathbf{1}_{Y \in \mathscr{S}_{j}} \Big(\operatorname{Loc}_{Y, D} \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)} [K_{j}^{0}(Y, \varphi' + \zeta)] \\ + \frac{\mathbf{1}_{D \in (Y \cap P_{j})^{*}}}{|Y \cap (P_{j})^{*}|_{j}} \operatorname{Loc}_{Y}^{(0)} \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)} [K_{j}^{\dagger}(Y, \varphi' + \zeta; \omega) - K_{j}^{0}(Y, \varphi' + \zeta)] \Big).$$
(8.19)

Theorem 8.2.6 (Algebraic properties). The renormalisation group map Φ_{j+1} is consistent with (6.50)–(6.51), i.e., if Z_j has the form (6.51) at scale j with parameters (E_j, s_j, z_j, K_j) then Z_{j+1} defined by (6.50) has this form at scale j+1 with $(E_{j+1}, e_{j+1}, s_{j+1}, z_{j+1}, K_{j+1}) = \Phi_{j+1}(E_j, e_j, s_j, z_j, K_j)$. Moreover, if K_j is a periodic j-scale ω -polymer activity (see Definition 3.2.1) then K_{j+1} is also a periodic j+1-scale ω -polymer activity with the same properties (perhaps except smoothness in the field) and if $K_j(\omega = 0) = K_j^0$, then $K_{j+1}(\omega = 0) = K_{j+1}^0$.

Proof. The first part follows from Proposition 4.3.2. The second part also follows from the definition, as the map \mathbb{K}_{j+1} preserves the periodicity of the inputs. We also have the final part because if $K_j(\omega = 0) = K_j^0$, then $K_j^{\dagger}(\omega = 0) = K_j^0$, thus $\mathfrak{g}_{j+1} = 0$ and $Q_j \equiv Q_j^0$. \Box

Estimate on \mathfrak{g}_{j+1} is direct from its definition.

Proof of Theorem 8.1.3. By definition of $Loc^{(0)}$, (8.16) can be restated as

$$\mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(D, K_j; \omega) = \mathbb{1}_{D \subset (P_j)^*} \sum_{Y \in \mathscr{S}_j}^{Y \supset D} \frac{1}{|Y \cap P_j^*|_j} \mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}[\hat{K}_{j,0}^{\dagger}(Y, \zeta; \omega) - \hat{K}_{j,0}^0(Y, \zeta)]$$
(8.20)

By Lemma 3.4.4, $\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}[\hat{K}^{\dagger}_{j,0}(Y,\zeta;\omega)]$ and $\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}[\hat{K}^{0}_{j,0}(Y,\zeta)]$ are analytic in $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$ with

$$\|\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}[\hat{K}_{j,0}^{\dagger}(Y,\zeta;\omega)]\|_{h_{\omega},T}, \ \|\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}[\hat{K}_{j,0}^{0}(Y,\zeta)]\|_{h_{\omega},T} \leqslant CA^{-|Y|_{j}}\|K_{j}^{\dagger}\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}^{K}}.$$
(8.21)

But also by Lemma 4.1.4, norm on K_j^{\dagger} can also be bounded by $||(U_j, K_j)||_j$. Summing these estimates gives the desired bound.

8.2.3 Proof of Theorem 8.1.4: bound on the linear part

We use the observation in Section 4.4 to extract out the linear approximation

$$\mathscr{L}_{j+1}(U_{j},K_{j}^{\dagger};X,\varphi') := \sum_{Y:\overline{Y}=X} \left(\mathbb{1}_{Y\in\mathscr{P}_{j}^{c}}\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}K_{j}^{\dagger}(Y,\varphi'+\zeta) - \mathbb{1}_{Y\in\mathscr{S}_{j}}\sum_{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}(Y)} \mathcal{Q}_{j}(D,Y,\varphi') \right) + \sum_{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}}^{\overline{D}=X} \left(\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}[U_{j}(D,\varphi'+\zeta)] + \mathscr{E}_{j+1}|D| - \mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(D;\omega) - \mathscr{U}_{j+1}(D,\varphi'+\omega u_{j}) + \sum_{Y\in\mathscr{S}_{j}}^{D\in\mathscr{B}_{j}(Y)} \mathcal{Q}_{j}(D,Y,\varphi') \right).$$

$$(8.22)$$

By the choice of $(\mathscr{E}_{j+1}, \mathscr{U}_{j+1}, \mathfrak{g}_{j+1}, Q_j)$ from Definition 6.3.6, 8.2.4, 8.2.5, we see that the second summation vanishes and the first line becomes

$$\mathscr{L}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^{\dagger}; X, \varphi') = \sum_{b=1,2,3} \mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{(b)}(K_j^{\dagger}; X, \varphi')$$
(8.23)

where

$$\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{(1)} = \sum_{Y:\overline{Y}=X} \mathbf{1}_{Y\in\mathscr{S}_j} (1 - \mathrm{Loc}_Y^{(2)}) \mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})} \boldsymbol{\theta}_{\zeta} K_j^0(Y, \boldsymbol{\varphi}')$$
(8.24)

$$\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{(2)} = \sum_{Y:\overline{Y}=X} \mathbb{1}_{Y\in\mathscr{S}_j} (1 - \operatorname{Loc}_Y^{(0)}) \mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})} \theta_{\zeta} D_j(Y, \boldsymbol{\varphi}'; \boldsymbol{\omega})$$
(8.25)

$$\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{(3)} = \mathbb{S}\big[\mathbf{1}_{Y \in \mathscr{P}_{j}^{c} \setminus \mathscr{S}_{j}} \mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}\big[\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\zeta} K_{j}^{\dagger}(Y, \boldsymbol{\varphi}')\big]\big], \tag{8.26}$$

where we recall S from Section 4.1.3 and let

$$D_j(Y, \boldsymbol{\varphi}'; \boldsymbol{\omega}) = K_j^{\dagger}(Y, \boldsymbol{\varphi}'; \boldsymbol{\omega}) - K_j^0(Y, \boldsymbol{\varphi}').$$
(8.27)

Then the bound on \mathscr{L}_{j+1} is obtained by bounding each $\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{(b)}$.

Proof of Theorem 8.1.4,(i). By Proposition 5.2.3 (2),

$$\|\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{(1)}(K_{j}^{\dagger};X,\omega)\|_{\Omega_{j+1}^{K}} \leqslant \sum_{Y:\bar{Y}=X} \mathbb{1}_{Y\in\mathscr{S}_{j}} \alpha_{\mathrm{Loc}}(A/2)^{-|Y|_{j}} \|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}} \leqslant CA^{-|X|_{j+1}} L^{2} \alpha_{\mathrm{Loc}} \|K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^{K}}$$
(8.28)

where in the second inequality, we have used that $|Y|_j \ge |X|_{j+1}$ and that there are at most $O(L^2)$ number of small polymers $Y \in \mathscr{S}_j$ such that $\overline{Y} = X$.

For $\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{(2)}$, notice that $D_j(Y) \neq 0$ only if $Y \cap (P_{\vec{y}}^j)^* \neq \emptyset$ (see Definition 8.2.2). Thus by Proposition 5.2.3 (1),

$$\|\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{(2)}(K_{j}^{\dagger};X,\omega)\|_{\Omega_{j+1}^{K}} \leqslant \sum_{Y:\overline{Y}=X} \mathbf{1}_{Y\in\mathscr{S}_{j}} \mathbf{1}_{Y\cap P_{j}^{*}\neq\emptyset} \alpha_{\mathrm{Loc}}^{(0)}(A/2)^{-|Y|_{j}} \|D_{j}\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}^{K}}$$
(8.29)

When $j \neq j_s$, then there are at most O(1) number of \mathscr{S}_j -polymers such that $Y \cap (P_{\vec{y}}^j)^* \neq \emptyset$, thus this is bounded by

$$\leq CA^{-|X|_{j+1}} \alpha_{\text{Loc}}^{(0)} \|K_{j}^{\dagger} - K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}^{K}}.$$
(8.30)

However, if $j = j_s$, then $(P_{\vec{y}}^j)^*$ contains $O(L^2)$ number of *j*-blocks, thus

$$\|\mathscr{L}_{j_{s+1}}^{(2)}(K_{j_{s}}^{\dagger};\boldsymbol{\omega})\|_{\Omega_{j_{s+1}}^{K}} \leqslant CA^{-|X|_{j+1}} \alpha_{\text{Loc}}^{(0)} \|K_{j}^{\dagger} - K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}^{K}} \times L^{2}$$
(8.31)

For $\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{(3)}$, we use Proposition 4.1.5 to obtain

$$\|\mathscr{L}_{j+1}^{(3)}(K_{j}^{\dagger};X,\boldsymbol{\omega})\|_{\Omega_{j+1}^{K}} \leqslant (L^{-1}A^{-1})^{|X|_{j+1}} \|K_{j}^{\dagger}\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}^{K}}$$
(8.32)

8.3 Proof of Theorem 6.1.3: bound on the non-linear part

The strategy for bounding $\mathcal{M}_{j+1} = \mathcal{K}_{j+1} - \mathcal{L}_{j+1}$ is the same as that of Section 6.4. Using Lemma 4.4.2, the bound reduces to the following lemma, where we recall $\overline{\mathfrak{K}}$ from (4.73),

$$\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{\dagger}) = (\mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}|\boldsymbol{X}|, U_{j}, \overline{U}_{j+1}, K_{j}^{\dagger}, \overline{K}_{j}, Q_{j})(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{\dagger})$$
(8.33)

and $\mathscr{X}_{j}^{\mathfrak{K}}$ from Definition 4.4.1.

Lemma 8.3.1. Under the assumptions of Theorem 8.1.4, for any $\delta > 0$ and parameters satisfying (6.56), there exists $\varepsilon(L) > 0$ only polynomially small in L, and constants $C(\delta, L) \equiv C(\delta, \beta, L)$, $C(L) \equiv C(\beta, L)$, C(A, L), $\varepsilon(\delta, L) \equiv \varepsilon(\delta, \beta, L)$ and $\eta > 0$ such that if $\mathscr{X}_{j}^{\mathfrak{K}}(\cdot)$ is defined with these δ , η , $C(\delta, L)$, C(L), C(A, L) then $\overline{\mathfrak{K}}_{j}$ is in $\mathscr{X}_{j}^{\mathfrak{K}}(\{\omega_{j}^{\dagger} \in \Omega_{j,\dagger} : \|\omega_{j}^{\dagger}\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}} \leq \varepsilon(\delta, L)\})$.

We defer the proof of the lemma to Section 8.3.1 and first complete the proof of Theorem 6.1.3 (ii).

Proof of Theorem 6.1.3 (ii). The continuous differentiability of \mathcal{M}_{j+1} is a direct consequence of Lemma 4.4.2 applied with $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small, $\mathbb{X} = \{\omega_j^{\dagger} \in \Omega_{j,\dagger} : \|\omega_j^{\dagger}\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}} \leq \varepsilon(\delta, \beta, L)\}$, $\mathfrak{K}_j = \overline{\mathfrak{K}}_j$, and the decomposition $\mathcal{M}_{j+1} = \sum_{k=1}^4 \mathfrak{M}_{j+1}^{(k)}$ from (4.74), with the assumptions of Lemma 4.4.2 being verified by Lemma 8.3.1. The bound (6.13) is obtained by summing (4.87) for k = 1, 2, 3, 4, so

$$\|\mathscr{M}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^{\dagger})(X)\|_{\vec{h}_j, T_{j+1}(X)} \leqslant C(A/2)^{-(1+\eta_0)|X|_{j+1}} \|(U_j, K_j^{\dagger})\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}},$$
(8.34)

with A/2 coming from the definition of the norm on $\|\cdot\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}^K}$. But by choosing A sufficiently large so that $2^{1+\eta_0}A^{-\eta_0} \leq 1$, this is bounded by

$$\leq CA^{-|X|_{j+1}} \| (U_j, K_j^{\dagger}) \|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}},$$
(8.35)

thus we have the desired conclusion.

8.3.1 Proof of Lemma 8.3.1

In this section we prove Lemma 8.3.1, i.e., that $\Re_j(\omega_j^{\dagger})$ defined above (4.71) satisfies $\Re_j \in \mathscr{X}_j^{\Re}(\Omega_j)$ whenever $\omega_j^{\dagger} = (U_j, K_j^{\dagger})$ is sufficiently small. In Lemma 8.3.2 we verify that (4.81) and (4.82) hold, and in Lemmas 8.3.3–8.3.4 we verify (4.83)–(4.86).

Lemma 8.3.2. Under the assumptions of Theorem 8.1.4, there exists $\varepsilon(\delta, \beta, L) > 0$ only polynomially small in L and β such that the following holds: for any $\delta > 0$, suppose $\|\omega_j^{\dagger}\|_{j,\dagger} := \|(U_j, K_j^{\dagger})\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}} \leq \varepsilon(\delta, \beta, L)$. Then (4.81), (4.82) hold with $\vec{\mathfrak{h}} = \vec{h}_{j+1}$, i.e.,

$$\|\mathfrak{U}(B,\varphi)\|_{\vec{h}_{j+1},T_j(B,\varphi)} \leqslant C(\delta,L)(1+\delta c_w\kappa_L w_j(B,\varphi)^2)\|\omega_j^{\dagger}\|_{j,\dagger}$$

$$(8.36)$$

$$\|e^{\mathfrak{U}(B,\varphi)} - \sum_{m=0}^{k} \frac{1}{m!} (\mathfrak{U}(B,\varphi))^{m}\|_{\vec{h}_{j+1},T_{j}(B,\varphi)} \leqslant C(\delta,L) e^{\delta c_{w} \kappa_{L} w_{j}(B,\varphi)^{2}} \|\omega_{j}^{\dagger}\|_{j,\dagger}^{k+1}$$
(8.37)

for $\mathfrak{U} \in \{U_j, \overline{U}_{j+1}\}$ and the same holds when $\mathfrak{U} = \mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}$ but with $\delta = 0$.

Proof. The case $\mathfrak{U} = U_j$ was already proved in Lemma 6.4.2, so we focus on $\mathfrak{U} \in \{\overline{U}_{j+1}, \mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}\}$. By (6.83) and Theorem 8.1.3, for $j^* \in \{j, j+1\}$, for $B \in \mathscr{B}_{j+1}$,

$$|\mathscr{E}_{j+1}||B|, \ \|\mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(B)\|_{h_{\omega},T}, \ \|W_{j^*}(B,\varphi)\|_{2h_{j+1},T_j(B,\varphi)} \leqslant CA^{-1}L^2 \|\omega_j^{\dagger}\|_{j,\dagger}, \tag{8.38}$$

and by (6.84) and $L^2h^2 \ge 1$,

$$\|\frac{1}{2}s_{j^*}|\nabla\varphi|_B^2\|_{2h_{j+1},T_j(B,\varphi')} \leqslant CA^{-1}L^2h^2(1+w_j(B,\varphi)^2)\|\omega_j^{\dagger}\|_{j,\dagger}.$$
(8.39)

Hence if we let $\tilde{U}_{j+1}(B) = -\mathscr{E}_{j+1}|B| + \mathfrak{g}_{j+1}(B) + U_{j+1}(B)$,

$$\|\tilde{U}_{j+1}(B,\varphi)\|_{2h_{j+1},T_j(B,\varphi)} \leqslant C(\delta)\kappa_L^{-1}L^2h^2\big(1+\delta c_w\kappa_L w_j(B,\varphi)^2\big)\|\omega_j^{\dagger}\|_{j,\dagger}.$$
(8.40)

Also, since $\overline{U}_{j+1}(B, \varphi') = \tilde{U}_{j+1}(B, \varphi' + \omega u_{j+1})$ (see (4.71)), by Lemma 3.4.4,

$$\|\overline{U}_{j+1}(B,\varphi)\|_{h_{j+1},T_j(B,\varphi)} \leqslant C(\delta)\kappa_L^{-1}L^2h^2\left(1+\delta c_w\kappa_L w_j(B,\varphi)^2\right)\|\omega_j^{\dagger}\|_{j,\dagger}.$$
(8.41)

Then (8.37) is purely a consequence of (8.36), see the proof of Lemma 8.3.2.

The remark about $\mathscr{E}_{i+1}^{\dagger}$ follows from the same computations starting just from (8.38).

Lemma 8.3.3. Under the assumptions of Theorem 8.1.4, there exist $c_w > 0$, $\varepsilon \equiv \varepsilon(\beta, L) > 0$ (only polynomially small in β), $C \equiv C(c_w, \beta, L)$, and $C_A \equiv C_A(c_w, \beta, L, A)$ such that the bounds (4.83), (8.43), (4.86) hold whenever $\|\boldsymbol{\omega}_{j}^{\dagger}\|_{j,\dagger} \leq \varepsilon$, i.e.,

$$\|De^{\mathfrak{U}(B,\varphi)}\|_{\vec{h}_{j+1},T_j(B,\varphi)} \leqslant C(L)e^{c_w\kappa_L w_j(B,\varphi)^2},\tag{8.42}$$

$$\|D^{2}e^{\mathfrak{U}(B,\phi)}\|_{\vec{h}_{j+1},T_{j}(B,\phi)} \leqslant C(L)e^{c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(B,\phi)^{2}},$$
(8.43)

$$\|DQ_j(D,Y,\varphi)\|_{\vec{h}_{j+1},T_j(Y,\varphi)} \leqslant C(L)e^{c_w\kappa_L w_j(D,\varphi)^2},\tag{8.44}$$

for any $Y \in \mathscr{S}_j$, $D \in \mathscr{B}_j(Y)$, and $\mathfrak{U}' \in \{U_j, \overline{U}_{j+1}, \mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}\}$, and in the case of $\mathscr{E}_{j+1}^{\dagger}$, the factor $e^{c_w \kappa_L w_j(B, \varphi)}$ can be omitted. The derivatives exist in the asserted spaces of polymer activities.

Proof. The twice differentiability of $e^{\mathfrak{U}}$ is a consequence of Lemma 8.3.2, as it was seen in the proof of Lemma 6.4.3.

Finally, because of Proposition 5.2.4,

$$\|\operatorname{Loc}_{Y,D}^{(2)}\mathbb{E}_{(\omega)}\theta_{\zeta}K_{j}^{0}(Y,\varphi')\|_{\vec{h}_{j+1},T_{j}(Y,\varphi')} \leqslant C(\log L)\|K_{j}^{0}(Y)\|_{h_{j},T_{j}(Y)}e^{c_{w}\kappa_{L}w_{j}(D,\varphi')^{2}}, \quad (8.45)$$

$$\|\operatorname{Loc}_{Y}^{(0)} \mathbb{E}\theta_{\zeta}(K_{j}^{\dagger} - K_{j}^{0})(Y, \varphi'; \omega)\|_{\vec{h}_{j+1}, T_{j}(Y, \varphi')} \leqslant C \|K_{j}^{\dagger}(Y)\|_{\vec{h}_{j+1}, T_{j}(Y)},$$
(8.46)

but since Q_j is a linear function of K_j , its differentiability follows from boundedness and the derivative satisfies (8.44).

Lemma 8.3.4. Under the assumptions of Theorem 8.1.4, there exist $\varepsilon \equiv \varepsilon(\beta, L) > 0$ (only polynomially small in β) and C(A, L) such that (4.85) holds whenever $\|\omega_i^{\dagger}\|_{j,\dagger} \leq \varepsilon$, i.e.,

$$\|D\overline{K}_{j}(Z,\varphi)\|_{\vec{h}_{j+1},T_{j}(Z,\varphi)} \leqslant C(A,L)(A/2)^{-(1+\eta)|Z|_{j+1}}G_{j}(Z,\varphi)$$
(8.47)

for some purely geometric constant $\eta > 0$.

Proof. The proof is exactly the same as that of Lemma 6.4.4, but we have A/2 on the right-hand side because K_j^{\dagger} is measured in $\|\cdot\|_{\vec{h}_{j+1},T_j(X),A/2}$ -norm, the large set regulator halved.

8.4 Stability of the observable RG flow

We prove Proposition 8.1.1 considering the observable RG flow as the perturbation of the bulk RG flow, thus we need Proposition 7.1.1 as a reference point. We first need an analogue of Proposition 7.2.2. As in Definition 7.4.1, but for N < N', let $\pi_{N,N'} : \Lambda_{N'} \to \Lambda_N$ be the canonical

projection with $\pi_{N,N'}(0) = 0$ and for $R_N = \left[-\frac{L^N - 1}{2}, \frac{L^N - 1}{2}\right] \subset \Lambda_{N'}$, let $\iota_{N,N'} : \Lambda_N \to R_N$ be the inverse of $\pi_{N,N'}|_{R_N}$. The push-forward $(\iota_{N,N'})_{\#}$ is well-defined.

Lemma 8.4.1. Assume (Φ_{IC}) and let L^N be sufficiently large compared to L^{j_s} , $\max_{i=1,\dots,\mathfrak{n}}\{\|y_i\|_2\}$ and ρ . Suppose there are solutions $(U_j, K_j^{\Lambda_N})_{0 \leq j \leq k}$ and $(U_j, K_j^{\Lambda_{N'}})_{0 \leq j \leq k}$ of (8.2) for some N < N'. Then $\mathfrak{g}_j^{\Lambda_N} = \mathfrak{g}_j^{\Lambda_{N'}}$ whenever j < N and $X \in \mathscr{P}_j(\pi_{N,N'}R_{N-1}) \subset \mathscr{P}_j(\Lambda_N)$,

$$K_j^{\Lambda_N}(X, \varphi) = K_j^{\Lambda_{N'}}(\iota_{N,N'}X, (\iota_{N,N'})_{\#}\varphi).$$
(8.48)

Proof. The proof is identical to that of Proposition 7.4.2.

Then Proposition 8.1.1 is almost direct.

Proof of Proposition 8.1.1. Recall from Proposition 7.1.1 that

$$\|U_j\|_{\Omega_j^U} \leqslant C e^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta} L^{-\alpha N}, \qquad \|K_j^0\|_{\Omega_{j,0}^K} \leqslant C e^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta} L^{-\alpha N}$$
(8.49)

for any $0 \leq j \leq N$. We now prove, using induction, that

$$\|K_{j}\|_{\vec{h}_{i},T_{i}} \leq CL^{2} e^{-c_{f}\beta} L^{-\alpha_{j}}.$$
(8.50)

By the choice of $\beta_0(J)$, this is smaller than ε_{nl} whenever $\beta \ge \beta_0(J)$, thus inside the domain of Theorem 8.1.4. Since $K_j \equiv K_j^0$ for $j \le j_s$, we only have to verify the bound for $j > j_s$. Since $K_{j+1} - K_{j+1}^0 = \mathscr{K}_{j+1}(\omega_j^{\dagger}) - \mathscr{K}_{j+1}(U_j, K_j^0)$, by (8.7) and (8.8),

$$\|K_{j+1} - K_{j+1}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j+1}^{K}} \leq 2C_{1}\alpha_{\text{Loc}}^{(0)}\|K_{j}^{\dagger} - K_{j}^{0}\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}^{K}} \times \begin{cases} 1 & (j \neq j_{s}) \\ L^{2} & (j = j_{s}) \end{cases}$$
(8.51)

whenever $\|\omega_j^{\dagger}\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}} = \|(U_j, K_j^{\dagger})\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}}$ is sufficiently small compared to $\alpha_{\text{Loc}}^{(0)}$ -this again holds due to Lemma 4.1.4 and the choice $\beta \ge \beta_0(J)$. Also by Lemma 4.1.4,

$$\|K_j^{\dagger}\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}^K}, \ \|K_j^0\|_{\Omega_{j,\dagger}^K} \leqslant \|\omega_j\|_{\Omega_j}.$$

$$(8.52)$$

Thus when $j = j_s$, since $K_{j_s} = K_{j_s}^0$, combining with (8.49) gives

$$\|K_{j+1}\|_{\Omega_{j+1}^{K}} \leq (C + 2C_1 C L^{2+\alpha} \alpha_{\text{Loc}}^{(0)}) e^{-c_f \beta} L^{-\alpha(j+1)}.$$
(8.53)

But if we use the fact that L^{α} is chosen in such a way that $L^{2}\alpha_{\text{Loc}} \leq L^{-\alpha}$ (see Proposition 7.1.1) and $\alpha_{\text{Loc}}^{(0)} \leq L^{2}(\log L)^{-1}\alpha_{\text{Loc}}$, we may take *L* sufficiently large to obtain

$$C + 2C_1 C L^{2+\alpha} \alpha_{\text{Loc}}^{(0)} \leqslant C L^2, \qquad (8.54)$$

thus we have (8.50) for $j = j_s$. When $j > j_s$, combining (8.51), (8.52) and (8.50) gives

$$\|K_{j+1}\|_{\Omega_{j+1}^{K}} \leqslant \left(C + 2C_{1}CL^{2+\alpha}\alpha_{\text{Loc}}^{(0)}\right)e^{-c_{f}\beta}L^{-\alpha(j+1)}.$$
(8.55)

Again, since $\alpha_{\text{Loc}}^{(0)} \leq L^2 (\log L)^{-1} \alpha_{\text{Loc}}$, we may take *L* sufficiently large to obtain

$$C + 2C_1 C L^{2+\alpha} \alpha_{\text{Loc}}^{(0)} \leqslant C L^2, \qquad (8.56)$$

completing the induction. Then the bound on $\mathfrak{g}_i(\Lambda)$ follows from Theorem 8.1.3.

Chapter 9

Scaling limits

In this chapter, we prove the main results of Chapter 1. These results are more or less implied by the renormalisation group flows constructed in the previous chapters.

9.1 Torus scaling limit

The first object of this chapter is to prove the torus scaling limit, Theorem 1.1.1, restated as the following in terms of

$$f_N(x) = \frac{1}{|\Lambda_N|} \left(f(L^{-N}x) - \frac{1}{|\Lambda_N|} \sum_{y \in \Lambda_N} f(L^{-N}y) \right), \qquad x \in \Lambda_N,.$$
(9.1)

Theorem 9.1.1. Let $J \subset \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ be any finite-range step distribution that is invariant under lattice rotations and reflections and includes the nearest-neighbour vertices of 0. Then there exists $\beta_0(J) > 0$ and an integer L = L(J) such that for the J-DG model on the torus Λ_N of side length L^N at temperature $\beta \ge \beta_0(J)$, there is $\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta) > 0$ such that for any $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ with $\int f dx = 0$, as $N \to \infty$,

$$\log \langle e^{(f_N,\sigma)_{\Lambda_N}} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N} \to \frac{\beta_{\mathrm{eff}}(J,\beta)}{2v_J^2} (f, (-\Delta_{\mathbb{T}^2})^{-1} f)_{\mathbb{T}^2}.$$
(9.2)

Moreover, $\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta) = \beta + O_J(e^{-c\beta})$ for some c > 0 (independent of J).

In order to apply Proposition 7.1.1, we will always fix $s = s_0 = s_0^c(J,\beta)$ in the proof.

9.1.1 Final integral

We start from the conclusion of Proposition 7.1.1. The proof of Theorem 9.1.1 only requires K_N^0 , thus the choice of j_s does not matter, so we only consider $j_s = \infty$. In particular, by the choice $s = s_0 = s_0^c(J,\beta)$, the renormalisation group flow (E_j, U_j, K_j) satisfies (7.3) for $j \leq N$. By Proposition 6.1.1, understanding

$$\tilde{Z}_N^0(\varphi; m^2) := \mathbb{E}_{\tilde{C}(s) + t_N Q_N}^{\zeta} Z_0^0(\varphi + \zeta) = \mathbb{E}_{t_N(s, m^2) Q_N}^{\zeta} Z_N^0(\varphi + \zeta)$$
(9.3)

would be the key component of the proof. Thus we now consider the final renormalisation group step corresponding to the covariance $t_N(s, m^2)Q_N$.

By Proposition 7.1.1 and Proposition 7.4.4, we have

$$Z_N^0(\boldsymbol{\varphi}'|\Lambda_N) := e^{-E_N^{\Lambda_N}|\Lambda_N|} \left(e^{U_N^{\Lambda_N}(\Lambda_N, \boldsymbol{\varphi}')} + K_N^{0,\Lambda_N} \right) (\Lambda_N, \boldsymbol{\varphi}')$$
(9.4)

with estimates

$$\|U_N^{\Lambda_N}\|_N = O(e^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta}L^{-\alpha_j}), \qquad \|K_N^{0,\Lambda_N}\|_{N,0} = O(e^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta}L^{-\alpha_j}).$$
(9.5)

The following bounds (9.3).

Lemma 9.1.2. $\tilde{Z}_N^0(\boldsymbol{\varphi}; m^2)$ satisfies

$$\tilde{Z}_{N}^{0}(\varphi;m^{2}) = e^{-E_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}|\Lambda_{N}|} \left(e^{\frac{1}{2}s_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}|\nabla\varphi|_{\Lambda_{N}}^{2}} \left(1 + O(\|W_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}\|_{N}) \right) + O(\|K_{N}^{0,\Lambda_{N}}\|_{N,0}) G_{N}(\Lambda_{N},\varphi) \right)$$
(9.6)

uniformly in $m^2 > 0$.

Proof. Since Q_N is the orthogonal projection onto the constant vectors in \mathbb{R}^{Λ} ,

$$\mathbb{E}_{t_N(s,m^2)Q_N} Z_N^0(\boldsymbol{\varphi} + \boldsymbol{\zeta}) = \sqrt{\frac{|\Lambda_N|}{2\pi t_N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-\frac{|\Lambda_N|}{2t_N}\boldsymbol{\zeta}^2} Z_N^0(\boldsymbol{\varphi} + \boldsymbol{\zeta}) d\boldsymbol{\zeta}.$$
(9.7)

For constant field ζ , using $G_N(\varphi + \zeta, \Lambda) = G_N(\varphi, \Lambda)$ for such ζ (see (3.41)),

$$e^{E_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}|\Lambda_{N}|}Z_{N}^{0}(\varphi+\zeta) = e^{U_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}(\Lambda_{N},\varphi+\zeta)} + K_{N}^{0,\Lambda_{N}}(\Lambda_{N},\varphi+\zeta)$$
$$= e^{\frac{1}{2}s_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}|\nabla\varphi|_{\Lambda_{N}}^{2}} (1+O(\|W_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}\|_{N})) + O(\|K_{N}^{0,\Lambda_{N}}\|_{N,0})G_{N}(\Lambda_{N},\varphi). \quad (9.8)$$

whenever $\|W_N^{\Lambda_N}\|_{\Omega_N^U} \leq 1$. The last right-hand side is independent of ζ , so we have the desired conclusion.

9.1.2 Proof of Theorem 9.1.1

To prove the theorem, we will apply Lemma 9.1.2 with

$$\overline{C}^{\Lambda_N}(s) = \gamma(1 + s\gamma\Delta) + (1 + s\gamma\Delta)\widetilde{C}(s)(1 + s\gamma\Delta)$$
(9.9)

$$\varphi = \phi_N := \overline{C}^{\Lambda_N}(s)(1 + s\gamma\Delta)^{-1} f_N \tag{9.10}$$

where f_N is as in Theorem 9.1.1. The next lemma shows that the exponential term and the regulator above are bounded for this choice.

Lemma 9.1.3. Let $J \subset \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus 0$ be any finite-range step distribution as in Section 2, and assume that θ_J is bounded below (see (2.5)). Let $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ with $\int_{\mathbb{T}^2} f \, dx = 0$, let f_N be given by (9.1), and define ϕ_N by (9.10). Then there are constants C, c > 0 uniform in $m^2 \ge 0$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for $|s| \le c$,

$$|\nabla \phi_N|^2_{\Lambda_N} \leqslant C, \qquad G_N(\Lambda_N, \phi_N) \leqslant C.$$
(9.11)

Further,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} (f_N, \overline{C}^{\Lambda_N}(s) f_N) = \frac{1}{s + v_J^2} (f, (-\Delta_{\mathbb{T}^2})^{-1} f)_{\mathbb{T}^2}.$$
(9.12)

The proof of the lemma is given after concluding the proof of our main theorem.

Proof of Theorem 9.1.1. By assumption, the conditions of Proposition 7.1.1(i) hold and Z_N and \tilde{Z}_N are then defined as above. By Proposition 6.1.1 (applied with $\omega = 1$),

$$\langle e^{(f_N,\varphi)} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N} = e^{\frac{\beta}{2}(f_N,\overline{C}(s)f_N)} \lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} F_{N,m^2}[\beta^{1/2}f_N](1),$$
 (9.13)

but for $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}} = (1 + s\gamma\Delta)f_N$,

$$F_{N,m^2}[\boldsymbol{\beta}^{1/2}f_N](x) = \frac{\mathbb{E}^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}'}\mathbb{E}^{\overline{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}}[e^{x\boldsymbol{\beta}^{1/2}(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},\overline{\boldsymbol{\zeta}})}Z_0^0(\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\overline{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}+x\boldsymbol{\beta}^{1/2}\boldsymbol{\gamma}f_N)]}{\mathbb{E}^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}'}\mathbb{E}^{\overline{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}}[Z_0^0(\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+\overline{\boldsymbol{\zeta}})]} = \frac{\mathbb{E}^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}'}Z_N^0(\boldsymbol{\varphi}'+x\boldsymbol{\beta}^{1/2}\boldsymbol{\phi}_N)]}{\mathbb{E}^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}'}Z_N^0(\boldsymbol{\varphi}')]}$$
(9.14)

where $\varphi' \sim \mathcal{N}(0, t_N(m^2)Q_N)$ and $\overline{\zeta} \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \tilde{C}(s))$ and change of variable $\overline{\zeta} \mapsto \overline{\zeta} + x\beta^{1/2}\tilde{C}(s)\tilde{f}$ and the definition of Z_N were used for the second equality. But by Lemma 9.1.2 and (9.11),

$$\frac{\mathbb{E}_{t_N Q_N} [Z_N^0(\varphi' + \beta^{1/2} \phi_N)]}{\mathbb{E}_{t_N Q_N} [Z_N^0(\varphi')]} = e^{\frac{\beta}{2} s_N^{\Lambda_N}(\phi_N, -\Delta \phi_N)} (1 + O(\|W_N^{\Lambda_N}\|_N)) + O(\|K_N^{0,\Lambda_N}\|_{K,0}) G_N(\Lambda_N, \beta^{1/2} \phi_N) \\
= e^{O(s_N^{\Lambda_N})} (1 + O(\|W_N^{\Lambda_N}\|_N)) + O(\|K_N^{0,\Lambda_N}\|_{N,0})$$
(9.15)

while Proposition 7.1.1(i) implies that $|s_N^{\Lambda_N}| + ||W_N^{\Lambda_N}||_N + ||K_N^{0,\Lambda_N}||_{N,0} \to 0$ as $N \to \infty$, provided that s_0 and s are tuned to the correct initial value $s_0^c(J,\beta)$. Therefore the limit in $N \to \infty$ converges to 1, uniformly in $m^2 > 0$, hence in particular

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} F_{N,m^2}[\beta^{1/2} f_N] = 1.$$
(9.16)

Also by (9.12),

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} e^{\frac{\beta}{2}(f_N, \overline{C}(s)f_N)} = \exp\left(\frac{\beta}{2(v_J^2 + s_0^c(J, \beta))}(f, (-\Delta_{\mathbb{T}^2})^{-1}f)\right).$$
(9.17)

This proves the main conclusion with $\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta) = \beta v_J^2 / (v_J^2 + s_0^c(J,\beta))$.

Proof of Theorem 1.2.1. Let $\mathscr{J} = \{J_{\rho} : \rho \in \mathbb{N}\}$ be the family of range- ρ step distribution. Then by Lemma 2.2.2, if we let $\theta_{\mathscr{J}} = \frac{1}{3^2} = \frac{1}{9}$, then $\theta_J \ge \theta_{\mathscr{J}}$ for each $J \in \mathscr{J}$ and $v_{J_{\rho}}^2 \sim \frac{1}{6}\rho^2$. Hence \mathscr{J} satisfies the assumptions of Proposition 7.1.1(ii), so there exists C > 0 such that for any $\delta > 0$, $||U_j||_j$ and $||K_j||_{j,0}$ both decay exponentially in j and uniformly in Λ_N whenever $\rho^2 \ge C |\log \delta|$ and $\beta \ge \beta_0(J_{\rho}) = (1+\delta)\beta_{\text{free}}(J_{\rho}) \sim \frac{4\pi(1+\delta)}{3}\rho^2$ as $\rho \to \infty$. Therefore we may follow exactly the same proof as that of Theorem 1.1.1, but in the temperature range $\beta \ge (1+\delta)\beta_{\text{free}}(J_{\rho})$.

9.1.3 Proof of Lemma 9.1.3

The proof of Lemma 9.1.3 uses the following estimates for the Fourier coefficients of the functions f_N .

Lemma 9.1.4. For $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2)$, let f_N be given by (9.1) Then there exist constants $C_a = C_a(f)$ for $a \ge 0$ independent of Λ_N such that, for any $p \in \Lambda_N^* \subset [-\pi, \pi]^2$,

$$|\hat{f}_N(p)| \leqslant C_a \|\nabla^{2a} f\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2)} L^{-2Na} |p|^{-2a}.$$
(9.18)
Proof. Define two components of the Fourier multiplier

$$\lambda_1(p) = 2 - 2\cos(p_1), \quad \lambda_2(p) = 2 - 2\cos(p_2)$$
(9.19)

for $p = (p_1, p_2)$ so that $\lambda(p) = \lambda_1(p) + \lambda_2(p)$. One has

$$\hat{f}_N(p) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{|\Lambda_N|} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} f(L^{-N}x) e^{-ip \cdot x} & \text{if } p \neq 0\\ 0 & \text{if } p = 0 \end{cases}$$
(9.20)

hence for $k \in \{1, 2\}$,

$$\lambda_k^a(p)|\hat{f}_N(p)| = \left|\frac{1}{|\Lambda_N|} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} e^{-ip \cdot x} (\partial_{\Lambda_N}^{(e_k, -e_k)})^a f(L^{-N}x)\right| \leq \sup_{x \in \Lambda_N} |(\partial_{\Lambda_N}^{(e_k, -e_k)})^a f(L^{-N}x)|$$
(9.21)

where $\partial_{\Lambda_N}^{(e_k,-e_k)} f(x/L^N) = -f((x+e_k)/L^N) - f((x-e_k)/L^N) + 2f(x/L^N)$ for $x \in \Lambda_N$. But since $\lambda_k(p) \ge \frac{4}{\pi^2} p_k^2$ by Lemma 2.2.1, we are just left to bound $|(\partial^{(e_k,-e_k)})^a f(x/L^N)|$. We now claim that

$$(\partial_{\Lambda_N}^{(e_k,-e_k)})^a f(z) = (-1)^a \int_{[0,L^{-N}]^{2a}} \prod_{l=1}^a ds_l dt_l \,\partial_{x_k}^{2a} f\left(z + \sum_{l=1}^a (s_l + t_l - L^{-N})e_l\right). \tag{9.22}$$

To see this, start from the elementary observation

$$\partial_{\Lambda_N}^{(e_k, -e_k)} f(z) = 2f(z) - f(z + L^{-N}e_k) - f(z - L^{-N}e_k)$$

= $-\int_{[0, L^{-N}]^2} ds dt \, \partial_{x_k}^2 f\left(z + (s + t - L^{-N})e_k\right)$ (9.23)

and proceed by induction. Now by (9.21) and (9.22),

$$|\hat{f}_N(p)| \leqslant C_a |p_k|^{-2a} L^{-2Na} \|\nabla^{2a} f\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2)}$$
(9.24)

for k = 1, 2, which concludes the proof.

Proof of Lemma 9.1.3. For $p \in 2\pi \mathbb{T}^2$, let $\lambda(p)$ and $\lambda_J(p)$ be the Fourier multiplier of $-\Delta$ and $-\Delta_J$ as defined by (2.22). We also define

$$\phi_N^{(m^2)} = (1 + s\gamma\Delta)^{-1}\overline{C}(s, m^2)f_N$$
(9.25)

$$\overline{C}(s,m^2) = \gamma(1+s\gamma\Delta) + (1+s\gamma\Delta)\widetilde{C}(s,m^2)(1+s\gamma\Delta)$$
(9.26)

 \square

so ϕ_N and $\overline{C}(s)$ can be considered as $m^2 \downarrow 0$ limits and the desired conclusions follow upon the limit $m^2 \downarrow 0$. We claim a bit stronger statement than the first inequality in (9.11): for any $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ and all $a \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$, the norm $\|\nabla_N^a \phi_N^{(m^2)}\|_{L^2_N(\Lambda_N)}$ is bounded uniformly in *N*. Indeed, in Fourier space, and recalling that λ (resp. λ_J) denote the Fourier multipliers of $-\Delta$ (resp. $-\Delta_J$) and $\hat{\cdot}$ is the Fourier transform,

$$\hat{\phi}_N^{(m^2)}(p) = \frac{(\lambda_J(p) + m^2)^{-1}}{1 + s\lambda(p)(\lambda_J(p) + m^2)^{-1} - \gamma)} \hat{f}_N(p).$$
(9.27)

Since $\lambda(p) \in [0,2]$ and $(\lambda_J(p) + m^2)^{-1}\lambda(p) \leq \theta_J^{-1}$, for |s| small,

$$|\hat{\phi}_{N}^{(m^{2})}(p)| \leq C\theta_{J}^{-1}\lambda(p)^{-1}|\hat{f}_{N}(p)|$$
(9.28)

and for $\Lambda_N^* = 2\pi L^{-N} \Lambda_N$,

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla_{N}^{a}\phi_{N}^{(m^{2})}\|_{L^{2}_{N}(\Lambda_{N})} &:= L^{2Na-2N} \|\nabla^{a}\phi_{N}^{(m^{2})}\|_{L^{2}(\Lambda_{N})}^{2} \\ &\leqslant \frac{C\theta_{J}^{-2}|\Lambda_{N}|^{a-2}}{4\pi^{2}}\sum_{p\in\Lambda_{N}^{*}}\lambda(p)^{a-2}|\hat{f}_{N}(p)|^{2} \\ &= \frac{C\theta_{J}^{-2}}{4\pi^{2}}\sum_{k\in\Lambda_{N}}\left(|\Lambda_{N}|\lambda(2\pi L^{-N}k)\right)^{a-2}|\hat{f}_{N}(2\pi L^{-N}k)|^{2}. \end{split}$$

By Lemma 2.2.1 and the lower bound $\cos(x) \ge 1 - x^2/2$,

$$16|k|^2 \leq |\Lambda_N|\lambda(2\pi L^{-N}k) = 2L^{2N}(2 - \cos(2\pi L^{-N}k_1) - \cos(2\pi L^{-N}k_2)) \leq 4\pi^2|k|^2 \quad (9.29)$$

and together with Lemma 9.1.4, we have

$$\sum_{k \in \Lambda_N} \left(|\Lambda_N| \lambda(2\pi L^{-N} k) \right)^{a-2} |\hat{f}_N(2\pi L^{-N} k)|^2 \leqslant C_a (1 + \sum_{k \in \Lambda_N \setminus \{0\}} |k|^{2(a-2)} |k|^{-2a}) < \infty$$
(9.30)

for $a \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$. The case a = 1 concludes the proof of the first inequality (9.11). Moreover, by the lattice Sobolev inequality (Lemma 3.A.3) there exists c' > 0 such that

$$\log G_N(\Lambda_N, \phi_N) \leqslant c' \kappa_L \sum_{a=1}^4 \|\nabla_N^a \phi_N^{(m^2)}\|_{L^2_N(\Lambda_N)},$$
(9.31)

also giving the second inequality in (9.11).

For the final claim (9.12), recalling $\hat{f}_N(0) = 0$, one has

$$\lim_{m^{2} \to 0} (f_{N}, \overline{C}(s, m^{2})f_{N}) = \lim_{m^{2} \to 0} (\phi_{N}^{(m^{2})}, (1 + s\gamma\Delta)f_{N}) \\
= \frac{1}{4\pi^{2}|\Lambda_{N}|} \sum_{k \in \Lambda_{N} \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\lambda_{J}(2\pi L^{-N}k)^{-1}(1 - s\gamma\lambda(2\pi L^{-N}k))}{1 + s\lambda(2\pi L^{-N}k)(\lambda_{J}(2\pi L^{-N}k)^{-1} - \gamma)} |\hat{f}_{N}(2\pi L^{-N}k)|^{2} \\
= \frac{1}{4\pi^{2}} \sum_{k \in 2\pi\Lambda_{N} \setminus \{0\}} \frac{(|\Lambda_{N}|\lambda_{J}(L^{-N}k))^{-1}(1 - s\gamma\lambda(L^{-N}k))}{1 + s|\Lambda_{N}|\lambda(L^{-N}k)|\Lambda_{N}|^{-1}(\lambda_{J}(L^{-N}k)^{-1} - \gamma)} |\hat{f}_{N}(L^{-N}k)|^{2}. \quad (9.32)$$

Since $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2)$, we have $\hat{f}_N(L^{-N}k) \to \hat{f}(k)$ as $N \to \infty$ for each $k \in (2\pi\mathbb{Z})^2 \setminus \{0\}$. By Lemma 2.2.1,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} L^{2N} \lambda(L^{-N}k) = |k|^2, \qquad \lim_{N \to \infty} L^{2N} \lambda_J(L^{-N}k) = v_J^2 |k|^2, \tag{9.33}$$

where v_J^2 is defined by (2.4). Also by Lemma 9.1.4, the sum is dominated by $C\sum_{k \in (2\pi\mathbb{Z})^2 \setminus \{0\}} |k|^{-4}$ for some C > 0, and therefore the Dominated convergence theorem implies

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \lim_{m^2 \to 0} (f_N, \overline{C}(s, m^2) f_N) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \sum_{k \in (2\pi\mathbb{Z})^2 \setminus \{0\}} \frac{1}{v_J^2 + s} |k|^{-2} |\hat{f}(k)|^2 = \frac{1}{v_J^2 + s} (f, (-\Delta_{\mathbb{T}^2})^{-1} f)$$
(9.34)
as needed.

as needed.

Scaling limit on \mathbb{R}^2 9.2

The second aim of this chapter is to prove the scaling limit on \mathbb{R}^2 of Theorems 1.1.3, 1.1.4, restated as the following. Given $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ with $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f(x) dx = 0$, we recall $f_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{Z}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfy $\sum_{x \in \mathbb{Z}^2} f_{\varepsilon}(x) = 0$ and

$$\max_{0 \leqslant k \leqslant 2} \max_{x \in \mathbb{Z}^d} |(\varepsilon^{-1} \nabla)^k f_{\varepsilon}(x)| \leqslant C_f \varepsilon^2, \qquad \operatorname{supp} f_{\varepsilon} \subset [-R_f \varepsilon^{-1}, R_f \varepsilon^{-1}]^2, \max_{x \in \mathbb{Z}^d} |\varepsilon^{-2} f_{\varepsilon}(x) - f(\varepsilon x)| \to 0,$$
(9.35)

for some constants $C_f, R_f > 0$.

Theorem 9.2.1. Let $J \subset \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ be any finite-range step distribution that is invariant under lattice rotations and reflections and includes the nearest-neighbour vertices of 0. Then there exists $\beta_0(J) > 0$ such that the following holds for $\beta \ge \beta_0(J)$ and $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ with $\int f \, dx = 0$

such that there exists discretisation f_{ε} as in (9.35). As $\varepsilon \rightarrow 0$,

$$\log \left\langle e^{(f_{\varepsilon},\sigma)_{\mathbb{Z}^2}} \right\rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} \to \frac{\beta_{\mathrm{eff}}(J,\beta)}{2v_J^2} (f, (-\Delta_{\mathbb{R}^2})^{-1} f)_{\mathbb{R}^2}, \tag{9.36}$$

where β_{eff} is the same as Theorem 1.1.1 and $\langle \cdot \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$ is the infinite volume measure defined by *Proposition 1.1.2.*

Theorem 9.2.2. Under the setting of Theorem 9.2.1, there exists $L \equiv L(J)$ such that, whenever $(\varepsilon_N)_{N \ge 0}$ is a sequence such that $\varepsilon_N \to 0$ and $L^N \varepsilon_N \to \infty$,

$$\log \langle e^{(f_{\varepsilon_N},\sigma)_{\Lambda_N}} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N} \to \frac{\beta_{\rm eff}(J,\beta)}{2v_J^2} (f,(-\Delta_{\mathbb{R}^2})^{-1}f)_{\mathbb{R}^2}$$
(9.37)

as $N \rightarrow \infty$.

In the proofs, we always tune $s = s_0 = s_0^c(J,\beta)$ for $s_0^c(J,\beta)$ as in Theorem 9.1.1.

9.2.1 External field

We first have to choose the observable scale j_s and external fields v and \tilde{f} where we can apply Proposition 8.1.1. By Proposition 6.1.1,

$$F_{N,m^2}[f_{\varepsilon}](\omega) = \frac{\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'}\mathbb{E}^{\overline{\zeta}}_{(\omega)}[Z_0(\varphi' + \overline{\zeta} + \omega\gamma\mathfrak{f})]}{\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'}\mathbb{E}^{\overline{\zeta}}[Z_0(\varphi' + \overline{\zeta})]}$$
(9.38)

for $\varphi' \sim \mathcal{N}(0, t_N Q_N)$ and $\overline{\zeta} \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \tilde{C}(s))$. Also after letting

$$j_s = \min\{j \ge 0 : L^{j+1} \ge 24R_f \varepsilon^{-1}\},$$
 (9.39)

where R_f is given by (9.35), we can subdecompose $\tilde{C}(s)$ as

$$\tilde{C}(s) = \Gamma_{\leq j_s} + \Gamma_{>j_s} := \sum_{j=1}^{j_s} \Gamma_j + \Big(\sum_{j=j_s+1}^{N-1} \Gamma_j + \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N}\Big), \tag{9.40}$$

thus if we let $\zeta_1 \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Gamma_{\leq j_s})$ and $\zeta_2 \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Gamma_{> j_s})$ be independent Gaussian variables and take $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$F_{N,m^{2}}[f_{\varepsilon}](1) = \frac{\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'}\mathbb{E}^{\zeta_{1}}_{(\omega)}\mathbb{E}^{\zeta_{2}}_{(\omega)}[Z_{0}(\varphi'+\zeta_{1}+\zeta_{2}+\gamma f_{\varepsilon})]}{\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'}\mathbb{E}^{\zeta_{1}}\mathbb{E}^{\zeta_{2}}[Z_{0}(\varphi'+\overline{\zeta})]}$$
$$= \frac{\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'}\mathbb{E}^{\zeta_{1}}_{(\omega)}\mathbb{E}^{\zeta_{2}}[Z_{0}(\varphi'+\zeta_{1}+\zeta_{2}+\Gamma_{\leqslant j_{s}}\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}+\gamma f_{\varepsilon})]}{\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'}\mathbb{E}^{\zeta_{1}}\mathbb{E}^{\zeta_{2}}[Z_{0}(\varphi'+\overline{\zeta})]}$$
(9.41)

where we used change of variable $\zeta_2 \to \zeta_2 + \omega \tilde{C}(s)\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ when $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ and

$$\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}[F(\boldsymbol{\zeta})] = \frac{\mathbb{E}[e^{(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}},\boldsymbol{\zeta})}F(\boldsymbol{\zeta})]}{\mathbb{E}[F(\boldsymbol{\zeta})]}, \qquad \tilde{\mathfrak{f}} \equiv \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}_{\varepsilon} = (1 + s\gamma\Delta)f_{\varepsilon}.$$
(9.42)

In this setting, the natural choice of v is

$$v \equiv v_{\varepsilon} = \Gamma_{\leqslant j_{\varepsilon}} \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}_{\varepsilon} + \gamma f_{\varepsilon} = \left(\Gamma_{\leqslant j_{\varepsilon}} (1 + s \gamma \Delta) + \gamma \right) f_{\varepsilon}.$$
(9.43)

We see that they satisfy the requirements.

Lemma 9.2.3. Let f_{ε} satisfy (9.35), and let v and $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}} = (1 + s\gamma\Delta)f_{\varepsilon}$ be defined by (9.43) and (9.42), respectively. If $R_f^2C_f$ is sufficiently small, then then they satisfy (A_v) and (A'_f) , respectively, with $\mathfrak{n} = 1$ and j_s given by (9.39).

Proof. We have from the assumption that f_{ε} has support on a block of side length $\frac{1}{24}L^{j_s+1}$ centred at 0, thus *v* is supported on $B_0^{j_s+1}$ and $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ is supported on a block of side length $\frac{1}{12}L^{j_s+1}$, centred at 0. Also,

$$\operatorname{diam}(\operatorname{supp}\tilde{\mathfrak{f}})^2 \times \|\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^2)} \leqslant 4CR_f^2 C_f \leqslant 1$$
(9.44)

is implied by assuming $R_f^2 C_f$ sufficiently small.

We are only left to bound v. By definition of $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ and (9.35), we have $\|\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}\|_{C_0^2} \leq CC_f \varepsilon^2$, thus $\|\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}\|_{C_{j_s}^2} \leq C'$. To bound each $\Gamma_j \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ for $j \leq j_s$, we can identify Γ_j with its convolution kernel throughout the proof, i.e., $\Gamma_j \tilde{\mathfrak{f}} = \Gamma_j * \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$. Then Γ_j is supported in a block of side length $\frac{1}{4}L^j$ and satisfies $\|\nabla_j^{\alpha} \Gamma_j\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C_{\alpha} \log L$ for $|\alpha| \geq 0$ where $\nabla_j^{\alpha} = L^{j|\alpha|} \nabla^{\alpha}$, see Corollary 3.1.1. Thus $|\alpha| \geq 0$, using that $\nabla^{\alpha}(\Gamma_j * \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}) = \Gamma_j * (\nabla^{\alpha} \tilde{\mathfrak{f}})$ we obtain

$$\|\nabla_{j}^{\alpha}\Gamma_{j}\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \|\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}\|_{L^{\infty}} \sum_{x} |\nabla_{j}\Gamma_{j}(x)| \leq CC_{f}L^{2j}\varepsilon^{2}\log L.$$
(9.45)

Summing up,

$$\|v\|_{C^2_{j_s}} \leqslant CC_f L^{2j_s} \varepsilon^2 \log L \leqslant C' C_f R_f^2 \log L \tag{9.46}$$

where the second inequality follows from the choice of j_s .

9.2.2 Proof of Theorem 9.2.1

Lemma 9.2.4. Let $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ with $\int f \, dx = 0$ and f_{ε} be as in (9.35) and recall

$$\overline{C}(s) = \gamma(1 + s\gamma\Delta) + (1 + s\gamma\Delta)\tilde{C}(s)(1 + s\gamma\Delta).$$
(9.47)

Then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \lim_{N \to \infty} (f_{\varepsilon}, \overline{C}^{\Lambda_N}(s) f_{\varepsilon}) = \frac{1}{\nu_J^2 + s} (f, (-\Delta_{\mathbb{R}^2})^{-1} f)_{\mathbb{R}^2},$$
(9.48)

and the statement also holds if the two leftmost limits are replaced by $N \to \infty$ with $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_N \to 0$ while $\varepsilon_N L^N \to \infty$.

Proof. In what follows, given $f_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{Z}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$, we denote by \hat{f}_{ε} its Fourier transform, defined as in (2.19). Since $\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(0) = 0$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \lim_{N \to \infty} (f_{\varepsilon}, \tilde{C}(s) f_{\varepsilon}) = \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \lim_{N \to \infty} \lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} (f_{\varepsilon}, \overline{C}(s, m^2) f_{\varepsilon})$$
(9.49)

where

$$\overline{C}(s,m^2) = \gamma(1+s\gamma\Delta) + (1+s\gamma\Delta)C(s,m^2)(1+s\gamma\Delta), \qquad (9.50)$$

so we will study $\overline{C}(s)$ as a limit of $\overline{C}(s,m^2)$. Again, since $\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(0) = 0$,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \lim_{m^2 \to 0} (f_{\varepsilon}, \overline{C}(s, m^2) f_{\varepsilon}) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_{[-\pi, \pi]^2} \frac{\lambda_J(p)^{-1}(1 - s\gamma\lambda(p))}{1 + s\lambda(p)(\lambda_J(p)^{-1} - \gamma)} |\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(p)|^2 dp$$
$$= \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_{[-\pi/\varepsilon, \pi/\varepsilon]^2} \frac{\varepsilon^2 \lambda_J(\varepsilon p)^{-1}(1 - s\gamma\lambda(\varepsilon p))}{1 + s\lambda(\varepsilon p)(\lambda_J(\varepsilon p)^{-1} - \gamma)} |\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon p)|^2 dp, \quad (9.51)$$

where $\lambda(p)$ is the Fourier multiplier of the (unnormalised) discrete Laplacian $-\Delta$ and $\lambda_J(p)$ that of the (normalised) range-*J* Laplacian $-\Delta_J$, see Chapter 2. Then by (2.2.1),

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \varepsilon^{-2} \lambda(\varepsilon p) = |p|^2, \qquad \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \varepsilon^{-2} \lambda_J(\varepsilon p) = v_J^2 |p|^2, \qquad (9.52)$$

and the fraction in the integrand in (9.51) is bounded by $C|p|^{-2}$ uniformly in ε and $p \in$ $[-\pi/\varepsilon,\pi/\varepsilon]^2$. Moreover, as we now argue, (9.35) implies that $\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon p) \to \hat{f}(p)$ as $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ for each $p \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and that $|\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon p)| \leq C|p|(1+|p|)^{-3}$. To see this in detail, we start from

$$\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon p) = \sum_{y \in \varepsilon \mathbb{Z}^2} f_{\varepsilon}(y/\varepsilon) e^{-iy \cdot p}.$$
(9.53)

For $|\hat{f}(p) - \hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon p)| \to 0$ pointwise, use $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ and the last condition in (9.35) to see that, with $[\cdot]$ denoting the integer part,

$$|\hat{f}(p) - \hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon p)| \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |f(y)(e^{-iy \cdot p} - e^{-i\varepsilon[y/\varepsilon] \cdot p})| \, dy + \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |f(y) - \varepsilon^{-2} f_{\varepsilon}([y/\varepsilon])| \, dy \to 0.$$
(9.54)

To see the bound on $\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon p)$, use summation by parts to write

$$\lambda(p)|\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(p)| = |\widehat{\Delta f}_{\varepsilon}(p)| = |\sum_{x \in \mathbb{Z}^2} e^{-ip \cdot x} \Delta f_{\varepsilon}(x)| \leq ||\Delta f_{\varepsilon}||_{L^1(\mathbb{Z}^2)}.$$
(9.55)

By (9.35),

$$\|\Delta f_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})} \leqslant R_{f}^{2}(\varepsilon^{-1}+1)^{2} \|\Delta f_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})} \leqslant 2R_{f}^{2} \|(\varepsilon^{-1}\nabla)^{2}f_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})} \leqslant 2C_{f}R_{f}^{2}\varepsilon^{2}, \quad (9.56)$$

and by [12, Lemma 2.2.1], we have that $\frac{1}{\epsilon^2 |p|^2} \lambda(\epsilon p) \ge \frac{4}{\pi^2}$. Thus it follows that $|\hat{f}_{\epsilon}(\epsilon p)| \le \frac{1}{\epsilon}$ $C|p|^{-2}$. On the other hand, since $\sum f_{\varepsilon} = 0$ and $||f_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{\infty}} \leq C_f \varepsilon^2$, also

$$|\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon p)| = \left|\sum_{y \in \varepsilon \mathbb{Z}^2} f_{\varepsilon}(y/\varepsilon)(e^{-iy \cdot p} - 1)\right| \leq ||f_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{\infty}} \sum_{y \in \varepsilon \mathbb{Z}^2 : |y| \leq R_f} |y \cdot p| \leq CC_f (R_f/\varepsilon)^3 |p|,$$
(9.57)

and therefore $|\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon p)| \leq C|p|(1+|p|)^{-3}$ when combined with $|\hat{f}_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon p)| \leq C|p|^{-2}$.

Finally, using the convergence in Fourier space and that the integrand is dominated by $C|p|^{-2} \times (|p|(1+|p|)^{-3})^2 \leq C(1+|p|)^{-6}$ which is integrable over \mathbb{R}^2 , the dominated convergence theorem implies

$$\lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \lim_{N \to \infty} \lim_{m^2 \to 0} (f_{\epsilon}, \overline{C}(s, m^2) f_{\epsilon}) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \frac{1}{v_J^2 + s} |p|^{-2} |\hat{f}(p)|^2 dp = \frac{1}{v_J^2 + s} (f, (-\Delta_{\mathbb{R}^2})^{-1} f)$$
(9.58)
s claimed.

as claimed.

We are ready to prove the second main theorem.

Proof of Theorem 9.2.1. We first prove the theorem with the assumption that $R_f^2 C_f \leq \overline{c}$ is sufficiently small. By (9.41), we have

$$F_{N,m^2}[f_{\varepsilon}](1) = \frac{\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'} Z_N(\varphi', \omega = 1 | \Lambda_N)}{\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'} Z_N(\varphi', \omega = 0 | \Lambda_N)},$$
(9.59)

so we only have to study Z_N . By Lemma 9.2.3 (using the assumption that $R_f^2 C_f$ is sufficiently small), we see that we are in place to apply Proposition 8.1.1. Since g_j is non-zero only for $j > j_s$, when $\omega = 1$,

$$Z_{N}(\varphi', \omega = 1|\Lambda_{N}) = e^{-E_{N}|\Lambda_{N}| + \sum_{j>j_{s}}\mathfrak{g}_{j}(\Lambda;1)} \left(e^{U_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}(\Lambda_{N},\varphi'+u_{N})} + K_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}(\Lambda_{N},\varphi';1) \right)$$
$$= e^{-E_{N}|\Lambda_{N}| + \sum_{j>j_{s}}\mathfrak{g}_{j}(\Lambda;1)} \left(e^{U_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}(\Lambda_{N},\varphi')} + K_{N}^{\Lambda_{N},\dagger}(\Lambda_{N},\varphi';1) \right), \qquad (9.60)$$

but by (7.3), (8.4) and Lemma 4.1.4,

$$=e^{-E_{N}|\Lambda_{N}|+O(L^{-\alpha j_{s}})}\left(e^{\frac{1}{2}s_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}|\nabla\varphi'|^{2}}(1+O(L^{-\alpha N}))+O(L^{-\alpha N})G_{N}(\Lambda_{N},\varphi')\right).$$
(9.61)

But since $\nabla \varphi' = 0$ almost surely when $\varphi' \sim \mathcal{N}(0, t_N Q_N)$, we have

$$F_{N,m^2}[f_{\varepsilon}](1) = \frac{\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'} Z_N(\varphi', \omega = 1 | \Lambda_N)}{\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'} Z_N(\varphi', \omega = 0 | \Lambda_N)} = 1 + O(L^{-\alpha j_s}).$$
(9.62)

Also, since $\langle e^{\beta^{-1/2}(f_{\varepsilon},\sigma)} \rangle_{\beta,J}^{\Lambda_N}$ and $(f_{\varepsilon}, \overline{C}^{\Lambda_N}(s)f_{\varepsilon})$ have well-defined limits as $N \to \infty$ by Proposition 1.1.2 and Lemma 9.2.4, respectively, the limit

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} F_{N,m^2}[f_{\varepsilon}](1) = \lim_{N \to \infty} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\tilde{f}_{\varepsilon}, \tilde{C}(s)\tilde{f}_{\varepsilon}) - \frac{\gamma}{2}(f_{\varepsilon}, \tilde{f}_{\varepsilon})} \langle e^{\beta^{-1/2}(f_{\varepsilon}, \sigma)} \rangle_{\beta,J}^{\Lambda_N}$$
(9.63)
$$= \lim_{N \to \infty} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(f_{\varepsilon}, \overline{C}^{\Lambda_N}(s)f_{\varepsilon})} \langle e^{\beta^{-1/2}(f_{\varepsilon}, \sigma)} \rangle_{\beta,J}^{\Lambda_N}$$
$$= 1 + O(L^{-\alpha j_s}).$$
(9.64)

is also well-defined. But since $L^{-\alpha j_s} \to 0$ as $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$, by Proposition 6.1.1,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \langle e^{\beta^{-1/2}(f_{\varepsilon},\sigma)} \rangle_{\beta,J}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} = \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \lim_{N \to \infty} e^{\frac{1}{2}(f_{\varepsilon},\overline{C}^{\Lambda_N}(s)f_{\varepsilon})} \lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} F_{N,m^2}[f_{\varepsilon}](1)$$
$$= \exp\left(\frac{1}{2(v_J^2 + s)}(f,(-\Delta_{\mathbb{R}^2})^{-1}f)_{\mathbb{R}^2}\right)$$
(9.65)

is as desired due to Lemma 9.2.4.

Now we extend this result to general function f, without the restriction on $R_f^2 C_f$ using Gaussian domination inequality. Indeed, there exists $\tau > 0$ such that, if we consider τf instead of f, then $R_{\tau f}^2 C_{\tau f} = \tau R_f^2 C_f \leq \overline{c}$ is small enough to apply the arguments above. Then by (9.65) applied on τf_{ε} ,

$$\langle (f_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\sigma})_{\mathbb{Z}^2}^{2n} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} \to \frac{(2n)!}{2^n n!} \frac{\beta_{\text{eff}}(J, \beta)}{2v_J^2} (f, (-\Delta)^{-1} f)_{\mathbb{R}^2}^n$$

$$\langle (f_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\sigma})_{\mathbb{Z}^2}^{2n+1} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} = 0$$

$$(9.66)$$

as $\varepsilon \to 0$, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Also,

$$\sum_{n>k} \frac{1}{n!} |(f_{\varepsilon}, \sigma)|^n \leqslant \frac{e^{(f_{\varepsilon}, \sigma)} + e^{-(f_{\varepsilon}, \sigma)}}{(k+1)!},\tag{9.67}$$

but by the upper bound of (1.6), we see

$$\left|\left\langle\sum_{n>k}\frac{1}{n!}(f_{\varepsilon},\sigma)^{n}\right\rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_{N}}\right| \leqslant \frac{2}{(k+1)!}e^{\frac{\beta}{2}(f_{\varepsilon},(-\Delta)^{-1}f_{\varepsilon})}.$$
(9.68)

In other words, $\langle \sum_{n=0}^{k} \frac{1}{n!} (f_{\varepsilon}, \sigma)^n \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N}$ converges to $\langle e^{(f_{\varepsilon}, \sigma)} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N}$ as $k \to \infty$ uniformly in ε and N, proving

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0, N \to \infty} \lim_{k \to \infty} \left\langle \sum_{n=0}^{k} \frac{1}{n!} (f_{\varepsilon}, \sigma)^{n} \right\rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_{N}} = \lim_{k \to \infty} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0, N \to \infty} \left\langle \sum_{n=0}^{k} \frac{1}{n!} (f_{\varepsilon}, \sigma)^{n} \right\rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_{N}}.$$
(9.69)

But by (9.66), the right-hand side is $\frac{\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta)}{2\nu_J^2}(f,(-\Delta_{\mathbb{R}^2})^{-1}f)_{\mathbb{R}^2}$, completing the proof.

The proof of Theorem 9.2.2 is a by-product.

Proof of Theorem 9.2.2. Following the same extension procedure as in the proof of Theorem 1.1.4, it is enough to prove the statement with the assumption that $R_f^2 C_f$ is sufficiently small.

Let $j_{s,N}$ be the observable scale of f_{ε_N} . Then $\varepsilon_N \to 0$ as $N \to \infty$ implies $j_{s,N} \to \infty$. Thus by combining Proposition 6.1.1 and (9.62),

$$\langle e^{(f_{\varepsilon_N},\sigma)_{\Lambda_N}} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\Lambda_N} \sim e^{\frac{1}{2}(f_{\varepsilon_N},\overline{C}^{\Lambda_N}(s)f_{\varepsilon_N})} (1+O(L^{-j_{s,N}})) \sim e^{\frac{1}{2}(f_{\varepsilon_N},\overline{C}^{\Lambda_N}(s)f_{\varepsilon_N})}, \tag{9.70}$$

as $N \rightarrow \infty$. An argument similar to that of Lemma 9.2.4 shows

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} (f_{\varepsilon_N}, \overline{C}^{\Lambda_N}(s) f_{\varepsilon_N}) = \frac{1}{\nu_J^2 + s} (f, (-\Delta_{\mathbb{R}^2})^{-1} f)_{\mathbb{R}^2}$$
(9.71)

as long as $L^N \varepsilon_N \to \infty$ as $N \to \infty$, giving the desired conclusion.

9.3 Multi-point functions

We now prove Theorem 1.1.5, restated as the following, where we recall that (A_f) is a condition on $f = \sum_{i=1}^{n} T_{y_i} f_i$ restricting to take $\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i = 0$ and the size $nM\rho^2 \leq 1$ where *M* is the upper bound of each component f_i and ρ is the diameter.

Theorem 9.3.1. Let $J \subset \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ be any finite-range step distribution that is invariant under lattice rotations and reflections and includes the nearest-neighbour vertices of 0. There exists a translation invariant covariance matrix $\mathfrak{C}_{\beta} \equiv \mathfrak{C}_{J,\beta}$, $\beta_0 \equiv \beta_0(J)$ and $h_{\omega} \equiv h_{\omega}(J)$ such that the following holds. Let $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$ with $h_{\omega} > 0$, $\beta \ge \beta_0$ and $\sigma \sim \mathbb{P}_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2}$. Then for $\mathfrak{f} = \sum_{i=1}^{\mathfrak{n}} T_{y_i} \mathfrak{f}_i$ satisfying (A_f) ,

$$\log \langle e^{\beta^{-1/2}\omega(\mathfrak{f},\sigma)} \rangle_{J,\beta}^{\mathbb{Z}^2} = \frac{1}{2}\omega^2(\mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{C}_{\beta}\mathfrak{f}) + \sum_{i=1}^n h_{\beta}^{(1)}[\mathfrak{f}_i](\omega) + h_{\beta}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\vec{\mathfrak{f}}](\omega)$$
(9.72)

where $h_{\beta}^{(a)}$ $(a \in \{1,2\})$ are analytic functions in $\mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}} \ni \omega$ satisfying the following.

|h_β⁽²⁾[ÿ, f](ω)| = O_β(d_y^{-α}) uniformly in ω ∈ D_{h_ω} and some α > 0.
h_β⁽¹⁾[f₁] = h_β⁽¹⁾[-f₁], h_β⁽¹⁾[0] = 0 and h_β⁽²⁾[ÿ, f₁, 0, · · · , 0] = 0.

Again, in the proof, we always tune $s = s_0 = s_0^c(J,\beta)$ for $s_0^c(J,\beta)$ as in Theorem 9.1.1.

9.3.1 External field

Based on Proposition 6.1.1, the choice of the external fields are easier than the previous section. Let $\mathfrak{f} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} T_{y_i} \mathfrak{f}_i$ satisfy (A_f). It is enough to take $j_s = 0$ and

$$v_i = \gamma \mathfrak{f}_i, \qquad \mathfrak{f}_i = (1 + s \gamma \Delta) \mathfrak{f}_i, \qquad (9.73)$$

 $v = \sum_{i=1}^{n} T_{y_i} v_i$ and $\tilde{\mathfrak{f}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} T_{y_i} \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}_i$. Then

$$F_{N,m^{2}}[\mathfrak{f}](\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \frac{\mathbb{E}^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}'}\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})}^{\overline{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}}[Z_{0}^{0}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}' + \overline{\boldsymbol{\zeta}} + \boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{v})]}{\mathbb{E}^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}'}\mathbb{E}^{\overline{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}}[Z_{0}^{0}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}' + \overline{\boldsymbol{\zeta}})]}.$$
(9.74)

It is not difficult to see that v and \tilde{f} satisfy the desired assumptions.

Lemma 9.3.2. For \mathfrak{f} satisfying (A_f) , let $L \ge 12\rho$ and $v, \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}$ be given by (9.73). Then they satisfy (A_v) and (A'_f) , respectively, with and $j_s = 0$.

Proof. The condition on the support of *v* follows from $L \ge 12\rho$. The bound on norm of v_i follows because $\|v\|_{C_0^2} = \gamma \|f\|_{C_0^2} \le \gamma M$. This verifies (A_v) for *v*. Also, since diam(supp $\tilde{f}) \le$ diam(supp f) + 2 and $\|\tilde{f}\|_{L^{\infty}} \le (1+2|s|\gamma) \|f\|_{L^{\infty}}$, (A'_f) is readily verified for \tilde{f} .

9.3.2 Reduction of the proof

In view of Proposition 6.1.1, control of the moment generating function is just due to the control of the ratio F_{N,m^2} . Thus it is the objective of Proposition 9.3.3 to show how F_{N,m^2} is controlled. In the statement, the *coalescence scale* $j_{\vec{y}}$ is used: when $\vec{y} = \{y_1, \dots, y_n\}$,

$$j_{\vec{y}} = \min\left\{j \ge 0 : (Q_{y_a}^j)^{***} \cap Q_{y_b}^j \neq \emptyset \text{ for some } a \neq b\right\}.$$
(9.75)

(Recall Q_y^j is given by (3.25) and $(Q_{y_a}^j)^{***}$ is taking the small set neighbourhood three times.) The coalescence scale is formally just $\log_L d_{\vec{y}}$, but stated in the language of blocks. If there is only one $a \in \{1, \dots, n\}$ such that $f_a \neq 0$, we use convention $j_{\vec{y}} = \infty$. Since $Q_{y_a}^j \supset \operatorname{supp}(T_{y_a}u_{j,a})$, this definition implies $\operatorname{supp}(T_{y_a}u_{j,a}) \cap \operatorname{supp}(T_{y_b}u_{j,b}) = \emptyset$ for $j < j_{\vec{y}}$ and any $a \neq b$, and there exists C > 0 such that

$$C^{-1}d_{\vec{y}} \leq L^{j_{\vec{y}}} \leq Cd_{\vec{y}} \quad (=C\min\{\|y_a - y_b\|_2 : a \neq b \in \{1, \cdots, \mathfrak{n}\}\}).$$
(9.76)

Proposition 9.3.3. Let \mathfrak{f} be as in (A'_f) . Then under the assumptions of Theorem 9.3.1,

$$\lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} F_{N,m^2}[\mathfrak{f}](\boldsymbol{\omega}) = e^{\sum_{a=1}^{\mathfrak{n}} \tilde{g}_{\infty}[\mathfrak{f}_a](\boldsymbol{\omega}) + \tilde{g}_{\infty}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\vec{\mathfrak{f}}](\boldsymbol{\omega})} \left(1 + \tilde{\boldsymbol{\psi}}^{\Lambda_N}(\boldsymbol{\omega})\right)$$
(9.77)

where $\tilde{g}_{\infty}[\mathfrak{f}_i](\omega)$, $g_{\infty}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\vec{\mathfrak{f}}](\omega)$ and $\tilde{\psi}^{\Lambda_N}(\omega)$ are analytic functions in $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$ and satisfy

$$\|\tilde{g}_{\infty}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\vec{\mathfrak{f}}](\boldsymbol{\omega})\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}_{h\omega})} \leqslant O(d_{\vec{y}}^{-\alpha}), \tag{9.78}$$

$$\|\tilde{\psi}^{\Lambda_N}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}_{h\omega})} \leqslant O(L^{-\alpha N}) \tag{9.79}$$

for some $\alpha > 0$.

Proof of Theorem 9.3.1. By Proposition 6.1.1 and Proposition 9.3.3,

$$\log \langle e^{\beta^{-1/2}\omega(\sigma,\mathfrak{f})} \rangle_{\beta,J}^{\Lambda_N} = \frac{1}{2} \omega^2(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}, \tilde{C}(s)\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}) + \frac{\gamma}{2} \omega^2(\mathfrak{f}, \tilde{\mathfrak{f}}) + \sum_{a=1}^{\mathfrak{n}} \tilde{g}_{\infty}(\omega)[\mathfrak{f}_a] \\ + \tilde{g}_{\infty}^{(2)}[\vec{y}, \vec{\mathfrak{f}}](\omega) + \log\left(1 + \tilde{\psi}_{\Lambda_N}^{\mathfrak{r}}(\tau, y)\right).$$
(9.80)

By (9.78),(9.79) and (9.76), they satisfy

$$\left|\tilde{g}_{\infty}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\vec{\mathfrak{f}}]\right| \leqslant O(d_{\vec{y}}^{-\alpha}), \qquad |\tilde{\psi}_{\Lambda_N}| \leqslant O(L^{-\alpha N}) \leqslant O(|\Lambda_N|^{-\alpha}).$$
(9.81)

If we let

$$H_{N}(\boldsymbol{\omega}, \vec{y}) = \log \langle e^{\beta^{-1/2} \boldsymbol{\omega}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \mathfrak{f})} \rangle_{\beta, J}^{\Lambda_{N}} - \frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{2}(\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}, \tilde{C}(s)\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}) - \frac{\gamma}{2} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{2}(\mathfrak{f}, \tilde{\mathfrak{f}})$$
$$= \sum_{a=1}^{n} \tilde{g}_{\infty}[\mathfrak{f}_{a}](\boldsymbol{\omega}) + \tilde{g}_{\infty}^{(2)}[\vec{y}, \vec{\mathfrak{f}}] + \log(1 + \tilde{\boldsymbol{\psi}}^{\Lambda_{N}}(\boldsymbol{\omega}, y)), \qquad (9.82)$$

then it is an analytic function of $\omega \in D_{h_{\omega}}$), and

$$h_{\beta}^{(1)}[\mathfrak{f}_{a}](\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \frac{\gamma}{2}\boldsymbol{\omega}^{2}(\mathfrak{f}_{a},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}_{a}) + \tilde{g}_{\infty}[\mathfrak{f}_{a}](\boldsymbol{\omega})$$
(9.83)

$$h_{\beta}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\vec{\mathfrak{f}}](\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \frac{\gamma}{2}\boldsymbol{\omega}^{2}(\mathfrak{f},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}) - \frac{\gamma}{2}\boldsymbol{\omega}^{2}\sum_{a=1}^{\mathfrak{n}}(\mathfrak{f}_{a},\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}_{a}) + \tilde{g}_{\infty}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\vec{\mathfrak{f}}](\boldsymbol{\omega})$$
(9.84)

$$\psi_{\beta,N}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \log(1 + \tilde{\psi}^{\Lambda_N}(\boldsymbol{\omega})) \tag{9.85}$$

are also analytic functions of ω . Thus with the above choices of $h_{\beta}^{(1)}, h_{\beta}^{(2)}, \psi_{\beta,N}$,

$$\mathfrak{C}_{\boldsymbol{\beta},\Lambda_N} = (1 + s\gamma\Delta)\tilde{C}(s)(1 + s(\boldsymbol{\beta})\gamma\Delta), \qquad (9.86)$$

we have

$$\langle e^{\beta^{-1/2}\omega(\mathfrak{f},\sigma)}\rangle_{\beta,J}^{\Lambda_{N}} = \frac{1}{2}(\mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{C}_{\beta,\Lambda_{N}}\mathfrak{f}) + \sum_{a=1}^{\mathfrak{n}}h_{\beta}^{(1)}[\mathfrak{f}_{a}](\omega) + h_{\beta}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\vec{\mathfrak{f}}](\omega) + \psi_{\beta,N}(\omega,\vec{y})$$
(9.87)

and we have the desired conclusion upon taking limit $N \to \infty$, with the required estimates following from (9.81). (To see that the limit $\lim_{N\to\infty}(\mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{C}_{\beta,\Lambda_N}\mathfrak{f})$ is well-defined, take any $g = g_1 + T_y g_2$ that satisfies the assumptions of (A_f) , then we have $|(g,\Gamma_jg)| = O(L^{-j}|y|)$ and $|(g,\tilde{\Gamma}_N^{\Lambda_N}g)| = O(L^{-N}|y|)$ (see Corollary 3.1.1), so $\lim_{N\to\infty}(g,\mathfrak{C}_{\beta,\Lambda_N}g)$ absolutely converges. Hence, if we let

$$\mathfrak{C}_{\beta} := \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (1 + s\gamma\Delta) \Gamma_j(s) (1 + s\gamma\Delta), \qquad (9.88)$$

then $(\mathfrak{f}, \mathfrak{C}_{\beta}\mathfrak{f})$ is well-defined an equals $\lim_{N\to\infty}(\mathfrak{f}, \mathfrak{C}_{\beta,\Lambda_N})\mathfrak{f})$.)

We also prove Lemma 1.2.3 and Lemma 1.2.8 here.

Proof of Lemma 1.2.3. With $f_y = \delta_0 - \delta_y$, we will compute

$$(f_{y}, \mathfrak{C}_{\beta}f_{y}) := \lim_{N \to \infty} (\mathfrak{f}, \mathfrak{C}_{\beta, \Lambda_{N}})\mathfrak{f}).$$
(9.89)

We will always fix $s = s_0^c$. Since $\tilde{C}^{\Lambda_N}(s) = \lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} C(s, m^2) - t_N(m^2)Q_N$ and $\mathfrak{C}_{\Lambda_N,\beta} = (1 + s\gamma\Delta)^2 \tilde{C}(s)$, we have in the Fourier space

$$(f_{y}, \mathfrak{C}_{\beta,\Lambda_{N}}f_{y}) = \frac{1}{4\pi^{2}|\Lambda_{N}|} \sum_{p \in \Lambda_{N}^{*}} |1 - e^{-iy \cdot p}|^{2} |1 - s_{0}^{c} \gamma \lambda(p)|^{2} \\ \times \lim_{m^{2} \downarrow 0} \left(\frac{(\lambda_{J}(p) + m^{2})^{-1} - \gamma}{1 + s\lambda(p)((\lambda_{J}(p) + m^{2})^{-1} - \gamma)} - t_{N} \delta_{0}(p) \right)$$
(9.90)

where $\lambda(p) = 4 - 2\cos(p_1) - 2\cos(p_2)$ and $\lambda_J(p) = \frac{1}{|J|} \sum_{x \in J} (1 - \cos(x \cdot p))$ (see (2.22)) are the Fourier multipliers of $-\Delta$ and $-\Delta_J$, respectively, and Λ_N^* is the Fourier dual lattice of Λ_N . Since $1 - e^{-iy \cdot p} = 0$ when p = 0, we may ignore $t_N \delta_0(p)$ term. In the limit $N \to \infty$, this discrete sum converges to the integral

$$\frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_{[-\pi,\pi]^2} dp \, |1 - e^{-iy \cdot p}|^2 |1 - s_0^c \gamma \lambda(p)|^2 \lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} \Big(\frac{(\lambda_J(p) + m^2)^{-1} - \gamma}{1 + s_0^c \lambda(p)((\lambda_J(p) + m^2)^{-1} - \gamma)} \Big). \tag{9.91}$$

From this representation, as $||y||_2 \rightarrow \infty$,

$$(f_{y}, \mathfrak{C}_{\mathbb{Z}^{2}, \beta}f_{y}) = C_{1}(\beta) + \frac{1}{1 + v_{J}^{-2}s} (f_{y}, (-\Delta)^{-1}f_{y}) + O(||y||_{2}^{-2})$$

$$= C_{2}(J, \beta) + \frac{\beta_{\text{eff}}(J, \beta)/\beta}{\pi} \log ||y||_{2} + O(||y||_{2}^{-2})$$
(9.92)

for some $C_1(\beta), C_2(J,\beta) \in \mathbb{R}$, and we have used that $\beta_{\text{eff}}(J,\beta)/\beta = \frac{1}{1+\nu_J^{-2}s_0^c}$ (recall (7.4)).

Proof of Lemma 1.2.8. Suppose $\operatorname{supp}(\mathfrak{f}_1) \subset [-R, R]^2 \cap \mathbb{Z}^2$ and $\sum_x \mathfrak{f}_1(x) = 0$, then there exist $a : [-R, R]^2 \cap \mathbb{Z}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $\mathfrak{f}_1 = \nabla^{e_1} a = \sum_x a(x)(\delta_{x+e_1} - \delta_x) - a(x) = -\sum_{n \ge 0} \mathfrak{f}_1(x - ne_1)$ would suffice. The same remark applies for \mathfrak{f}_2 , thus proving Lemma 1.2.8 is actually equivalent to showing

$$(\delta_{y+e_1} - \delta_y, \mathfrak{C}_{\beta}(\delta_{e_1} - \delta_0)) = \nabla^{-e_1} \nabla^{e_1} \mathfrak{C}_{\beta}(0, y) = O(||y||_2^{-2}).$$
(9.93)

As in the proof of Lemma 1.2.3 above, $(\delta_{y+e_1} - \delta_y, \mathfrak{C}_{\beta,\Lambda_N}(\delta_{e_1} - \delta_0))$ converges as $N \to \infty$ to

$$\frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_{[-\pi,\pi]^2} dp \, e^{-iy \cdot p} |1 - e^{-ip_1}|^2 |1 - s_0^c \gamma \lambda(p)|^2 \lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} \Big(\frac{(\lambda(p)/4 + m^2)^{-1} - \gamma}{1 + s_0^c \lambda(p)((\lambda(p)/4 + m^2)^{-1} - \gamma)} \Big).$$
(9.94)

 $(\lambda_J \text{ is replace by } \lambda/4 \text{ because } J = J_{nn}, \text{ and } 1/4 \text{ accounts for the normalising factor.) Since the integrand is smooth away from the singularity, as <math>||y||_2 \rightarrow \infty$, the integral is asymptotically equivalent to the integral of the singular part,

$$\sim \frac{1}{4\pi^2(1+s_0^c/4)} \int_{[-\pi,\pi]^2} dp \, e^{-iy \cdot p} |1-e^{-ip_1}|^2 \lambda(p)^{-1} + O(||y||_2^{-10})$$

= $\frac{1}{1+s_0^c/4} \nabla^{(e_1,-e_1)}(-\Delta_{\mathbb{Z}^2})^{-1}(0,y) + O(||y||_2^{-10})$ (9.95)

where $(-\Delta_{\mathbb{Z}^2})^{-1}$ is the lattice Green's function of the usual Laplacian and 10 is an arbitrary large number. Thus it is bounded by $O(||y||_2^{-2})$.

9.3.3 Infinite volume limit

Based on the RG analysis, we can show that

$$F_{N,m^2}[\mathfrak{f}](\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \frac{\mathbb{E}_{(\boldsymbol{\omega})} \left[Z_0^0(\boldsymbol{\phi}^{(m^2)} + \boldsymbol{\gamma}\boldsymbol{\omega}\mathfrak{f}) \right]}{\mathbb{E} \left[Z_0^0(\boldsymbol{\phi}^{(m^2)}) \right]}$$
(9.96)

exhibits a well-defined limit as $m^2 \downarrow 0$ and $N \to \infty$ described in terms of the RG coordinates, where $\phi^{(m^2)} \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \tilde{C}(s) + t_N(m^2)Q_N)$ (see Proposition 6.1.1). **Proposition 9.3.4.** Let \mathfrak{f} be as in (A'_f) . Under the assumptions of Proposition 8.1.1, if $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$, then

$$F_{N,m^2}[\mathfrak{f}] \xrightarrow{N \to \infty} \exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{B \in \mathscr{B}_j((P^j_{\vec{y}})^*)} \mathfrak{g}_j(B;\omega)[\mathfrak{f}]\right) \quad uniformly \ in \ m^2 \in (0,1].$$
(9.97)

Proof. By Proposition 8.1.1,

$$Z_{N}(\varphi';\omega) = e^{-E_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}|\Lambda_{N}|} \exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^{N}\sum_{B\in\mathscr{B}_{j}((P_{\tilde{y}}^{j})^{*})}\mathfrak{g}_{j}^{\Lambda_{N}}[\mathfrak{f}](B;\omega)\right) \times \left(e^{U_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}(\Lambda_{N},\varphi'+\omega u_{N})} + K_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}(\Lambda_{N},\varphi';\omega)\right)$$
(9.98)

with $u_N = \Gamma_N^{\Lambda_N} \mathfrak{f}$, and satisfy estimates

$$\|\mathfrak{g}_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}\|_{h_{\omega},T}, \ \|U_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}\|_{N}, \ \|K_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}\|_{N} \leqslant Ce^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta}L^{-\alpha N}.$$

$$(9.99)$$

Also by Lemma 4.1.4,

$$e^{U_N^{\Lambda_N}(\Lambda_N, \varphi' + \omega u_N)} + K_N^{\Lambda_N}(\Lambda_N, \varphi'; \omega) = e^{U_N^{\Lambda_N}(\Lambda_N, \varphi')} + (K_N^{\Lambda_N})^{\dagger}(\Lambda_N, \varphi'; \omega)$$
(9.100)

with

$$\left\| (K_N^{\Lambda_N})^{\dagger}(\Lambda_N, \varphi') \right\|_{\Omega_{N,\dagger}^K} \leqslant C' e^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta} L^{-\alpha N} G_N(\Lambda_N, \varphi').$$
(9.101)

Finally, we commence the integral in $\varphi' \sim \mathcal{N}(0, t_N Q_N)$. Observe that, if we take $Y \sim \mathcal{N}(0, t_N L^{-N})$, then Y1 has the same distribution as φ' (where 1 is the constant field taking value 1) so $G_N(\Lambda_N, \varphi') \equiv 1$ almost surely. Also $|\nabla \varphi'|^2 = 0$ almost surely, so $|U_N^{\Lambda_N}(\Lambda_N, \varphi')| \leq ||U_N^{\Lambda_N}||_{\Omega_N^U}$. Therefore

$$\mathbb{E}^{\varphi'}\left[Z_N(\varphi';\omega)\right] = e^{-E_N^{\Lambda_N}|\Lambda_N|} \exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^N \sum_{B \in \mathscr{B}_j((P_y^j)^*)} \mathfrak{g}_j^{\Lambda_N}[\mathfrak{f}](B;\omega)\right) \left(1 + O(L^{-\alpha N})\right). \quad (9.102)$$

Since $\mathfrak{g}_{j}^{\Lambda_{N}}$ is independent of Λ_{N} for $N > \max\{j, j_{0y} + 2\}$, the convergence (9.97) holds by (9.99) and estimates

$$\|\mathfrak{g}_{j}(B)\|_{h_{\omega},T} \leqslant Ce^{-\frac{1}{4}\gamma\beta}L^{-\alpha j}, \qquad B \in \mathscr{B}_{j}.$$
(9.103)

The convergence is uniform in m^2 because the convergence rate only depends on $O(L^{-\alpha N})$ and the bound on $\mathfrak{g}_N^{\Lambda_N}[\mathfrak{f}](B;\omega)$, which are independent of $m^2 > 0$.

In this proposition, the finite volume function was computed only to justify that the infinite volume limit exists, but we can also record the finite volume result as a by-product. In what follows, we use the notation

$$\mathfrak{g}_{j}[\mathfrak{f}](\mathbb{Z}^{2};\boldsymbol{\omega}) := \sum_{\boldsymbol{B}\in\mathscr{B}_{j}((P_{\vec{v}}^{j})^{*})} \mathfrak{g}_{j}[\mathfrak{f}](\boldsymbol{B};\boldsymbol{\omega})$$
(9.104)

although $\mathfrak{g}_i(B; \omega)[\mathfrak{f}]$ is actually defined on Λ_N .

Corollary 9.3.5. Fix R > 0 and let $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$. Then for sufficiently large L (depending on R) and N, and under the same assumptions as in Proposition 9.3.4 but \mathfrak{f} satisfying (A_f) ,

$$\lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} F_{N,m^2}[\mathfrak{f}] = e^{\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathfrak{g}_j[\mathfrak{f}](\mathbb{Z}^2;\omega)} \left(1 + \tilde{\psi}_N[\mathfrak{f}](\omega)\right)$$
(9.105)

where $\tilde{\psi}_N(\omega)$ is an analytic function of $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_\omega}$ and $\|\tilde{\psi}_N(\omega)\|_{h_\omega,T} = O(L^{-\alpha N})$.

Proof. By Proposition 6.1.1, F_{N,m^2} admits a limit as $m^2 \downarrow 0$ when f satisfies (A_f) and the limit is an analytic function. It follows from the uniformity of (9.102) in m^2 and definition of F_{N,m^2} that

$$1 + \tilde{\psi}_N(\omega) := e^{-\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathfrak{g}_j(\mathbb{Z}^2;\omega)} \lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} F_{N,m^2}[\mathfrak{f}]$$
(9.106)

satisfies

$$1 + \tilde{\psi}_{N}(\omega) = e^{-\sum_{j>N}\mathfrak{g}_{j}(\mathbb{Z}^{2};\omega)} \lim_{m^{2}\downarrow 0} \mathbb{E}\left[e^{U_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}}(\Lambda_{N},Y1)} + (K_{N}^{\Lambda_{N}})^{\dagger}(\Lambda_{N},Y1;\omega)\right] = 1 + O(L^{-\alpha N})$$
(9.107)

with $Y \sim \mathcal{N}(0, t_N(m^2)L^{-N})$. It also satisfies $\|\tilde{\psi}_N(\omega)\|_{h_{\omega},T} = O(L^{-\alpha N})$ as

$$\|\sum_{j>N}\mathfrak{g}_j(\mathbb{Z}^2;\boldsymbol{\omega})\|_{h_{\boldsymbol{\omega}},T} \leqslant O(L^{-\boldsymbol{\alpha}N})$$
(9.108)

$$\|\mathbb{E}[(K_N^{\Lambda_N})^{\dagger}(\Lambda_N, Y1; \boldsymbol{\omega})]\|_{h_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}, T} \leqslant C \|(K_N^{\Lambda_N})^{\dagger}(\Lambda_N)\|_{\Omega_{N, \dagger}^K}$$
(9.109)

for any $n \ge 0$. Thus we have (9.105).

9.3.4 One and multi-point energies

Due to Corollary 9.3.5, the proof of Proposition 9.3.3 is complete once we show that the sum $\sum_j \mathfrak{g}_j[\mathfrak{f}](\mathbb{Z}^2; \omega)$ is not subject to a bias due to the multi-scale grid structure. In this section, we will see that this is the case, using translation invariance of $F_{N,m^2}[\mathfrak{f}]$.

One-point energy

For any $j \ge 1$ and $\alpha \in \{1, \dots, n\}$, we have

$$\sum_{B \in \mathscr{B}_{j}((P_{\vec{y}}^{j})^{*})} \mathfrak{g}_{j}(B; \omega)[T_{y_{\alpha}}\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}] = \sum_{B \in \mathscr{B}_{j}((Q_{y_{\alpha}}^{j})^{*})} \mathfrak{g}_{j}(B; \omega)[T_{y_{\alpha}}\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}].$$
(9.110)

Hence, by (9.97), this implies

$$\exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty}\sum_{B\in\mathscr{B}_{j}((\mathcal{Q}_{y_{\alpha}}^{j})^{*})}\mathfrak{g}_{j}(B;\boldsymbol{\omega})[T_{y_{\alpha}}\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}]\right) = \lim_{N\to\infty}F_{N,m^{2}}[T_{y_{\alpha}}\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}] \quad \text{uniformly in } m^{2} > 0.$$

$$(9.111)$$

Also, if $f = f_{\alpha}$ with $y_{\alpha} = 0$, the same principles give

$$\exp\left(\sum_{j\geq 1}\sum_{B\in\mathscr{B}_j((\mathcal{Q}_0^j)^*)}\mathfrak{g}_j(B;\boldsymbol{\omega})[\mathfrak{f}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}]\right) = \lim_{N\to\infty}F_{N,m^2}[\mathfrak{f}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}] \quad \text{uniformly in } m^2 > 0.$$
(9.112)

But since $F_{N,m^2}[T_y \mathfrak{f}_\alpha]$ is independent of *y* by definition, we also see that the expression on the left side of (9.111),

$$\exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty}\sum_{B\in\mathscr{B}_{j}((Q_{y}^{j})^{*})}\mathfrak{g}_{j}(B;\boldsymbol{\omega})[T_{y}\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}]\right) = \exp\left(\sum_{j\geqslant 1}\mathfrak{g}_{j}(\mathbb{Z}^{2};\boldsymbol{\omega})[T_{y}\mathfrak{f}_{2}]\right)$$
(9.113)

should also be independent of y, i.e.,

$$\sum_{j\geq 1}\mathfrak{g}_j(\mathbb{Z}^2;\boldsymbol{\omega})[T_y\mathfrak{f}_2] = \sum_{j\geq 1}\sum_{B\in\mathscr{B}_j((\mathcal{Q}_0^j)^*)}\mathfrak{g}_j(B;\boldsymbol{\omega})[\mathfrak{f}_2].$$
(9.114)

In summary, we have the following.

Proposition 9.3.6. Let $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$ and $\beta > 0$ be sufficiently large and $\mathfrak{f} = \sum_{a=1}^{\mathfrak{n}} \mathfrak{f}_a$ be as in (A_f) . Define the infinite-volume one-point energy of \mathfrak{f}_{α} by

$$\tilde{g}_{\infty}[\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}](\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \sum_{j \ge 1} \mathfrak{g}_{j}[\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}](\mathbb{Z}^{2};\boldsymbol{\omega}).$$
(9.115)

Then $\tilde{g}_{\infty}[\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}](\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \sum_{j \ge 1} \mathfrak{g}_{j}[T_{y}\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}](\mathbb{Z}^{2}; \boldsymbol{\omega})$ for any y. This series converges absolutely with rate

$$\left\| \tilde{g}_{\infty}[\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}](\omega) - \sum_{j=1}^{m} \mathfrak{g}_{j}[T_{y}\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}](\mathbb{Z}^{2};\omega) \right\|_{h_{\omega},T} \leq CL^{-\alpha m}$$
(9.116)

with rate uniform on $y \in \mathbb{Z}^2$, and $\tilde{g}_{\infty}[\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}](\omega)$ is analytic on $\mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$.

Proof. The first part follows from the discussion above. Also the second part is a consequence of the estimate of (8.4) and recalling that any uniform limit of analytic functions is also an analytic function.

Multi-point energy

The multi-point energy is defined to be the free energy in scales after $j_{\vec{y}}$. But for doing so, we will have to make sure that the free energy before the scale $j_{\vec{y}}$ can be expressed as sum of the one-point energies.

Lemma 9.3.7. Let $j \leq j_{\vec{y}} - 1$ and $\mathfrak{f} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{\mathfrak{n}} T_{y_{\alpha}} \mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}$ be as in (A_f) . Then $\mathfrak{g}_j[\mathfrak{f}](B) = \mathfrak{g}_j[\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}](B)$ for $B \in \mathscr{B}_{j-1}((Q_{y_{\alpha}}^{j-1})^*)$.

Proof. These follow from the 'local dependence' of the RG flow as in the proof of Proposition 7.4.2. For the proof, we make the dependence on \mathfrak{f} explicit by putting them inside [·]. We assume, as an induction hypothesis, that

$$K_{j'}(X)[\mathfrak{f}] = K_{j'}(X)[\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}]$$

for any $X \in \mathscr{P}_{j'}, \ X \cap (Q_{y_a}^{j_{\overline{y}}-1})^* = \emptyset, \ a \neq \alpha, \ j' < j_{0y} - 1.$

$$(9.117)$$

We have $X^* \cap \operatorname{supp}(T_{y_a}u_{j,a}) = \emptyset$ for any such X, so this would imply $K_{j'}^{\dagger}(X)[\mathfrak{f}] = K_{j'}^{\dagger}(X)[\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}]$. Also, by definition of $j_{\overline{y}}$, saying $j' < j_{\overline{y}} - 1$ would mean $(Q_{y_{\alpha}}^{j'+1})^{**} \cap (Q_{y_{\alpha}}^{j_{\overline{y}}-1})^* = \emptyset$ for each $a \neq \alpha$, so $\mathfrak{g}_{j'+1}[\mathfrak{f}](B) = \mathfrak{g}_{j'+1}[\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}](B)$ for any $B \in \mathscr{B}_{j'+1}((Q_{y_{\alpha}}^{j'+1})^{**})$ by the definition of $\mathfrak{g}_{j'+1}$. If we also had $j' < j_{0y} - 1$, $Y \in \mathscr{P}_{j'+1}$, and $Y \cap (Q_{y_{\alpha}}^{j'+1})^* = \emptyset$ for each $a \neq \alpha$, since $K_{j'+1}(Y)$ only depends on \mathfrak{f} via $u_{j+1}|_{Y^*}$, $(\mathfrak{g}_{j'+1}(B))_{B \in (B_{y_{\alpha}}^{j'+1})^*}$ and $(K_{j'}^{\dagger}(X') : X' \in \mathscr{P}_{j'}(X^*), X \in \mathscr{P}_{j'}(Y))$, the induction proceeds. The conclusion was also obtained in the course of the induction argument. As we have claimed, this lemma implies that the free energy before scale $j_{\vec{y}}$ is just the sum of two one-point energies.

Corollary 9.3.8. If $j < j_{\vec{y}}$, then

$$\mathfrak{g}_{j}[\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} T_{y_{\alpha}}\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}](\mathbb{Z}^{2};\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \mathfrak{g}_{j}[T_{y_{\alpha}}\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}](\mathbb{Z}^{2};\boldsymbol{\omega})$$
(9.118)

Thus we can see that the multi-point energy, defined in the following lemma, has diminishing contribution in the limit $d_{\vec{y}} \rightarrow \infty$.

Lemma 9.3.9. Let $\omega \in \mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}}$ and $\beta > 0$ be sufficiently large. Define

$$\tilde{g}_{\infty}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\mathfrak{f}_{1},\cdots,\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{n}}](\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty}\mathfrak{g}_{j}[\mathfrak{f}](\mathbb{Z}^{2};\boldsymbol{\omega}) - \sum_{\alpha=1}^{\mathfrak{n}}\tilde{g}_{\infty}[\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}](\boldsymbol{\omega}).$$
(9.119)

Then $\tilde{g}_{\infty}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\mathfrak{f}_1,\cdots,\mathfrak{f}_n](\omega)$ is analytic in $\mathbb{D}_{h_{\omega}} \ni \omega$ and satisfies the bound

$$\left\|\tilde{g}_{\infty}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\mathfrak{f}_{1},\cdots,\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{n}}](\cdot)\right\|_{h_{\omega},T}=O\left(d_{\vec{y}}^{-\alpha}\right).$$
(9.120)

Proof. By Corollary 9.3.8 and Proposition 9.3.6 we have

$$\tilde{g}_{\infty}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\mathfrak{f}_{1},\cdots,\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{n}}](\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \sum_{j=j_{\vec{y}}}^{\infty} \left(\mathfrak{g}_{j}[\mathfrak{f}](\mathbb{Z}^{2};\boldsymbol{\omega}) - \sum_{\alpha=1}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{g}_{j}[T_{y_{\alpha}}\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}](\mathbb{Z}^{2};\boldsymbol{\omega})\right).$$
(9.121)

Hence by (8.4), the norm on $\tilde{g}_{\infty}^{(2)}$ is bounded by $O(L^{-\alpha j_{\vec{y}}})$. But since $L^{-j_{\vec{y}}} = O(d_{\vec{y}}^{-1})$, we have the desired conclusion.

Thus we are equipped with all components required to prove Proposition 9.3.3.

Proof of Proposition 9.3.3. Our aim is to rewrite the limit $\lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} F_{N,m^2}[f]$. By Corollary 9.3.5, Proposition 9.3.6 and Lemma 9.3.9,

$$\lim_{m^2 \downarrow 0} F_{N,m^2}[\mathfrak{f}] = e^{\sum_{\alpha=1}^{\mathfrak{n}} \tilde{g}_{\infty}[\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}] + \tilde{g}_{\infty}^{(2)}[\vec{y},\mathfrak{f}_1,\cdots,\mathfrak{f}_n])} (1 + \tilde{\psi}_N).$$
(9.122)

and the required properties also follow from the same references.

References

- [1] Adams, S., Buchholz, S., Kotecký, R., and Müller, S. (2019). Cauchy-Born Rule from Microscopic Models with Non-convex Potentials. Preprint, arXiv:1910.13564.
- [2] Adams, S., Koteckỳ, R., and Müller, S. (2016). Strict convexity of the surface tension for non-convex potentials. Preprint, arXiv:1606.09541.
- [3] Aizenman, M., Harel, M., Peled, R., and Shapiro, J. (2021). Depinning in the integer-valued Gaussian Field and the BKT phase of the 2D Villain model. Preprint, arXiv:2110.09498.
- [4] Antinucci, G., Giuliani, A., and Greenblatt, R. (2023). Energy correlations of nonintegrable ising models: the scaling limit in the cylinder. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 397(1):393–483.
- [5] Bauerschmidt, R. (2013). A simple method for finite range decomposition of quadratic forms and Gaussian fields. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 157(3-4):817–845.
- [6] Bauerschmidt, R. (2016). Ferromagnetic spin systems. Unpublished lecture notes. Available at https://www.statslab.cam.ac.uk/~rb812/.
- [7] Bauerschmidt, R., Brydges, D., and Slade, G. (2014). Scaling limits and critical behaviour of the 4-dimensional *n*-component $|\varphi|^4$ spin model. *J. Stat. Phys.*, 157(4-5):692–742. Special issue in memory of Kenneth Wilson.
- [8] Bauerschmidt, R., Brydges, D., and Slade, G. (2015a). Critical two-point function of the 4-dimensional weakly self-avoiding walk. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 338(1):169–193.
- [9] Bauerschmidt, R., Brydges, D., and Slade, G. (2015b). Logarithmic correction for the susceptibility of the 4-dimensional weakly self-avoiding walk: a renormalisation group analysis. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 337(2):817–877.
- [10] Bauerschmidt, R., Brydges, D., and Slade, G. (2015c). A renormalisation group method. III. Perturbative analysis. *J. Stat. Phys.*, 159(3):492–529.
- [11] Bauerschmidt, R., Brydges, D., and Slade, G. (2019). *Introduction to a renormalisation group method*, volume 2242 of *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*. Springer, Singapore.
- [12] Bauerschmidt, R., Park, J., and Rodriguez, P.-F. (2022a). The Discrete Gaussian model, I. Renormalisation group flow. Preprint, arXiv:arXiv:2202.02286.
- [13] Bauerschmidt, R., Park, J., and Rodriguez, P.-F. (2022b). The Discrete Gaussian model, II. Infinite volume scaling limit at high temperature. Preprint, arXiv:arXiv:2202.02287.

- [14] Bauerschmidt, R., Slade, G., Tomberg, A., and Wallace, B. (2017a). Finite-order correlation length for four-dimensional weakly self-avoiding walk and $|\varphi|^4$ spins. *Ann. Henri Poincaré*, 18(2):375–402.
- [15] Bauerschmidt, R., Slade, G., and Wallace, B. (2017b). Four-dimensional weakly self-avoiding walk with contact self-attraction. J. Stat. Phys., 167(2):317–350.
- [16] Baxter, R. (1982). *Exactly solved models in statistical mechanics*. Academic Press, Inc. [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers], London.
- [17] Benfatto, G. and Gallavotti, G. (2020). *Renormalization group*. Princeton University Press.
- [18] Berezinskiĭ, V. (1970). Destruction of long-range order in one-dimensional and twodimensional systems having a continuous symmetry group. I. Classical systems. Ž. Èksper. *Teoret. Fiz.*, 59:907–920.
- [19] Brandenberger, R. and Wayne, C. E. (1982). Decay of correlations in surface models. *Journal of Statistical Physics*, 27(3):425–440.
- [20] Brascamp, H. J., Lieb, E. H., and Lebowitz, J. L. (2004). *The Statistical Mechanics of Anharmonic Lattices*, pages 379–390. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- [21] Bricmont, J., Fontaine, J. R., and Landau, L. J. (1977). On the uniqueness of the equilibrium state for plane rotators. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 52(1):281–296.
- [22] Brydges, D. (1986). A short course on cluster expansions. In *Phénomènes critiques, systèmes aléatoires, théories de jauge, Part I, II (Les Houches, 1984)*, pages 129–183. North-Holland.
- [23] Brydges, D. (2009). Lectures on the renormalisation group. In *Statistical mechanics*, volume 16 of *IAS/Park City Math. Ser.*, pages 7–93. Amer. Math. Soc.
- [24] Brydges, D. and Federbush, P. (1980). Debye screening. Commun. Math. Phys., 73(3):197-246.
- [25] Brydges, D., Guadagni, G., and Mitter, P. (2004). Finite range decomposition of Gaussian processes. J. Statist. Phys., 115(1-2):415–449.
- [26] Brydges, D. and Slade, G. (2015). A renormalisation group method. II. Approximation by local polynomials. *J. Stat. Phys.*, 159(3):461–491.
- [27] Brydges, D. and Yau, H.-T. (1990). Grad φ perturbations of massless Gaussian fields. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 129(2):351–392.
- [28] Conlon, J. and Spencer, T. (2014). A strong central limit theorem for a class of random surfaces. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 325(1):1–15.
- [29] Dimock, J. and Hurd, T. (1991). A renormalization group analysis of the Kosterlitz-Thouless phase. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 137(2):263–287.
- [30] Dimock, J. and Hurd, T. (2000). Sine-Gordon revisited. *Ann. Henri Poincaré*, 1(3):499–541.

- [31] Dobrushin, R. and Shlosman, S. (1975). Absence of breakdown of continuous symmetry in two-dimensional models of statistical physics. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 42:31–40.
- [32] Dubédat, J. (2015). Dimers and families of Cauchy-Riemann operators I. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 28(4):1063–1167.
- [33] Duminil-Copin, H., Harel, M., Laslier, B., Raoufi, A., and Ray, G. (2022). Logarithmic variance for the height function of square-ice. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 396(2):867–902.
- [34] Duminil-Copin, H., Karrila, A., Manolescu, I., and Oulamara, M. (2020). Delocalization of the height function of the six-vertex model. Preprint, arXiv:2012.13750.
- [35] Falco, P. (2012). Kosterlitz-Thouless transition line for the two dimensional Coulomb gas. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 312(2):559–609.
- [36] Falco, P. (2013). Critical exponents of the two dimensional Coulomb gas at the Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless transition. Preprint, arXiv:1311.2237.
- [37] Feldman, J., Magnen, J., Rivasseau, V., and Sénéor, R. (1987). Construction and Borel summability of infrared Φ_4^4 by a phase space expansion. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 109(3):437–480.
- [38] Fröhlich, J. and Park, Y. (1977). Remarks on exponential interactions and the quantum sine-Gordon equation in two space-time dimensions. *Helv. Phys. Acta*, 50(3):315–329.
- [39] Fröhlich, J. and Park, Y. (1978). Correlation inequalities and the thermodynamic limit for classical and quantum continuous systems. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 59(3):235–266.
- [40] Fröhlich, J. and Pfister, C. (1981). On the absence of spontaneous symmetry breaking and of crystalline ordering in two-dimensional systems. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 81(2):277– 298.
- [41] Fröhlich, J. and Spencer, T. (1981a). The Kosterlitz-Thouless transition in twodimensional abelian spin systems and the Coulomb gas. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 81(4):527– 602.
- [42] Fröhlich, J. and Spencer, T. (1981b). On the statistical mechanics of classical Coulomb and dipole gases. J. Statist. Phys., 24(4):617–701.
- [43] Funaki, T. (2005). Stochastic interface models. In *Lectures on probability theory and statistics*, volume 1869 of *Lecture Notes in Math.*, pages 103–274. Springer.
- [44] Funaki, T. and Spohn, H. (1997). Motion by mean curvature from the Ginzburg-Landau $\nabla \phi$ interface model. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 185(1):1–36.
- [45] Garban, C. and Sepúlveda, A. (2020). Quantitative bounds on vortex fluctuations in 2d coulomb gas and maximum of the integer-valued Gaussian free field. Preprint, arXiv:2012.01400.
- [46] Garban, C. and Sepúlveda, A. (2020). Statistical reconstruction of the Gaussian free field and KT transition. Preprint, arXiv:2002.12284.

- [47] Gawędzki, K. and Kupiainen, A. (1980). A rigorous block spin approach to massless lattice theories. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 77(1):31–64.
- [48] Gawędzki, K. and Kupiainen, A. (1985). Massless lattice φ_4^4 theory: rigorous control of a renormalizable asymptotically free model. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 99(2):197–252.
- [49] Gentile, G. and Mastropietro, V. (2001). Renormalization group for one-dimensional fermions. a review on mathematical results. *Physics Reports*, 352(4-6):273–438.
- [50] Georgii, H.-O. (2011). *Gibbs measures and phase transitions*, volume 9 of *De Gruyter Studies in Mathematics*. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, second edition.
- [51] Giuliani, A., Greenblatt, R., and Mastropietro, V. (2012). The scaling limit of the energy correlations in non-integrable Ising models. *J. Math. Phys.*, 53(9):095214, 48.
- [52] Giuliani, A., Mastropietro, V., and Toninelli, F. (2017a). Haldane relation for interacting dimers. J. Stat. Mech. Theory Exp., (3):034002, 47.
- [53] Giuliani, A., Mastropietro, V., and Toninelli, F. (2017b). Height fluctuations in interacting dimers. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré Probab. Stat., 53(1):98–168.
- [54] Giuliani, A., Mastropietro, V., and Toninelli, F. (2020). Non-integrable dimers: universal fluctuations of tilted height profiles. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 377(3):1883–1959.
- [55] Glazman, A. and Peled, R. (2019). On the transition between the disordered and antiferroelectric phases of the 6-vertex model. Preprint, arXiv:1909.03436.
- [56] Glimm, J. and Jaffe, A. (1987). *Quantum physics*. Springer-Verlag, second edition. A functional integral point of view.
- [57] Hara, T. and Tasaki, H. (1987). A rigorous control of logarithmic corrections in fourdimensional ϕ^4 spin systems. II. Critical behavior of susceptibility and correlation length. *J. Statist. Phys.*, 47(1-2):99–121.
- [58] Hilger, S. (2020). Decay of covariance for gradient models with non-convex potential. Preprint, arXiv:2007.10869.
- [59] Ioffe, D., Shlosman, S., and Velenik, Y. (2002). 2d models of statistical physics with continuous symmetry: The case of singular interactions. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 226(2):433–454.
- [60] Kadanoff, L. (1978). Lattice Coulomb gas representations of two-dimensional problems. J. Phys. A, 11(7):1399–1417.
- [61] Kang, N.-G. and Makarov, N. (2013). Gaussian free field and conformal field theory. *Astérisque*, (1).
- [62] Kasteleyn, P. (1963). Dimer statistics and phase transitions. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 4(2):287–293.
- [63] Kenyon, R. (2009). Lectures on dimers. In *Statistical mechanics*, volume 16 of *IAS/Park City Math. Ser.*, pages 191–230. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI.

- [64] Kenyon, R., Sheffield, S., and Okounkov, A. (2006). Dimers and amoebae. Annals of mathematics, ISSN 0003-486X, Vol. 163, N° 3, 2006, pags. 1019-1056, 163:1019–1056.
- [65] Kharash, V. and Peled, R. (2017). The Fröhlich-Spencer Proof of the Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless Transition. Preprint, arXiv:1711.04720.
- [66] Kosterlitz, J. and Thouless, D. (1973). Ordering, metastability and phase transitions in two-dimensional systems. *Journal of Physics C: Solid State Physics*, 6(7):1181.
- [67] Lammers, P. (2022a). A dichotomy theory for height functions. Preprint, arXiv:2211.14365.
- [68] Lammers, P. (2022b). Height function delocalisation on cubic planar graphs. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 182(1-2):531–550.
- [69] Lammers, P. (2023). Bijecting the bkt transition. Preprint, arXiv:2301.06905.
- [70] Lammers, P. and Ott, S. (2021). Delocalisation and absolute-value-FKG in the solidon-solid model. Preprint, arXiv:2101.05139.
- [71] Laslier, B. and Toninelli, F. (2015). How quickly can we sample a uniform domino tiling of the 2l × 2l square via glauber dynamics? *Probability Theory and Related Fields*, 161(3):509–559.
- [72] Lawler, G. and Limic, V. (2010). *Random walk: a modern introduction*, volume 123 of *Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics*. Cambridge University Press.
- [73] McBryan, O. and Spencer, T. (1977). On the decay of correlations in SO(*n*)-symmetric ferromagnets. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 53(3):299–302.
- [74] McCoy, B. M. and Wu, T. (2014). *The two-dimensional Ising model*. Courier Corporation.
- [75] Mermin, N. (1967). Absence of ordering in certain classical systems. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 8(5):1061–1064.
- [76] Mermin, N. D. and Wagner, H. (1966). Absence of ferromagnetism or antiferromagnetism in one- or two-dimensional isotropic heisenberg models. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 17:1133–1136.
- [77] Messager, A., Miracle-Sole, S., and Pfister, C. (1978). Correlation inequalities and uniqueness of the equilibrium state for the plane rotator ferromagnetic model. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 58(1):19–29.
- [78] Miller, J. (2010). Universality for sle (4). Preprint, arXiv:1010.1356.
- [79] Miłoś, P. and Peled, R. (2015). Delocalization of two-dimensional random surfaces with hard-core constraints. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 340(1):1–46.
- [80] Naddaf, A. and Spencer, T. (1997). On homogenization and scaling limit of some gradient perturbations of a massless free field. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 183(1):55–84.

- [81] Park, J. (2022). Central limit theorem for multi-point functions of the 2d discrete gaussian model at high temperature. Preprint, arXiv:2211.14367.
- [82] Pfister, C. (1981). On the symmetry of the Gibbs states in two-dimensional lattice systems. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 79(2):181 188.
- [83] Pinson, H. (2004). Rotational invariance and discrete analyticity in the 2d dimer model. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 245(2):355–382.
- [84] Schramm, O. and Sheffield, S. (2009). Contour lines of the two-dimensional discrete Gaussian free field. *Acta Mathematica*, 202(1):21 137.
- [85] Schultz, T. D., Mattis, D. C., and Lieb, E. H. (1964). Two-dimensional ising model as a soluble problem of many fermions. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 36:856–871.
- [86] Sheffield, S. (2005). Random surfaces. Astérisque, (304):vi+175.
- [87] Slade, G. and Tomberg, A. (2016). Critical correlation functions for the 4-dimensional weakly self-avoiding walk and *n*-component $|\varphi|^4$ model. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 342(2):675–737.
- [88] van Engelenburg, D. and Lis, M. (2022). An elementary proof of phase transition in the planar xy model. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, pages 1–20.
- [89] van Engelenburg, D. and Lis, M. (2023). On the duality between height functions and continuous spin models. Preprint, arXiv:2303.08596.
- [90] Velenik, Y. (2006). Localization and delocalization of random interfaces. *Probability Surveys*, 3:112–169.
- [91] Wirth, M. (2019). Maximum of the integer-valued Gaussian free field. Preprint, arXiv:1907.08868.
- [92] Wu, W. (2022a). A central limit theorem for square ice. Preprint, arXiv:2206.12058.
- [93] Wu, W. (2022b). Local central limit theorem for gradient field models. Preprint, arXiv:2202.13578.
- [94] Yang, W.-S. (1987). Debye screening for two-dimensional Coulomb systems at high temperatures. J. Statist. Phys., 49(1-2):1–32.